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PEEFAOE.

The war of Independence gave the United States

a political existence. The war of 1812 released

the popular mind from any idea of a state of colo-

nial subserviency. The war with Mexico developed

the military genius of the American people, in-

spired confidence in their capacity to resist inva-

sion, and elevated the republic to a position in

European eyes, which a century of prosperity in

the arts of peace would not have obtained for it.

The campaigns of Taylor, Scott and Doniphan have

few parallels in modern history. That a compar-

atively small body of men should penetrate into

the heart of a nation, and defeat, in a dozen

pitched battles, an enemy always fourfold its own
in numbers is one of those events which at first ap-

pear to border on the miraculous, and which recall

to memory the days when the Emins conquered

Spain, when Gaul fell beneath the inroad of the

Turks, when the Persian empire was shattered by
the spear of Alexander.

That is one way of looking at the Mexican war,

Vol.—XI A iii



PREFACE.

and the way in which it was regarded forty years

ago; but in the light of reason, humanity and jus-

tice, is there anything save the admiration of strat-

egy, might and bravery in the Mexican war, to

delight the patriotic heart of the honest-thinkirig

American, who wishes to deal as fairly by nations as

by individuals? Was the Mexican war really more

than a war of conquest—a gigantic robbery of a

nation by a nation? By it, the United States of

America gained almost one-fourth of its present

territory and some of its richest dominions; but

was the spirit of justice and equity in the con-

quest ?

The war of the Revolution was a war for inde-

pendence and freedom from a dominant monarchy

;

the war of IS 12 was fought to retain, or thor-

oughly establish what had been partially obtained

in the first war; but, if not for the acquisition of

territory, will some one please inform us what the

war with Mexico was for? Texas, the bone of

contention, notwithstanding that the treaties be-

tween Spain, France and the United States raised

some nice questions of international law not to be

discussed at this point, undoubtedly belonged to

Mexico, when that republic gained its independ-

ence. Mexico was a nation of one religion, and

certainly had a right to that religion, and when

Moses and Stephen Austin and others gained per-
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mission to plant American colonies in Texas, it

was on the condition that the emigrants should

become Catholics and teach the Spanish language

in their schools. This part of the compact was

violated with impunity, notwithstanding the pro-

tests of the clergy. That there were many disso-

lute Mexicans and half-breeds who plundered the

American settlers and committed murders, one

cannot doubt; but then we must remember that

the Americans who hover on the frontier, are not

always the best class of citizens, and when we

come to look at the past with unprejudiced eyes,

we suspect the Anglo-Saxon race was about equal

to the Spanish. However, Texas revolted, and

Mexico, just as did the United States in 1861 with

her seceded States, attempted to whip her back into

the Mexican Union. Santa Anna, whose author-

ity was doubtful, was captured and forced to sign

a treaty declaring the independence 'of Texas.

There were two reasons for doubting the validity

of the treaty. It is doubtful if Santa Anna had

the authority to make it, and if he had, it was

obtained under duress and was invalid. President

Tyler, a man of vaulting ambition and flexible

politics, yet a strong advocate of slavery, favored

the annexation of Texas to the United States.

The Senate justly rejected the proposition. Pres-

ident James K. Polk was elected on the issue of
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annexation by the Democratic party, and annexa-

tion, war, misery and conquest were the result.

As nearly all the acquired territory lies south of

thirty-six degrees and thirty minutes, within the

slavery limits of the Missouri Compromise, there

can be no doubt that the acquisition of the terri-

tory was for the purpose of extending the limits

of slavery. The war was most popular in the

slaveholding States, though when the call for vol-

unteers came, other States took up the quarrel re-

gardless of the justice or injustice of it.

The glory gained by the Mexican war is of a

doubtful quality. Mexicans were not so far ad-

vanced in civilization as Americans. They were

divided among themselves, and never presented a

united front, and though some wonderful victories

were gained by the American arms, yet, if there be

such a thing as ethics in war, the American nation

lias little of which a nation can be proud in its

struggle with Mexico.

The story of John, the runaway slave, was nar-

rated to the author by a former resident of Boone

County, Kentucky, who knew of the incident and

was also acquainted with the chief actors.

The Estevans and Stevens, separated at Havana,

Cuba, in 1561, are in this story united in the per-

sons of Arthur Stevens and Madelina Bstevan. As

in preceding volumes of this series, the author
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has endeavored to include all the history of the

United States in this short period, covered by the

romance " Humbled Pride.
"

JOHN K. MUSICK.

Kirksville. Mo., August, 1893.
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HUMBLED PRIDE.

CHAPTER I.

DR. TRUNNELS AND THE RUNAWAYS.

TTHIN an hour the sun

would set behind a mass of

green hills and dark forests,

and a delightful day in May

would close. The spring,

according to the oldest set-

tlers in Kentucky, had been

"airly," and the famous

" blue grass region" was now

a mass of emerald and

blooming flowers. Ken-
tucky, in 1840, was, as it is

to-day, noted for its hospitable men, line horses

and beautiful women. The Kentuckian's door

was always open to the stranger, his board was

always spread for the wayfarer, and no greater in-

sult could be offered than pay for hospitality

That was the Kentuckian of fifty years ago. He

Vol. 11— 1 l



& HUMBLED PRIDE.

was brave, honest, hardy, patriotic and noble. He

was an enemy to style, vanity, deceit, or treachery

;

but fifty years have brought new people into Ken-

tucky, with new ideas, customs and manners, and

it is no longer an insult to offer money remunera-

tion for hospitality.

If the people have changed, the topography of

the country has not. Kentucky in May is as glori-

ous to-day as when, from the top of an eminence,

Boone and his companions first beheld at a distance

its beautiful lands.

" Flowers of the fairest dyes,

Trees' clothed in richest greene,"

may greet the traveller's eyes to-day, as they did

Daniel Boone.

Fernando Stevens was a well-to-do farmer in

18-iO. His plantation was quite extensive, for he

had bought land while it was cheap, and, acting

on the principle expressed by Mrs. Means in the

" Hoosier School -Master" to " Git a plenty while

you're a gitten," he had bought nearly a thousand

acres in Boone county, built a fine country man-

sion on the old-fashioned southern plan, with a

little village of negro quarters around it. Mr.

Stevens was a slave owner; but perhaps a more

generous master was never known. . The agitation

on the question of slavery had begun to shake the
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nation, and though the moral question of slavery

was seriously considered by Mr. Stevens, he had

never felt its effects enough to liberate his slaves.

His negroes were well-fed, well -clothed, and, when
freed from the pernicious influence of white men
and manipulators of " under-ground railroads,

"

they were contented.

He never sold but one of his slaves, and that

was a vicious fellow, who chose the southern

market to the penitentiary. He had purchased

many at their request, in order to unite separated

families.

His young man John, a light mulatto, had been

partially educated and could read, write and had

some knowledge of arithmetic. John was eighteen

years of age, just two years older than Mr. Stevens'

oldest son Arthur, to whom he had been a com-

panion more than a servant.

At the close of this bright May day, Arthur

Stevens was sitting on the stiles in front of the

great house, while John stood near his young

master , holding a light fowling-piece in his hand.

Arthur had a shot-pouch and. powder-flask about

his shoulder, and it was quite evident he had been

hunting, as a brace of ducks lay at his feet.

It was not weariness so much as love of the pic-

turesque and beautiful that caused Arthur to pause

and gaze ofi to the setting sun. There was a pic-
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tare to fill a poet with delight. The western ho-

rizon seemed a sea of vermilion and gold, save

where the lines of green hills cut the sky. There

was not in the wide world a valley more sweet

than that lying on the north between those sun-

clothed hills of emerald, vermilion and gold. In

the bosom of the vale, the bright waters met the

last ray of the departing sun, and the shadows be-

yond became a region of fancy, and Arthur, al-

though be was a young, awkward country lad,

gazed on the scene in silence, as if he feared to

lose a single ray of the beauty.

The scene was changing rapidly, just as all things

change. The valley grew from golden to gray, and

the sunlight on the hill was disappearing, when

the clatter of hoofs came ringing down the road.

Arthur quickly looked up and saw three mounted

men coming at a gallop down the hill toward the

house. They were armed with rifles, and there was

something particularly savage in their appearance.

The mulatto who saw them remarked

:

" There come Dr. Trunnels and Mr. Warren's

two boys. I 'spect that something's gone wrong.
"

Before Arthur could make any response, the

horsemen dashed up to the stiles and drew rein so

suddenly, that the steel -toed shoes of their horses

struck fire from the stony road.

"Arthur, where is your father?" asked Dr.
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Truimels, a man about forty years of age, with

a fierce black eye and scowling brow. He was

dressed in coarse homespun and looked like a

frontier desperado.

" In the house."

" Here, fellow, go and tell your master I want

to see him!" said Dr. Trunnels, turning on the

negro John.

John bowed and, mounting the steps, started

toward the house.

" Go quick, you rascal, or I'll stir your stumps

with a whip!"

"What's the matter, Dr. Trunnels?" Arthur

asked, for he could see by the flushed face of the

horseman, that some event of more than ordinary

moment had transpired.

" The infernal abolitionists have been at their

work again."

Before he had time to say more a man about

forty-five years of age came hurriedly down the

white -pebbled walk, through the avenue of cedars

to the stiles; while Dr. Trunnels sat on his rest-

less spirited horse, frequently muttering some low

imprecation.

" Major Stevens, things have come to a fine

pass!" declared Trunnels.

"What has gone amiss, doctor?" asked Major

Stevens.
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" Can it be possible you have not beard the latest

news ?
"

" I have heard nothing.

"

" The infernal abolitionists have run off three of

Mr. Warren's niggers."

" Can it be possible?" asked the major in amaze-

ment.
" It is true. Here are the sons of Mr. Warren

and they will bear me out in the statement."

James Warren, the oldest of the brothers, an-

swered :

" It must be true, major, for three of the field

hands have been missing all day."

" Have you just started in pursuit?" asked the

major.

"Yes, sir."

" It seems rather late. When did you miss

them?"

"They failed to come to work this morning;

but one had been complaining for several days,

and we thought him sick; the other two asked

permission to go to Bissel's plantation last night,

to see their wives.

"

At this, Dr. Trunnels burst forth in a towering

passion.

" It was all trick, Major Stevens; there can be

no mistake; it was all a trick on the part of the

abolitionists to steal our niggers. " The use of the
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possessive pronoun on the part of Dr. Trunnels

was a little out of place, considering that he had

not a negro to his name. The doctor was a bache-

lor worth forty or fifty thousand dollars, enjoying

an excellent practice, and at the same time a spec-

ulator. Fifty years ago there was no man better

known in Boone County, Kentucky, than Dr.

Trunnels. His wealth and his peculiar magnet-

ism enabled him to wield a wonderful influence

over people in his county. He was one of the

most ardent haters of abolitionists in all Kentucky,

and was never known to refuse to shoulder his

gun, mount his horse and ride day and night to

recover a runaway slave.

Never had Major Stevens seen Dr. Trunnels in

a greater passion than now.

" Major, you must go with us, " he declared.

" We'll hang the abolitionists to the first tree we

come to, if we find them. There comes that yel-

low nigger of yours—don't let him hear of it or it

will put devilment into his head."

Major Stevens smilingly answered:

" I have no fear of the abolitionists coaxing John

away, doctor. I don't think any inducement that

could be brought to bear would take my negroes

from me.

"You don't know," cried the doctor. "Nig-

gers are niggers,—and the abolitionists bewitch: 'em
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with ideas of freedom. Onee get a little devil-

ment in a nigger's Lead, and it will grow, lil£e

Jack's beanstalk, in a night. Drive him back!"

Mure to please the excited doctor than from any

fears of his servant imbibing dangerous ideas, he

ordered John to the house. The slave obeyed.

"Now, major, won't 3*011 go with us? I am

quite sure we will find them between this and the

Ohio line."

"Of course I'll go."

" And you too, Arthur. You may as well

learn to hang nigger thieves now as at any time."

Like all boys, Arthur was eager for a wild ride

at night. The right or wrong, morals or immorals

of the matter never once entered his head. He

was in for anything which promised fun and ex-

citement. Of course he would go. He could ride

the wildest colt on the farm, and handle a rifle as

well as a man. Though but sixteen, he was al-

most a man in stature. Tall, straight as an arrow,

with a steady, clear blue eye, and cheek which

danger never blanched.

" Can't I go, father?" he asked.

" Certainly, Arthur. Tell John to saddle the

roan colt for you and the bay mare for me.

"

It was not so much the desire of Major Stevens

to capture the runaway negroes, though of course

he wanted to restore his neighbor's property to
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him, as it was to capture the abductors, whom he

regarded as the very worst species of outlaws

imaginable.

Views held in Kentucky fifty years ago were

quite at variance with views held on the slavery

question to-day. The great trouble between the

North and South has always been that they never

understood each other. Fifty years ago, negroes

in the South were property, according to law, as

much as lands, tenements, horses, cattle, or rail-

roads. They were not only property, but con-

stituted the* chief wealth of the southern States.

People of the South looked on the abolitionists as

men acting from malice and revenge, rather than

from higher motives. On the other hand, the

real abolitionist was actuated by a humane. Chris-

tian, unselfish principle. Both parties justified

their conduct by conscience. Major Stevens,

though admitting that, in the abstract, slavery

was wrong, condemned the methods adopted by

the more fanatical abolitionists of running negroes

off in defiance of law. It might be all right from

moral convictions to agitate the question of slavery,

pass laws for gradual emancipation or any other

means to cure the country of the blighting incubus;

but, as an honest, law-abiding citizen, he did not

believe in people taking the law into their own

hands.
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Dr. Trunnels declared that slavery was a divine

institution, and that the abolitionists acted from

hatred and prejudice, rather than real convictions

of conscience.

John saddled the horses, and Arthur got the

guns, and they set out on the long night ride in

pursuit of the abolitionists. Dr. Trunnels, who

had participated in many such affairs, took com-

mand of the expedition.

" We are a little late, " he said as the cavalcade

galloped away ;
" but I hope we will overhaul

them before they reach the river."

The night was still, and the stars shone from a

cloudless sky. Dr. Trunnels was silent most of

the time, during the long night's ride. About

five or six miles from the home of Major Stevens,

they came to a house which stood several rods off

the road. This house was the property of Dr.

Trunnels, occupied by a tenant.

"Wait here for a while," said Dr. Trunnels,

handing his rein to James Warren. " I will return

soon.

"

He went to the house, knocked and was ad-

mitted. For a few moments he was engaged in a

conversation with some one. His companions were

a little mystified, until the doctor came back.

" They are not more than an hour ahead of us,

"

said the doctor.
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Major Stevens did not ask how he gained his

information. After a ride of six or eight miles

further, the doctor again halted at a house and,

leaving his companions, roused a man and held a

short consultation with him.

" We are losing," he said on returning. " The

rogues have played a clever trick: but we may

get them at the ferry."

Springing into the saddle, he rode furiously

along a narrow path for two or three miles, when,

suddenly, he called a halt and asked:

" Do you hear a noise?"

" I don't," answered the major.

" I believe they are hiding here.

"

" It would be impossible to find them in this

darkness," said the major.

" I wish we had some bloodhounds. I tell you

we cannot get along without dogs," declared Dr.

Trunnels. " We must tear the black rascals to

pieces.

"

" I am certain it would be better to go to the

ferry and watch for them."

For a moment the doctor was silent, as if listen-

ing for some sound ; then he said

:

" Major, I don't know which ferry they will

make for.

"

" Would it not be well to rouse the country and

guard all?"
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"That is the plan, major," the doctor declared

in a tone of voice that indicated great relief.

'* We will guard every post possible."

As they were nearest Delhi Ferry, they rode

with all speed to that point and left Arthur and

James Warren there, while Dr. Trunnels went

with the others to Fernbank, where he left Major

Stevens to rouse the country and guard this point.

He dropped Henry Warren at the Sekitanroad and

thundered on. Dr. Trunnels was tireless in his

exertions. He seemed a man who never wearied

in well doing, and was so enthusiastic in his sup-

port of the slaveholders, that he was regarded

as their leader. He went on from point to point,

rousing the people and putting all on their guard,

so that, before day dawned, he had fully two hun-

dred armed men guarding every ferry, cross-road

and point, where it would be possible for a run-

away to escape.

Arthur passed a sleepless night in the saddle,

or sitting on the river bank watching for the run-

aways. It seemed as if day would never dawn.

A hundred times he found himself dozing and

nodding, to wake with a start and a shiver. The

night air was cold, even though it was May; but

day came at last, and he went to a house on the

river bank for breakfast.

At noon, word came along the line that the
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fugitives had escaped across into Ohio, and were

flying to Canada.

" It's all over," said Mr. Kyon, who had turned

out to help capture the runaways. " Them nig-

gers are gone. I'm not a-gwine to risk my neck

over in that abolition State to bring 'em back,

either.

"

" It wouldn't be any use, " answered Mr. Smythe,

a large Kentuckian. " We'd have all our trouble

for nothing. "We'd better stay on our own side."

"But what are we gwine to do?" Mr. Kyon

asked. " The abolitionists are running away our

niggers all the time. I declare it'll break us

bodaciously up."

Mr. Smythe thought that the best plan would

be to make the yoke of slavery so light and pleas-

ant that negroes would refuse freedom when

offered. Major Stevens had never yet lost a slave,

and was the most lenient of all masters. His

negroes had from sunset Saturday night to sunrise

Monday morning to themselves. He gave them

privilege to go whither they would. Many thrifty-

negroes earned money by doing extra work, after

their task was done, while others acquired prop-

erty by pilfering.

From the Missouri Compromise, down to 1861,

the American republic was in a constant ferment

over the question of slavery. There was not a
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more critical moment, in the history of the United

States, arising from the violence of domestic ex-

citement, than in the agitation of the Missouri

question, from 1818 to 1821. Though called the

Missouri question, it was by no means a local

affair, as it concerned the welfare of the entire

republic.

In order that the reader may have a clearer idea

of the events represented in this chapter, and to

come, we will ask for a moment to direct his atten-

tion to that event. The Legislature of Missouri

of 1818-19 petitioned congress for the passage of

a law authorizing the organization of a State gov-

ernment. Upon this, a bill was accordingly in-

troduced for that purpose, to which an amendment

was made by Mr. Talmadge, of New York, pro-

hibiting slavery within the new State. This

passed the house, but was arrested in the senate.

The excitement, not only in congress, but

throughout the country, was intense, and for eigh-

teen months agitated the union from one extreme

to the other. Many of the northern States called

meetings and published spirited resolutions expres-

sive of their fears of perpetual slavery.

The arguments on both sides were forcible. On

one hand it was maintained, that the compromise

of the federal constitution regarding slavery re-

spected only its existing limits at the time, and
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that it was not the intention of the framers of the

constitution to have the domain of slavery extended

on that basis; that the fundamental principles of

the American Revolution and the government and

its institutions erected upon it were hostile to slav-

ery ; that the compromise of the constitution was

simply a toleration of things that were, and not a

basis for things that were to be; that these securi-

ties of slavery as it existed would be forfeited by

an extension of the system ; that the honor before

the world and its moral influence with mankind

in favor of freedom were identified with the ad-

vocacy of principles of universal emancipation;

that the act of 1787, which established the terri-

torial government north and west of the Ohio pro-

hibiting slavery forever therefrom was a public

recognition and avowal of the principles and de-

signs of the people of the United States in regard

to the new States and territories north and west;

and the proposal to establish slavery in Missouri

was a violation of all these great fundamental

principles.

On the other hand, it was maintained that slav-

ery was incorporated in the system of society, as

established in Louisiana, which comprehended the

territory of Missouri, when purchased from France

in 1803; that the faith of the United States was

pledged by treaty to all the inhabitants of that
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wide domain, to maintain their rights and privi-

leges on the same footing with the people of the

rest of the country; and, consequently, that slav-

ery, being a part of their State society, it would

be a violation of engagements to abolish it without

their consent. Nor could the government, as they

maintained, prescribe the abolition of slavery to

any part of said territory, as a condition of being

erected into a State, if they were otherwise en-

titled to it. It might as well, they said, be required

of them to abolish any other municipal regulation,

or to annihilate any other attribute of sovereignty.

If the government had made an ill-advised treaty

in the purchase of Louisiana, they maintained it

would be manifest injustice to make its citizens

suffer on that account. They claimed that they

were received as a slaveholding community, on

the same footing with the slave States, and that

the existence or non-existence of slavery could not

be made a question, when they presented them-

selves at the door of the capitol of the republic for

a State charter.

After much bitter and acrimonious discussion in

congress, the question was, mainly through the ex-

ertions of Henry Clay, settled, as such questions

usually are, by a compromise, unsatisfactory to

either party. A bill passed for the admission of

Missouri, without any restrictions as to slavery,
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but prohibiting it throughout the United States

north of latitude thirty-six degrees, thirty minutes.

At this period, not one-fourth of the population

of Missouri owned or held slaves ; many were op-

posed to slavery as a measure of State policy ; but

even all these, with a very few exceptions, had

been determined to resist what they regarded an

arbitrary stretch of congressional power.

Missouri was not declared independent until

August, 1821. Previously to the passage" of the

bill for its admission, the people had formed a

State constitution, a provision of which required

the legislature to pass a law " to prevent free

negroes from coming to and settling in the State.

"

When the constitution was presented to congress,

this provision was strenuously opposed. The con-

test occupied a great part of the session; but Mis-

souri was finally admitted on the condition that no

laws should be passed by which any free citizen of

the United States should be prevented from enjoy-

ing those rights within the State to which thev wereDO J

entitled by the constitution of the United States.

Though the quarrel commenced twenty years

before the opening of this story it had been grow-

ing in intensity all the while. It was one of the

ills which time failed to cure, and the sons and

grandsons of the men who inaugurated the quarrel

were to fight it out to a finish in after years.

Vol. 11—2
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There were good men in the South who honestly

believed that the warfare made on slavery was

more through prejudice and jealousy than from

any religious feelings in the matter. The South

was proud, rich and opulent. Their chief wealth

was in slaves and they believed the northern men

were envious of them. Once more the cavalier

hated the Puritan with his strict morals and firm

conviction that he was essentially his brother's

keeper. Of all the original " fire-eaters" of the

South, none exceeded Trunnels. His opposition

to the abolitionists made him popular, and his zeal

in hunting runaway negroes made him the idol of

the people, so that he could have held any office

in the gift of Boone county. Dr. Trunnels, how-

ever, had no political aspirations, and declined to

accept any office of profit, honor or trust.

The doctor was the last to give up the runaways

as beyond recall. He joined Major Stevens and

Arthur about noon with a brow as black as a

thundercloud.

"They are gone, major," he said in a tone of

voice that was husky with pent-up rage. " We
have lost them this time; but we will catch the

thieves and hang them yet.

"

"There is nothing to do now, doctor," the

major answered, " but to go home and increase our

vigilance in the future."
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"That is all."

Dr. Trunnels spoke almost sadly. They rode

slowly homeward. If ever there were a picture of

chagrin and disappointment, it was expressed by

Dr. William Trunnels, as he rode with lowered

head and an air of complete depression. Half the

distance was traversed in silence, then, suddenly

turning to Major Stevens, the doctor said:

" Major, you may think it strange that I, who

have no slaves, should be so exercised over these

matters; but our interests are all identical. I see

in the loss of the property of my neighbors a per-

sonal loss to myself. Whatever detracts from the

prosperity of an individual, detracts from the pros-

perity of the community, and whatever injures the

community injures the individual. This has been

my philosophy through life. Many who have

seen my conduct attribute it to noble, unselfish

motives of friendship—I never deserved such

praise. I have been actuated by the reasoning

that whatever injures my neighbor injures me."

" Dr. Trunnels, I am confused and mystified at

these strange runaways.

"

Dr. Trunnels gave him a curious look and an-

swered :

" They are mysterious, major!"

" And confined to our locality, too."

" That is perhaps easily accounted for. Boone
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county, being surrounded on the North and West

by a free State with only the river to cross, is an

easy place to escape from."

" Yet Kenton and Campbell counties lie within

this same bend of the Ohio, and they are not sub-

ject to these constant runaways.

"

Dr. Trunnels heaved a sigh and hoped they

would some time be able to clear up the mys-

tery.

" I wish we had the infernal abolitionists in our

power. We'd hang them."

Arthur Stevens rode silently behind his father

and the doctor, hardly realizing the importance of

the expedition from which they were returning.

He never asked himself what would have been' the

result had they caught the runaways and their

helpers. He had heard of such events and read

about them in the papers. Usually there was a

little powder burned, and sometimes a hanging.

Tragedies were not uncommon in those days. He

did not look on the matter in the light of human

beings seeking freedom. No such thought entered

his mind. Negroes were considered property, and

much better off as slaves than free. One negro

who had purchased his freedom was actually so

discontented that he returned to Major Stevens and

wanted to sell himself back into slavery; but the

fellow had acquired vicious habits with his free-
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dom. and was sent back to Ohio to fight life's bat-

tle for himself.

Arthur supposed that the extreme views of Dr.

Trunnels must be right, and that freedom would

be a calamity to the negro.

When they reached the home of Major Stevens,

Dr. Trunnels said

:

" Major, there will be a meeting of some of our

people at the schoolhouse to-night. We must

organize a vigilance committee, a company of

patrols, or do something to check this infernal

thieving.

"

The major, who was a very conservative man,

thought that plan would not effect so much as

other means might.

"Very well, major; come out to-night and ex-

press your views, whatever they may be."

Major Stevens consented to go, and the doctor

galloped down the road to his own home. Though

Dr. Trunnels was a bachelor, he lived in ease and

elegance. His house was a model of a Kentucky

mansion. In those days the wealth was in the

country rather than town. Gentlemen and ladies

lived in country mansions, with fine horses and

elegant equipages and slaves, like the knights and

cavaliers of old. Now they reside in cities and pal-

aces, and their amusements are theatres and balls

instead of fox hunts.
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Dr. Trunnels was a mystery to everybody ; many

a good old dame had puzzled her brain to conjure

up some reason for his remaining a bachelor, when

so many of Kentucky's belles had sought to en-

snare him into matrimony. There were some

grave hints as to the doctor's morals; but his

friends declared this to be slander. Some of his

tenants were unworthy and dissolute people, whom
the neighbors often threatened to drive out of the

country. The doctor owned half a dozen planta-

tions or farms occupied by tenants. How he had

gained his wealth was a mystery to every one, for

although he had enjoyed a fair practice, he could

never have made his fortune by it in such a short

time. Some hard things were said of Dr. Trun-

nels; but his zeal in hunting runaway negroes and

abolitionists covered up his faults and made him

many friends. That he was in earnest no one

questioned, for two years before the escape of

Joseph Warren's negroes, two men from the North

were detected in trying to seduce some negroes into

running away, and were arrested and thrown into

jail. That night a mob of masked men, that every

one declared was headed by Dr. Trunnels, invaded

the jail, took out the offenders and hung them.

At the appointed hour the schoolhouse which

stood at the crossroads was lighted with a dozen

tallow candles, and men and large boys began to
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assemble. Some came on horseback, and some on

foot. There were many veterans of the late war

with England present. Heroes of New Orleans

came with their long rifles, the selfsame weapons

which did such excellent service against Packen-

ham.

Dr. Trunnels came early, and in a few moments

the meeting was called to order with Major Stevens

in the chair. Arthur had come to look on and see

what they did, though in reality he had little in-

terest in the affair, until Dr. Trunnels arose to

address the meeting on what should be done. He

was calm and mild at first, but gradually, as he

got warmed up, he grew vehement and furious.

"Something must be done, Mr. Chairman," he

said. " On that point all agree, but as to just what

that something should be we differ. Our rights

are invaded by a secret, invisible foe who seeks to

ruin our prosperity. These cursed Yankees may be

content to steal a few niggers now ; but ere long

they will be for invading the South in a body—the

bludgeon against the rapier—the crop-eared Puri-

tan against the Cavalier. I say, curse the Pilgrim

fathers and the whole canting breed of them ! The

South has had to fight them in congress ever

since the government was formed, and now the

canting devils and hypocrites are sending secret

emissaries among us to plunder us. The South
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has paid two-thirds of the revenues of govern-

ment; has furnished all the presidents; has built

up the shipping and manufactures of New England
;

and now these people have grown presumptuous

and greedy—they want to put to death the bird

that lays the golden egg and get all at once, or

at least humble those whom they seem to heartily

despise. " His speech now assumed a violent and

incendiary form, in which he spoke of ropes, bul-

lets and knives. In conclusion he suggested the

formation of a vigilance committee, or an organiza-

tion of patrols to watch the negroes with power to

disperse an assembly of them, by any sort of vio-

lence.

Mr. Henderson thought that they might accom-

plish their purpose better, by treating their negroes

with more leniency, and giving them greater priv-

ileges. Mr. Eyon declared that ho intended sell-

ing all his slaves and removing to Missouri. Mr.

Smythe thought he would emigrate with his slaves

to Missouri where he would be free from the per-

nicious influences which seemed to threaten the

loss of all.

Major Stevens was the last to express his views

on the matter. He said :

" Gentlemen, there is a mystery about the matter

which is unfathomable. The runaways from Boone

county arc not like the runaways from other parts
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of the South. When a shave escapes this neigh-

borhood, he is never heard from again. He seems

to utterly pass off the stage of existence. Others

"Let us find the rascals and hang them."

sometimes capture their slaves and bring them

back, we never do. They often hear of them in

Ohio or in Canada, but ours seem to be utterly

annihilated. They are never seen, never heard

from. There is some mystery about it, which we
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can't fathom, yet wliich has the semblance of a

deep conspiracy to rob us. The slaves who escape

are likely young men, faithful, trusty fellows,

whom one would not think could be induced to

leave their masters. I beg to urge your consider-

ation of the peculiarity and mystery of this affair

and ask you to investigate the matter carefully,

and let us solve this problem.'
1

The major's remark put strange thoughts into

the heads of many, and after the meeting broke

up Dr. Trunnels took the major's hand and said:

" Major, I thank you for those wise remarks.

I wish I could be coohheaded like you ; but I can-

not. Let us find the rascals and hang them.

"

Major Stevens withdrew his hand as soon as

politeness would admit, and turned away. He
knew not why ; but he did not like him. His hand

was cold and disagreeable to the touch.



CHAPTER II.

FROM ADAMS TO VAN BUREN.

Major Fernando Stevens was not a Ken-

tuckian by birth, but a native of Massachusetts,

though in early childhood his parents emigrated to

Ohio. He had more of western than New England

instincts. While a student at Baltimore, he was

captured on the Maryland coast by a British frigate

and impressed into the English navy, where he

served for four years, escaping just before the

breaking out of the war of 1812. He served in

that war in a regiment of Ohio and Kentucky

volunteers and rose to the rank of major, by which

title he was known to his death. He married at

the close of the war, and, in company with his

wife's father, Mr. Hugh St. Mark, and a mutual

friend, Captain Felix Lane, embarked in the busi-

ness of manufacturing in Massachusetts.

They began business at a critical time in the

history of the republic, for the country was in a

transition state from that of war to one of peace.

The demand for domestic manufactures and the

27
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high prices obtained for them during the war, had

stimulated that particular industry, and many man-

ufacturing establishments had been nurtured into

vigorous life. When the war was ended, there

being no restraining tariff to protect home indus-

tries, European manufactures came like a flood in

quantity and at prices so low, that competition

was impossible, and that industry was suddenly

overwhelmed in disaster. Thousands of men and

women were compelled to seek other employments,

and many turned their eyes and their hopes to the

millions of fertile acres beyond the Alleghany

Mountains, where sure wealth, or at least a com-

petence, awaited the tiller's industry -and skill.

Bankrupts sought and found relief in the pursuits

of agriculture. Homes in the East were deserted

by swarms of sturdy people; and emigration flowed

over the mountains in a broad and continuous

stream. Thus the great West began its wonderful

career. What was death to the New England

manufacturing interests was life to the undevel-

oped West.

Major Stevens had just embarked his all and the

money of his friends in the manufacturing interests

when the crash came. Factories were dead; they

could not pay expenses; yet he was shrewd enough

to sec the calamity in time to partially provide

against it.
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He had purchased a large tract of land in Boone

county, Kentucky, and from the wreck he saved

enough to start a plantation. Mr. St. Mark, his

wife's father, and Captain Lane, his best friend,

both died shortly after the financial panic, and he

removed to Kentucky.

A distant relative of Major Stevens living in

Kentucky, greatly admiring the major as a brave

soldier of 1812, made him his heir, he being child-

less. Among his other property were eleven ne-

groes These were the first slaves the major had

ever owned, and, perhaps, if he had not inherited

them, he never would have been a slaveholder;

having them, he felt compelled to keep them.

He could have given them their freedom, but

as a result of his observations of free negroes he

had a poor opinion of them. He had seen many

in Ohio, drunken, worthless vagabonds, a major-

ity of them making miserable livings by odd jobs

and pilfering.

The major was prosperous, honest and respected

and honored by all who knew him. He supported

John Quincy Adams for president in 1821, the

year his oldest son Arthur was born. Arthur wau

his third child, his first two being daughters.

John Quincy Adams, as the reader knows, was

a son of John Adams, the second president of the

United States. Mr. Adams entered upon his



30 HUMBLED PRIDE.

duties as president March 4th, 1825. The prin-

cipal presidential contest of 1824 was between

Henry Clay and Andrew Jackson. Jackson was

defeated by the manipulation of Clay, who threw

his influence to Adams, the third man, and for

this the senate refused to confirm Clay's appoint-

ment as secretary of state.

Early in the administration of Mr. Adams, there

was trouble with Georgia and the Cherokee and

Creek Indians. The greedy Georgians were anx-

ious to possess the lands of the Indians and ear-

nestly demanded their removal. The agitation

began in 1825 and continued until the unfortunate

Indians, who at this time were practising civiliza-

tion, had churches, and schoolhouses and farms,

were removed into their present reservations in the

Indian Territory.

It was at the beginning of Mr. Adams' adminis-

tration that the greatest work of internal improve-

ment ever undertaken in any country in the inter -

es1 of commerce was completed. This was the

Erie canal, which traverses the State of New York

in an eastern and western line, three hundred and

sixty miles, between Buffalo and Albany, and

connects the waters of the great upper lakes and

those of the Hudson River by a navigable stream.

It was constructed by the State of New York at a

cost of -$7,600,000; and it was the consummation
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of a scheme which. General Philip Schuyler (the

father of the canal system), Elkanah Watson,

Gouverneur Morris, Jesse Howley, De Witt Clinton

and others had cherished for years. The comple-

tion of the canal was followed by a grand dedica-

torial ceremony and procession from Albany to the

sea, called the wedding of the lakes with the ocean.

On July 4th, 1826, just fifty years, almost to

an hour, after the Declaration of Independence,

two of America's great statesmen died almost at

the same time. One was John Adams the presi-

dent's father, and the other Thomas Jefferson, the

father of the present democratic party. Both were

members of the committee to draft the Declaration

of Independence, and both had been president of

the United States.

The most important foreign policy of Mr.

Adams' administration was the appointment of

commissioners to attend a congress of representa-

tives of the South American Bepublics, which as-

sembled at Panama, on the Pacific coast, on the

22d of June, 1826. The result of the congress

was not important, yet it was the beginning of

what is called the Pan-American Congress.

The American system, or what is to-day known

as the protective tariff system (a system of protec-

tion and encouragement for American factories, by

means of high duties imposed on fabrics made
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abroad and imported into the United States), was

fully developed and assumed the form of a national

policy late in the administration of Mr. Adams.

In the autumn of 1828, Andrew Jackson, the

hero of New Orleans, was elected to succeed Mr.

Adams, with John C. Calhoun as vice-president.

Mr. Adams was a candidate for re-election, and

the canvass was so exciting that a stranger to our

institutions might have thought the nation on the

verge of a civil war.

On March 4th, 1829, Andrew Jackson was

inaugurated president. When a lad, Jackson

served in the war for independence; and when he

proceeded from his lodgings in "Washington City

to the capitol, to be inaugurated, he was escorted

l>v surviving officers and soldiers of that war. His

valorous deeds in the second war for independence

(1812-15) were remembered by the soldiers of the

later war, and they thronged the national capital

on that day to witness the exaltation of the chief.

Jackson's administration was a vigorous one,

ami astonished his friends as well as alarmed his

enemies. In history, Jackson ranks well as a mil-

itary man and as a statesman. It is a dangerous

tiling for a republic to elect a strictly military man

as a ruler. One who has spent his life in the army

cannot often be a statesman. He becomes arbi-

trary in the course of things, wields a hand of
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iron, consults no will but his own, and expects the

people to obey him instead of obeying the people.

But Jackson was as much of a civilian as a soldier,

and had a comprehensive grasp of the wants of the

nation. He swept his political opponents out of

office, and only required to know

of a new applicant that he was

"honest and capable." His for-

eign policy was indicated in his

instructions to Louis McLane, his

first minister to England, in which

he said

:

" Ask for nothing but what is

right, and submit to nothing that

is wrong."

He was so decided in his opin-

ions and actions—so positive in

character—that he was thoroughly loved or hated

;

and for eight years he braved the fierce tempest

that arose out of partisan strifes, domestic per-

plexities and foreign arrogance, with a skill and

courage which challenged the admiration of his

enemies.

In his first administration the object of the

Georgians was consummated in the removal of the

Cherokees. The Cherokees refused for a long time

to give up their comfortable homes and move to

the wilderness beyond the Mississippi. They never

Vol. 11—3
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did want to do so, and the Ridges and Boudinots

who signed the treaty to do this were assassinated

or exiled. The whole proceeding from beginning

to end is a story of oppression and wrong on the

part of the Americans. Historians throw a man-

tle of charity about our shoulders by saying " An

amicable settlement was finally reached; and

under the mild coercion of General Winfield Scott

and several thousand troops, the Cherokees left

Georgia in 1838, and went to lands assigned them,

well toward the eastern slopes of the Eocky Moun-

tains, where they still remain with the Creeks,

Choctaws, and others as their neighbors." The

author of this book has spent many days in com-

pany with aged Cherokees and listened to their

stories of the " amicable agreement, " and " mild

coercion," with soldiers and bayonets, and in the

face of history, and General Scott's official reports,

lie has grave doubts that there was anything ami-

cable, or mild about it.

Jackson early began a war on the United States

Bank, which he waged with fury, until it went out

of existence. The charter was never renewed by

Congress, though the discussion on the subject for

several years kept the commercial community in a

state of feverish excitement.

Another act of oppression and misrepresentation

in 1832 brought about a war on the frontier with
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Sacs and Fox Indians called the Black Hawk war.

Some white traders at St. Louis, according to the

Indians' story, made some petty chiefs drunk, and

for goods worth not more than a thousand dollars

bought their lands. Black Hawk claimed that

these Indians were not in authority, and had no

right to convey their lands, and offered to restore

the goods paid for them. But the aggressive and

avaricious white man had little regard to the jus-

tice of his claims. At his back were the courts

and armies of a powerful nation to sustain him.

Driven to desperation Black Hawk, the fierce Sac

chief, with a few followers, took up the hatchet,

but was defeated by the United States troops, his

people removed beyond the Mississippi into what

is now the State of Iowa, and Black Hawk was

captured.*

About this time began a conflict which shook

the republic to its centre, and later on threatened

its destruction. The baleful doctrine of State

sovereignty, or State supremacy, formulated in the

first constitution of the republic, known as the

articles of confederation, and discarded in the sec-

ond constitution, yet prevailed, especially in South

*A few years ago the author met Chickuskuk, one of

Black Hawk's warriors, who gave him much unpublished

information on the war. His vivid description of the as-

sault on the steamboat Warrior smA Black Hawk's last bat-

tle are thrilling, but would be too long for insertion here.
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Oarolinia; where John C. Calhoun was its most

earnest exponent. Discontents growing out of the

tariff acts, and crystallized by the alchemy of this

doctrine, assumed the concrete form of incipient

rebellion against the national government, when,

in the spring of 1832, an act of congress imposed

additional duties on imported textile fabrics. A
State convention of delegates was held in South

Carolinia in November following, at which it was

declared that the tariff acts were unconstitutional,

and therefore null and void ; and it was resolved

that no duties should be collected in the port of

Charleston by the national government. It was

also proclaimed that any attempt to enforce the

law would meet armed resistance, and cause the

secession of South Carolinia from the Union. The

State Legislature, which met soon afterward passed

laws in support of this declaration, and military

preparations were made for the purpose. Civil

war seemed inevitable; but the president met the

exigency with his usual promptness and vigor.

On the 10th of December he issued a proclamation

denying the right of any State to nullify an act of

the national government, and warned those engaged

in the movement in South Carolinia that the laws

of the United States would be enforced by military

power if necessary. The " nullifiers" yielded to

necessity for the moment; but their zeal and de^
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termination were not abated. The public mind

was racked with anxiety, until Henry Clay ap-

peared as a pacificator, by offering a bill (February

12, 1833) which provided for a gradual reduction

of the obnoxious duties during the next ten years.

This compromise was accepted by both parties

and the bill became a law.

In the autumn of 1832, Jackson was reelected

to the presidency with Martin Van Buren as vice-

president. It was early in his second administra-

tion that President Jackson renewed his war on

the United States Bank. He ordered his secretary

of the treasury to withdraw the funds and place

them in certain State banks, and because he would

not, removed him and appointed E. B. Taney in

his place. The removal of the funds began in

October, 1833, and a large portion was drawn out

in four months; the remainder in five months

more. A wonderful excitement and general com-

mercial distress prevailed. The amount of the

loans of the bank was over $00,000,000 when the

removal began; and so intricate were the relations

of that institution with the business of the coun-

try, that when the functions of the bank were par-

alyzed, all commercial operations felt a deadening

shock.

The stubborn president would yield to no ap-

peal to modify his plans. When urged by mer-

473 5 9
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chants, mechanics arid manufacturers, be is quoted

as saying

:

" The government can give no relief nor provide

a remed}- ; the banks are the occasion of the evils

which exist, and those who have suffered by trading

largely on borrowed capital ought to break
;
you

have no one to blame but yourselves.

"

The transferring of the government funds to the

State banks did not lessen the coils of the credit

system. Soon the panic which resulted from the

removal of funds from the United States Bank

subsided. The State banks loaned largeh", money

became plenty and business on borrowed capital

brisk. As prosperity follows financial depression,

so panic follows prosperity. In July, 1830, the

famous " Specie Circular'
1

went out from the Treas-

ury Department, directing all collectors of public

revenues to receive nothing but coin. American

houses in London failed for millions; in 1839, the

United States Bank, chartered by the legislature

of Pennsjdvania, went down dragging down in its

ruin a large number of the State banks of the

country.

The Florida war began before the financial trou-

ble. An attempt made to move the Seminoles of

Florida to the reservation beyond the Mississippi

resulted in a long and bloody conflict. In the

spring of 1832, some of the Seminole chiefs, in
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council, were induced to make a treaty by which

they agreed to leave Florida. Osceola and a great

body of the nation declared that the treaty being

made without their consent was not binding, and

resolved to stay. In 1834, General Wiley Thomp-

son was sent to Florida with troops to prepare for

a forcible removal of the Seminoles. Osceola

stirred up the nation to resistance.

The first blow was struck in December, 1835.

The Indians began plundering and murdering

the settlers on the borders of the Florida ever-

glades. On December 28th, 1835, Major Dade

with one hundred men was drawn into an ambus-

cade and only four of his men escaped, the others

with the major were slain. The four who escaped

afterward died from the effects of the encounter.

On the same day, Osceola surprised and killed

General Thompson and five others near Fort King,

about sixty miles southwest of St. Augustine.

Osceola killed and scalped General Thompson with

his own hand. Three da}r s later, General Clinch

had a sharp fight with the Seminoles on the With-

lacoochee; and on the last day of February, 1836,

General Gaines was assailed at the same place.

The Creeks helped their brethren in Florida by

attacking white settlers within their ancient do-

main, in the spring of 1836. Made bold by success,

they extended their depredations, and murderous
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forays into Georgia and parts of Alabama, attack-

ing mail carriers on horseback, stage coaches and

steamboats, and even destroyed villages and

towns.

General Scott was in command of the army in

the South, and he prosecuted the war with so much

vigor against the Creeks that they were soon sub-

dued ; and during the summer of 1836, thousands

of them were removed to the wilderness west of

the Mississippi.

The Seminoles in the everglades and dark

morasses of Florida, where a white man scarce

could live, for a long time defied the powers of

the United States troops. General Call of Georgia

led about two thousand militia and volunteers from

that State against the Seminoles. Near the spot

where Dade's command was massacred, a detach

ment of this force had a severe conflict with the

Indians, which like other encounters in the swampy

fortresses, was indecisive.

The troops suffered fearfully from miasmatic

fevers, the bites of venomous serpents, and stings

of insects, and the year 1836 closed with no pros-

pects of peace. In March, 1837, several chiefs

appeared before General Jesup, then in command

at Fort Dade, and signed a treaty, which was in-

tended to secure peace and the immediate removal

of the Seminoles.
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Osceola caused this treaty to be violated, and

war renewed. During the summer of 1837, Gen-

eral Jesup by an act of treachery succeeded in

arresting Osceola while visiting him under a flag of

truce. The patriotic savage, who fought (in his

savage way) for his home, was sent to Charleston,

where he died of fever in prison.

The Seminoles continued to resist although nine

thousand United States soldiers were in their

territory. Colonel Zachary Taylor (afterward pres-

ident of the United States) succeeded Jesup. He

severely chastised the Indians on the northern

border of Macaco Lake. For more than two years

Ta}Tlor and his men labored to bring the war to a

close in vain. Treaties made by one Indian were

not held binding by the others. The Indians were

captured like wild animals, put in irons and sent

to the present Seminole reservation in the Indian

territory. John Jumper, who was, in 1836, prin-

cipal chief of the Seminoles, was arrested and sent

to the Indian Territory by Taylor in irons. A
treaty was made by the Indians in 1839; but the

Indians still continued their depredations. It wf.s

not until 1842 that a permanent peace was secured,

when scores of valuable lives and millions of treas-

ure had been wasted in a war that had its origin in

the injustice of the white man toward his dusky

neighbor. Many of the Seminoles still inhabit the
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everglades of Florida arid regard themselves a

proud, unconquered race.

Jackson's foreign policy was thoroughly Amer-

ican. We have had none since, that was its equal.

He placed the nation in the front rank of powers.

From France he demanded the indemnity for dam-

ages caused by the various decrees of Napoleon,

amounting to $5,000,000. The' affair was settled

in 1836. Portugal and the King of Naples were

also brought to a just appreciation of American

power and firmness.

During Jackson's administration, two new States

were admitted to the union, making in all twenty

-

six. These were Arkansas, June, 1836, and

Michigan, January, 1837.

Politics had already come to excite wide atten-

tion in America. Local and national politicians

were many. With Andrew Jackson, the Eepub-

lican party of Jefferson was changed in name to

the Democratic party, which name it has retained

ever since, if not all of its principles. For fifty

vears the nation had been like a great volcano after

an eruption cooling down, and shaping and form-

ing. Men hardly knew what their political per-

suasions were. New issues were constantly rising

am 1 shaping and forming the destiny of men, parties

and the nation.

Even in Jackson's time, the great Democratic
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party became divided. In 1835, there arose in its

ranks, in the City of New York a combination op-

posed to all moneyed institutions and monopolies

of every sort. They were the successors of the

worldngmen's party of 1829, and called themselves

the " Equal Rights party. " They acted with much

caution and secrecy in their opposition to the pow-

erful national Democratic party. They never rose

above the dignity of a faction, and their first de-

cided demonstration was made in Tammany Hall,

one evening at the close of October, 1835, when

the " Equal Rights" men objected to some names

on the ticket to be put before the people. There

was a struggle for the chair, which the " regulars"

obtained, declared their ticket and resolutions

adopted, and then attempted to adjourn their meet-

ing and put out the lights. The opposition were

prepared for this emergency by having " loco-foco,

"

or friction matches, in their pockets, with which

they immediately restored light, placed their leader

in the chair, adopted an " Equal Rights" Demo-

cratic ticket and passed strong resolutions against

all monopolies. The faction was ever after known

as the "Loco Focos," and the name was afterward

applied by the Whigs to the whole Democratic

party.

Andrew Jackson was the exemplification of

stubbornness. So loud was the public clamor
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against the "Specie Circular," that a bill for the

partial repeal of that measure was passed by both

houses of congress at near the close of the session

in 1837. The president refused to sign the bill;

and to prevent its becoming a law by a two-thirds

vote after he should veto it, he kept it in his hands

until congress adjourned. His message giving his

reasons for withholding his signature was dated

"March 3, 1837, a quarter before 12 P.M." The

exercise of such arbitrary power in a president is

inexcusable and borders on tyranny and monarch-

ism.

After his term of office expired, Jackson retired

to his home " The Hermitage in Tennessee," where

he died in June, 1845, at the age of seventy -eight

years.

In the autumn of 1836, Martin Van Buren was

elected president. The people failing to elect a

vice-president, the senate chose Richard M. John-

son of Kentucky for that office.

Van Buren was of the old Dutch stock of New
York. Hitherto the presidents had been of Eng-

lish descent, who had been personally engaged in

the war for independence.

The 4th of March, 1837, was bright and serene,

and Van Buren rode from the Presidential mansion

to the capitol by the side of the venerable General

Jackson, in a phaeton made largely of wood of the
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frigate Constitution, which the political friends of

the general had presented him.

Van Buren began his administration at an in-

auspicious time, for the fearful commercial revolu-

tion caused by Jackson's policy had just begun.

Within two months after he took his seat, there

were failures in New York City to the amount of

more than one hundred million dollars. Only

fifteen months before, property to the amount of

more than twenty millions of dollars had been

consumed by a great fire, which occurred in

December, 1835, when more than five hundred

buildings were destroyed. The -effect of these

losses and failures were felt in every part of the

union.

Peaceful relations between the United States

and Great Britain, which had existed for many

years were somewhat disturbed in the first and sec-

ond years of Van Buren 's administration, growing

out of a Canadian revolt, the avowed object of which

was to achieve independence from British rule.

The Americans sympathized with the Canadians,

and individuals and companies went across the

border and joined the insurgents; while refugees

from Canada were protected in America. Though

the revolt was almost simultaneous in both upper

and lower Canada, local jealousies prevented a

unity of action, and the scheme failed. The active
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and open sympathy of the people of the United

States irritated the British government, and Pres-

ident Van Buren issued a proclamation, warning

Americans not to violate neutrality and interna-

tional laws.

Among the many stirring incidents on the fron-

tier during that outbreak in Canada, the most con-

spicuous was on the bosom of the Niagara river.

A party of Americans, seven hundred in number,

with twenty cannon, took possession of Navy

Island, in that stream, two miles above the Great

Falls. They had a small steamboat, the Caroline,

that plied between the Island and Scholcsser, on

the New York shore. One dark night in Decem-

ber, 1837, a party of royalists crossed from Canada,

set the Caroline on fire, cot her loose from her

moorings, and allowed her to go blazing down the

fearful rapids and over the crown of the mighty

cataracts into the seething gulf below. Many peo-

ple declared that there were persons on board the

vessel when she went over.

A second cause for unpleasantness between the

United States and Great Britain was a long-stand-

ing dispute concerning the true boundary between

the State of Maine and the province of New

Brunswick. The inhabitants of each frontier had

become so exasperated, that, at the close of 1838,

they were preparing for actual war. In the win-
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ter of 1839, General Scott was sent as a pacificator,

and the dispute was settled by a treaty negotiated

by Daniel Webster and Lord Ashburton, the same

year. Provision was made in the treaty for the

co-operation of the two governments in the sup-

pression of the African slave trade ; also for the

giving up of fugitives from justice, in certain

cases. This treaty is known in history as the

"Ashburton Treaty."

Major Fernando Stevens having been an Amer-

ican officer in the second war with EDgland and

his father before him having been a soldier in the

War of the Revolution, entertained in his heart a

great deal of American hostility toward his Eng-

lish cousins, and more than once expressed a wish

that Canada might gain her independence.

His oldest son Arthur, being a scion of a long

race of warriors, early found his heart stirred by

the tramp of carnage. Even so early as the Black

Hawk war, and early part of the Florida war. he

wished he was old enough to be a soldier. He had

heard so many stories of wild struggles related by

his father, that he, too, longed to be a warrior.

When trouble over the Canadian revolt was threat-

ened, he was only thirteen.

" If it could only be postponed four or five years,

I would be old enough," he said.

Then came wild, exciting stories growing out of
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the boundary between Maine and New Brunswick

two years ]ater.

He was fifteen now.

"I believe I could go in a year or two," lie

thought. " I will yet be a soldier.

"

But the Ashburton Treaty destroyed that hope,

and now, early in 1840, we find the youth at six-

teen enjoying no more exciting pastime than hunt-

ing squirrels and runaway negroes. The son of

Mars sighed for war.

" I wonder if I can ever be a soldier," he asked

himself. " I suppose father has fought all the bat-

tles. Like Alexander he has conquered all the

world and left nothing for me to do, save to go

chasing about the country with Dr. Trunnels try-

ing to bring back runaways, which we never do.

"



CHAPTEK III.

ARTHUR'S MISHAPS.

Arthur at sixteen was a tall and ungainly-

looking lad. He was modest to bashfulness,

clumsy and awkward, with a decidedly verdant

appearance. His little knowledge of society and

Lis disposition to meditation made lnm retired.

Though Arthur was awkward, bashful and back-

ward, he was a deep thinker, and a good student

at school. He had a fair knowledge of the written

history of his country, and in the arts and sciences

taught in that day was quite proficient.

He heard politics talked, of course; what Amer-

ican boy has not? He thought much on the inex-

plicable question of State Supremacy, Free Soil

the American System, the United States Bank and

Jackson's financial policy. He heard such mas-

ter statesmen as Clay and Webster addressing the

vast crowds of people on those great questions.

From such minds he drank in more wisdom than

can be gathered from published speeches. He

heard the voices of those orators, saw their faces
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flamed with earnestness, but it never occurred to

him that they were really great men. Arthur had

but one standard of a hero and that was the soldier.

What were Clay, Webster, or Calhoun compared

with Brown, Jackson, or even "Dick Johnson,"

as the hero of the Thames was familiarly called?

A new political party had been born, called

" The Whig" party. This party was formed in

1836. The name " Whig" was adopted by the

" National Republicans" probably as indicative of

their contest with the national executive. As the

English Whigs had declared that the power of the

throne " had increased, was increasing and ought to

be diminished, " so the new American Whigs pro-

tested against the alleged arbitrary assumption of

the power by the president.

The very name Whig was pleasing to the patri-

otic ear of Arthur Stevens. Somehow it was in-

dissolubly connected with the Whig patriots of the

Revolution as against their opponents the Tories

against whom he inherited a bitter hatred. He
inherited his political ideas, as, unfortunately, too

many Americans do. The tendency to follow in

the footsteps of our fathers is destructive to reason

and free thought, and advancement.

The Democratic convention of 1840 nominated

President Van Buren at Baltimore for re-election.

The Whig convention held at Harrisburg in Penn-
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sylvania, nominated General William Henry Har-

rison of Ohio for President and John Tyler of

Virginia for Vice-President.

Soon after the great canvass of 1840 had com-

menced, Arthur asked his father:

" Father, are you a Loco Foco?" *

"No."
" You will vote for General Harrison?"

" Yes, my son. I served under General Harri-

son during the late war, and all his soldiers will

vote for him."
" I'm glad, father. I hope they'll elect him."

" Why are you interested in politics so early,

my son?"
" Because I am a Whig. Washington, Marion

and Sumter and all the great men of the Revolution

were Whigs. The Loco Focos must be Tories.

"

Major Stevens smiled, but, being busy, did not

take time to explain the difference between a Rev-

olutionary Whig and a Whig of 1840, nor the

wide distinction between a Democrat and a revo-

lutionary Tory.

A few days later his son came home with a

badly bruised eye and his face showing the indica-

tion of finger nails and knuckles.

" Arthur, what have you been doing?" demanded

the major.
.

*Democrat.
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" Fighting, " was the cool answer.

" Fighting, you young rascal; haven't I forbid-

den you fighting?"

" Father, didn't you fight for your country?"

With a smile, the major, who began to under-

stand the casus belli, said: " So this is the result of

a political difference, is it?"

" That was it, father.

"

" With whom was this forcible argument?"
" Ben Ryon. You know Ben is a Loco Foco."

" I supposed, as his father was a Democrat, he

would be ; but as neither of you can exercise the

right of citizenship for four or five years, I don't

see any occasion for these early encounters.

"

" We may just as well commence now, father,

and have it settled before we are old enough to

vote. I told Ben he was a Loco Foco and that

was only another word for Tory. He told me I

was a liar; well, no Kentuckian would take that.

We went at it, and though Ben's a year older than

I, I got him down at last, and gave him a good

beating; but he swore though I killed him, he

would never admit he was a Tory."

The face of Major Stevens became grave. He
saw that he had made a great mistake in not ex-

plaining the difference between Whigs and Tories

of the Revolution, and Whigs and Democrats of

the day.
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" Artlmr, you did very wrong, and you must go

to Ben, admit it, and ask his pardon."

"Why?"
" You called him a.Tory, when he is as loyal to

his country as you. The Democratic party is a

part of the Whig party before the Revolution.

"

It was some time before Arthur could get all the

nice points through his head; but at last he fully

comprehended them, and went to Ben Ryon, ad-

mitted his wrong, and they became better friends

than ever.

There was not a more enthusiastic Whig during

the famous " Hard Cider Campaign," than Arthur

Stevens. The canvass was a very exciting one,

and the method of carrying it on by the WT
higs

was exceedingly demoralizing. Because Harrison

lived in the West, and his residence was formerly

a log-cabin, such a structure became the symbol of

his party ; and because of his proverbial hospital-

ity, that quality was symbolized by a barrel of

hard cider, often mixed with whiskey. Log -cabins

were erected all over the country as places for

political gatherings, and rivers of cider drank in

them. Young and old freely partook of the bev-

erage, and the meetings were often mere drunken

carousals, that were injurious to all, and especially

to the youth. Many a drunkard in after years

could trace the beginning of his ruin to that " Hard
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Cider Campaign" of 1840. Demagogues, as usual,

had made the people believe that a change in ad-

ministration would restore prosperity to the coun-

try, and they adroitly held the administration of

Van Buren responsible for nearly all the woes the

country was suffering.

Van Buren was perhaps the worst maligned and

misrepresented president we ever had. Jackson's

stubbornness, if not mismanagement, had involved

the country in almost financial ruin. Van Buren

took the helm of the ship of state in one of the

most trying times, and he steered through some of

the most dangerous crises we have ever experi-

enced. In point of ability, he was far superior to

Harrison, who was an overrated man, and sixty-

eight years of age.

But enthusiasm, as is usually the case in presi-

dential campaigns, supplanted reason. " Tippe-

canoe and Tyler too," resounded from hill to val-

ley, from the Atlantic to the Mississippi, and the

people were wild.

Arthur sorely regretted that he was not old

enough to vote for General Harrison, just because

he was in command at the battle of Tippecanoe,

which viewed in the light of a battle is insignificant.

" Father, can't I do something to help elect Har-

rison and Tyler, even if I can't vote?" asked the

youth.
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"Certainly."

" What is it?" he asked eagerly.

Major Stevens, who had some shrewd ideas of

politics, answered:

" Arthur, if you are really so enthusiastic to do

General Harrison a service, look up some Demo-

crat, who is going to support Van Buren, and put

all your time and attention to changing him. If

you do that, it is- as good as two votes, and better

than voting yourself.

"

The idea struck Arthur quite forcibly, and he

at once began to look about for a suitable subject

to practise upon. At last he remembered that

there was an Irish-American who had been natu-

ralized, living not more than five miles from his

father's plantation in a log cabin at the head

waters of a creek. Arthur had frequently taken

Patrick McKune with him on hunting and fishing

expeditions, and was on the best of terms with

him.

Arthur mounted his horse next day and galloped

along the wooded road. A few moments brought

him in sight of a cabin near the banks of a creek.

It was a miserable hut, showing indolence and lack

of thrift. Standing in the door left open to admit

the light, was a short, thickset man with features

decidedly Hibernian, smoking a short black pipe,

while his wife was engaged in her culinary duties.
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This man could not have been over twenty-four

or -live years of age; but of that it would be haz-

ardous to guess. His head seemed to have settled

down between his shoulders a trifle too far to per-

mit him to sit as a model for a sculptor, though

by no means impairing his strength or powers of

endurance. There was something so odd about his

appearance and manner, that one would be con-

vinced at the first glance that he was a character.

"Good morning, Pat," cried Arthur, drawing

rein.

" Good mornin' to yez, misthur Arthur. Is it

some fine hunt ye've got on foot now?" asked

Pat, coming out from the door to where Arthur

had dismounted by a big log.

" No, Pat, I came to see you."

" To see me? begorra, here I am. Let us sit on

this cushion seat, me boy, while ye inform me yer

business," said Pat, sitting on the log.

Arthur, like all shrewd politicians, became re-

markably democratic in principle, if not in name,

and, taking a seat on the log by the Irishman's

side, after a word or two of fulsome praise of the

Irishman's location, and abode, which caused the

owner's eyes to twinkle, he asked:

" Pat, are you a Loco Foco?"

Pat, after two or three whiffs at his pipe, an-

swered :
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"No, I'm a Diraicrat."

"Why?"
" Begorra, I don't know," and the puzzled look

on Pat's face was comical to "behold.

Mm :

"Pat, are you a Loco Foco?"

There are many such politicians in America.

" Why won't you be a Whig, Pat?"

Pat shook his head stubbornly and declared:
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" Divil a bit uv a Whig for me. I'm a Dimi-

erat. The Dimicratic doctrines are the principles

for liberty and ould Ireland foriver."

We will not give a detailed account of the long

discussion between Arthur and Pat; but none of

the young Whig's argument was potent until he

mentioned hard cider. This touched the vulnera-

ble point in Pat's Democratic armor. He consented

to go with Arthur to one of the meetings next day

across the river.

Arthur, with his father's gig, took the Irishman

to the " speaking. " The place was a vast grove in

which thousands wTere assembled. There were log

cabins on wheels, with coonskins on the sides, and

vast procession after procession pouring in.

Barrels of hard cider were on every hand for

each to help himself. Bands were pla}nng, ban-

ners waving, choruses singing and people shouting.

Streamers were stretched from tree to tree bear-

ing the words " Tippecanoe and Tyler too. " Pat

was not long in catching the general enthusiasm,

and after four or five cups of cider, he threw up

his hat and yelled

:

" Hurrah for Gineral Harrison and ould Ireland

foriver!"

In a few moments after their arrival, Arthur

missed his substitute as he called Pat, who became

lost in a crowd of enthusiastic Whigs. Arthur
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went to the grand stand to listen to the speeches

for two hours, and then set out to find his convert.

Loud yells from a vast crowd of half drunken

Whigs at last drew his attention to one of the

improvised log cabins, where a sight met his gaze,

which caused Arthur to smile.

A barrel of cider had been placed in a sort of

rack made of four sticks, around which was a

throng of half-drunken men and boys, shouting

and yelling until they were hoarse. Seated on an

end of the barrel, his trousers stuffed in his boot

legs, his high -crowned white hat set on the back

of his head, a glass of cider in one hand, was his

substitute, wild, roaring drunk.

Between the shouts, one could hear something-

like: "What is all this great commotion-motion-

motion?"

Then the remainder was drowned save the word

" ocean."

At last, with a roar, Pat and the whole crowd

struck up the chorus

:

"It's Tippecanoe

And Tyler too."

It ended with a crash. Over came the barrel by

the giving way of one of the props, and Arthur's

helpless substitute was hurled upon the ground.

He got up, waved his hat and yelled

:
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" Hurrah for Gineral Harrison and ould Ireland

foriver!"

After some difficulty, Arthur got his enthusi-

astic convert into the vehicle and drove him home.

Next morning at breakfast Arthur told his father

what an easy task he had had, in converting the

Irishman.

"Don't be too sure, Arthur," said the major.

" He is a Whig, father. He is the most enthu-

siastic of any.

"

" But you are never sure of him until he has

cast his vote. His conversion is too sudden to

hist. The Loco Focos will watch him and may

steal your substitute yet.

"

" I will take care they don't," cried Arthur, his

face flaming with indignation. " I will see that

Pat attends every meeting and hears every speech.

"

" Cider is more effective than speeches in his

case!" answered the major.

" Then he shall swim in it.

"

There was another great political rally over in

Ohio, and Arthur with his substitute set out for

the speaking. It was like the others. Grand

processions, vast concourses of log cabins on

wheels, coonskins, barrels of cider, tin horns and

everything calculated to make a noise. Arthur

and his substitute volunteered to roll the great

ball.
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Now exactly what that great ball which they

were to roll for miles, had to do with the welfare

of the nation, the most profound philosopher has

never been able to tell ; but Arthur and Pat sup-

posed it played some very important part. At

every cabin met in the procession, and they were

frequent, they paused to drink cider, until at last

Arthur became confused in his ideas, and he found

himself in a village tavern at the bar. How he

ever came there he was not certain. He knew

not what had become of his companion, who seemed

to have disappeared in the general confusion

which befogged Arthur's brain.

"Young man, what will you take to drink?"

asked a big fellow called " Old Kentuck."

" I_I thank you, sir—I—I don't—don't drink,

"

faltered the unhappy Arthur.

" Are you for Tippecanoe and Tyler too?"

"Yes, hurraw!" and Arthur made a feeble

effort to cheer.

" Then you'll drink with me."

Arthur was duly marched up to the bar, plied

with a bumper of strong brandy and then released.

His pale face flushed into a more healthy color,

and as he felt a considerable feeling of assurance

growing within him, he took several turns about

the room, scanned the advertisements for runaway

negroes on the wall, and gazed at the buildings in
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the capitol square. As his roving glances settled

on one small building, he noticed the outlines were

of a fuzzy, indistinct appearance. His spirits rose

and he became talkative to a degree, expatiating

largely upon the affairs of State and the abilities

and characteristics of statesmen. The sayings and

doings of congressmen and in the president's cabi-

net seemed to be no secret to him.

In an unguarded moment, he struck up the

everlasting " Tippecanoe and Tyler too" song,

which caused him to be seized by the coat collar,

dragged to the bar and made drink something

which gave him a very pugnacious feeling.

Arthur took one or two turns about the room in

a sort of unsteady military strut, and gazed again

from the window at the building before noticed by

him. To his manifest amazement there were the

house and a double. He rubbed his eyes, looked

again,—yes positively, there were two of them,

though they were both of a very foggy, undecided

appearance indeed. He, however, allowed the

incident to pass without remark, and devoted his

attention to making friends with every one in the

office, offering cigars indiscriminately and without

the least regard to expense. If a man refused to

recognize his advances toward acquaintanceship,

his pride was sorely touched, his combativeness

w;is excited, he wished to resent the insult. He
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was not afraid, no, sir. He wanted to box with

himself in the mirror behind the bar, and made

pugilistic demonstrations at his shadow over the

counter.

Espying his first acquaintance, he set sail across

the room for him, and by a series of skilful tacks

from side to side arrived in his vicinity. Putting

on an air of wonderful importance, he slapped

" Old Kentuck" on the shoulder and, with an air

of brazen impudence, bawled:

" You ain't no Loco Foco, are you?"
" Nary a bit. Come and drink."

Without knowing what he was saying, Arthur

answered

:

"Oh, yes, certainly—certainly, sir."

" Barkeeper, the old Bourbon whiskey!"

A third time Arthur's glass was filled and, with-

out waiting for his companion to say, " Your

health, sir," drained it, while "Old Kentuck"

poured the contents of his tumbler into the slop

basin. After swallowing this third monstrous

dose, Arthur seemed to become more or less con-

fused in his ideas. His knees became unsteady

and very apt to give out when he least expected it.

Happening to take a third look out at the window,

he noticed still stranger optical phenomena than

before. The edifice which had previously attracted

his attention was accompanied by some half a score
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of other similar buildings, and all were rapidl}T

revolving on a common axis, interspersed at fre-

quent intervals with stars and coruscations of an

amusing character. While hanging on to the bars

which ran across the window and shouting:

" Hooray for—hie—Tippecanoe and Tyler too!" he

lost his recollection and awoke next morning in

bed, with the ever faithful Pat at his side, as drunk

as himself.

This was only one disgusting scene of the " Hard

cider" and " Tippecanoe and Tyler too, " nonsense

campaign. Arthur and Pat went to their homes

as soon as they could. The youth determined to

refrain from drinking any more; but be never

relaxed in his enthusiasm. -He clung close to Pat

and renewed his spiritual strength whenever he

found it wavering, and it frequently wavered, for

Pat often found his tendencies to democracy get-

ting the better of him.

But at last, Arthur was quite sure Pat was

completely won. On two or three occasions, the

Irishman had made short speeches at country

schoolhouses, where the poorer classes of whites

assembled.

Arthur's enthusiasm for the Whigs gave him a

reputation which spread all over Boone and adjoin-

ing counties. He was sent for by Mr. Plausaby,

a candidate for legislature in an adjoining county
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to assist in a grand rally, at which they were to

have fireworks at night. Arthur was an expert in

making transparencies, rolling balls and managing

fireworks. This rally was on Saturday and lasted

until late in the night, then, as he lived quite a

distance away, Mr. Plausaby took the youth home

with him to become his guest until Monday.

Next morning, Arthur was horrified to find that

Mr. Plausaby had three daughters aged, respec-

tively, nineteen, seventeen and fifteen. He had

never dared "look at a girl," and was so bashful

at breakfast that he upset a glass of milk, dropped

his napkin, and, in trying to recover it, his fork.

Mrs. Plausaby came to the relief of the bashful

youth, and, before the meal was over, he had

managed to inspect each of the daughters. Miss

Lizzie, eldest, was tall, with a face too short to be

oval, and a complexion that was decidedly florid.

Her neck was long and her shoulders round; her

lips were too short to cover her teeth, and her eyes

of a pale blue matched her pale, flaxen hair. Her

sister Cynthia was an insipid-looking girl with

weak eyes and a scowl on her face, more from her

nearsightedness, however, than ill temper. Lydia,

the j^oungest, was short and plump, and her nose

had a decided upward tendency ; her face was

broad and freckled and her hair a fiery red.

Certainly there never was three homelier creatures

Vol. 11—5
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seen, and Arthur was sure he was not likely to fall

in love with them. Mr. Plausaby, during the

morning meal, began to launch out on a political

discourse, when Mrs. P. halted him with a reminder

that this was the Holy Sabbath, and worldly mat-

ters should not be discussed.

Mr. Plausaby was loyal to his wife's feelings,

and said no more on the subject. He yielded the

field to her. Mrs. Plausaby was a devout Catholic

and seldom missed a service at the little church at

the village three and a half miles distant.

" You are a Protestant, ain't you, Mr. Stevens?"

asked Mrs. Plausaby.

"Yes, ma'am!" Arthur answered, trying hard

to hide his face from the three girls, who were

looking at him, he knew.
" Wall, now, we don't care for that, do we, Ben-

edict?"

"Oh, no!" Mr. Plausaby answered.

" Were you ever at a Catholic service?"

"No, ma'am."
" Wouldn't you like to go? I reckon it would

be a monkey show to you."

Without dreaming there was any danger of his

falling into a trap, the bashful youth said

:

" Certainly, I would like to go."

" Very well, you and Lizzie can go in the

buggy."
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Arthur almost lost his breath. He choked. He

take Miss Lizzie three miles and a half in a buggy,

both sit in the same seat? How could he? Had

she bidden him swim the Ohio in December it

would have been more agreeable ; but there was no

way to escape it. Each feeble excuse, such as it

might not be agreeable to Miss Lizzie, or he had

better go on home—he didn't wish to trespass—all

were swept aside, and go he must.

With heart wildly beating, he heard the negro

"boy announce that the horse and buggy were ready,

and he found Miss Lizzie in her new Leghorn bon-

net and blue calico frock, ready. How he ever

reached the buggy, got in with her and drove off,

he never exactly knew ; but after awhile he found

himself sitting at Miss Lizzie's side, breathing

quite comfortably again. They spoke six words

each on the way, and Arthur had come to feel that

he was a hero. Miss Lizzie was a very suscepti-

ble young lady, but quiet. She was plain almost

to ugliness, and though she was three years older

than Arthur, he was her first beau. She deter-

mined therefore to show him off to the best possi-

ble advantage.

The old folks stood on the front porch and

watched the young pair off, and then Mrs. Plausaby

began to bustle about and get dinner.

Arthur reached the church. It stood in a grove
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of tall young oaks, walnuts and hickories. He

would willingly Lave given the best negro his

father owned, to be safely seated in the pew. The

whole thing was new to him, the girl, the Catho-

lic church, and all. He knew enough to get out

of the vehicle and hand Miss Lizzie out; but he

forgot to tie the horse, until she told him it might

run awa}r
. Being thus reminded, he left Miss

Lizzie standing about half way between the buggy

and the church, and went back to tie the horse,

while a crowd of boys, who stood under some

trees watching them, began to whisper and snicker.

Men can do desperate things when driven to it,

and Arthur determined to brace up, go through

the trying ordeal, just as if he was used to such

things. But alas, there are snares for the feet of

the unwary, where one least expects them.

They crossed a vestibule which brought them

to the door leading into the chapel. As the door

was open Arthur could see that the pews were

filled and the priest in sacerdotal robes had entered

upon his discourse. The priest in his pulpit sur-

rounded by images and candlesticks attracted

Arthur's attention. He did not notice near the

door an image of the Immaculate Conception. He
had almost forgotten his companion, when sud-

denly he heard a rustling and a thud and, looking

at Miss Lizzie, was horrified to find her sinking
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to the floor. She was on her knees. One hand

had crossed her breast while the other was reached

out toward a bowl of water sitting on a niche in

the wall.

"Fainted, by gosh!" gasped Arthur and, seiz-

ing the bowl of water, he dashed it in her face

as the surest means of restoring her to conscious-

ness.

Miss Lizzie, who had only been obeying her

pious instincts and early teaching, rose and shook

the holy water from her dress, wiped her face and

gasped

:

" W what did you do that for?"

" Didn't you faint?" he asked.

"No; that was the holy water, and you have

left none.

"

Arthur now saw his blunder, and how he got

into the pew he never knew. But he did, and

when the services were over Miss Lizzie pinched

his arm and whispered

:

"Let's go."

They went home in silence. Arthur fully un-

derstood his ludicrous blunder, however, and

could scarce refrain from laughing at it. Shortly

after they reached home, he heard Miss Lizzie, her

mother and sisters talking in another room, until

all was lost in a smothered burst of laughter.

The day was warm and the table was set for
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dinner on the rear porch, or piazza, which at the

north end was three or four feet from the ground.

It chanced that Arthur was to sit at this north end.

He did not notice that the back of his chair was

on the edge of the porch. The entire family was

gathered about the table, and Mr. Plausabv, un-

able longer to refrain from talking politics, launched

out in a great harangue, arraigning the Loco Focos

for high crimes and misdemeanors. Arthur in his

enthusiasm forgot his mishap of the forenoon at

church, his bashfulness deserted him, and more

than once during the meal he cried out:

"Bravo!"

Mr. Plausabv, at last warming in his theme,

made a telling point which he emphasized by his

fist on the table, and Arthur, unaware of his dan-

gerous proximity to the edge of the porch,

threw himself back to cry " bravo!" when over he

went back into the yard, three and a half feet below.

When he found himself falling, he caught with

both hands at something. That something-

chanced to be the table-cloth. It did not stay his

full but went with him. Arthur cleared the table,

bringing every dish, plate, cup and saucer, with

the roast goose, coffee and all, in one grand heap

of ruin upon him on the ground.

The dogs and a brood of ducks finished the

dinner. Arthur's second mishap had destroyed
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his appetite. He went home that evening and did

not return to Plausaby's for years after.

The campaign was drawing to a close. The

election was close at hand, and Arthur clung

close to Pat, his substitute. After having suffered

all he had, getting drunk with Pat, and making an

idiot of himself on a dozen occasions, he deter-

mined not to. lose him now. He heard that Ben

Kyon had boasted that he would yet vote Pat foi

Van Buren.

The day before the election, he interviewed Mr.

McKune, and drilled him on his catechism.

" Pat, you are no Loco Foco, are you?" he said.

"Divil a bit!" cried Pat with a goblet of hard

cider in his hand. " Show me the man who says

I am, and, begorra, I'll knock his two eyes into

one!"
" Good for you, Pat. Now go to the polls in

the morning and vote early."

" Bedad, I'll vote airly and often," Pat declared.

Then as Arthur rode away he heard his voice

ringing out through the woods

:

"Oh say, what is all this great commotion-motion?

It's ringing out from ocean to ocean

;

It's Tippecanoe and Tyler too—"

" He certainly is all right," Arthur thought.

That evening he triumphantly reported to his

father his successful conversion of his substitute.
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" Wait, my son, and see if you make a success-

ful report to-morrow evening. All your months

of triumph may be turned into failure, in one

minute to-morrow."

" Well, father, what must I do?"

" Go to the polls and see if your man votes as

he has promised. Be on hand to guide, direct

and encourage."

Arthur resolved to take his father's advice, and

next morning saddled his horse and, calling his

hounds, started, intending to take a hunt after Pat

had voted ; but the pack started a fox and away

went dogs, and away went Arthur, who was too

keen a sportsman to allow that chance to escape

him.

Pat McKune fulfilled his promise to be early.

Ben Eyon was at the polls when Pat came. He

saw Arthur was not with him, so he called Pat

aside and. asked

:

" Pat, don't you like real old Kentucky whiskey

better than hard cider?"

" Right ye are, me boy, and I could drink a

quart of it this morning, for I'm as dhry as a fish."

Ben was prepared. He drew a bottle from his

pocket and asked him to "have a pull." Pat

"pulled."

" Pat, that is Democratic—Loco Foco, they call

it."
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Pat, smacking his lips between drinks, re-

marked :

" Bedad, if this is Loco Foco, ye can't give me

too much of it.

"

By the careful manipulation of the bottle, Ben

Kyon in ten minutes upset the education of three

months.

Reeling and staggering, but yelling for Van

Buren, Pat went to the polls and voted the Demo-

cratic ticket from top to bottom, while Arthur was

giving chase to the fox.



CHAPTER IV.

THE MIDNIGHT INTERVIEW.

Harrison and Tyler were elected by an over-

whelming majority, and March 4, 1841, Mr. Van

Buren surrendered the presidential chair to the

Whig Party.

Half a century had elapsed since the formation

of the government under the new constitution.

The States had doubled in number, and the popu-

lation had reached about seventeen million souls.

The resources had been largely developed, espe-

.

cially its mineral treasures of coal and iron. The

railway system was fairly established, and the set-

tlement of the west was in rapid progress. From

the beginning of the career of the republic, the

state and banking institutions had been closely

wedded. The chief event of Mr. Van Buren 's

administration was their absolute divorce.

General Harrison was sixty-eight years of age

when inaugurated. He lived but one month after

entering on the duties of his office, then died and

John Tyler became his constitutional successor.

74
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Tyler was a political mountebank, an ambitions

man, whose zeal to secure Ins own re-election

caused him to sacrifice political principles, if he

had any.

It is doubtful if he ever was a Whig, and the

utterance to Judge Cranch on the death of Presi-

dent Harrison, "You have only

exchanged oneWhig for another,

"

was doubtless false. He had been

a Democrat of the school of strict

constructionists of the constitu-

tion ;
but when he was a candi-

date for the Vice-Presidency he

had avowed himself to be a firm

and decided Whig. Like many

of his successors, Mr. Tyler had

scarce entered on his adminis-

tration, before he began plan-

ning for a re-election. He opposed some of the

strongest Whig principles. His cabinet resigned,

and he alienated himself from the Whig Party.

He refused to listen to the wise council of Mr.

Webster and exercised the veto power with a high

hand. The two principal motives attributed to

Mr. Tyler as the cause of his vetoes of the bank

bills were, first, his constitutional scruples, with a

determination to preserve his character for consist-

ency ; and, second, having set his heart upon a

General Harrison.
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second term for the Presidency, he was charged

with endeavoring to ingratiate himself with his

recent party friends, the Democrats, by Ills bank

vetoes, and thus become a candidate for re-election

in 1844. The second year of his administration,

the South Sea exploring party under Lieutenant

Charles Wilkes, sent out in 1838, returned. The

little spark of civil war in Rhode Island in 1843,

where there were two parties with two governors,

was quelled by national troops. The constitution

of the " Law and Order" party was sustained, and

no further trouble ensued.

Trouble was threatened on the southwestern

frontier, where Texas, having gained her indepen-

dence from the Mexican government, was asking

admission as a State. There was also a little trou-

ble with Great Britain over the Territory of Oregon,

which was finally adjusted. The chief political

issue of 1844 was the annexation of Texas, which

was favored by the Democracy.

At the close of Mr. Tyler's term of office, he was

not nominated by either the Whigs or Democrats,

and he accepted that honor from a convention of

delegates composed chiefly of office-holders, but,

perceiving that his election would be impossible,

he withdrew in August and threw his influence

against the party which had elevated him to power.

The Democratic nominees for 1844 were James K.
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Polk of Tennessee for president, who was warmly

in favor of the annexation of Texas, and George

M. Dallas of Pennsylvania for vice-president. The

Whig candidates were Henry Clay of Kentucky

and Theodore Frelinghuysen of New Jersey. The

Whigs tried the gush and nonsense campaign of

1840 over again, and campaign poets sang:

" Go along, old Governor Polk,

Clay will run surprising,

And Dallas, you will never do

To run with Frelinghuysen."

Polk and Dallas were elected, and Tyler, after

holding in his possession a River and Harbor Bill

in imitation of Jackson's " pocket veto," until too

late for it to pass over his head, retired to private

life. In 1861, he espoused the cause of the

southern confederacy and died in Richmond, Vir-

ginia, in 1862.

The good people of Boone County, Kentucky,

were still annoyed by the mysterious disappearance

of negroes.

"I declar', it beats all," declared Mr. Ryon,

one of Major Stevens' nearest neighbors. " I tell

you, it beats all, so it does. What are we gwine

to do, major?"

"I do not know, Mr. Ryon," the major an-

swered. " There is a deep, unfathomable mystery

about all this, which I can't see through."
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At this moment, Dr. Trunnels came riding fu-

riously down the road. He was accompanied by

a couple of splendid bloodhounds, and carried a

double-barrelled gun across the pommel of his sad-

dle, while he wore a double-barrelled pistol in his

belt.

Major Stevens had met Mr. Ryon in the road,

where the above conversation took place. Both

were on horseback.

"What is wrong, doctor?" asked the major, as

the doctor galloped up.

" Haven't you heard of it?" cried the doctor.

" No, heard what?" asked the major, while Mr.

Eyon opened his mouth and eyes in wonder.

" More niggers gone.

"

"Whose?"
" Zeb Porter has three missing, Bill More two,

and in all we have counted up eleven. The infer-

nal abolitionists are determined to ruin us. I am

going to pursue them," roared the doctor. "I

will hang them to the first tree.

"

He induced Mr. Ryon and the major to accom-

pany him, but as before, the pursuit was fruitless.

They returned quite discouraged, and Mr. Ryon

vowed he would either sell his " niggers" or move

to Missouri.

Three weeks elapsed after the disappearance of

the last batch of negroes, and people had almost
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ceased to talk of it. It was Saturday night, when

all the negroes of Boone County were allowed to

go whithersoever they chose. Major Stevens'

faithful John had asked for a holiday until Mon-

day, which of course was granted. John's labors

were light, and he seldom asked for a holiday

;

but recently he had been asking for many, until

the major, with a smile, asked John if there was

not a certain yellow girl in the neighborhood,

whom he went to see. John bowed his head,

looked so bashful and was so silent that his master

concluded he had guessed the cause of his fre-

quently absenting himself.

"Well, go on, John," said the major. "You
have been a faithful fellow and on your wedding

day your master will not forget you."

John hung his head and went away. He was

almost out of sight of the house, when he paused

and looked back.

"It don't seem right," said John. "I don't

blame others for doing it; they've got bad mosters;

but Major Stevens is more like a father to me than

a moster.

"

He seemed undecided for a few moments, then,

glancing at the moon just rising above the eastern

hills, turned abruptly to the left into a road lead-

ing through the woods. For three miles the negro

traversed the woods, and then emerged into an old
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field, winch lie crossed and came in sight of an

unoccupied house.

This was on the property of Dr. Trunnels. The

field and house belonged to him, though for the

last two years he had not been able to find a suit-

able tenant. About one hundred paces from the

house ran a yard fence with the old-fashioned stiles

instead of a gate. Dr. Trunnels was sitting on the

stiles, whittling a stick with his knife, and John,

after looking to the right and left and in his rear, as

if to assure himself that he was not being watched,

went directly to where the doctor was sitting.

This was a strange proceeding on the part of the

negro, considering that Dr. Trunnels was the

fiercest negro-hunter in all Kentucky, and was

even a negro-hater.

" Good evening, Doctor Trunnels, I have come

according to agreement," said John on joining him.

The doctor whittled for a few moments und then

asked

:

" Well, John, have you considered my proposi-

tion?"

"Yes."

Another silence, after which the doctor asked

:

" What conclusion have you come to, John?"

"I don't know, doctor. I've got a mighty

good moster, and I don't like to treat him so

mean.

"
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" John, you will not betray me?"

" No, doctor.

"

The doctor laid down the pine stick he had been

whittling, and said:

" I have lived here for years at the peril of my

life. While professing to be a rabid abolition

hater, I have been the most active of all abolition-

ists. I have given liberty to scores of slaves. If

the people knew I had been living a false life,

they would rise up in their wrath and hang me;

of this fact you must be aware."

" I know it, doctor.

"

"I risk my life, John, to offer you your free-

dom; won't you accept it?"

John still hesitated. Negroes with bad " mos-

ters" were not to blame, but he felt he would be

guilty of the basest ingratitude if he should run

away. Then again John thought that the plan

might fail, and he would lose the good opinion of

his master and perhaps be sent to the southern

market.
" There is no danger of that, John. I manipu-

late the underground railroad, and it is safe and

sure. When I have a batch of negroes ready, we

always start Saturday night, cross at Anderson's

ferry, where will be found covered wagons to take

all away. There you will find men with knee-

breeches, broad -brimmed hats, who say 'thee' and

Vol. 11—6
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'thou,' waiting for you. They are Quakers, and

will prove to be your best friends, for they are

enemies to slavery and oppression. You will be

forced to travel many days in those covered wagons,

until you come to water. There you will be put

on board a vessel which will bear you to Canada

and freedom.

"

John sighed. He longed for freedom. He had

heard so much about freedom, that he had natu-

rally come to dwell long on the subject; but he

hesitated and shuddered with dread at the thought.

"Dr. Trunnels, I feel it here," said John, lay-

ing his hand on his heart. " I feel it here. I

would be doing wrong.

"

" All right, John, if you are willing to take

your chances, all right."

" My moster is good to me, and I can't leave

him."

"True, Major Stevens is good to you, John;

but he is an exception of a master. You do not

know,—you cannot dream of the horrors of slavery

in Georgia or Louisiana. All goes well now.

Your master is well-to-do, in good health; but

look out when the day of trouble comes. Suppose,

John, that Major Stevens should die, or suppose

he should suddenly become a bankrupt, then what

will be your fate? Don't you know it? Can't

you guess it? The block—the auctioneer,—the
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professional negro-buyers for the southern market,

standing about with whips and handcuffs, your

poor master either dead or powerless to help you.

"

The picture drawn was terrible. John had wit-

nessed such scenes, and dreamed of them in his

sleep, and now that the argument of Dr. Trunnels

showed very clearly that such a fate might be his,

he shuddered, but still hesitated.

"John," concluded the doctor, "there is no

safety for you save in freedom. That boon you

must have, for the South, which yawns to swallow

northern niggers, will engulf you. I offer you

freedom, why do you refuse it?"

" How many are you going to take next time,

Dr. Trunnels?" John asked.

" A dozen
,
perhaps more.

"

"Do I know any?"

"Yes."

"Who?"
"Dick Lee's Nelly!"

This was a master stroke. Perhaps no induce-

ment could have caused him to desert his master

had he known that Nelly Lee, as he called her, was

safe. Nelly was the yellow girl whom John loved.

More than once he had tried to pluck up courage

to ask his master to buy Nelly, for Lee was not a

good master; but John was as bashful as his young

master Arthur.



84 HUMBLED PRIDE.

" Is Nelly going?" lie asked.

" Yes—ask her.

"

John promised to meet Dr. Trunnels on the next

Saturday night and give him his final decision on

the matter, then took his leave and, with slow,

pensive steps, wended his way to the lowly cabin

of Nelly Lee. Nelly was expecting her lover, and

the best of the hoecake, with baked opossum and

sweet potatoes, tempting viands for a darky, were

spread before him, and the dusky lovers made a

feast that night. Then John took his banjo from

the wall and played the old plantation tunes, and

sang the old plantation songs, which even to this

day awaken pleasant memories in the South.

Though Nelly smiled and tried to seem happy,

her lover saw that there was something on her

mind, for she occasionally heaved a sigh. It was

late when John laid aside the banjo, and in an

awe inspiring whisper asked

:

" Nelly, are you gwine away?"
" Who told you?" she asked.

" I heard it, is it so?"

"Yes."

"With Dr. Trunnels?"

"Yes, John, I want my freedom," she sighed.

"I'll never get it here. My moster is hard on me.

Dr. Trunnels is our friend—I'd die before I'd

betray him, I would. I may be sold South, John,
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and sent away from you. I had better go North.

I only lack five dollars Laving enough. It takes

twenty-five, and I've saved out twenty; but each

nigger has to have twenty-five."

John was converted that same night, and told

Nelly he would go with her. John had been «a

thrifty negro, and saved up a considerable sum.

He told Nelly he would furnish her the needed

amount and still have an abundance to pay his own

passage to Canada. After which he would still

have a small sum to set them up in housekeeping.

The prospect looked bright, and John forgot all

his conscientious scruples in the assurance that he

would free Nelly from her cruel master.

On the next Saturday night, John, being given

his liberty until Monday, met Dr. Trunnels once

more at the rendezvous. The doctor was again

sitting on the stiles whittling. He waited for John

to come up and opened the subject with

:

" Well, John, have you made up your mind?"

" Yes, sir.

"

" What will you do?"

"Go."

The doctor did not seem elated or to evince any

surprise. In fact he knew full well from the very

first that John would consent. For a few moments

he sat and whittled on his pine stick, then he said:

"John, you know the rule?"
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"What rule?"

" The rule is that every nigger sent North must

pay twenty-five dollars toward his expenses. I

am risking my life for your freedom, and the

society is poor—very poor. They can't afford to

pay all the expenses; you must help bear them."

"I'll do it," said John. "I can raise the

money for myself and Nelly."

Then the doctor was silent for a long time whit-

tling on a stick. He seemed to be thinking

about the risk he ran in the cause of benevolence,

and John was quite sure he had never seen such

a grand specimen of noble manhood in his life.

The doctor's face was sad, and he heaved a sigh

and remarked

:

" It grieves me, John, to think that, despite all

we can do, there are so many thousands of your

race still in bondage.

"

John could offer no word of consolation. He

had forgotten his good master, his excellent quali-

ties and kind treatment in the intoxicating thought

of freedom.

" In a few weeks, John, you will be a freeman,"

said the doctor.

A free man, what a glorious thought. Free to

go and come at will ; free to buy and sell ; to be

free as the air he breathed. Never again would he

utter the name of " moster. " Perhaps in time he
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would come to exercise the privileges of citizen-

ship and he went on building aircastle after air-

castle, and dreaming dreams which were never to

be fulfilled.

" When do we start, doctor?"

" One week from to-night.

"

" Will Nelly and I go at the same time?"

"Yes."
" Where shall I start from?"

"Here."
" Will you meet me here?"

" Yes."

Then' the doctor whittled a few moments in

silence, after which he proceeded to caution the

would-be freed man.
_

•

" You must have a care, John, " he said. But

let it be breathed abroad that you are to escape,

and you will be shipped South. Don't trust your

master in this case, nor any one else."

"I won't."

John and the doctor parted that night perfectly

understanding each other. Next day being Sun-

day, Dr. Trunnels went to Major Stevens' house,

and said

:

.

" Major, I fear there will be another raid ot the

abolitionists soon, why don't you sell your niggers

and send them South?"

The major heaved a sigh and answered

:
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" Doctor, I cannot do that.

"

" You had better keep a close watch on them

then."

"Why?"
" You will lose some. I tell you, major, the

world will some day learn that a nigger can never

be trusted. Suppose the abolitionists should suc-

ceed in freeing all, as the}7 want to, and making

them citizens which they would do if freed, the

negro could never be depended upon. If they en-

deavored to make them a political factor, which

they certainly would, the nigger would vote against

the party that freed him. The average nigger is

without principle."

Major Stevens shook his head and, smiling, an-

swered :

" Have no fears, doctor, the negroes will never

be freed nor made citizens. The idea is ridicu-

lous."

" Major, you will yet learn that the negro is a

greater factor in American politics than you dream.

He will be made a citizen if he is ever freed; but

that is a long time to come, major. There are

questions of more vital importance nearer at home.

The question is what are you going to do with

your negroes?"

"Nothing."
" Are you not afraid they will run away?"
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"No."
" There is your man John,—you put too much

confidence in him."

"No, I don't."

" He will run away some time.""

" Dr. Trunnels, I would trust John with every

dollar I have, with my life. I would not fear to

send him to Canada on any errand or business.

He would come back."

" But the Abolitionists will be putting devilment

into his head."

" Doctor, I would not sell John, even if I knew

that he would run off.

"

Dr. Trunnels left the obstinate master, shaking

his head sagely as he walked away. At the stiles

he paused and, turning about, called back to the

lenient master, saying:

" Major, if it ever happens, don't blame me.

I've warned you."*

" It will never happen, doctor."

" Don't be too sure, you put too much confidence

in John.

"

On Tuesday after the doctor's visit, while the

major was with John in the stables, he said:

" John, some of my neighbors have been advis-

ing me to sell you."

"Why, moster?"

" They say you will run away."
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John thought all his plans discovered, and

began to tremble. He was silent for a long time

and then asked

:

" Moster, are you goin' to sell me?"
" No, John ; I said I would not sell you, even if

I knew you would run away.

"

John felt a pang of remorse at this abiding

trust of his master. Long years after did the

unfortunate negro remember those noble words;

for John was capable of gratitude.

Had it not been for Nelly, he could not have

been induced to leave; but he could not tear him-

self from her. He was sometimes tempted to per-

suade his master to purchase Nelly ; but he could

never pluck up courage to do so. The days wore

slowly away one by one, and Saturday came.

Through the leniency of his master, John had

been enabled to save nearly seventy dollars.

He kept this money in an old leather purse, in

a secure place, and when Saturday came, took it

out and concealed it about his person. It was all

in gold and silver, and John had taken infinite

pleasure in counting it over. Now that he was

going away, he would never more count his gold.

The horses that came at his call and fed from his

hand were bidden a silent farewell, and he set out

soon after dark for the rendezvous.

Dr. Trunnels was again sitting on the stiles.
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Five negroes were lying under some trees not ten

rods away.
" Well, John, you have come at last?" said the

doctor.

"Yes."

"Keady to go?"

"lam."
John had brought a small bundle of clothes with

him, done up in a red bandanna handkerchief.

"John, are you willing to help one of your

race ?
"

"Yes," John answered.

" Well, there is one poor fellow out there, who

lacks the twenty-five dollars which the society

must have. Will you lend it to him?"

John hesitated a moment before lending so much

money; but the doctor assured him that as they

were going to the same place, " the nigger" would

pay it back when they got there, and it would be

safe.

"Who is it?" asked John.

" Crow's Jim."

John shook his head and remarked:

" Jim is a worthless, drunken scamp.

"

" But he is a slave. Give him freedom and re-

sponsibility and you will see what a grand, noble

man he is.

"

He overpersuaded John into paying Jim's pas-
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sage. John paid Lis own and five dollars on Nelly's

fare, and loaned Crow's Jim twenty-five dollars.

" Now where will I meet Nelly?" he asked.

" At Anderson's ferry."

" Do we cross there?"

" Yes, and you will be taken in covered wagons

driven by Quakers to a Quaker's house over in

Ohio and kept in a dark cellar until this blows

over, then taken in another wagon another night's

travel, until you come to water and are put on

shipboard."

John joined the rive others under the trees ; a

little further they met another, and, travelling

two miles in the woods, the seven came upon a

large covered wagon. A man with a decidedly

Quaker look sat in the wagon holding the lines.

" Would thee take a ride?" he asked.

"Yes," John answered.

" Then get thee all in, and do not look out

until I bid thee, for it is a long journey we are

going."

In a few moments the seven runaways were

crouched in the bottom of the wagon, while the

Quaker started his horses along at a brisk pace

Ere long they came upon a second wagon, similar

1<> the one which bore them.

" Art thou friend George?" asked John's Quaker

driver.



THE MIDNIGHT INTERVIEW. 93

"Verily, Elkanab, it is I."

" Hast thou been to market, or art thou going?"

" I am going."

The two great vehicles kept each other company.

About a mile from Anderson's Ferry, Dr. Trunnels,

who had mounted a swift horse and galloped along

a nigher road so as to cut off the fugitives before

they reached the ferry, overtook them. He gave

a preconcerted signal to the drivers, which caused

them to pull up, and turning to the trembling

negroes whisper

:

" If thou wouldst have thy freedom, thee must

keep very quiet."

The two Quakers, sober, middle-aged men, left

their teams and went to Dr. Trunnels, where they

held a last consultation with him, before going to

the ferry.

He went to the wagon in which John and the

six others were crouching, and said

:

" Boys, keep very quiet ! you will soon be at the

ferry, and then if you whisper, cough, or sneeze,

you will be heard.

"

John asked:

"Where is Nelly?"
" In the other wagon, wait until you are at the

end of the first journey."

Joh'n was silent.

The wagons once more started, and all lay very
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still, listening to every sound. They found the

ferrymen at their post. But few questions were

asked, and they were hurried over to the Ohio

shore. Then they travelled a long distance, how

long John never knew, for he fell asleep and knew

nothing until the great vehicle came to a standstill,

and a voice said: " Get out!"

They rose and crept out of the wagon. John

looked around and found himself in a wild, lonely

region of country. There was a small log house

on the hill on their right, while a deep forest sur-

rounded them on every side. Certainly a more

desirable station for an underground railroad

could not have been selected.

John looked about for the other wagon; but it

was not in sight, though he was assured it would

come up before they reached Canada. It had

stopped at a house a few miles back.

John glanced at the East and saw that it was

growing light. He went with the others to the

house where all entered a cellar, or subterranean

apartment which was j3rovicled with rude bunks,

tables and benches. In this subterranean apart-

ment John and his companions remained two

weeks, seeing no one save a man who brought their

food. This sort of freedom was becoming irk-

some, when they were one night told to make ready

to travel.
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A wagon was at the foot of the hill. It was a

covered wagon with a driver similar to the first,

in Quaker costume. Thus they travelled for

weeks in covered wagons at night, during the day

sleeping in cellars or barn lofts.

When John inquired about Nelly, he was al-

ways told she was in the other wagon, which he

was made to believe was not more than a day's

journey behind them. It was dangerous for the

two wagons to travel in company, for it might ex-

cite suspicion, and they were told everywhere that

pursuers were watching for them.

As they always travelled by night and in cov-

ered wagons, they saw nothing whatever of the

country through which they were journeying.

At last the dreary monotony of the wagon jour-

ney came to an end. After weeks they came to a

broad sheet of water; they knew not where it was,

nor what it was; but on one moonlight night their

wagon with several others, was hurried down to

the coast, where a vessel was moored about half

a mile or more from the shore.

John and his companions went in the first boat.

He asked one of the surly men if Nelly was aboard

the ship, and the fellow answered:

" I don't know nothing about her."

When they got aboard, they found a dozen

fierce-looking men with clubs in their hands.
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"Down below—down below!" cried one, wlio

seemed a sort of captain.

John began to have some misgivings, but was

driven below with the others and put in chains.

In a few hours the ship was under way with a

cargo of slaves for the West India market.



CHAPTER V.

THE LONE STAR.

At the time the stirring events we have narrated

were transpiring in Kentucky, and long before,

there lived near the city of Puebla, Mexico, a

wealthy and prominent Mexican family, who traced

their lineage back to the steel-clad warriors who

came with Cortez to conquer the Montezumas.

The city of Puebla lies in the centre of an immense

plateau, seven thousand feet above sea level, and

bordered by mountains of more than twice this

altitude. Malinchi, rendered classic in the his-

tory of the first conquest, rises up on the North

;

the Pinal bars up the eastern passes, while the

great Cordillera of the Rio Frio forms its western

boundary, thus separating the two great valleys of

Puebla and Mexico by an impassable barrier. In

this ridge lies the great snow mountains of Popo-

catepec and the "White Woman" (La Muger

Blanca) , known poetically as the twin sisters.

These mountains soar far above the regions of

eternal snow. Popocatepec is a cone, and the gray

fringe that marks the blending of the white glacier

Vol. 11—7 97
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and the dark pines of the mountain forests forms

the circumference of a horizontal circle. On the

White Woman this snow line is more irregular.

On both mountains its altitude is variable, accord-

ing; to the season and the heat of the sun. Thus

the melting of the snows in the sultry months of

summer throws the gray fringe higher upon the

sides of Popocatepec and Inticihuath and irrigates

the broad plains of Puebla and Tlascalla.

But for these snow-crowned mountains, the

plateau of Puebla would be a barren desert. As

it is the western part of this plain may be termed

the garden spot of Mexico.

As the traveller emerges from the western gate

of Puebla, he beholds one of the loveliest pictures

in the world. The delighted eye roams over broad

fields of corn and wheat and " f ri joles,
;
' bordered

by fence rows, of the picturesque maguey. Here

and there the cupolas of rich haciendas, the turrets

of a flourishing village, and the spires of a rural

church variegate the green landscape, while in the

distance rises the dark Cordilleras of the Mexican

Andes, over whose gloomy forests and frowning

chasms the snowy crests of the " Twin Sisters,

"

glisten with dazzling whiteness.

There lived in one of the largest and most ele-

gant haciendas within sight of Puebla, a Mexican

gentleman of purest Castilian blood named Don
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Eodrigo Estevan whose family was referred to at

the opening of this chapter. The Mexican family

of Estevan was large, and though the war with the

United States swept many of them from the earth,

the name is still familiar in Old Mexico. Senor

Estevan's hacienda was one of the best specimens

to be found in Mexico, a representative house of

the half -barbaric, half-elegant, wholly freehanded

life in the days of the wealthy old Mexican, proud

as any noble of Spain. He was noted for his hos-

pitality and wealth. His family consisted of his

wife, son Felipe and a beautiful daughter Made-

lina.

The arrogance of their northeastern neighbors,

the Americans, had excited the hatred of the Mex-

icans, and the proud old Don Rodrigo was loud in

his denunciations of the robbers, and plunderers

as he termed them.

The morning sun was pouring down its ardent

beams on the valley which lay like a fairy land

spread out before the beholder. A large white

horse of the purest Arabian breed was in front of

the hacienda held by a peon. The horse had a

Mexican saddle on his back with silver-tipped

bridle. There were holsters at the bow, and no

one could doubt that it was the steed of a warrior.

The hacienda or house of Don Eodrigo Estevan

was of adobe, with a veranda on the three sides of
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the inner court and a still broader porch or veranda

across the entire front on the East, facing the dis-

tant city. This veranda, fully eighty feet in

length, was arched and ornamented, with the doors

of five large rooms opening upon it. Here were

flowers,—great red .water-jars in which fine gera-

niums were always blooming, and yellow flowered

musk, for which the Mexicans have a passion. Be-

sides the geraniums and carnations and musk in

the red jars, there were many sorts of climbing

vines, some coming from the ground and twining

round the pillars of the veranda, some growing in

baskets swung by cords from the roof of the ve-

randa, or set on shelves against the walls, until the

whole resembled a delightful flower garden. Not

only were the senses of sight and smell delighted

but the sense of hearing as well. Among the

vines, singing from morning until night, were

canaries and finches in their green cages, all owing

their existence to the fostering care of the good

senora. The good old Mexican lady was never

without a family of young birds on hand. From

Puebla to Monterey, the senoritas came or sent to

get a canary or finch of Senora Estevan's raising.

There were four persons on the long veranda the

morning in question. Perhaps the first who would

attract the attention of the beholder was a tall,

noble-looking young man of twenty-two, attired in
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the gorgeous green uniform of a captain of Mexi-

can lancers. At his side was Lis gold -hilted sword,

suspended by a belt with glittering buckle and

sash of scarlet. Gold braid in profusion covered

his coat, and his hat was ornamented with tall

green plumes. This was Captain Felipe Estevan

of the lancers. He was tall, with restless dark

eyes, a high forehead and as daring and noble-

looking a specimen of mankind as one ever saw.

His father the Don Rodrigo was a gray -haired old

Mexican, tall, with a soldierly bearing and an

open, manly face. The mother was one of the

most pious women in the world. A Catholic, of

course, but with a Christian heart. The daughter

and sister of the young captain was the fairest of

fair Mexican sehoritas. Madelina was one of those

beauties who lose by description. No pen is

equal to the task. She was a type of beauty rarely

seen, and seldom conceived, save by the painter in

his most happy dreams. Imagine large dark eyes,

soft as a gazelle's, skin of alabaster, with eyebrows

arched as only a master could paint them, a face

faultless, teeth of pearl, a form tall, slender, wil-

lowy, and a voice like rippling music of the mur-

muring brook as she breathed her soft Spanish

words, and you may form a conception of Senorita

Madelina.

The senorita and her brother were both thor-
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oughly educated, not only in Spanish, but in Eng-

lish as well.

Their father, being wealthy and having liberal

views, had not spared money in their education.

Both had travelled extensively in Europe and the

United States and had many friends in both places.

Felipe's regiment had been ordered to the north-

ern frontier, which was threatened by the Ameri-

cans from Texas. This was his farewell visit with

his parents, and the occasion was a touching one.

The mother wept and consigned him to the care of

her patron saint. The sister clung to his neck and

implored him to not needlessly risk his life.

" No one better knows what it will be to resist

these people than you and I. Brother, it is almost

a hopeless struggle against such a powerful nation,

—we know it, yet, my brother, I would not have

you shrink from your duty.

"

The senorita was not over sixteen years of age,

yet in that southern clime, women are flowers of

quick growth, and Madelina Estevan was fully

grown. The father followed his son to where the

snow-white horse stood pawing the earth, requir-

ing all the strength and skill of the peon to hold

him.

" Felipe, I would have you be cautious on the

matter I have mentioned. You remember, my
son, that you said while travelling in the United
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States you heard the name which if translated

would be the same
"

"Oh father!" said the young captain with a

laugh, " why allow that old legend of almost three

centuries to harass your mind?"

" My son, it is an injunction laid upon us from

generation to generation since our first ancestor,

whose namesake I am, came to Mexico. I feel in

duty bound to impress you with it."

" There will be little time, should we come to

blows with the Americans, to consider old tradi-

tions. We must fight the enemies of our country.

However, I hope even if Texas does gain her in-

dependence, which seems probable, that we may

not come to a war with the United States. Such

a war would prove disastrous to Mexico.

"

Then the father embraced his son and covered

his face with his hands, while Captain Estevan

galloped away to join his regiment at Puebla, pre-

paratory to marching to the Rio Grande.

The above scene transpired prior to the war with

Mexico, but at a time when such a war seemed

inevitable.

Texas is a misnomer. It is an Indian word

meaning " friends, " while it has been a scene of

wild lawlessness for ages. Texas was for a long

time a disputed territory between the French and

Spanish. The Spanish were no doubt the discov-
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erers of the territory, though M. La Salle, in 1685,

formally took possession of the country in the

name of the French monarch, and built a small

fort at the head of Matagorda Bay.

After the settlement of Louisiana, in 1690, the

French assumed nominal possession of the territory

as far West as the Bay of Matagorda. Hostilities

arose between them and the Spaniards, who estab-

lished several posts in the eastern part of Texas

and drove out the French. The conflicting claims

of the two nations to Texas were temporarily set-

tled by the treaty of 1763, in which France ceded

to Spain all of Louisiana west of Mississippi. In

1800, Spain having ceded Louisiana back to

France, the question was again left open as to the

rightful claim of the country. In 1S03, Louisiana

having been ceded by France to the United States,

the same claim to Texas was transferred to the

American nation; but the claim was never en-

forced.

The civil war in Mexico, called " the first revo-

lution," after a duration of eight years, terminated

in favor of the Boyalists. " The second revolu-

tion" was commenced in 1821, by the Mexican

General Iturbide, under whom the Mexicans

achieved their independence of Spain. Senor Don

Rodrigo Estevan was an officer on General Iturbide's

staff. Iturbide made himself a monarch ; but the
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people, wishing for a republic, deposed and ban-

ished him and, on his return, had him executed.

Another leader arose, Santa Anna, under whose

auspices a federal constitution was formed in 1824,

by which Mexico, like the American republic, was

divided into States, each with a legislature, and

over the whole a general government.

The treaty of 1819, by which Spain ceded

Florida to the United States, established the Sabine

as the western boundary of Louisiana.

Mr. Moses Austin, a native of Durham, Con-

necticut, applied for, and received in 1819, a grant

of land in Texas to plant a colony. The Spanish

authorities in Mexico, desirous of defence against

the fierce and hostile Camanches, had, contrary to

their usual policy, made laws favoring American

immigration, on the condition, however, that the

immigrants should become Catholics and teach the

Spanish language in their schools. Moses Austin

died, and his son Stephen carried out his plans

and founded a colony between the Brazos and

Colorado, thus becoming the leader of American

colonization in Texas. Great throngs of western

Americans poured into Texas, and many of them,

of course, were not of the best class of citizens.

There were many brave men among them, such

as David Crocket, Colonel Bowie and Samuel

Houston.
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Many of them were not troubled about religious

convictions, and it is doubtful if any of them paid

any regard whatever to the stipulation in the com-

pact that they become Catholics, or that they teach

Spanish in their schools, even if they had schools.

There was constant wrangling and trouble be-

tween the Americans and Mexicans. The former

were probably not wholly blameless in the quarrel,

for the western frontiersmen of that day had little

consideration for the rights of any, especially

Indians or Mexicans. The clergy soon became

alarmed. A class of heretics was springing up in

their midst, which to them were far more danger-

ous than the Camanches.

The Mexicans felt very much as the frogs did,

when the stork was sent to be their king. The

great question was how should they get rid of the

Americans.

The natural result to follow between wild, half-

savage people on both sides was war. The Amer-

icans in Texas revolted, declaring the independence

of Texas, and setting it up as the Lone Star State.

Some of the most desperate and bloody conflicts

ever recorded in the annals of history followed;

among which were the siege and massacre of the

Alamo, at which fell such brave men as Major

Evans, Travis, Colonel Bowie, and the famous

Davy Crocket, March, 1836. On the 27th of the
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same month, Colonel Fannin and about two hun-

dred men, having been captured after a long and

desperate conflict, were massacred. On April 21st,

General Sam Houston with nearly eight hundred

men attacked Santa Anna with twice as many men,

near the San Jacinto, and after a furious charge

routed the Mexican army. Santa Anna was cap-

tured a few days later and made to sign a treaty as

the chief ruler of Mexico, by which he acknowl-

edged the independence of Texas. This treaty

having been obtained under duress, the Mexican

government declared they were not bound to re-

spect it. They also claimed that Santa Anna had

no authority to make treaty. Santa Anna was

sent to the United States, where he gained the

favor of President Jackson, who caused him to be

returned to Mexico, and he again commenced war

on Texas.

Early application had been made by Texas to be

annexed to the United States. Presidents Jackson

and Van Buren in turn objected on the grounds of

the unsettled boundary of Texas and the peaceful

relations with Mexico. President Tyler brought

forward the measure, but it was lost in congress.

It having been the test question in the ensuing

presidential election, and the people deciding in its

favor by the election of the democratic candidates,

Texas was annexed to the union by a joint resolu-
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tion of congress, February 28, 1845. The Mexi-

can minister, Almonte, who had before announced

that Mexico would declare war if Texas was an-

nexed, gave notice that since America had con-

summated " the most unjust act in her history," ne-

gotiations were at an end. This was the beginning

of what in history is known as the Mexican war.

It was two days before the inauguration of Pres-

ident Polk that the Mexican minister asked for his

passports and retired. On July 4, 1845, Texas

became a State, and President Polk, satisfied that

war with Mexico was inevitable, ordered Brigadier-

General Zachary Taylor, then in command of

national troops in the southwest, to enter Texas

and take a position as near the Eio Grande as pru-

dence would allow. His little force of fifteen hun-

dred were called an " army of occupation," for the

defence of the newly acquired State. At the same

time Commodore Conner of the United States navy

was sent with a strong squadron into the Gulf

of Mexico to protect American interests in that

region, ashore and afloat.

It was this preparation of war on the part of the

United States, which caused Captain Felipe Es-

tevan's regiment to be hurried from Puebla to the

frontier. The captain had relatives and friends in

Monterey, and his sister had promised to soon join

him there, as she intended visiting in that city.
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At this time, Santa Anna was an irritated exile

in Cuba, having been banished from Mexico for ten

years, and President Polk made a secret bargain

with him for the betrayal of his country into the

hands of the government of the United States.*

The plan agreed upon was that the president was

to send a strong force toward the frontier of Mex-

ico. Santa Anna was to go into his own country,

where an army gathered near the frontier would

be sure to flock to his standard, for Santa Anna

was popular among the soldiers. The president

was to furnish a force sufficient to give Santa Anna

a decent excuse for surrendering his army to it

;

and so the Americans might easily take possession

of Mexico. For this important act, Santa Anna

was to receive a very large sum of money from the

secret service fund in the hands of the president.

About the time the Army of Occupation and Ob-

servation reached Texas, the regiment of Felipe

Estevan gained the northern frontier.

Felipe was quartered at Monterey when General

Taylor landed with his troops at the Island St.

Joseph, where the flag of the United States was

for the first time unfurled in power over the soil of

Texas. From St. Joseph, Taylor sailed with his

army to Corpus Christi, a Mexican village on the

main, beyond the Nueces, and not far from its

*" Our Country, " vol. v., page 1355.
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mouth, and there, in September, 1845, he formed

a camp and tarried during the autumn and ensuing

winter. At the same time, President Polk in-

quired of the Mexican government whether it

would receive a minister from the United States.

President Herrera, who sincerely desired peace,

gave an affirmative answer, when his warlike con-

stituency, offended by his act, revolted and elected

General Paredes in his place. This revolution was

going on when the American minister arrived, and

Paredes, when elected, refused to receive him.

General Ampudia was in command of the north-

ern army of Mexico, and soon after Taylor's ar-

rival at Corpus Christi, he sent for Captain Felipe

Estevan.

" Captain," said the Mexican general, " are you

willing to do a special service for your country?"

" Certainly, general, I am always willing to do

a service for my county."
" But suppose this should be especially hazard-

ous," said Ampudia, with a smile on his swarthy

face.

"General, a soldier is supposed not to hesitate

at danger. I will not.
"

" I have ascertained from a reliable source," said

Ampudia, " that President Polk is bargaining with

the banished Santa Anna to betray our country

into the hands of the Americans. Santa Anna,
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who has a large following here, will concentrate

an army of his friends and surrender them, for

which he is to be paid a million dollars."

At the intelligence of such perfidy on the part

of one of his countrymen, for whom he had once

entertained a high regard, the young captain sighed

and exclaimed

:

" Mexico ! oh my country ! what chance have

you, when your own sons will betray you for

money ?
"

" We must prevent it, captain."

" Tell me how I can prevent it, and, by the

mass, I will do it or die in the attempt.

"

" The president of the United States has sent A.

Slidell McKenzie, of the United States navy, to

perfect the arrangements with Santa Anna, who

lives a few miles from Havana. Now what I

would have you do is to start at once for Vera

Cruz, where a swift sailing schooner will be in

waiting to bear you to Cuba. You can reach

Havana before McKenzie does, ascertain if this be

true ; if it be, stop Santa Anna if you have to do it

with a bullet or the poniard.

"

"I will."

" I have provided relays of horses between this

and Vera Cruz, with coaches over some of the most

even part of the road, so you can make the jour-

ney as rapidly as possible.

"
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"When shall I start?"

" After dinner.

"

The young officer, consulting his time-piece, saw

he would just have time to write a letter to his

parents before starting. He sat down at a table

and hurriedly wrote explaining in part his sudden

call to Cuba.

Then he hurriedly dispatched his dinner and

with a guide set out for the first station. Of

course, the terrible mission of Felipe Estevan was

kept a secret. The secret actions of officers of

armies are seldom made public in official reports or

even in history.

The journey was a long one. Part of the way

it was made in a carriage, but most of the distance

it was on horseback. Vera Cruz was reached at

last, and in an hour after his arrival he was on

board the Montezuma, a swift sailing schooner,

bounding over the waves to Cuba.

The schooner reached Havana shortly after day-

light, and Captain Estevan examined the various

vessels in port. There was not a United States

war vessel in the harbor.

Felipe could speak English as well as any

American. He was clothed in the garb of an

American gentleman, travelling for pleasure, and

passed himself as Mr. Philip Stevens, which was

his name anglicized. He refused to talk or under-



THE LONE STAR. 113

stand Spanish, and pretended to be a citizen from

Baltimore to buy a cargo of sugar. Negroes were

busy loading vessels in the harbor. He saw many

of the poor wretches lashed by their cruel masters,

saw their tears and heard their prayers for mercy

or death. One plunged himself into the water and

was drowned.

Felipe soon discovered the residence of Santa

Anna, and on the day the American frigate bear-

ing McKenzie arrived, he entered a volante and

was driven to the home of the exile. On being

asked whom he wished to see, Felipe, speaking in

English, said:

" Senor Santa Anna.

"

" Are you an American, senor?" asked the ser-

vant.

" I am," was the answer.

Santa Anna, on being informed that an Ameri-

can wished to see him, supposed, as a matter of

' course, that it was the ambassador sent by Presi-

dent Polk, and asked that he be admitted at once.

Felipe soon found himself in the presence of a

tall, slender man, with haughty mien and restless

black eyes.

" Are you General Santa Anna?" he asked in

Spanish.

" Yes, senior ; of course you are sent by Presi-

dent Polk."

Vol. 11—8
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"Certainly, general; you are willing for a

money consideration to betray your country into

the bands of the Americans."

With a smile Santa Anna answered :
" If they

pay me enough."

" They can pay you ten millions, " said Felipe,

rising and closing the door leading to their room,

and assuring himself they were alone.

" I would do it for that.

"

" Would you go and raise an army of your coun-

trymen and turn them over to the Americans for

ten millions?"

" Certainly I will," answered the deceived Mex-

ican eagerly. Felipe Estevan, who loved his coun-

try more than himself, was now trembling with

hatred and excitement. He knew he had but a

short time to act, and the course he had marked

out was a bold one. Whatever he did must be

done before the American arrived, or all would be

lost.

He drew from an inner pocket of his coat a cru-

cifix which he placed on a stand before the general,

then he drew a pistol and cocked it.

" What does this mean, sefior?" demanded Santa

Anna, turning pale, for he saw that something was

wrong.

" General Santa Anna, the Americans have ar-

rived in Cuba, and in the next hour McKenziewill
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be here to purchase your country. You are a

villain, general, and if you do not place your hand

on that holy cross and swear you will not betray

your country, I will shoot you dead." The pistol

was pointed uncomfortably close to his head.

" Santa Anna, swear you will

not betray Mexico, or I will

fire."

" Who are you?" asked the

bewildered Mexican.

" Felipe Estevan, captain of

the Sixth Puebla Lancers. I

came to save Mexico or kill

you ; swear not to betray your

country, or, by all the saints

in the calendar, you shall die."

There was no mistaking the

voung man's earnestness, and

Santa Anna saw that he would

do just what he said. He placed his hand on the

cross and took the oath; then, after assuring Santa

Anna that his plans were known, and that if he

violated his oath, or attempted to aid the Ameri-

cans, he would be killed, Felipe went to his volanle

and leaping in, told the driver to hasten back to

the city at once. The driver plunged his huge

spurs into the sides of his mule and went clattering

down the road, raising a cloud of dust behind him.

Santa Anna.
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Half way to the town he met a volante in which

sat the vain and foolish McKenzie, who, instead

of going secretly to the retreat of the exile was

riding in a carriage in full naval uniform at noon

day. If Felipe had not already upset the plans of

President Polk, this would have done so. After

this public visit from an officer of the American

navy, the exile could not have fulfilled his bargain

in Mexico, for the act would have made his treason

palpable, and the egotistic McKenzie's mission

failed.

Captain Estevan reached the city, well satisfied

with what he had done. He determined not to

leave Havana so long as McKenzie remained, which

proved not to be long, for, learning that his game

was blocked, the frigate bearing him, in a few days

L-ailed for New Orleans.

While Captain Estevan remained at Havana, he

kept up the character of a Baltimore sugar mer-

chant, and was a good part of the time on the

wharves, piers, or at the warehouses where he al-

ways spoke English and was known as Mr.

Stevens.

He had noticed a young yellow man, who was

often seen gazing at him as he paused, after rolling

the heavy casks. His driver had evidently been

very cruel, for he had cuts on his shoulders from

the whip. The negro was naked to his waist. He
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had a bruise from a blow over the eye, which gave

his face a frightful appearance. One day the

voung Mexican officer met the negro in a narrow

passage where no one could see them. The slave

suddenly seized his arm and asked in a hoarse,

half -inaudible whisper:

" Is your name Stevens, rnoster? Are you an

American ?
"

Thinking it best to keep up the character he had

assumed, the young Mexican answered

:

" Yes, certainly."

"Thank God !—oh God!" gasped the slave.

" What do you mean?" asked Felipe.

" I am an American nigger. Oh, I had such a

good moster, Major Stevens, who lived in Ken-

tucky. I loved my moster, and he was kind to

me; but I was persuaded by Dr. Trunnels, who

claimed to be an abolitionist running niggers to

Canada, to try to get my freedom. We had such

kind mosters that we had all saved up a little

money, and the doctor made us pay twenty -five

dollars each to help pay our passage. We did it,

thinking we was goin' to Canada and freedom; but

we were run off here to the West Indies and sold.

"

The story touched the kind heart of Captain

Estevan ; but he found himself powerless to aid the

unfortunate darky. He was not an American,

but an officer in a country almost on the verge of
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war with the United States. He knew nothing of

the Stevens family in Kentucky, Dr. Trunnels,

nor poor John.

He had started to tell John that he could not

help him, when the negro driver entered. He
espied John shirking his duty, and with a volley

of oaths laid his whip on his back, and drove him

to his work.

Captain Estevan soon after took his departure

for Mexico, without having any opportunity, even

if he had desired, to talk further with John.



CHAPTER VI.

THE. VOLUNTEER AND THE OLD MANUSCRIPT.

When Monday morning came at the home of

Major Stevens and the faithful John did not come,

the major was not uneasy.

" He will turn up during the day," he said.

Arthur, who had been transformed in the last

four years from a tall, awkward boy of sixteen to

a young man of twenty, said :

" Father, this is not like John. He was never

known to stay away in this manner."

Major Stevens laughing remarked:

" Well, Arthur, I think we must excuse John's

absence. He is in love, my boy. When you fall

in love, you will find yourself changed completely.

"

Arthur blushed. Though he was twenty years

of age he had never had his love's romance. His

adventure with Miss Lizzie Plausaby at the Cath-

olic church had caused him to resolve never again

to venture in the society of young ladies. The

day passed, and John did not ccme. Major

Stevens, late in the afternoon, dispatched a mes-

119
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senger to the plantation of Mr. Lee to make in-

quiry for John.

The messenger was scarce out of sight, when

they heard the thunder of horses' hoofs coming

down the road, accompanied by the baying of

bloodhounds, and going to the stiles the major saw

Dr. Trunnels and a posse gallop up to his house.

" Major, have you lost any niggers?"

"I don't know."

"Are any missing?"

"Yes."
" How many ?

"

" Only one, John."
" I knew it, I told you so," cried the doctor, and

he uttered a volley of oaths. " Major, remember I

warned you that that nigger would run away and

leave you. Oh, you'd better have taken my advice

and sold the cuss.

"

"Are any other negroes missing?" asked the

major.

" Yes, there are a dozen at least gone out of Boone

County," roared the enraged doctor. "Come on,

by zounds, we'll have 'em! We'll have every

black rascal back and hang the infernal abolition-

ists! John is among 'em; I know John is among

'em."

Major Stevens and his son mounted their horses

and for two days scoured the country about Ander-
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son's ferry and other points, but not a trace of the

fugitives could be found.

At the conclusion of the chase, Dr. Trunnels

called another meeting at the old schoolhouse, and

made an incendiary speech, after which he organ-

ized a company of patrols and a vigilance com-

mittee to search for the abolitionists, and hang

them if found.

When they went home, Arthur asked his father:

" What do you think of it?"

" I don't know, Arthur; it is a mystery to me.

"

" I never thought that John would run off.

"

" Well, my son, he would not had he not been

over persuaded to do so." With a sigh, the major

added

:

" Poor fellow, I hope he will be better off.

"

Weeks passed away and no tidings came of the

runaways. Despite all the doctor's threats and

oaths, he never captured the runaway or negro

stealer. After the sudden whirlpool of excite-

ment, the waters of anxiety settled back into their

usual flow, and people began to speak of other

topics.

The war feeling was growing strong. The ex-

citement which immediately followed the annexa-

tion of Texas, completely overshadowed the mys-

terious disappearance of the negroes.

Arthur Stevens had long been eager to become
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a soldier. His father, at his urgent request, had

endeavored to send him to the "West Point Military

School; but West Point is an institution for poli-

ticians to perpetuate themselves in power. Merit

and capability are seldom taken into consideration

so much as the amount of strength such an appoint-

ment will give to the congressmen procuring the

appointments. Congressmen are given more than

their constitutional privileges. They are elected

to make laws, yet by the unwritten laws called

" rules of courtesy," the congressman becomes the

federal patronage broker of his district. Usually

most of his time is occupied in helping his friends

to local offices. The cadets at West Point and the

Naval Academy are not chosen from merit. They

get what is commonly called a "political pull,"

and thus pull through. Nine-tenths of the gradu-

ates are below the mediocre in ability. They

make fine society men; they dance well, flirt well;

but if the country needs soldiers, it depends on the

volunteers to fight its battles. The number of

graduates from West Point who ever become noted

as military geniuses arc about one to four thousand.

The reason is plain,—boys and young men without

fitness for the army are put through the academy

while worthy young men are crowded out.

Unfortunately for Arthur's military hopes, his

father was a Whig, while the congressman who
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represented his district was a Democrat. Of course,

for the good of the party, he never could recom-

mend any other than the son of a Democrat for a

cadet to West Point. They went through a farce

called a " competitive examination," which resulted

in a weak, insipid youth of nineteen, who missed

sixty-two questions out of one hundred, carrying

off the palm. He was sent to West Point, grad-

uated and, as is generally the case, was never heard

from again, while Arthur, who had sighed for an

opportunity to serve his country, entered an acad-

emy at Louisville and prepared himself for the law.

The threatened war with Mexico roused the

young man's hopes. One day he said to his

father

:

" I am going to enlist, as soon as they make a

call for volunteers."

Major Stevens, who thoroughly understood his

son, and knew that he could not resist the tempta-

tion, said

:

" Why don't you raise a company, Arthur, and

start with a commission?"

"Can I?"

"Yes."
" But there is no call."

" Have your company ready to answer the call

as soon as made
;
you can then answer in an hour.

"

" Explain, father; how am I to do this?"
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Captain Stevens took a sheet of paper and wrote

on it as follows:

" Boone County, Kentucky, June 13, 1845.

"We, the undersigned, agree to form ourselves into a

military company, to organize and elect our officers, and
be in readiness as provisional volunteers, if the president

of the United States and the governor of the State of Ken-
tucky should call for volunteers, to answer to the call at

once.

"

" Now, Arthur, sign your name first.
: '

Arthur did so.

" Go out among your acquaintances and friends

and get one hundred more names ; then call a

meeting at the schoolhouse and elect a provisional

captain and two lieutenants, who are to report the

company in readiness as soon as the call is made."

Arthur was delighted. It never occurred to

him that his services in raising the company would

entitle him to the honor of chief command. He
devoted his time and zeal to raisins- the one liun-

dred men. His father, who was known to possess

great military knowledge, had promised to meet

with the young men and give them some instruc-

tions in the manual of arms, and the preliminary

steps in drilling, according to Scott's Tactics then

in use by the United States army.

The first person Arthur met was his unreliable

substitute, Pat McKune. Arthur's confidence in

tin- stability of Pat was very much shaken, yet he
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thought Pat might make a soldier, so he asked

him if he would like to go to Mexico.

" Divil a bit," was the answer. This was not

encouraging to the young recruiting officer; but

he proceeded to explain that he was raising a com-

pany of soldiers, who were to be paid by the gov-

ernment. Pat took a different view at last and

finally permitted his name to be enrolled on the

list.

So earnestly and enthusiastically did Arthur re-

cruit, that at the end of three weeks he had the

required one hundred volunteers.

A meeting of the provisional volunteers was

called at the schoolhouse for the election of officers.

Some shrewd local politicians set on foot a scheme

to rob Arthur of any commission. Pat heard of

it, and his ire was roused. He began hostilities

at once by knocking down two of the would-be

officers.

When the meeting assembled, and a chairman

and secretary were selected, the first duty declared

was the selection of a captain. Arthur was put in

nomination, and so was Vincent Cole, one of the

opposers of Arthur.

Pat rose and vowed that he was for " Captain

Stevens, begorra, for boss," and he could knock

the two eyes into one of any " blackguard as wasn't

for him.

"
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Arthur was elected by a majority of twenty-nine.

The lieutenants were selected, and then Major

Stevens gave them some instructions in marking

time, dressing lines, marching, wheeling and a few

of the other minor evolutions of the company.

They agreed to " muster" regularly every Satur-

day until called upon for service.

That was not long. In the same month their

company was organized the president of Mexico

issued a proclamation declaring that the annexation

of Texas in no wise destroyed the rights of Mex-

ico, and that they would be maintained by force of

arms.

Both governments began to prepare for war, and

Arthur offered the service of his company. Late

in the Autumn of 1S45, it was accepted, and he

was ordered to report with his company to General

Taylor at Corpus Christi, Texas. They were now

regularly mustered into the United States service,

and arms and uniforms were sent for the volun-

teers.

Never was there a prouder young captain in the

United States army than Arthur Stevens on receiv-

ing his commission. He was alone in his room

and sat for a long time gazing at the document

which entitled him to wear a sword and epaulets

and lead one hundred brave Americans to battle.

The company was next day to march to Louisville



THE VOLUNTEER. W
whence they were to proceed by steamboat to New
Orleans, there to embark for Corpus Christi.

It was the evening before his departure that

Arthur sat, looking over his commission, when a

negro girl came to his apartment and informed him

that his father wished to see him in his room.

As Arthur entered his father's chamber, he ob-

served an old oaken chest, quaintly constructed with

handles and lid of a make, certainly two or three

hundred years ago. The lock of Spanish make of

the early centuries of the new world had been

broken, and never mended. His father was sitting

by the chest, which was open. He had never be-

fore seen the quaint old lid raised. There was

some weird, strange mystery about that old chest.

Some long ago romance or tradition connected with

it, for it was reported to have been in the family

for more than two hundred years. It was brought

over in the Mayflower by Mathew Stevens, a Pil-

grim. It had been in the possession of one of the

name ever since, and a distant cousin in Massachu-

setts had at his death bequeathed the strange heir-

loom to Major Stevens, who, although he was

really of the Virginia branch of the family, was

born in Massachusetts.

The strange heirloom had been in the major's

family for several years; but Arthur had never

seen it open before. His father said:
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" Arthur, you leave for Mexico to-morrow. I

want to talk with you before you go. Sit down.

"

Arthur sat by the side of his father, who con-

tinued :

" You are going to invade a foreign country.

You may meet people as brave and patriotic as

Americans, and while I want you to uphold your

country's flag, don't be cruel or tyrannical. Ee-

member that you are fighting people of Spanish

descent, and remember also that we have Spanish

blood in our veins.

"

" I have heard this hinted before, father; but I

never knew the particulars.
"

" My son, there is a tradition in our family his-

tory, which, like all other traditions, may be true

or false. The legend says that there came with

Columbus on his first voyage of discovery a cabin

boy named Hernando Estevan.* He was a friend

of the great admiral and shared his confidence.

He married in Spain and afterward settled in the

West Indies, where his son Christopher Estevan

was born. This son was with Pizarro in Peru and

De Soto in Florida. He had two sons whose his-

tory you will find in this old manuscript, written

in Spanish by one of them. Here is an English

translation of it more than two hundred years old.

* See " Columbia, " the first of this series.
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Read that, my son, and then you will see that

there may be more truth than you dream of in

this tradition."

He handed Arthur the paper, yellow with age.

He read in silence as follows:

"NARRATIVE 'AND DISCOURSES OF FRANCISCO

ESTEVAN.

'• I have herein set out to write a history of the family of

Estevan, which has been traced back to the Knights and

Chevaliers of Leon and Castile. Wherefore for many wrongs

one was banished unjustly, and his son Hernando was with

Christopher Columbus when he first came to the new world.

He named his oldest son Christopher, who was my father.

He was a great soldier and explorer and went with Pizarro

to the strange land of Peru and with De Soto to Florida,

the country which we now by the grace of God and arms of

Spain and the Holy Catholic Church do inhabit. When
wearied of wars and exploring, he went to live at Havana

in the Island of Cuba, with his wife, his sons Francisco

and Rodrigo, and his daughter Christoval. Francisco was

consecrated to the church and to be sent to Spain for in-

struction with the Holy Fathers, and Rodrigo, who was a

warrior of great renown, chose to go to Mexico where Cortez

lived, having conquered the Mexicans and brought the whole

country under the dominion of Spain. They both took their

departure the same day* the one going to Mexico and the

other to Spain. Before going on board their vessels and

setting off on their journeys they did mutually promise

each to the other that they who loved each other so dearly

would join in Mexico and live fraternally forever after.

Then they departed and Francisco who was consecrated to

*See "St. Augustine," page 14.
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the priesthood, became wrecked on the coast of France and

was rescued by a certain Huguenot maiden, fair to look

upon, named Hortense De Barre, of whom he became en-

amored and afterward did meet in Florida and after many
vicissitudes and trials did wed and lives now at St Augus-

tine. The brother Rodrigo Estevan went to Mexico, and

has become the father of a large family, which still dwell

in Mexico. This narrative and discourse is now given so

that should the descendants of Francisco Estevan ever go

to Mexico, it is enjoined upon them that they form the

friendship and fraternal alliance with the descendants of

his beloved brother Rodrigo Estevan, who dwell in that

land. It is furthermore specially enjoined upon all de-

scendants of Francisco Estevan that they make no war even

to the twelfth or fifteenth generation with the descendants

of Rodrigo Estevan, for they two were of one blood and one

flesh and never loved brothers more sincerely than they.

This injunction is laid upon all the descendants of Fran-

cisco Estevan. Given by himself at St. Augustine March

7th, 1585. Francisco Estevan."

Arthur Stevens, having read the strange, weird

document, folded it, turned it over, looked at the

other side, and then at his father, and said:

" Father, what has all this to do with me?"
" Much, my son. Francisco Estevan, whose

brother went to Mexico as stated in that paper, had

two sons—Philip and Mathew. A little over a

year after the date of that document, Sir Francis

Drake attacked St. Augustine* and destroyed it,

or nearly so, and carried away the two little boys

*See "Pocahontas," page 5.
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Philip and Mathew to England. Philip finally

went to Virginia with the colony of John Smith,

the other, Mattheo Estevan, or Mathew Stevens,

went to Plymouth in the Mayflower taking this old

chest and this manuscript with him. It is said by

the tradition of our family that in after years the

brothers who had been parted in infancy met,* and

that their father came to see them. Whether that

be true or not, it is quite certain that one branch

of the family lived in the South, or in Virginia,

and the other in Massachusetts until after the War

of the Revolution, when they became scattered all

over the States and Territories.

"

Arthur smiled and asked :

" Father, what has all that to do with my going

to Mexico?"
" A great deal. Our ancestor asks that for

twelve generations we do not take up arms against

the Estevans.

"

" Isn't it more than twelve generations?"

"No."
" Why, it is nearly three hundred years."

" Twelve generations, my son, at an average of

forty years each, would more nearly reach five

hundred years. But our descent is traced in this

way. Philip Estevan was a son of Francisco

*"Tho Pilgrims," page 349.
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Estevan, and when he was taken to England, his

name was Anglicised to Philip Stevens. He was

the father of John Smith Stevens, the father of

Robert Stevens, the father of Noah Stevens, the

father of Albert Stevens, who was the father of

Fernando Stevens, myself, and I am the father

of Arthur Stevens. That makes but eight gen-

erations, my son. For many generations this in-

junction has been laid upon each.

"The tradition would have died with me, how-

ever, had you not been going to Mexico. We
have often, at our family reunions, talked of send-

ing one of our family to Mexico to hunt out the

Estevan part of the family.

"

"I don't see, father, how I am to stop in a

conflict which will be for life or death to look

up family relationship three hundred years old.

When I meet a Mexican in arms, I fancy there

will be no time to discuss family lineage."

Major Stevens smiled at the sensible remark of

his son, and answered:

" AVhat you say is true, Arthur; but there come

times of parleying and armistices in war, captives,

and various ways by which enemies have means

for friendly conversation. I don't think it is

obligatory on you even to make a search for the

family of Estevan, but what I wish to impress on

you is this, if you find the name in Mexico, re-
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spect it, out of regard for the tradition of your

fathers.

"

"I shall."

That afternoon the young captain was forced to

don his uniform that his mother, sisters and

brothers might inspect him . He looked very hand-

some and gallant in his blue coat, brass buttons,

chapeau and plume. His little brother Mark,

only four years old, clapped his hands and shouted

for joy.

" Even baby Mark is a soldier, " said Mrs.

Stevens, who, recalling the dark days from 1812

to 1815, could not repress a shudder. Her native

town on the Maryland coast had been bombarded

and she had then come to realize the horrors of

war.*

All the family were pleased with the appearance

of the young captain, and he went out to the negro

quarters to see old " mammy" f who was delighted

with her boy.

"Oh, I declar, honey, I nebber'd a knowed ye

in de worl'. Why, I can't hardly beliebe my own

eyes dat dis am you.

"

" Mammy, don't you think this uniform looks

fine?"

* See " Susta ined Honor, " page 372.

f Mammy was the negress who had been nurse to the

young man.
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" Oh, honey, it's jis awful nice—awful nice

—

awful nice! An' is ye goin' away, honey?"
" Yes, mammy, I am going to Mexico.

"

" Whar am dat? I reckon it am a long way off,

ain't it?"

"Yes."
" Most as far as Louisville?"

Mammy had heard much of Louisville; but she

had never been there, and she supposed that the

famous town must be at the other end of the world.

To her it was the fair Cathay, the mythical city of

Marco Polo.

" Oh yes, mammy, it is farther than Louisville,

much farther.

"

" Furder dan Louisville! oh massa sakes, chile,

you'll nebber git back in all de worl'—now, will

you?"
" I hope so, mammy.

"

"I dun know; you jist go, I spect, an' disap-

pear like John, and nobody nebber see you no

mo'."
" John is in Canada, mammy. He is free and

happy I hope.

"

" I doan believe it, chile. I tole ye I doan

believe it, " answered the old negress, brushing a

gathering moisture from her eyes, while she cut a

slice of home-made bread from a large wheaten

loaf, and spread fresh butter and strawberry jam
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over it. She looked on Arthur as the little boy

whom she had watched over and cared for in his

childhood, and now, although he had reached man's

estate, she never failed to prepare his bread and but-

ter every time he paid the kind old creature a visit.

" You don't think John is in Canada, mammy?"

asked the captain, as he took the bread and butter

and jam from the old woman's hand, for it would

have offended her to refuse it. " If John is not in

Canada, mammy, where is he?"

" Dun know, chile, I declar' to gracious I dun

know; but I speck dem Mexicans come an' tuk

him clean off."

" Why do you think that, mammy.

"

" Cos John wouldn't a run away, no, Massa

Arthur, dat warn't like John, not one bit. He

warn't a bad nigger, Massa Arthur. I know dat

boy as well as I knowed you, an' he wouldn't a

done it 'nless it war dat gal o' Lee's. She jis

gone an' clean bewitched him, dat am what she

hab done."
" Do you think it was Lee's Nelly who coaxed

John to run away?"
" 'Spect it war."

" Then it was not the Mexicans.

"

"Mought a been the Mexicans, Massa Arthur;

ye may find him down dar. Now ef ye do find

him, I tell ye jist whut I want ye to do, honey."
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" What would you have me do, mammy?"
" Jis you bring dat chile home. He ain't got

no business way off clar, I tole ye. Ef he run off

on his own account, he orter have a whuppin, an

ef dem Mexicans come an' carry him off, den you

bring him back any way, dat's whut ye do."

Arthur sighed and answered :

" Mammy, I am very much afraid we will never

see John again."

"I is afraid so, too," mammy answered, and

again wiped the gathering moisture from her eyes

with her clean white apron.

Arthur having eaten his bread, butter and jam,

bade mammy adieu, and then the other negroes,

including the field hands, and went to the mansion

house, where his parents, brothers and sisters were.

Even little Mark appreciated the solemnity of

the occasion and, realizing that his big brother was

going away, perhaps never to return, broke down

and wept. The young soldier bore up bravely

until he gave his beloved mother the farewell kiss

and then, with tears starting from his eyes, he

wheeled about and hastened away to conceal his

emotion. He rode to the village, where the com-

pany was assembled, and, boarding the convey-

ances- that were to take them to Louisville, they

began their journey to Mexico.



CHAPTER VII.

ON THE BOEDER WITH TAYLOR.

General Taylor's army still lay at Corpus

Christi, a little town on the Mexican gulf near the

river Nueces, when Captain Stevens' company

joined the army with some other volunteers from

New Orleans. ' Arthur's first army experience was

not encouraging. They were encamped in a coun-

try which furnished few stores, and the low, sandy

plain was swept by terrific hurricanes, which fre-

quently prostrated their tents. The rigors of win-

ter were of course scarce felt in this semi-tropical

clime.

The day after their arrival, Arthur's colonel re-

ported the recruits to the commander. The young

soldier was anxious to see the great old veteran

and hero of the Florida war, a man whose name

was in everybody's mouth. He accompanied the

colonel and saw a large, plain-looking old man,

who might be a farmer, wearing a linen coat and

straw hat. He supposed the man was a servant,

sutler, or some camp follower, and was amazed

when informed that this strange man was General

187
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Taylor. He found the old general to be a genial,

warm-hearted, whole-souled man, with broad, lib-

eral views, democratic principles and a courage

that was undaunted.

When introduced to the young captain, he took

his hand in a kind, fatherly sort

of way and said

:

" So you have come all the way
from Kentucky to fight the Mexi-

cans, my boy. Well, the chances

are that you will have an oppor-

tunity. We hold out the olive

branch first and then the sword.

If they don't take one they shall

the other.

"

Arthur soon learned that the

great hero of the Mexican war was not much for

dress and show, and, in fact, was rather given to

extreme carelessness as to his personal appearance,

especially when in camp.

While the American army was still encamped

near Corpus Christi, the general was called upon

one day by the American commodore, whose

fleet lay in the harbor. The commodore was a

great stickler for everything military, always ap-

pearing with coat buttoned to the chin, and in

every particular, at any hour, was the pink of

neatness. General Taylor was lying on his cot in

Zachary Taylor.
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his tent in a very negligee dress, consisting of a

gauze • shirt, brown linen trousers and slippers.

When the commodore was announced, he jumped

up and took his dress coat from the rope which

was strung across his tent, and proceeded to put it

on, utterly unmindful of his other garments.

In those days, the military dress coat had a

very high collar, which reached almost to the ears.

In his haste to make himself presentable as re-

garded his coat, the general buttoned it so that one

side came above the ear, while the other was so

low as to reveal the absence of outer shirt, collar

or cravat, and in his brown linen trousers, slippers

and full dress uniform coat, he presented himself

to the commodore, saying:

" Good morning, commodore
;
proud to welcome

you to headquarters.

"

No wonder Taylor won the sobriquet of " rough

and read}'." His braveiy, his peculiarly demo-

cratic ideas and his utter disregard for the punctilio

and aristocracy of the regular army endeared him

to the hearts of the Americans and made him pres-

ident of the United States.

Captain Stevens earnestly devoted himself to

the study of military science. He drilled his men
from four to five hours every day, until they be-

came quite as proficient as the regulars. Pat

McKune was the hardest of the whole company to
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understand the manoeuvres. He could not keep

step with the others. His feet were large, and his

legs short, and he could not understand the differ-

ence between a shoulder and carry arms. A right-

shoulder shift was as incomprehensible as the most

puzzling problem in integral calculus. The orderly

sergeant, who took Pat in hand to give him a few

private lessons, was in utter despair.

" How n thunder am I to ever make a soldier

out o' a feller who's about as graceful as a mud
turtle?" he said to the captain.

With a smile, Arthur said:

" You must never despair in well doing.'
1

" He don't know his right foot from his left."

" Tie a bundle of hay to one and a bundle of

straw to the other.

"

The sergeant took the captain's jest in earnest,

and two hours later he was marching Pat about the

camp, his legs ornamented with two wisps, one of

straw and one of hay, to the tune of:

" Hayfoot—strawfoot—hayfoot—strawfoot, " to

the amusement of the soldiers, who roared with

laughter.

But Pat was a genius of good humor, and soon,

from his very oddity, he became a character.

There was something so very odd about his ap-

pearance and in his manner of performing the

manual that he attracted the attention of the entire
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regiment. At last Pat had been taught something

of discipline, and came to regard Arthur as his

captain rather than a friend. The soldiers had as

yet received no pay, and they began to murmur

some at the delay. One day' Pat presented him-

self to his captain and, touching his hat, said:

" Plaze sir, whin will we be paid off, sir?''

" In a few days, Patrick," answered his captain.

' ; Yis sir, " continued Pat, "and whin will we

be afther the Mexicans, the blackguards?"

" That's more than I can tell you, Patrick; it's

rather hard to say what is going on at head-

quarters, or when we will be given orders to" move.*
1

" Yis sir, thank you kindly, sir, we'll be paid

off in a few da}rs, anyways, however," said Pat.

as he touched his hat

again and retired. In

a few days he again ap-

peared and opened the

conversation with

—

" If ye plaze, sir,divil

the copper we've been

paid yit, sir.

"

"I know it, Pat,"

answered Arthur, " but

I can't help it; they

are waiting for the pay-

master to arrive.

"

" Hayfoot—strawfoot !
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" Oil, it's the paymasther we're waitin' for, is

it? and what the divil's the excuse he has for not

bein' here, whin wanted? What's the use of a

paymasther if he isn't on the spot whin he is

wanted?" said Pat, beginning to wax indignant at

having to wait so long for his pay.

The circumstance caused him much uneasiness,

and, after cogitating the matter over and over, he

was struck with a luminous idea, and announced

to his comrades that he would get his money " be-

fore you could say 'thread on me coat.'" One

morning, immediately after breakfast, off posted

Pat to General Taylor's camp, and on approaching

his tent inquired of a soldier standing by, where

the general's " shanty" was.

"That's his tent," said the sentinel, pointing

out the general's quarters.

" And is that the gineral's tint?" said Pat tak-

ing off his hat and rubbing his hand over his hair,

which had been cut to the degree of shortness,

peculiar to the natives of Erin's green isle.

"Yes."
" And where is the gineral's ould gray horse?"

inquired Pat.

" There, " answered the soldier, indicating the

spot where the old horse stood lazily whisking the

ilies away with his tail.

"And is tliat t.liu ould gray horse?" again in-
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quired the sprig of Erin, with great awe. " An'

where, if ye plaze, sir, is the ould gintleman him-

silf?" continued Pat.

" There he sits under that awning, " answered

the soldier.

"What!" exclaimed Pat in a reverential whis-

per, " an' is that the ould gintleman?"

"Yes, that's General Taylor," said the soldier

walking away.

After gazing upon the war-worn veteran in

silent admiration for a while, he at last mustered

up sufficient courage to approach him.

" I beg your pardon, gineral, but you'll plaze to

excuse the bit of liberty I'm taking in presuming

to call on your honor, but, if ye plaze, sir, I came

on a little matter of business, bein' as how I

thought maybe ye might be afther helpin' us out

of a little bit of a scrape."

" Well, what is the trouble and what do you

wish?" the general kindly answered.

" If ye plaze, sir, I'd like to know whin the hands

will be paid off, sir."

"When will the hands be paid off?" repeated

the general, considerably puzzled.

" Yis sir, if ye plaze to have the goodness. The

hands have had divil a cint of wages since they've

been in the country."

"Oh, I understand, you're a volunteer, and
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wish to know when you'll be paid off. "Well, my
good fellow, you must apply to your company

officers for that information; I have nothing to do

with it."

" Beggin' yer pardon, sir, I did ax the boss

about it; but he didn't give me no sort o' satis-

faction about it, so I told the other hands I'd fix

it. I thought I'd be comin' over to see if you

couldn't give us some satisfaction."

The " head boss" being unable to relieve the

anxiety of Pat, the latter retired to the " other

hands," having had the satisfaction of saying that,

although he had failed in the object of his mis-

sion, he had seen the "head boss in his shanty,"

and the " ould gray horse, " which was " glory

enough for one day.

"

Captain Stevens found the new life, the camp,

the soldiers and all a study to him. Assembled

about their bivouacs, drilling, or on the march

they were a picturesque group. There were regu-

lars, volunteers, Texans and Mexicans, with an

occasional Indian. Some faces had been bronzed

in tropical climes, some paled over midnight oil

and heavy tomes. The lithe form of the hunter,

the heavy frame of the handicraftsman, and the

hitherto denizen of crowded marts were here dis-

tinguishable. From all parts of the union they had

come, strangers to each other, to defend Texas and



ON THE BORDER WITH TAYLOR. 145

perhaps invade a foreign shore, and they knew

nothing of what was before them.

Amid all that motley crowd, the most noticeable

man to Arthur, was General Taylor's guide. At

least three inches over six feet in height, he

towered above all others, like one of Moore's

" ruined columns," for time to count his ages by.

Ages! That man must have lived eras in his

life; that face, with its short gray hair and beard,

was, indeed, but a ruin. A scar extended the

full length of his face, obliterating one eye. His'

gaunt, wiry limbs showed indisputable signs of

many a wild skirmish. His odd hunting suit had

been fashioned by his hard, rough hands, which

were aristocratically small. His horse followed

him about the camp like a dog. One could but

ask himself if it were possible for the man to ride

the little mustang. It seemed as if his toes would

surely touch the ground. His odd, uncouth ap-

pearance caused many jests among the soldiers and

camp followers ; but his countenance was as im-

movable as if he was deaf, and his dull eye betrayed

no sign of feeling.

But his eye was not always dull. One day a

soldier pricked his mustang with his bayonet, and

quick as thought the old man grasped him by the

shoulder, shook him as if he were a feather's

weight, and hurled him aside with a force that

Vol. 11—10
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stunned the rash jester, while the single eye which

had seemed so dull flashed lightning on the crowd.

There was fearful strength in that slight frame.

Arthur would very much have liked to know the

history of that heart beating beneath the leathern

jacket.

Who was he? No one seemed to know save

that he was " One-eyed Mike," a Texan hunter and

Taylor's trusted guide.

The monotony of camp life at Corpus Christi was

sometimes broken by a scout into the country by

officers and soldiers in squads varying in numbers

from fifty to five hundred.

At last permission was given Captain Stevens to

go with fifty mounted men on a two or three days'

reconnoissance into the interior of the country. Of

course the guide " One-eyed Mike" accompanied

them.

As soon as they left Corpus Christi, the whole

country was to Arthur a trackless wild; but Mike

went on as unhesitatingly as a New Yorker

would walk Broadway. One night Arthur made

the strange discovery that Mike was a highly edu-

cated man. Arthur and an army surgeon, Dr.

Young, as they sat about the fire, were arguing

upon the translation of a passage from some Greek

author. Both Arthur and the doctor had almost

forgotten their Greek and dispute ran high, when



ON THE BORDER WITH TAYLOR. 147

Mike, who was leaning on his rifle a little way off,

suddenly said

:

"Quote correctly, and you'll agree." Then he

gave the correct quotation, definition and transla-

tion which had been puzzling the two savants.

This was evidently impromptu and unintended

on Mike's part, for he abruptly walked away,

while the captain and doctor gazed at him in

amazement. Not another word could be elicited

from him on the subject.

" Who is he?" asked the doctor.

" I don't know," Arthur answered. He called

his horse " Wodin" (the wind), and his rifle

" Einzige" (the only one).

Next day they saw some Camanches sweeping

along in the distance, and Mike, throwing a glance

of utter contempt at the soldiers, said

:

" Captain, what match are they for a couple of

Camanches ?
"

After the novelty wore off, the life of a scout in

the wilderness became dull and monotonous to the

young Kentuckian. They camped for a week on

the banks of a stream which emptied into the Rio

Grande.

Mike left them at this spot, saying he would

return in forty-eight hours. Nearly a week passed

and the little party began to fear some terrible

calamity had befallen him.
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" Perhaps the Camanches have killed him," sug

gested Dr. Young.

Captain Stevens thought it was hardly probable,

for Mike was too shrewd for them.

"There's no need of waiting longer, captain,"

said the doctor.

Arthur, who was loth to leave without the

guide, said

:

" Let us wait twenty -four hours longer, and if

he does not come, we will return to Corpus Christi,

if we can."

Two hours later Mike was with them safe and

sound. His explanation was curt.

"Chased Camanches!" He brought into camp

two horses with Mexican saddles.

"Where did you get them?" Arthur ventured

to ask. He silently pointed to his rifle, then to

the blood-stained trappings, but spoke not a word.

Who was this man of blood? He had never dis-

played the least sign of brutality, and yet he was

a murderer, and the grim smile accompanying his

significant gesture showed him to be no impetuous

sinner, but a thinking, reflecting savage. He
was a man of refinement, as proven by speech and

manners. That there was some deep mystery

about him, Arthur knew, yet he found this mys-

tery beyond his ability to probe; though he was

freer to converse with Arthur than any one else.
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On the second day's march after this event,

they changed their course toward the Eio Grande,

and went to camp. Captain Stevens found One-

eyed Mike acting the old-time Spartan. A chigoe

had laid its eggs in his foot some time before, and

a sore was the consequence. Captain Stevens pro-

posed calling the surgeon, but was answered by a

further shortening of the upper lip. With his

bowie knife, Mike cut the skin, laid it back,

scraped the place exposed right thoroughly, washed

it out with raw whiskey, and, replacing the skin,

finished the surgical operation with a stitch or two

of deer sinew as coolly as a tailor would mend a

runt in a coat. Arthur could not refrain from ex-

pressing his admiration of the guide's fortitude.

"Then what do you say to this?" said Mike,

removing his belt and clothes to his waist, display-

ing a frightful scar extending across the body.

Captain Stevens shuddered. " I sewed that. " As

a proof of Mike's assertion, there were visible the

rude stitches.

" But the bowels must have protruded," said the

young captain.

"They did."

" "Whose work was it?"

" Those half-breed devils, the greasers. Wodin

was lame, or they would never have done it. They

ran me down ; a sabre cut ripped this ; they stole
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horse and rifle, leaving me for dead. I heard the

last of their trampings and then crawled into the

chaparral near, holding in my bowels with my one

hand. I sewed up the gash as I had strength, a

stitch or two at a time, and lived three days on a

bit of jerked venison and a canteen of water.

" At the end of that time, food and water were

exhausted, and I was utterly unable to move a

rod. I had made up my mind that I must die of

my wounds and starvation, when I heard the

tramping of horses' feet, and voices talking in the

Mexican tongue. They came nearer. I supposed

them half-breeds at first, and thought to call them

and have them put me out of my misery, rather

than die by starvation. Suddenly I heard the

voice of a female among them.

"Then I called feebly, for I was very weak.

They came to me. They proved to be a party of

Spanish Mexicans from the interior of Mexico.

Among them was a senorita, a young child not

over twelve or thirteen, who was going with her

father to inspect some of his possessions on the

San Jacinto. The Mexican had brought his wife

and two children, a boy and a girl, with him.

His was a large party, twenty-five in all. The

old senora and her pretty little daughter had a

tent spread over me and nursed me until I was

able to be moved, and then I was taken to their
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ranch on the San Jacinto and nursed until I was

well."

" How did you recover your horse?" asked Cap-

tain Stevens.

" Would Wodin obey another master, think

you?" And at his call the pony came and laid his

head most affectionately on his master's shoulder.

" Wodin found me. I pity the man who tries to

keep him from me. I hunted Camanches and

greasers six months for my rifle, and here she is,

faithful as ever.

"

In that day Mike had not his equal with the rifle

on the Texan line; and his scent or perception was

very keen. He would sometimes sniff the air like

an animal and say

:

"There are Camanches around," or "There is

game near," and he was never deceived, even to

discovering the kind of game in the vicinity. He

never returned from his solitary excursions empty-

handed.

One night they had four horses stolen from

camp. Mike said nothing, but was absent a day

and a night, returning with the complement of

horses, but all wearing rich trappings. Question-

ing him was in vain;—they could only conjecture.

War with Mexico had not commenced, nor been

declared, and the instructions to Captain Arthur

Stevens on going out to reconnoitre were very
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strict. He was to make a careful observation, but

to act wholly on the defensive. Under no consid-

eration was he to fire a shot or molest a Mexican,

unless attacked. With Camanches, of course, it

was different, and on the very morning they in-

tended starting back to Corpus Christi, a small

body of these mischievous thieves, who had been

watching them for several days, suddenly swooped

down upon their camp, fired a volley of shots and

arrows wounding two or three, and carried away

five horses.

The attack was so sudden, so unexpected, that

Arthur, who was down at the water letting his

horse drink, did not move or utter a cry until they

were gone. The entire camp was enraged and

furious. Before an order could be issued, the

volunteers were mounting horses and galloping

away after the Camanches. Wild yells of rage,

the angry crack of rifles, and thunder of hoofs as

horsemen tore their way through the tall grass and

bushes made up a terrible din.

Before Arthur Stevens had time to think, he

was mounted on his horse and riding like a madman

in hot pursuit of a lusty old Indian warrior, who,

mounted on his mustang, was trying with a stolen

horse to escape. The keen instincts of a sportsman

overcame Arthur, and he never for a moment con-

sidered the danger he might incur. He flew over



ON THE BORDER WITH TAYLOR. 153

the prairie like the wind, heedless of consequences.

Drawing a pistol from his holster, he fired a shot,

which seemed to burn the chief's right cheek, but

on they flew. The Indian was so close pressed

that lie released the stolen horse.

This was not sufficient for the young Ken-

tuckian, whose blood was up, and he goaded his

horse on across the prairie and through the forest,

without stopping to think that he was alone and

that he might probably never find his way back to

camp. He only saw the hated Camanche before

him and strained every muscle to overhaul him.

Again and again he raised his second pistol to

shoot the savage, but as it was his last shot and

they were riding over an uneven part of the coun-

try, he dared not risk it. Arthur had his sabre

and the Indian his lance. Both were about equal

in that respect. The Indian had lost his bow or

doubtless he would have shot Arthur through with

arrows.

This chase came to a sudden and unexpected

termination. They had reached a wild and strange

part of the country. The prairie gave way to hills,

breaks, and forests of chaparral. Arthur's horse

was pretty well blown, while the Indian's little

mustang kept galloping steadily on as if it would

never tire. Arthur raised his pistol to fire his last

shot at the savage whom he saw was increasing the
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distance between them. He was aiming at the

broad back of the Indian, when his horse suddenly

stumbled and went over on his head. Arthur real-

ized that his steed was going down, and jerked at

the rein to hold him up in vain. The headway of

the animal was such that he was carried completely

off his feet. Arthur tried to disengage his feet

from the stirrups to free himself from the saddle,

when he found the horse going down, but he went

over its head and struck his face against the earth.

As he fell, he fired his pistol in the air, missing

the mark, of course.

Though Arthur was not senseless, he was stunned

and almost powerless from the shock. He rose to

his knees on the ground while his horse staggered

to his feet. The young captain was conscious of

seeing the Camanche wheel his steed about and,

with couched lance and a terrible yell, charge

down upon him, as he sat upon the ground help-

less.

In that awful moment, while the savage was

charging at him to pierce him through, Arthur

lived a hundred lives and died a hundred deaths.

He tried to rise—to draw his sabre,—but was too

much stunned.

He had got one foot flat on the ground, and

rested on his left knee, while his right hand

clutched the handle of his sword still in its scab-
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bard, when suddenly a sharp report came from the

chaparral on his left, and the Indian's mustang

fell forward dead.

The Camanche, finding he had another enemy,

leaped to the ground and ran for life into the

"Are you hurt, SeSor?"

woods. Before Arthur had time to regain his

feet, a handsome young man with keen black

eyes, mounted on a snow-white horse, galloped

out of the chaparral, carrying a carbine in his

hand.

The broad -brimmed sombrero, the slashed
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trousers and doublet profusely ornamented with

gold braid and lace indicated that he was a rich

Mexican, though he spoke as pure English as a

native of Great Britain or American.

" Are you hurt, senor?" he asked, galloping up

to where Arthur was struggling to his feet.

" No, stranger, thank you. I owe my life to

you."
" Don't mention it, senor. I suppose the Ca-

manche devil escaped.

"

" Yes, why did you not shoot hirn instead of the

horse?" asked Arthur, gazing at the beast strug-

gling in the agonies of death.

" There was no time. He was close on to you

and ten seconds later would have driven his lance

through your body. A sure shot, not a fine shot,

was necessary to save your life. I was certain I

could bring down the horse, while there was a

doubt as to hitting the rider.

"

Arthur recognized in his rescuer a man of cool

judgment, capable of reasoning in an hour of peril

and excitement.

The young captain picked up his hat, brushed

the dust from his coat and arranged one of the

epaulets which had become loosened in the fall.

" Do you live in Texas?" asked Arthur.

The handsome stranger shook his head.

" You are an American?"
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" No.

"

"What are you?"
" I live across the river."

" A Mexican?"
" Yes, senor.

"

Arthur's countenance fell. He had come to the

frontier to humble the proud Mexicans, whom he

looked on as a nation of savages, and at the very

first move, he found one of his enemies saving his

life. Instead of being a savage, he found him a

gentleman of culture and education.

" You had a narrow escape, senor, " said the

Mexican with a smile. " The Camanches are des-

perate and bloodthirsty creatures."

Arthur, gazing at the Mexican, asked:

" What part of Mexico do you live in?"

" South of the central part.

"

" Then you are a long way from home.

"

" I am, senor. I take you to be an American

officer.

"

"lam."
" How far is it to your command?"

Arthur started at the question. He realized for

the first time that he was alone in a vast wilder-

ness. His command doubtless was scattered in

the mad chase after the horse thieves. The

folly of his conduct of the morning was quite ap-

parent.
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" I cannot tell," lie said. " We were about to

set out on our return to Corpus Christi this morn-

ing when the Camanches suddenly swooped down

on us and carried away some horses after wounding

two or three men. Our blood was up, and we

pursued them. I don't know where the others

are."

With a smile, the young Mexican said

:

" Just like you Americans. You call us a hot-

blooded, quick-tempered people of the South, yet

you rush into danger when angered, utterly re-

gardless of consequences. But what has been

done cannot now be undone ; what are you going

to do?"
" I want to find my men.

"

" Had you a guide ?
"

" Yes, One-eyed Mike."

"I know him," said the Mexican. "Had you

left the matter wholly with him, I have no doubt

but that he would have brought in your horses.

"

" I now see the folly of our conduct.

"

With a smile, the young Mexican said

:

" Senor American, if you intend to become a

soldier in this country, you had better learn more

prudence and judgment."
" I accept the advice with thanks," said Arthur.

He hardly knew whether he was a prisoner or not,

until the Mexican added:
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" You are, of course, a stranger here?"

"I am."
" Shall I assist you to find your friends?"

"Will you?"
" If you wish it," answered the Mexican, load-

ing his short gun.

" And I an American officer, perhaps soon to

engage you in mortal combat.

"

"True, senor; but we are not yet at war,

and let us not be enemies until that time

comes.

"

Arthur, grasping the young man's hand, fixed

his eyes on his handsome face and said

:

" Sir, you are a gentleman, a true nobleman,

even if we are enemies.

"

" Now, senor, if your horse is able to travel, we

will start at once, for One-eyed Mike will gather

up the scattered Americans in a few hours, and

may start back for Corpus Christi before we can

reach them."

Arthur's saddle girth had burst in the fall; but

he mended it in a few moments.
" Load your holsters, senor, we may meet your

ugly acquaintance of the morning again."

" He has no weapon save his lance.

"

" Yet they sometimes hurl a lance with wonder-

ful precision. I think we shall see no more of

him, for the rascal would hardly dare attack two,
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especially as he is dismounted, yet it is always

best to be prepared.

"

Arthur reloaded his holsters and mounted his

horse.

" I have no idea in which direction our people

are, nor how far," he said.

" We will doubtless find them in the chaparral

about twelve miles from here."

" You seem thoroughly acquainted with the

country.

"

" I am.

"

" You have been here before?"

" Frequently. I have lands in Texas."
" Yet you did not go with the people in the

secession.

"

" No, I am a Mexican by birth, of pure Spanish

blood. I could not lift my hand against my
country."

Of course Arthur could not blame him. He
really admired the patriotism of the loyal Mexican.

As they rode along, side by side, conversing as

two fast friends might, they naturally drifted to

the prospects of war, and Arthur ventured a hope

that it might yet be averted.

" I have hoped so myself, senor, but it is inevi-

table," said the Mexican.

" President Herrera seems to desire peace.

"

" Yes; but our people are mad for war. They
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are foolish and ungovernable. There is even now

a revolt against Herrera, and he will be deposed. I

should not be surprised to see him displaced by

Paredes.

"

" President Polk has sent a minister to Mexico,

and it is hoped that an amicable adjustment may

yet be made.

"

" Your hopes will not be realized, senor. Your

minister will be rejected, and our people will de-

clare for war.

"

" I fear then that your people do not understand

the power of the United States.

"

" Alas, they do not.

"

" If they did, they would see the folly of resist-

ance.
"

The face of the proud Mexican flushed angrily

as he quickly answered

:

" Were the Mexicans united and not continually

divided against each other, they would not be the

weak nation they are supposed to be. We have

too many traitors in Mexico.

"

" You are correct, sir. Mexico has too many

Arnolds and Aaron Burrs and no Washingtons,

Franklins or Hamiltons. You have too many

generals and not enough soldiers. Could your

people become more patriotic and less ambitious,

there might be a grand future for Mexico.

"

" Senor, you have spoken a great truth. I wish

Vol. 11—11
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our people could all see this ; but they cannot, or

will not.

"

For half an hour longer they rode in silence.

The sun was low in the western heavens, when the

young Mexican drew rein and said

:

" Your people are over the hill in the valley

beyond.

"

"Why do you think them there?" asked

Arthur.

" You can see a thin column of smoke; that is

the Americans' camp-fire; and here comes Mike

now.

"

At this moment the guide, One-eyed Mike,

mounted on his small pony, suddenly rode out of

the chaparral and galloped toward them.

" You are safe, sefior; adieu!" cried the Mexi-

can, and, wheeling his snow-white steed about, he

galloped over the hill before the guide reached the

side of Captain Stevens.

"He is gone," said Mike, gazing after the re-

treating Mexican. " Strange ! he always does

that way."
" Do you know him, Mike?" Arthur asked.

" He is the son of the good senora who nursed

me when the infernal half-breeds and Camanches

had cut me down and left me for dead."

" Is this the first time you have seen him

since?"



ON THE BORDER WITH TAYLOR. 163

" No, I have often met with liim, but every

time he avoids me, as if he fears I will thank him

for saving my life."

At the camp they found the Americans all re-

turned from chasing the Camanches, and next

morning they started on their return to Corpus

Cirri sti.



CHAPTER VIII.

RESACA UE LA PALMA.

A CRISIS was rapidly approaching in Mexican

affairs. The Mexicans, with great address, kept

their hostile intentions secret. At last the predic-

tion of the young Mexican that Paredes would

overthrow Herrera was fulfilled, and news reached

Taylor's camp that troops were rapidly concentrat-

ing on the Rio Grande, and that General Arista

who had favored peace was superseded by Am-
pudia, known to be an advocate for war. On the

11th of March, General Taylor, pursuant to orders

dated in January, left Corpus Christi for the Rio

Grande, with an army numbering about three

thousand effective rank and file. A few days be-

fore his departure, Taylor issued a proclamation in

Spanish, addressed to the inhabitants on the Rio

Grande, assuring them of the most amicable treat-

ment, promising to respect their civil and religious

rights, and informing them that whatever provisions

they would bring into camp should be paid for at

the highest price. This wras deemed a necessary

164
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measure of precaution, since tlie army was now-

leaving that portion of Texas which was settled

chiefly by Americans, and entering a district occu-

pied entirely by Spanish stock.

It would be foreign to the purpose of this story

to enter into a discussion of the vexed question,

whether the Nueces or the Rio Grande was the

rightful boundary of Texas. Mexico asserted that

her frontier extended to the Nueces; but the

United States denied this, and claimed the Rio

Grande as the boundary, with a right to the free

navigation of that river. The country between

the Nueces and the Rio Grande is generally fertile;

but about half the distance, a desert thirty miles

wide intervened.

No soldier in all Taylor's army was more de-

lighted to receive orders to march than Captain

Arthur Stevens. He drew up his company at

their quarters and saw that each man was ready

with knapsack, ammunition and rations sufficient

for the march.

" Begorra, it's mesilf as thinks we'll soon be

after thim spalpeens of Mexicans, " he heard Pat

say, as, with his musket at his shoulder, the

" squatty -looking Irishman" stood in his rank on

the left of the company. " Faith, there's the head

boss now, an' the ould gray horse. Boys, we're

goin' to have a bit of fun."
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" Silence; no talking in ranks," commanded the

captain.

The company marched to the review ground and

took their place in the regimental formation, and

the regiment took its place in the line of march.

All was now in readiness. One-eyed Mike and

a score of rangers had been sent ahead an hour or

two before, to reconnoitre the line of march.

The whole camp was a scene of commotion on

the morning of their departure from Corpus Christi,

March 11, 1S4G. Baggage wagons, artillery, sol-

diers on foot and horseback were hurrying hither

and thither, blasts of trumpets rang out on the

soft air, and the roll of drums and sound of fifes

made lively music.

Arthur, at the head of the company, awaited

the order to wheel into the line of march. He
had not long to wait. The order came at last to

count off in sections of ten. When this was done

there came ringing down the line, sounded from

officer to officer:

" On the right of sections, to the rear, into col-

umn, march !" The whole army broke into double

lines of ten each and started on their march. The

drums rolled, the fifes played, and baggage wagons

and artillery rumbled along. Despite the injunc-

tions against talking, Pat could not be restrained

from saying:
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" Begorra, there goes the head boss."

The first part of the march was enchanting. On

the fourth day a mirage arose to the west. Blue

mountains in the distance, lakes fringed with trees,

and pleasant fields recalled the memories of home

and cheated the beholder for awhile with the be-

lief in their reality. Herds of antelopes sprang up

from the prairie as the army passed, galloped to

the edge of the horizon and stood looking at the

long, blue columns, and the forests of glittering

steel above, with eyes wide open in surprise and

wonder. The streams crossed were edged with

thick woodlands. Fairest flowers of the most gor-

geous hues adorned the prairies, conspicuous among

them the Mexican poppy, the indigo and the scar-

let Texan plume. The sun rose and set in gor-

geous splendor. Occasionally they pitched their

camp on elevated knolls, surrounded by ponds

from which the water-fowl soared upward in thou-

sands, tempting the soldiers not infrequently to

fire at them.

A week's march brought the army to the desert,

and all was changed. From beauty and gladness

it became a scene of desolation and suffering. The

country was strongly alkalied. The soil gave place

to deep sand, covered with thin grass, and the

surface of the country was dotted with salt ponds

all over, which tantalized the thirsty soldiers with
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their liquid beauty. A forced march of twenty

miles brought them to a camp, where the tired

troops, after slaking their thirst, threw themselves

down upon the ground almost completely ex-

hausted.

Arthur Stevens slept soundly that night and

dreamed of home, peace and quiet. His mother

was bending over him, and her gentle voice could

be heard soothing her care-worn boy. He even

saw the dark shining face of kind old mammy,

who welcomed home the wanderer. He felt the

keenest disappointment when he awoke and found

those fond voices and kind faces were all creatures

of his dreaming fancy. He was thousands of miles

away and might never see them again.

Bugles sounded, drums beat, and the soldiers

were ready to march shortly after daylight. Soon

after the army was on its way a high wind raised

the dust in blinding choking clouds. The sand

was like hot ashes to their feet; the vertical sun

beat down with tropical fierceness ; and frequently

the men, no longer able to keep their ranks, sat

down parched and despondent by the roadside.

" And it's a divil's own fix ye'll be in if the

spalpeens of Mexicans come along and find ye

squatted there at the roadside," declared Mike

to one man whom they saw sitting at the road-

side.
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" I can't help it, " he declared, " I can go no fur-

ther. My feet are worn out.

"

At last, the joyful cry was passed from the van

that a fresh-water pond was in sight. One-eyed

Mike who knew the country well had warned them

of this journey. New hope inspired all; they

rushed forward; and in the cooling draught tasted

pleasure. Arthur bathed his heated face, drank

of the water until he had cleared the sand from his

throat, and then lay down on the green bank under

the shade of a giant palm to rest.

From this on, the country began to change its

aspect. The sand disappeared and was succeeded

by clay; level plains, nodding with thick woods,

rose before the eye; and occasionally horsemen

were seen sweeping the distant horizon, a sure

proof that the army was approaching an inhabited

district.

A mile or so from the banks of the Rio Colo-

rado, One-eyed Mike came galloping back to the

van and inquired for General Taylor. As he had

information for the general, the army came to a

halt until he could confer with him. Mike's in-

formation was that there was a large body of Mex-

ican soldiers on the other side to dispute the pas-

sage of the Americans. Bugles could now be

heard up and down the stream, as if a large force

was concealed behind the trees.
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"There come the divils of Mixicans," Arthur

heard Pat explain, as a party of Mexican officers

under a flag of truce were seen advancing, " and

begorra there comes the head boss on the ould gray

horse.

"

General Taylor waited under some trees for the

messengers with the white flag to arrive. They

were the bearers of a message from General Mejia.

the Governor of Matamoras, saying if the Ameri-

cans attempted to cross they would be fired upon.

General Taylor listened to the message and then,

without an instant's hesitation, answered:

" I am very thankful to General Mejia for his

kind warning, but as soon as a road can be cut

down the banks of the river, I intend to ford the

stream, and the first person who ventures to dis-

pute my passage will be shot down."

The messengers retired, and the artillery unlim-

bered to defend the pass. The road was cut and,

after General Worth and his staff, Arthur's com-

pany was first to plunge boldly into the stream

and wade across. Arthur expected every moment

to be shot down; but not a gun was fired, and the

army passed over in safety, the Mexicans retiring

before them. Every step now carried the army

into a better inhabited region. The soil became

richer, the landscape more picturesque, and wilder -

sses of acacia filled the air with fragrance.



RESACA DE LA J 'ALMA. 171

Four days after the passage of the Colorado, the

army was divided: the empty wagons, escorted by

the dragoons, went to Point Isabel; while the re-

mainder of the force continued its march toward

Matamoras. General Taylor accompanied the train

to Point Isabel, where he found the steamboats and

supplies he had expected at that post. Here he

was met by a Mexican deputation from Matamoras,

protesting against his invasion and occupancy of

the country. Leaving a small force at the Point,

where they were ordered to intrench themselves,

General Taylor rejoined the main army, which had

awaited him at a beautiful spot, called Palo Alto,

eight miles from Matamoras.

Captain Stevens' company went with the main

army, and Arthur was within hearing of the gen-

eral when he joined the Americans. As the eye

of " Old Rough and Ready" wandered over this

lovely plain, where clumps of acacia, ebony and

mesquite relieved the monotony of the rich prairie,

he said

:

"We may yet have to fight a battle here; it

is the very spot to make a stand." Memorable

words and too soon verified.

On March 28, 1840, the steeples of Matamoras

first rose in sight of the little army of Taylor.

The approach to the town was heralded by increas-

ing signs of civilization. At last the rapid watersDO *
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of the Rio Grande were seen whirling directly be-

fore, while on the opposite shore of the narrow

stream less than two hundred yards wide at this

point, a crowd of persons were visible, actuated by

curiosity to see those strange men from another

clime, the "barbarians of the North," of whom
they had heard so much. After selecting a suita-

ble place for camping, General Worth was sent

across to Matamoras, to make reply to the protest

which General Taylor had received at Point Isabel.

He was not permitted to enter the town, but held

a conference with General La Vega on the bank.

The interview was unsatisfactory to both sides, and

the succeeding days were spent in mutual distrust.

The Mexicans worked considerably in strengthen-

ing the defences of the town ; while the Americans

were as zealously engaged in throwing up a fort.

Rumors occasionally disturbed the camp respecting

a contemplated attack on Point Isabel. Proclama-

tions having been secretly distributed among the

American soldiers, offering inducements to desert,

several men swam the river, of whom two were

shot by the sentries, Pat McKune being one of the

sentries on duty at the time. Nevertheless, Gen-

eral Mejia, the commander at Matamoras, did not

openly assume a hostile character; but released

dragoons who had been captured a few days pre-

viously.
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All the while the}' were lying inactive with

Matamoras in full view, Arthur Stevens, like most

young soldiers, was impatient at the delay, and he

hourly hoped that an order would be given to ad-

vance.

Occasionally he took short strolls from camp.

On one occasion he had wandered alone to a

thicket of chaparral and was sitting on a moss-

grown stone when he suddenly became cognizant

of a pair of dark eyes fixed on him from a thicket.

He started up and snatching a pistol from his belt

was about to fire when the evil-looking face dis-

appeared.

Arthur was hastening toward the camp when a

tall man with a long rifle suddenly stepped before

him and said:

" Captain, you are reckless!"

"Why, Mike?" he asked.

" The guerillas crossed the Eio Grande last night

and are somewhere now hiding in the chaparral.

They will do some dark, dirty work before they

leave this side of the river. If they get a chance,

they will cut your throat."

Arthur told him of the face he had seen in the

thicket, and the old man struck the barrel of his

gun an emphatic slap, saying

:

"It's a mercy you are here. If the officers are

not more careful some of them will be murdered."
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Arthur took his advice and remained closer in

camp.

On April 1st, Ampudia arived at Matainoras and

took command, when the scene began to change.

He immediately notified General Taylor, that un-

less the American army retired to the Nueces with-

in twenty-four hours, the Mexican government

would consider war declared. Taylor's answer

was mild but firm

:

"I came to the Rio Grande," he said, "in a

peaceful attitude, by order of the American gov-

ernment; I shall remain, and the responsibility of

war, if one arises, will be with the party which

fires the first gun. " The calm and dignified tone

of General Taylor, in this and all future communi-

cations with the enemy, was in strong contrast with

the boastful and arrogant style of Ampudia.

Guerillas were on the American side of the Eio

Grande beyond question. Had a scout been a few

miles below the camp of the Americans on the

evening of the 11th, he would have seen a score

of dark, tawny men, low in stature, with broad-

brimmed hats, cloaks, the slashed trousers and

spurs of the Mexican, presided over by a man

whose dark, sallow face indicated a mixture of

Indian blood. This man was the notorious Mexi-

can guerilla Miguel Morillo. He was strongly

built, had a keen eye, thin lips and sharp, white
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teeth, which, when he smiled, gleamed like the

incisors of a hungry tiger. He spoke hurriedly

to his men, in the Mexican tongue, though Miguel

Morillo was able to speak English, for he was well

educated.

"Seuors, there is money and revenge among

those northern barbarians; watch your chance and

when there is one strike!"

" We willl we willl" they answered.

Late that evening Colonel Cross was so rash as

to take a ride alone into the chaparral. This was

on the 11th. He never returned, and his body

was found in the chaparral, gashed with machetes.

On the 16th a scouting party under Lieutenant

Porter went in search of him, and Morillo made

a furious attack on them, and drove them to camp.

The lieutenant and one man were killed. These

were the first slain in the war with Mexico.

On the 23d, Ampudia complained to General

Taylor of the blockade of the Rio Grande. Gen-

eral Taylor replied, that, if Ampudia would sign

an armistice until the boundary question was set-

tled, or war declared, he would raise the blockade,

but on no other terms. Ampudia declined the

armistice. Mike having brought in intelligence

that a large body of Mexican cavalry had crossed

the Rio Grande above the camp, Captain Thornton,

on the evening of the 25th, was sent out to recon-
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noitre ; when his troops were attacked by a superior

force under General Torrej on, several of his men

cut off, himself wounded, and the whole party ulti-

mately captured and taken to Matamoras, where

they were treated with courtesy. Captain Felipe

Estevan, having returned some weeks before from

Cuba, captured Captain Thornton himself and

treated him with the kindness of a brave captor.

He wrote to his sister at Monterey that they had

been victorious in the first fight with the northern

barbarians; yet notwithstanding, as war was now

inevitable, he felt dark forebodings of the future.

The attack and defeat of Captain Thornton was

the first real conflict between the Americans and

Mexicans. Morillo and his guerillas were in

reality marauders or bandits, about as dangerous

to one side as the other.

Three days before the capture of Captain Thorn-

ton's men, the President of Mexico issued a procla-

mation declaring the existence of war between the

two republics. On the 26th Taylor despatched an

express with a requisition on the governors of

Texas and Louisiana for five thousand volunteers.

Two days later he received intelligence of an attack-

on Captain Walker's camp, which lay between the

fort and Point Isabel. As rumors reached Gen-

eral Taylor that large bodies of Mexicans, both

above and below, were crossing the Rio Grande,
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he became alarmed for his communications, and on

the 1st of May, leaving a garrison at Fort Brown,

he marched with the remainder of his arm}* to the

relief of Point Isabel.

Expecting an attack at any moment, the order

of march was a line of battle, and at night the men

slept on their arms on the open prairie. In the

morning the route was resumed, and, no Mexicans

appearing, the troops reached Point Isabel without

molestation. The sight of the American flag still

waving over Fort Polk was greeted with loud huz-

zas. Fatigued by extreme heat and the forced

march, the men were glad to avail themselves of

repose and soon sank to slumber.

Captain Arthur Stevens, who had made this

forced march, slept soundly during the night and

on the mcrning of the 3d was awakened by some

one saying:

" They are at it. They are at it over there at

Fort Brown." At the same time the booming of

cannon smote his ear. He started up and found

that it was scarcely daylight. There could be no

mistake now that the Mexicans had attacked Fort

Brown. The reveille beat amid the wildest anxiety

and alarm. The cry to march was on all lips.

The conduct of Taylor in this crisis proved the

great soldier. At first he was inclined to yield to

the generous impulse of his army ; but a sober sec-
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oiid thought revealed to his mind that he would

have to leave his stores behind and thus frustrate

the object of the expedition. He finally decided

to try to open communication with the fort. Cap-

tain Walker of the Texas Rangers offered his ser-

vice for this difficult and dangerous enterprise.

lie left the camp immediately and was escorted

part of the way by Captain May of the United

States Cavalry, who then returned to the Point.

Walker was absent two nights and a day, return-

ing on the morning of the 5th. He said the

garrison considered itself able to hold out, and

was determined to make the attempt. Nor did

success seem improbable; for on the first day of

the bombardment, the superiority of American

gunners had silenced the heavy guns of the Mexi-

cans in thirty minutes; and the enemy had since

contented himself with throwing shells. The gar-

rison feared nothing but an assault by overwhelm-

ing numbers; and in that case every man had

resolved to die at his gun.

On receipt of this intelligence, the concern of

General Taylor was partially dissipated; but,

nevertheless, no time was lost in preparing for the

march. The boom of artillery from the direction

of the fort continued and stimulated the exertions

of the men. One-eyed Mike returned with infor-

mation that immense columns of the enemy, which
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bad crossed the Rio Grande, now occupied the

prairie between the Point and fort. Nearly every-

thing was ready on the evening of the 6th, and

next morning General Taylor issued his order to

march

.

" It is known the enemy has recently occupied

the route in force; if still in possession, the gen-

eral will give him battle. The commanding gen-

eral has every confidence in his officers and men.

If his orders and instructions are carried oat, he

has no doubt of the result, let the enemy meet him

in what numbers they may. He wishes to enjoin

upon the battalions of infantry that their main

dependence must be in the bayonet.

"

The army escorted a large train, rich not only

in provisions, but in munitions of war. Advanc-

ing five miles, Taylor encamped for the night.

No enemy had yet been seen ; but on the next

day, after a march of twelve miles, the Mexicans

were discovered, less than a mile distant, their

dense and apparently interminable masses darken-

ing the prairie.

As Arthur's company, which was marching in

front, came in sight of the enemy, he heard the

irrepressible Pat say:

" Begorra, boys, we're goin' to hev the nicest

bit ov sport ye iver saw in all yer life."

Taylor immediately prepared for action. The
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day had been exceedingly sultry, and the men

were suffering for water. Accordingly, a halt

was ordered, the army was formed in columns of

attack, and then the soldiers, half at a time, were

allowed to fill their canteens.

" Betther dhrink while ye can," said Pat, "for

the chances are, begorra, it'll be the last dhrink of

some."
" Silence, Pat ; no talking in ranks, " said Arthur,

sternly, for he feared the remarks of the Irishman

might intimidate some of the men.

"Beg pardon, boss; niver knew you were

about," said Pat.

The scenery was beautiful; the armies were

halted and prepared for battle on a large prairie,

the grass of which grew very tall and coarse,

Hanked by ponds of water, and beautified by tall

trees, which gave it the name of " Palo Alto."

While the American soldiers were filling their

canteens, the enemy continued nearly immovable,

ranged along the further end of the prairie, in ad-

vance of a stunted wood, exposing a front of nearly

a mile and a half. The Mexican lancers could be

distinguished by the flash of their weapons; while

the darker mass presented to the eye were no doubt

infantry. Although it was now noon, no thought

of dinner was entertained. Arthur saw One-eyed

Mike at a short distance with fixed and immovable
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countenance sitting on his small pony, Lis rifle

across the pommel of bis saddle. He called Mike

tn him and, stepping aside from his line which

was formed for battle, asked :

" Mike, what do yon think of it?"

Mike silently chewed his tobacco a moment and

said

:

"They will fight."

" How many are there of them?"
" Between six and eight thousand."

" Whom are they under?"
" General Arista; and he is no coward."

To oppose this force, Arthur knew that the

Americans had but eighteen hundred infantry and

two hundred cavalry. Their artillery consisted of

two eighteen -pound guns drawn by oxen, and

eight light pieces, belonging to Ringgold's and

Duncan's flying artillery. The army having re-

freshed itself, moved to the attack as coolly and

with as much regularity as if on drill. Arthur,

whose company had been deployed as skirmishers,

marched two hundred paces in advance. He saw

Lieutenant Blake of the topographical engineers

dash forward on his horse at the speed of the

wind until he was within a hundred and fifty

yards of the enemy, and with his spy-glass recon-

noitre their lines, riding leisurely along their

whole front. Having performed his duty to his
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satisfaction, lie coolly returned to the general and

reported.

The line of battle had been formed in two wings;

the right, commanded by Colonel Twiggs, consisted

of the third, fourth and fifth infantry, with the

eighteen -pound battery and Kinggold's artillery;

the left, commanded by Lieutenant-Colonel Belnap,

was formed of the eighth infantry and Duncan's

artillery. The action began at three o'clock, p.m.,

at a distance of seven hundred yards, \>y the enemy
opening with the artillery. The batteries of Dun-
can and Ringgold were immediately advanced to

the front, and a furious cannonade ensued. The
roar of cannon, the whistling of shots, shrieking of

shells, neighing of horses and bellowing of fright-

ened oxen made a din which was terrible.

This was Arthur's first battle, yet he was cool

as a veteran and continued at the head of his com-

pany throughout the trying ordeal. The Mexicans

fired at the American guns, while the Americans

aimed at the masses of the foe. The slaughter,

consequently, was very unequal. To avoid the

fire as much as possible, the Americans, except

the eighth infantry, which continued in column, had

been ordered to deploy into line; and when the

battle began, the men were further directed to lie

down.

The wagons were formed into a park in the
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rear, near which the dragoons remained. For a

long time the contest was an artillery duel.

Explosion followed explosion with wonderful

rapidity, shaking the plain under tremendous con-

cussions. The masses of the enemy were visibly

trembling beneath the discharges which incessantly

ploughed their ranks. The Mexican shot in return

generally whistled over the heads of the Ameri-

cans. At last the prairie took fire, and the thick

columns of smoke from the burning grass obscured

for a while the opposing forces.

" We're goin' to be roasted alive," said one of

Arthur's soldiers, raising his head above the grass

to gaze on the roaring flames.

"Steady!—down in ranks!" cried Arthur, de-

termined to " burn alive" at his post rather than

leave it without orders.

A dense body of Mexican cavalry, nearly a

thousand strong, at this moment dashed out from

the enemy's left, as if to assail the American flank

and reach the train in the rear. Their splendid

appearance, with their long lances gleaming and

flashing in the sun, awoke the admiration even of

their enemies.

" Begorra, here comes the boss on the ould gray

horse," cried Pat.

"Up, boys, all—repel cavalry!" thundered a

voice which all recognized as General Taylor
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himself. Immediately the Americans, half stifled

with smoke, many of them bareheaded, were on

their feet and running to the left, where Ringgold's

artillery and the third and fourth infantry were

laying horse and rider low. Captain Stevens was

within a few feet of Major Ringgold, when he

heard the awful thud of a cannon -hall tearing-

through flesh and bones. The shot had passed

through both Ringgold's thighs and the shoulders

of his horse, stretching them both on the plain.

Lieutenant Sherer offered to raise him, when the

fainting hero said

:

" No, let me stay—go on—you have enough to

do."

The major was carried from the field and died

on the 10th, at Point Isabel.

After the fall of Ringgold, the battle raged

wilder than ever. Ringgold's battery, now led by

Ridgeley, was pushed forward on the right, under

cover of the smoke, and by this movement the

enemy was forced to change the line of battle.

Duncan's battery also made a brilliant flank move-

ment. The foe fell back in confusion before these

new assaults. The setting sun threw its last beams

on the retreating masses of the enemy.

Thus ended the memorable battle of Palo Alto,

which gave a prestige to all the future operations

of Taylor. The American loss was nine killed
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and fifty-four wounded. Major Einggold and

Captain Page were both mortally wounded. The

enemy's loss in killed, wounded and missing was

not far from six hundred.

When all had become quiet, and the men slept

on their arms, Arthur was summoned to a general

council of officers, where the subject of advanc-

ing or retiring was considered. The decision was

unanimous in favor of an advance.

Accordingly at sunrise, the wounded were sent

back to Point Isabel, the train was parked, with a

temporary earthwork around it, defended by some

twelve-pounders, and the army was put in motion.

The line of march was across the sickening battle-

field, where dead and wounded still lay. Taylor

sent parties to look after the wounded, and directed

that they be well cared for, both friend and foe.

About three miles from Fort Brown, at a place

called Resaca de la Palma, the Mexicans were

strongly posted behind a semicircular ravine, in

front of which the chaparral bristled like a con-

tinuous chevaux de /rise. The few openings

through this dense undergrowth were guarded by

artillery; while masses of Mexican infantry lined

the ravine, and concentrated their fire on these

passes. The enemy, having received many re-

cruits since the preceding evening, among them

the celebrated Tampico regiment, Arista declared
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that ten thousand veterans could not drive him

from his position.

Taylor ordered the infantry to file past the train

and deploy as skirmishers to the right and left of

the road; which they did under a fire, that raked

the route of the advancing Americans with terrible

effect. Eidgeley's battery, after a succession of

movements, approached to within one hundred

yards of the Mexicans, and opened a fire of grape

and canister.

The infantry, meantime, advanced toward the

chaparral, and plunged down into the ravine with

fierce shouts and volleys of musketry. The Mex-

icans fought nobly. Steel clashed to steel, and it

seemed for a few moments that the two armies

were enlocked in a hand to hand embrace of death.

Say what you will of the Mexican soldier, you

cannot call him a coward. Too often has the

Mexican been taken for a guerilla or half-breed,

who is usually both a knave and a coward.

General Taylor discovered that victory depended

on his capturing a battery at the centre. He there-

fore called up Captain May with his dragoons and

ordered him to charge. Hailing the command

with joy, he went thundering down the road with

his horsemen eager for the shock. When the

dragoons reached Eidgeley's battery he requested

them to halt, while he drew the enemies' fire.
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The blaze of guns had scarcely burst forth, when

May 'lashed forward on his powerful black charger

closely followed by Lieutenant Inge, and his troop-

ers. Arrived at the breastwork, he turned to wave

on his followers. At that moment a discharge

from the upper battery hurled through his little

hand emptying twenty-five saddles. Not for an

instant did it check the cavalry; down through

the ravine, through the chaparral, over the very

guns of the enemy went May and his troopers,

sabring the foe right and left. Through and

through the ranks they swept ; then wheeled about

and rushed back, driving the gunners from their

pieces, May himself capturing General La Vega,

who commanded at this point. The infantry ran

up at this moment and secured what the cavalry

had taken. The Mexicans were driven from every

point. The famous Tampico regiment, victors in

twenty pitched battles, were almost entirely anni-

hilated. They could not retreat; they would not

surrender.

The enemy were driven across to Matamoras

and the Americans went to Fort Brown. Thus

ended the battle of Resaca cle la Palma.

The loss of the Americans was thirty-nine killed

and seventy -one wounded. Lieutenant Inge of the

dragoons, and Lieutenants Cochrane and Chad-

bourne of the infantry were among the slain. It
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is reputed that the enemy suffered in killed,

wounded and missing, not less than two thousand.

Their greatest loss was the heroes of the Tampico

regiment, all of whom were brave patriots and

died at their posts.



CHAPTER IX.

THE BELLE OF MONTEREY.

" Go on ! By the mass, I believe the guide has

deserted me, and I am not quite familiar enough

with this pass to thread its mazes after dark."

The speaker was a weather-beaten, sun-browned

young man surely not over, and perhaps under

twenty-five, mounted on a large, snow-white horse,

considerably jaded. He wore the uniform of an

officer in the Mexican Lancers, but so travel-stained

and dust-covered, that one would hardly recognize

it. A gilt-handled sword was at his side, and he

had pistols at his belt and in his holsters. His

uniform perhaps more than his physiognomy would

denote that he was a Mexican. He was a brave

man. He had faced Taylor's terrible infantry,

Ringgold's deadly artillery and May's vicious cav-

alry. A look of perplexity and uneasiness over-

spread his face as he urged his horse adown the

steep descent. All day long he had journeyed

over a broken plain, in places but little more than

a desert, in others having a coat of sickly grass.

189
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On every side huge masses of stone were piled

upon each other or lay scattered about, as if the

Titans had in by-gone ages tossed them in wanton

sport. During the last two or three hours' ride,

the scene had changed, growing wilder and more

picturesque. Hills, precipices and gorges, all

clothed with heavy forests, which at every mile

seemed to grow more dense, surrounded the lonely

traveller. When he uttered the words with which

this chapter opened, he was riding down a narrow

ridge, with a dark gorge on one side, and a seques-

tered glen on the other. As he came wandering

slowly down, through winding mountain passes

bleak and brown, the cloudless day was drawing

to a close. Those secluded glens and cooling

shades, hundreds of feet below, where sparkling

waters bubbled, seemed peopled with nymphs and

sprites to tempt the thirsty traveller. On a distant

hillside, like an opal set in emerald, a monastery

seemed afire with the radiant beams of the declin-

ing sun.

Further off to the southwest, seeming not more

than two miles distant, far above wooded gorge,

brae and break, two bristling peaks pierced the

"Saddle mountains!" said the horseman in a

tone filled with joy, for now he knew where he

was. A moment later a sudden turn in the path
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brought him in full view of a scene which, for

splendor and beauty, can scarce be rivalled. A
city, picturesque and grand with its glistening

walls of white limestone, its gleaming turrets, its

bristling spires, and beautiful surroundings, ap-

peared like the vision of a dream below.

"Monterey, Snowflake! Monterey!" cried the

young horseman, and the horse quickened his pace

to a gallop down the flinty slope.

Monterey is one of the most picturesque cities

of Mexico—that land of beauty and wonders. It

stands upon a broad plain, 1,626 feet above the

level of the sea, embosomed among beautiful gar-

dens and orchards which burden the air with sweet-

est perfume, while they delight the eye with every

varied form and brilliant color.

The sun had set, and the soft Mexican twilight

had fallen over the landscape when the horseman

entered the city. Monterey was alive with soldiers

and officers, peons, Indians and every form of

military man. The forts were bristling with can-

non, and long redoubts had been recently thrown

up to strengthen what had heretofore seemed im-

passable barriers. The travel-stained, dust-covered

horseman attracted little attention or comment.

Scouts and stragglers were coming in almost every

hour, and citizens and soldiers were accustomed to

them. There were some little formalities to be
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observed on meeting the guards; but he was ad-

mitted without difficulty.

As he was riding down one of the streets, he

was suddenly accosted by a voice which caused

him to rein his horse and look over his shoulder.

" Senor captain, have you just returned?"

Standing at one side of the street, he saw a low

heavy-set man whose tanned face, top boots and

heavy spurs indicated that he was a horseman.

He was almost as dark as an Indian, and there

was something peculiarly brigandish in his manner

and appearance.

" Miguel Morillo, how dare you show your face

in Monterey?"
" War is a good leveller, and also pardons crim-

inals. Captain Felipe, let me congratulate you on

escaping the sabres of the northern barbarians."

" Where were you when their cavalry were cut-

ting down our men like grass before the sickle?

I'll warrant Miguel Morillo took good care of him-

self."

u Oh! Senor Felipe, let us not quarrel. lam
one of General Ampudia's soldiers now; we are

brothers in arms; let us be friends."

The guerilla advanced and extended his hand

to grasp the palm of Captain Felipe Estevan.

Drawing back his hand, he cried:

"No, Migncl Morillo, I may consent to light
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with you, but by the mass I cannot take a hand

stained with innocent blood as yours. " He started

his horse at a gallop down the street. He had

gone but a few rods, when he halted, wheeled his

horse about and cried :
" Miguel Morillo, beware.

He is corning, and vengeance long delayed may
fall on your head yet."

Morillo's swarthy cheek turned pale, but Felipe

Estevan did not wait to note the effect of his

words. He rode on to a large, palatial-looking

residence built of white stone three stories in

height, with richly ornamented verandas and bal-

conies. He dismounted at the front veranda and

a peon came to take his horse to the stable.

His sister, the same beautiful senorita whom we

mentioned in a previous chapter at Puebla, met

and embraced him on the long veranda, crying:

" Oh, Felipe, I feared you would never come; I

believed you dead.

"

Felipe looked at her soft eyes, and discovered

that they were red with weeping.

" Why, Madelina, have }^ou been grieving for

me? I wrote you from Matamoras that I was

safe."

" Yes, but the Americans have invaded Mexico. "

" They are at Matamoras, but have come no

farther.

"

" I did not know, Felipe; I heard so many wild
Vol. 11—13
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stories of the barbarians overrunning the country.

Are we defeated? Is Mexico conquered?"

It was quite evident that the sefiorita divided

her anxiety between her brother and her country.

With a light laugh, Felipe answered:

" No, sister; Mexico is not conquered and never

will be. They may overrun it— depopulate it.

but conquer it never." His bright eye flashed:

his proud breast heaved, and his cheek flushed

with manly, patriotic pride.

" But they say the northern men fought desper-

ately.
"

" They did, sister. There are gallant men among

them, I assure you, and I have no doubt many

would be kind and noble, yet they are invading

our soil, and we must resist.

"

" Were our troops so terribly defeated as is

reported ?
"

" We were defeated, but I know not how badly,"

he answered. " We lost many men, so did they.

We retreated, but we met the barbarians face to

face with steel to steel, and we know that our sol-

diers fear not the Americans. " She ushered him

into the inner court of the house where they en-

tered a shed. There the traveller, from a stone

basin, washed the dirt from his face and neck, and

made himself presentable, his sister standing by

all the while talking with him in her beautiful
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mellow tongue, over their beloved country, and

the prospects of resisting the invaders.

Her brother seemed hopeful, and she took cour-

age. When he was ready, she ushered the hungry

traveller into the dining-room, where the table

was spread with such dainties as tempt a hungry

Mexican. The young captain was warmly greeted

by his kinspeople, and then sat down to the table.

The tortillas were fried nicely and wrapped around

seasoned peppers ; the alboudigas were perfection

;

the stuffed, green peppers with eggs and cheese,

cocoanut dulce, pineapple and sweet potato dulce,

rice and almonds were all prepared as Felipe

best liked them, and he ate heartily of each and

every dish, talking all the while with his uncle

on the prospects of the war and the invasion of

Mexico.

News had reached Monterey that the United

States of America had declared war against Mexico

on the 13th of May, and on the 23d of the same

month the government of Mexico made a formal

declaration of war against the United States.

Weeks wore slowly on, and the army of Taylor

lay so long at Matamoras, that the Mexicans began

to lose dread of it. The northern barbarians, as

they called them, were afraid to leave the banks

of the Rio Grande. The people at Monterey had

almost forgotten Palo Alto and Resaca de la
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Palma. General Ampudia had ten thousand men

in Monterey, on September 1, 1846.

The general was a brave, impetuous man, whose

pride and egotism overbalanced many of his good

qualities. The alcalde mayor of the city was a

personal friend of Ampudia, and on the 6th of

September gave a grande baile (grand ball) at his

palatial residence. True, rumors had come from

the Eio Grande that the American army was going

to advance, and had even left Matamoras ; but so

many rumors had proved false that none were be-

lieved. It would take Taylor two or three weeks

at most to reach Monterey after he started, and in

defiance of rumors the baile was given.

Senorita Estevan was of course an invited guest.

The senorita had been proclaimed the Belle of

Monterey. Her name was on every lip, and a

score of young Mexican officers had been trying to

" play bear" * with her since she had been in

Monterey ; so that she could not make her appear-

ance on the balcony without being annoyed.

It was only at the earnest solicitation of General

Ampudia and the alcalde mayor that she consented

to go to the ball.

* Playing Bear is a term for courting in Mexico. The

senorita (young lady) takes her place on the balcony, and

the would-be suitor stands in the street and woos her with

signs or by words spoken, or written and tossed to her.
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On the evening of the 6th, one day after General

Taylor had commenced his memorable march from

Matamoras to Monterey, the great ballroom was

decorated with flowers, ornaments and paintings,

and ablaze with light. It was a large, magnificent

room, four times as long as wide, a raised platform

for a first class orchestra at one end, and a chair

at the other for la maestra of ceremonies, with seats

ranged along the wall for two or three hundred

spectators. Mexican seSoritas are exceedingly

graceful, with very small hands and feet and en-

chanting voices. Generally they are too dark to

be beautiful, especially those about Matamoras,

Monterey, or Santa Fe; but the purely Castilian

Mexican women are, many of them, exceedingly

beautiful. As dancers, they cannot be excelled.

With them dancing is a life-time affair,—some-

thing they learn almost as soon as they can walk.

General Ampudia claimed the honor of Made-

lina for a partner in the first Valse de Spachio.*

The scene was brilliant with gay uniforms, waving

plumes and brilliant costumes. The assembly on

this evening was notable. There were generals in

profusion, congressmen and senators, bright eyes,

and many beauties like Madelina of the bluest

blood of old Castile. The Mexican is more pic-

turesque than the American, and there was every

*Slow waltz.
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hue and shade in the kaleidoscopic mass fluttering

and glittering under the blazing lights and in the

sombre shadow of the ballroom.

Among all the beauties in that great ballroom

none equalled the peerless Madelina in either beauty

or grace, as she promenaded the great hall, leaning

on the arm of General Ampudia. Then the music

struck up for the Valse de Spachio, and the dancers

quickly took their positions on the floor. The

music was slow and mournful at first, but with an

elegant movement, wholly indescribable, and capa-

ble of touching the soul. The first figure was what

might be called a " waltzing cotillion, " ending with

two lines, each seilorita opposite her jDartner. Then

she advanced toward him with many graceful and

pretty gestures, bowing, sinking, rising, extending

hands and again clasping them and retreating, wav-

ing scarf or handkerchief, and all in perfect time,

without one faulty or ungraceful motion.

In that graceful dance, Madelina, as she ap-

proached the battle-scarred general in full uniform,

was the attraction of all eyes. Under the brilliant

candelabra, her beauty outshone the fairest of all ; it

was a beauty that seemed to illuminate the whole

room with more than regal splendor. If the move-

ments of others were graceful, hers were music set

in motion. Slowly waltzing, gesturing and bow-

ing, at her signal the lines came quickly together,
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and, as the music suddenly broke into a lively air,

they were all whirled to different parts of the

room in quick gallopade. This rapid music again

subsided to the slow, mournful movement, and

they waltzed back to a sort of hollow square, from

which Madelina issued and made the circuit of the

set in slow waltz, tantalizing different cavaliers

with feint and retreat in the prettiest gestures and

most graceful movements, enchanting to witness.

When she had made her rounds, she joined her

partner, and the other senoritas each in turn made

the same circuit.

The Valse de Spachio was called the national

dance of Mexico. After it came the Valse Redondo,

very much like the common waltz. The general

asked Madelina 's hand for the waltz, but she de-

clined, saying

:

" I am tired, general, and if you will lead me

to a seat, I will thank you."

" Certainly, senorita, " returned Ampudia, and

leaning on the general's arm, she walked to one of

the recesses in the wall, where from an open case-

ment the sweetest perfumes came from the Alcal-

de's flower garden.

" General, is your wife here?" asked Madelina.

"Certainly; see, she is waltzing with Senator

Mendoza. Don't be alarmed, for, though a Mexi-

can, she is not jealous."
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" Then she is not like most Mexicans, for you

know our women are proverbially jealous."

" So the northern barbarians say. They know

little about us, perhaps as little as the northern

barbarians knew of Gaul."

" Yet, general, they overrun Kome.

"

She fixed her soft, dark eyes on the general anx-

iously, as if to read his thoughts. A look of con-

fusion swept over Ampudia's swarthy face, and he

answered

:

" It does not follow, senorita, that the Americans

will overrun Mexico."
" Our people are brave, general, but not united.

Could we unite, we might resist them."

" We will be united; we arc united now."

" I heard a rumor to-day, that Santa Anna was

coming back."

At this the general gave vent to an angry ex-

clamation and stamped his heel on the floor.

" The traitor dare not show his head!"

" He is popular with the soldiers, they say, and

would rally all the arms of Mexico against the in-

vaders.
"

" I would that the French had shot off his head

instead of his leg."

In order to change the subject Madelina asked:

" General, there came a rumor to-day that Taylor

was on the road to Monterey."
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Ampudia laughed and said:

" That is false, senorita. The air is full of ru-

mors, but we canuot believe any of them. I nave

faithful scouts, who will warn us; but this is not

an evening to think of war. Let us take a stroll

into the Alcalde's garden and bowers, which are

the most elegant in the world."

The garden of the Alcalde was a paradise to

look upon. Its treasures of flowers, its wealth of

perfume, its sparkling fountains, all brilliantly il-

luminated by the southern moon, shining from the

softest skies, and thousands of lanterns and colored

lights, tended to make it a grand scene, such as

even Madelina, accustomed all her life to tropical

beauty, had never beheld.

They had scarce been in the garden five min-

utes, when the general was called aside by some

one on a matter that seemed urgent. He left

Madelina on a garden seat, assuring her that he

would return in a few minutes. Scarce had

he been gone a minute when there glided noise-

lessly and serpent-like from a cluster of tropi-

cal vines a dark, sallow man, whose evil eyes and

gleaming teeth gave him the appearance of a

brigand.

" Senorita Madelina!" he said.

" Miguel Morillo, where did you come from?"
'' I must speak with you a moment."
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" I have already told you, seflor, that I never

wished to see you."
" You don't understand me."

"I don't wish to."

" Senorita, I love you."

"Miguel Morillo, hush! Such words from you

are an insult; you know I detest you; begone!"

"Senorita," he hissed through his white teeth.

" You don't know what you are saying. I am

not one to be trifled with.

"

" You are a bad man, Morillo, I know; but you

are powerless. You have been accused of brigan-

dage, and a price was set on your head; but owing

to the distressed condition of our country, you

were permitted to bring your outlaws into the

army, and you were tolerated in the hope that you

might aid in the defence of our country. Paredes

made a mistake in doing so. Such monsters as

you, joining with the Comanches, robbed and

murdered the Americans in Texas and caused the

first revolt, which has involved our country in a

war with America.

"

" Senorita " he began.

" Begone!" she cried, rising and pointing to the

farther end of the path.

" Beware—by all the saints
"

But the tread of Ampudia was heard, and the

Mexican guerilla hastened away. When Ampu-
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dia came to her, there was a troubled look on his

face, and he said:

" Seflorita, allow me to conduct you back to the

ballroom ; there are some rumors."

Before she could answer, she found herself in

the great ballroom, still brilliant with light; but

the music had ceased, and the dancers were gathered

together in groups with pale, anxious faces, dis-

cussing some question of unusual seriousness.

She saw half a dozen troopers covered with dust

and travel -stained. They were talking with one

of Ampudia's generals. The commander of the

army excused himself and went to the new-comers.

Madelina's heart misgave her. Despite all their

boasts, the Mexican officers feared those " northern

barbarians." At this moment she espied her

brother coming toward her.

" What is it, Felipe?" she asked.

" Taylor is coming to Monterey."

"Coming!"
" Yes, sister, coming," said Felipe. " We can't

stop him.

"

" Brother, boast no more of southern chivalry if

our land is to be overrun with northern men.''

" We must go, sister, " said Felipe. " You had

better get a few hours' rest, for in a day or two at

most you will start on your return home.

"

They went to the home of her relative, where
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all was confusion. All night long the rumbling

of artillery, the shout of teamsters, and wild con-

fusion agitated the city. There was no sleep for

the wretched inhabitants of Monterey that night.

Next day, next and next passed, and then came

definite news of the march of the Americans, who
were coming six thousand strong. Ampudia pre-

pared to fight, and was quite sure he could defend

this armed citadel against twice as many men as

Taylor had.

The American armies were slowly but surely

pressing Mexico on every side. On August 18,

1846, General Kearney had taken possession of

Santa Fd, New Mexico, and declared the United

States authority established over the people, and

by the 22d of the same month, California was en-

tirely in the possession of the United States forces.

Although the American army in two divisions,

the first under General Twiggs, the second under

General Worth, was advancing on the city, there

was no cause for immediate alarm, as it would be

some time before they could reach the town, their

march being necessarily slow.

Before beginning the march, General Taylor had

issued a proclamation to conciliate the Mexican

people, in which he assured them that private prop-

erty and life would be respected and protected.

The march of the American army for some time
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lay along the Eio Grande. Lofty ranges of moun-

tains soon began to loom up in the distance.

Turning, to the southwest, near Mier, the arm)

now found a more rugged route ; but the soil was

rich, and the toilsome march was sweetened by the

scent of millions of fragrant flowers. The ail

grew more cool and bracing. In the evening, the

loiterers around the campflres beheld piles of dark,

fantastic clouds, fringed with moonlight; patches

of clear, blue sky; and, frequently at the same

time, lightning in the South. Amid scenes like

these, they half believed they were in a land of

enchantment, and when they reached Ceralvo,

they realized their dreams of an earthly paradise.

The air was balmy as in spring; every house had

its garden, fragrant with flowers; a limpid river,

murmuring in cascades, and spanned by innumera-

ble stone bridges, ran through the town ;
while in

the midst rose a cathedral, whose half-Saracenic

architecture carried the imagination back to the

romantic days of old Spain.

The country beyond Ceralvo increased in rug-

gedness. The privations of the march were now

redoubled, for they had no means of transporting

the sick, who staggered on with their companions,

or laid down in despair to die. While the inhabi-

tants were civil, they were not social. How could

they be with men marching to fight their sons,
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"brothers and husbands? When the officers ex-

pressed a wish to see a fandango, they were told

they would have dancing enough at Monterey.

The jDicturesque character of the country increased

at every step. Now the army moved through an

amphitheatre of mountains, enclosing beautiful val-

leys, surrounded by smaller hills, and these backed

by towering sierras. Now it passed a succession

of bold, rugged cliffs, or conical peaks, the white,

verdureless sides glistening in the sun, while mag-

nificent clouds curled around their tops, or nestled

in the ravines half way down. At last the blue

mountains at whose base Monterey slept rose in

the West. Pressing on, the army reached Merine,

whence, at the distance of twenty-five miles, the

city itself became visible, a white mass of build-

ings reposing in the delicious valley of San Juan

;

while beyond, in silent grandeur, rose the huge

masses of the Sierra Madre, towering far above the

lesser chain of mountains and piercing the clouds

with their lofty summits. The excitement now

became intense. The troops pressed forward, in

order of battle, and on September 19, 1846, the

city of Monterey suddenly burst upon their view,

not over two miles distant. Through the blue

morning haze, Captain Arthur Stevens saw palace

and hill, steeple and fort, as it were floating in the

air. The silence and repose that hung around the
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landscape were so deep that it seemed a vision rather

than a reality. Suddenly, as the columns emerged

beyond the grove of St. Domingo, a sheet of flame

shot from the dark side of the citadel, a dull report

followed, and a cannon-ball hissed by, ricocheting

over the head of General Taylor and burying itself

in the earth beyond. This was the first gun of

Monterey.

One event after another had delayed the depar-

ture of Madelina until, on the morning of the 19th,

she was just getting into her carriage, when the

boom of a cannon warned her that the Americans

had arrived. Her brother urged her to make the

effort, even yet, to escape, for he knew that the

streets of Monterey would soon run with blood.

With a party of servants and a mounted escort

she set out. He followed her, determined to see

her out of danger, even at the risk of his own life.

The carriage was flying along the Saltillo road,

and had passed those two formidable heights which

at this time were fortified, and began to hope they

were beyond the American lines, when suddenly

they came upon a party of American soldiers.

Their blue coats, tall caps with knots of plumes,

and glistening bayonets were sickening sights to

the peons, who were about to fly and leave the

lady and carriage at their mercy.

" Halt ! by the mass, I will cut down the first
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man who attempts to fly!" cried Captain Felipe,

who rode behind his sister's carriage on his power-

ful white charger. *' Stay where you are, or I

swear by every saint in the calendar, I will cut

off your heads.

"

The cowardly peons trembled with dread, but

dared not disobey. Captain Estevan galloped for-

ward toward the Americans, holding aloft a white

handkerchief, and saying in English

:

" AY here is your commander? I want to see

your officer.

"

"I am he,'' and to his sunrise there came

toward him the same youthful captain he had res-

cued from the Comanche's lance.

" I recognize }*ou, senor; we have met before."

" Yes, sir; I owe my life to you."

" I have a favor to ask."

" What is it? If in my power, I will grant it."

' ; My sister is in the carriage trying to escape

from Monterey, which will soon run with blood.

"Will you send an escort to guard her beyond your

lines and see that she is not harmed?'
1

li

I swear that I will, captain, and I promise you

on the honor of a soldier that she shall be as well

cared for as if she were my own relative. Is that

all?"

" Yes, save that I be permitted to return to

Monterey."
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" Certainly.

"

Captain Estevan galloped back to the carriage

and, stooping at the window of the close vehicle,

said:

" Sister, he is a friend. The senor Americano

will see that }
Tou are not harmed. Trust him,"

and he galloped back to Monterey.

The peons were told to move on. Captain Ste-

vens detailed twenty men under Lieutenant George

Short to escort the lady and her servants beyond

the line. As she drove past the American officer,

he gallantly raised his hat to her, and she saw that

this " northern barbarian" was handsome, gallant

and no doubt brave.

Her carriage rolled on to an eminence five miles

beyond, where stood a large hacienda from which

a view of Monterey could be obtained.

Here she halted, and with a field -glass watched

the scenes that ensued.

Why need we describe the storming of Mon-

terey? It was a scene of blood and vengeance.

The attack of the 21st made by Worth was fol-

lowed up on the 22d by the storming of the

bishop's palace. Then on the 23d the town was

assailed front and rear, and soon the fair senorita's

hand trembled as she saw the frightful slaughter

in the streets. The alcalde's beautiful garden was

cut to pieces with whizzing shots. Dead men lay

Vol. 11—14
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in the bowers under the seats and hung across the

walls. Monterey was one of the most terrible

pitched battles of the war, and on the 23d, Am-

pudia with his army, almost ten thousand, surren-

dered.

With her glass, Madelina saw the Mexican colors

come down and the stars and stripes of the northern

foe take their place. Monterey had fallen; but

what was the fate of her brother, and what the

fate of the handsome young American who had

promised to protect her?

The belle of Monterey wept.



CHAPTER X.

ARTHUR AT BUENA VISTA.

Many Mexicans escaped from Monterey before

its capitulation. Captain Felipe Estevan with a

dozen of his men were among the number. They

went among the hills where friends harbored

them.

Miguel Morillo, in one of the charges of the

lancers against some Texans, saw some one, the

very sight of whom unnerved his arm and caused

his swarthy cheek to blanch, and with a dozen of

his most desperate followers, he stole away on the

following night and began roaming over the coun-

try plundering alike friend and foe.

After the capture of Monterey, in which the

American loss was over five hundred and the

Mexicans twice as many, Taylor, leaving General

Worth in command of the conquered city, en-

camped at Walnut Springs a few miles away and

awaited orders from his government.

Meanwhile, Santa Anna, the most unscrupulous,

yet the ablest statesman and most efficient general

211
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fertile district of Parras in Coaliuila. where lie

obtained an abundance of supplies for the two

armies.

When General Taylor informed his government

of the capture of Monterey, he called for reinforce-

ments for his own army, and recommended the

landing of twenty-live thousand troops at Vera

Cruz. He received such instructions that he gave

notice that the armistice at Monterey would cease

on the 13th of November. General Worth

marched on the 12th with nine hundred men for

Saltillo. the capital of Coahuila. and was followed

the next day by Taylor, who left Butler in com-

mand at the conquered city. Saltillo was taken

possession of on the 15th of November, and just a

month afterward Taylor set out for Victoria, the

capital of Tamaulipas. with a considerable force,

intending to march upon and attack Tampico. on

the coast. Commodore Connor had already cap-

tured that place ^November 14 ), and Commo-

dore Perry had taken possession of Tobasco and

Tuspan. A rumor reached Taylor that Santa

Anna, who, despite his pretensions to peace, had

entered Mexico, was collecting a large force at

San Luis Potosi to attack Worth at Saltillo. and

he marched to Monterey to reinforce that officer,

if necessary. There he received word that General

Wool had reached Saltillo with his division, when
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Taylor again marched for Victoria, which place he

occupied on the 29th of December.

Just as General Taylor was preparing to enter

upon a vigorous winter campaign, his patience,

temper and patriotism were put to a severe test.

In accordance with his recommendations, his gov-

ernment had sent General Scott with a considerable

force, to attempt the capture of Vera Cruz, and

from that point to penetrate to the Mexican capital.

Scott arrived off Vera Cruz in January, 1847, and

being the senior officer of the arm}*, he assumed

the chief command of the American armies in

Mexico. Some say that General Scott was jealous

of Taylor and envied him his increasing popularity.

Whether this be true or not, we shall not pretend

to say. One thing is quite sure, two men so un-

like in every respect could not be steadfast friends.

Taylor's democratic ideas were in strong contrast

with Scott's aristocratic punctilio. While one

was called " Old Rough and Ready" the sobriquet

of the other was " Old Fuss and Feathers, " yet

both were brave, patriotic and capable officers.

The historian says, that to effect the work which

his government had ordered him to do, General

Winfield Scott felt compelled to draw from General

Taylor's army a large number of his best officers

and a greater portion of his regular troops, leaving

him with only about five thousand men, including
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the division of General Wool ; and of these only

five hundred were regulars. Like a true soldier

Taylor, though greatly mortified, instantly obeyed

the chief's order.

At that time Santa Anna had gathered an army

of twenty thousand men at

San Luis Potosi . In Decem-

ber, this crafty Mexican

had been elected provisional

president of Mexico, and

his followers were full of

enthusiasm when, on the 1st

of February, he began a

march toward Saltillo, with

the avowed intention of

driving the Americans be-

yond the Rio Grande. Gen-

eral Wool, at Saltillo, had

kept his commander advised

of the movements of Santa Anna, and when Taylor

was assured that the Mexicans were really marching

against him, he resolved, weak as he was in num-

bers, to fight them. On the 31st of January, he

left Monterey with all his troops, and reached Sal-

tillo on the 2d of February- He pushed on to

Agua Nueva, twenty miles south of Saltillo, on

the San Luis Potosi road, and encamped until the

21st, when he fell back to Augustina, a narrow

Gen. Winfield Scott.
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defile in the mountains facing the estate of Buena

Vista, and there encamped in order of battle to

await the approach of Santa Anna.

Captain Arthur Stevens had remained with Gen-

eral Taylor though a part of his regiment had been

ordered to Vera Cruz, and he was expected soon to

join it. The young American was very much

concerned about the young Mexican who had saved

his life, and whose sister he had escorted beyond

the lines. Now Arthur would not have admitted

it, yet he was exceedingly interested in the senorita.

He had only caught a glimpse of her face, but

that glimpse, that passing glance, as her carriage

whirled by, forever fixed in his mind a bright,

celestial vision, a fairy image, indescribably beau-

tiful. He had heard her voice but once, as she

said an " Adios" to her brother; but the recollec-

tion of that voice was a memory of the softest

music. After the storming of Montere}T
,
his first

thought was for the senorita 's brother, and he set

out to search for him among the dead. Through

broken walls and battered ruins, among despoiled

gardens and shattered houses, he sought him, and

among the slain, and when the dead were gathered

up to be buried, but he could not recognize him

among them. Then he went among the wounded,

but he was not there. With lighter heart,he sought

him among the prisoners, but he was not there.
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He knew not his name, so he could not inquire

for him ; but from one old grim-visaged lancer he

learned that a party of cavalry and some infantry

had escaped.

Arthur hoped he was among them. He made

earnest inquiry about the carriage, and the senorita,

but the Mexicans either could not or would not

tell him anything about her, and he gave up seek-

ing her, and followed the fortunes of the army

whose movements we have just described, and on

February 21, 1847, he was encamped at Buena

Vista.

Around a small bivouac fire sat three or four

soldiers and One-eyed Mike, the sedate guide.

Pat McKune was among them. Pat's humor sel-

dom deserted him, and he was entertaining the

crowd with stories of how he and Dr. Trunnels

used to chase runaway negroes in Kentucky.
" And divil a one did we iver git ayther, " said

Pat.

"Why?" Mike asked.

" Begorra, it was the docthor as once tould me
he didn't want to find 'em. He offered me a bot-

tle of whiskey to ax Shackleford's Bill if he didn't

want his liberty, an' ye may belave it or not, but

in three weeks Shackleford's Bill disappeared."

Arthur took no thought of what the garrulous

Irishman was saying then; but in after years the
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I decline acceding to your request. With high respect. I

am. sir. vour obedient servant.
••Z. Taylor."

Taylor drew up his troops vrith great skill.

Captain Washington's battery was posted to com-

mand the road, while the first and second Illinois

regiments, with the second Kentucky and a com-

pany of Texas yolunteers. occupied the crest of

the ridges on the left and rear. The Arkansas and

Kentucky cavalry were posted on the extreme left,

near the base of the mountain. The reserve was

composed of the Indiana brigade, the Mississippi

riflemen, the first and second dragoons, and I

light batteries of Sherman and Bragg. The

army had scarce been formed when the vast columns

of the Mexicans appeared in sight, and when night

fell, their interminable lines were still visible,

stretching far back to the utmost horizon. The

sight would have appalled ordinary hearts; but

the Americans reflected that the day was the anni-

versary of the birth of Washington, and with this

thought returned the heroism of th< si _ I

the republic.

Santa Anna, on receiving the resolute reply from

Taylor, deemed it best to await the arrival of his

rear columns, as well as to allow a body of t:

under General Minon. which had been sent

mountain pass, to get between Buena Vista and
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Saltillo, and cut off the retreat of Ta}dor. In the

evening of the 22d, however, the Mexican light

troops engaged a portion of the American left,

keeping np a sharp fire, and climbing the moun-

tain-side, evidently bent on gaining the flank of

the Americans. Three pieces of Washington's

battery and the second Indiana regiment being

detached to strengthen this point, the enemy was

checked, though desultory musketry discharges,

enlivened by an occasional shell thrown from the

enemy, continued until night set in. Being now

satisfied that no serious attack would be made

until morning, Taylor retired in person to Saltillo,

for he was anxious respecting the defence of that

place. He took with him the Mississippi regiment

and a squad of the second dragoons. The remain-

der of the army slept on the field, without fire,

though the night was intensely cold.

While Arthur Stevens lay on the frozen ground,

endeavoring to snatch a little sleep before the mor-

row's struggle, the low hum of thousands came

from the enemy's camp, borne on the wind that

wailed through the gorge of the mountain as if

foreboding disaster and death. Many a brave

man heard the sad requiem on that night for the

last time.

The dawn of the 23d had scarce broken, when

long columns of Mexicans were seen creeping along
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the mountain side on the American left, obviously

with the intention of outflanking it. Instantly

the ridges in that quarter began to sparkle with

the fire of American riflemen, and for two hours a

desultory, but obstinate conflict was maintained,

neither party perceptibly gaining ground. To

cover his real intentions, Santa Anna now advanced

a strong column against the American centre, but

this attack was soon repelled by the rapid dis-

charges of Washington's battery; while it was

going on, however, he proceeded to execute his

main design, which was to pierce the American

left, by pouring his columns in overwhelming and

unintermitted numbers upon that point. Succes-

sive waves of infantry and cavalry accordingly

came beating against it. For a while nothing

could resist the tide. In vain the artillery, gal-

loping within musket range, swept the advancing

columns; as fast as one Mexican fell, another took

his place; and the living torrent rolled forward,

apparently undiminished in volume. Soon the sea

of assailants reached the artillery, broke around it,

and threatened to engulf men and guns. A corps

of infantry, ordered to the support of the artiller-

ists, was involved in a cross fire and driven back

with immense slaughter. The wild surge now
came roaring on. The second Indiana regiment,

mistaking a command, retreated in confusion; the
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artillerists were swept away, leaving one of their

pieces behind ; and an ocean of lancers and infan-

try, pouring resistlessly along the base of the

mountain, bore back the American arms and,

spreading over every available point of land, flowed

even to the rear of the Americans. The stoutest

hearts quailed at the sight. Victory seemed ir-

revocably gone. At this eventful crisis, Taylor

arrived on the field from Saltillo; his approach

having been hastened by the increasing roar of

battle. His veteran eye instantly comprehended

the imminency of the peril. The Mississippi regi-

ment, which accompanied him, was ordered to the

extreme left, where the light hung quivering in

the balance ; and the noble band of heroes, ad-

vancing with loud shouts, for a time checked the

onslaught. The second Kentucky and a portion

of Bi-agg's battery had already been detached by

Wool to this point. Bragg, in conjunction with

Sherman, firing from the plateau, was now tear-

ing huge gaps in the flanks of the advancing

enemy. The conflict soon became terrible. The

shrieks of those wounded by the artillery; the

crashing and hissing of grape, the sharp rattle of

musketry; the yells of the Mississippians, and the

wild huzza of charging cavalry, combined to make

a scene of excitement and horror indescribable.

Foremost in the charge were the Mississippians,



ARTHUR AT BUENA VISTA. 223

who, on this day, performed prodigies of valor.

At last, surrounded by overwhelming numbers,

they were on the point of being borne down, when

they were reinforced by the third Indiana regiment

and one piece of artillery. The tide of battle was

now checked; then fluctuated, and then began to

turn. The enemy made desperate efforts to re-

deem the day. Again and again the Mexican

lancers swooped down on the infantry, but, met

by a galling fire, wheeled and fled, a hundred

riderless horses galloping wildly away at each

repulse. Again and again the infantry, charging

with levelled bayonets, fell back staggering from

the wall of fire and steel. At last the Mexican

column was severed in two, and that portion in

front of the American line began to retreat.

The van, however, having reached the rear of the

Americans, made a bold effort to still secure the

day, by attacking the camp at Buena Vista, hop-

ing thus to strike terror to the army of invaders and

call it from its position to the defence of its stores.

The main body of Americans, however, kept its

station, but May, with the Arkansas and Kentucky

cavalry, supported by two pieces of artillery,

hastened to defend the threatened point. The

assailants were soon repulsed and driven to the

mountains. May now returned to the left, where

the other portion of the enemy's line was still
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struggling to retire. The Americans, from being

the conquered, had now become the conquerors;

and were making efforts, which promised to be

successful, to cut off the whole column, five thou-

sand strong. The retreating masses, hemmed in

among the ravines, presented a fair mark for the

artillery, which slaughtered them in "heaps. When

May, with his victorious troops, came rushing

upon them, they abandoned all hope, and would

have surrendered at discretion, but that Santa

Anna, perceiving their peril, hastened to send a

flag of truce to Taylor, who ordered the firing to

cease. When Wool, however, who rode forward

to inquire the meaning of this message, had par-

tially traversed the distance between the American

and Mexican positions, he noticed, to his surprise,

that the enemy had not ceased firing, and that the

column was availing itself of the parley to retire

along the mountain. He saw at once the disingen-

uous trick of which the Americans had been made

victims. But it was now too late, the enemy had

extricated itself; and Wool, unable to reach Santa

Anna, returned to Taylor.

The grand effort of the day had thus signally

failed; and for a space there was a lull in the

conflict. The Americans, wearied by so many

hours' fighting, and expecting fresli columns of

the enemy to make a new attempt on their left,
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were directing all their attention to that quarter,

when Santa Anna suddenly concentrated his re-

serves in front and hurled them on the centre of

the invading army, their weakest point. Amid a

tremendous fire of artillery, this splendid column,

five thousand strong, advanced to the attack.

Well aware that on this last effort hung the for-

tunes of the day, and knowing that the immediate

eye of their leader was upon them, the Mexicans

rushed to the onset with an intrepidity that even

surpassed that of their bravest displays of the

morning, and all had been courageous. The

Americans, wholly unprepared for this demonstra-

tion, stood aghast at the endless line of lancers and

infantry. The first shock fell on the second Ken-

tucky and first Illinois, supported by O'Brien's

artillery. For a few moments, which seemed

ages, these heroes bore up against the tempest, but

were then driven wildly before it; the infantry

flying in confusion and the artillerists abandoning

their guns, which remained in possession of the

foe. Again the Americans made a stand; but

nothing could prevail against the overwhelming-

numbers of the Mexicans. Like a mighty tempest

they rushed along ; and the little bands of Hardin

and McKee were whirled from their path like

leaves before a hurricane. For a while the day

seemed irretrievably lost. All that could be done
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was for Washington's battery, from a neighboring

plateau, to pour in a close and well-directed fire

on the advancing foe, and thus cover, in part, the

retreat of the Americans.

At this terrible crisis the calm heroism of Gen-

eral Taylor saved the army. He had left the

plateau, just before, but the sharp detonations of

the artillery now recalled him ; and he saw, with a

glance, that ruin was imminent. The dyke was

already breached, and the water rushing in. He

threw himself, as it were, into the gap. Ordering

up Bragg 's artillery, that officer approached at a

gallop and, thundering ahead into the smoke, un-

limbered within a few yards of the enemy. The

spectators held their breath at the fearful prox-

imity. Opening with grape and canister, Bragg

for a moment staggered the Mexicans ; but it was

only for a moment. With howls of rage, they

rushed on, and in another minute would have

trodden the brave artillerists under foot. Alarmed

for his guns Captain Bragg galloped back to where

Taylor was riding leisurely forward and cried

:

" General—general, send me support for my

guns! They are in danger!"

" Support
!

" cried Taylor, " I have not a man to

spare from anywhere; give them more grape."

Bragg did so, and the Mexicans trembled under

the fierce onslaught. General Taylor, who was
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now near the battery, and saw the signs of weaken-

ing on the part of the enemy, issued his memorable

order: "Give them a little more grape, Captain

Bragg.

"

A second discharge opened lanes through the

enemy, and at the third they fled in dismay.

Tears ran down Taylor's cheeks at the happy

sight. The day was won. Defeat, he knew, not

only meant disgrace, but death. Defeat meant

the annihilation of the Americans. It only re-

mained to finish the victory. The gallant Missis-

sippi regiment which had hurried up at the first

alarm, reached the plateau at this crisis and, pour-

ing in a murderous volley, helped to complete the

rout of the foe, leaving the Americans undisputed

masters of the field.

Captain Arthur Stevens was in the hottest of

the fight all day long. For the first time he ap-

preciated the heroism of Mexican women, whom
he saw everywhere caring for the wounded, re-

gardless of friend or foe.

It was when the lancers were sweeping forward

to seize a battery, that he saw a noble young offi-

cer's horse go down. That large horse, white as

the driven snow, he recognized even amid the fire

and carnage. The beautiful side was now gushing

a purple torrent, staining the grass beneath.

The rider rose coolly with sabre in hand. His
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followers had retreated in the mad flight. With a

hoarse yell a score of Kentuckians leaped forward

with thirsty bayonets, eager to drink the life-

blood of the young Mexican ; but with wonderful

skill he parried thrust after thrust, knocking three

bayonets from their guns.

lie could not long resist such overwhelming

numbers, and began to retreat with his face to

the foe.

He stumbled over his dead horse, and three sol-

diers with fixed bayonets rushed on him.

" Surrender!" the}- cried.

"Never!" was the defiant answer in excellent

English.

In another instant he would have been pinned

to the earth had not Captain Stevens leaped madly

forward and, with a backward stroke of his sword,

swept away the bayonets.

" Don't harm a hair of his head!" he shouted.

The young Mexican whose life he had saved

sprang to his feet and, with a wave of his hand,

leaped over a pile of stones, disappearing just as

the last grand charge was made by the Mexicans.

Arthur's lines were swept back, and for a few

moments participated in that terrific struggle which

proved victorious to the Americans. Night, a

welcome blessing, fell on the awful scene, and

though the thermometer was again below freezing
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CHAPTER XI.

THE MEXICAN BROTHER.

On that sad, dark, cold night, while many gal-

lant hearts lay stilled forever on the battle-field at

Buena Vista, and while the noble Mexican women
were still hovering over the field of death like

angels of mercy giving aid to wounded friends and

foes alike, a solitary horseman rode along the San

Luis Potosi road. He was a Mexican officer, but

his once brilliant, gaudy uniform was now dust-

stained and dilapidated. He had lost his hat, and

a handkerchief bound about his head covered a

slight wound above his right brow, and at the

same time afforded his only protection.

The road betrayed evidences of flight and re-

treat. Broken gun-carriages and supply-wagons

were everywhere abandoned, and the road was

strewn with muskets, belts, cartridge-boxes, swords

and broken lances.

"Defeated!" gasped the horseman sadly. "Re-

treating! Alas, poor Snowflake, you lie dead

upon the battle-field ; but your fate is no worse

230
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than your master's. You died for victory; I live

for defeat.

"

A. mile further the horseman came upon the

rear of the retreating army. A sad spectacle it

presented. There were wounded men staggering

along to keep up, clinging to the ends of wagons

or endeavoring to get upon the gun-carriages and

escape the enemy, whom they thought near.

Sometimes they were knocked down, trampled

upon and crushed, their cries mingling with the

shouts and curses of the teamsters. The further

he went the more dense became the vast columns

of retreating soldiers, until the road was one mass

of moving humanity. On, on, and on pressed

Captain Estevan. His second horse since Snow-

flake fell was comparatively fresh, and he passed

the foot soldiers, leaving them far behind.

" Where is Santa Anna?" he asked of a group

of officers.

"I don't know."
" What does he intend doing?"

"We don't know."

"Will they halt to-night?"

" We have no knowledge, senor.

"

He could not afford to waste his time with men

so poorly informed, and pressed on. The retreat-

ing army densely packed the road, and Captain

Estevan was compelled to ride outside the thorough-
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fare, which was not easy to do. The retreating

army seemed wholly disorganized. There were

no brigades, regiments or companies, only a min-

gled mass of retreating humanity, hurrying they

knew not whither. Dispirited and wearied with

conflict, the Mexicans only sought shelter from

the fierce noithern barbarians. Many deserted

that night and the country was overrun with

rancheros and guerillas.

At last in the darkness, the Mexican captain

came upon a second group of officers, and asked

:

" Do you know where General Santa Anna is?"

" He is but a short distance ahead, senor, " one

answered.

He pressed on and soon came up with the fa-

mous general, whom he recognized seated in his

carriage.

"General, where are you to halt?" Captain

Estevan asked.

" At Agua Nueva," he answered.

The wearied army reached this point next morn-

ing and went into camp. Hospitals were prepared

for the suffering and wounded and some effort was

made to reorganize the army ; but Santa Anna,

that boasting, scheming politician and officer,

seemed overwhelmed by the disaster, and utterly

unable to turn defeat into victory. Santa Anna

was not fruitful in resources, nor had he the te-
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nacity of a northern soldier. Had he remained on

the ground with his army and assaulted Taylor as

fiercely next day as he did the day before, he must

have crushed his little army. But he lacked the

power of long continued effort. II is full force

expended itself in the wild charges of one day,

which failing, the field was lost. It is a fault

with southern troops that, while they are brave,

they expend their force in one wild dash, and then

lose all they gain by their impetuosity.

Next day, Felipe heard the rumor that they

were to retreat to San Luis Potosi. He hastened

to the tent of the general, whom he found walking

about by aid of his cane. The general was quite

lame, for, as the reader knows, he wore a cork leg.

"General Santa Anna," said Captain Estevan,

" are you going to retreat?"

The general paused and' fixed his dark, fierce

eyes on the young captain of lancers. That he

did not like Felipe is quite evident. He had not

forgotten the day when he entered his room dis-

guised as an American and threatened to blow out

his brains if he entered into a compact with the

United States to betray his country.

" You are Captain Felipe Estevan of the lancers.

"

" I am, general," the young patriot answered.

" I remember you."

" At Havana, general," interrupted Felipe, " but
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we need not discuss that now. Are you going to

retreat ?
"

" It has been so decided."

" But, general, why retreat? We can defeat

Taylor. He suffered almost as badly as we, and

we can surround him. The whole country will

be with us.

"

Santa Anna pressed his thin lips together firmly,

and shook his head.

" No, senor, it has been decided otherwise."

"General, we can redeem Mexico. Listen; I

was last to leave the field, and I know that an

hour longer would have seen the overthrow of the

Americans.

"

Gnashing his teeth, Santa Anna, with his black

eyes flashing, answered:

" Those northern barbarians fight like devils,

senor.

"

" But they can be defeated. Remember you did

it at the Alamo.

"

The general shook his head and said:

" It is no use ; we will retreat.

"

Pleading and appealing were in vain. Captain

Estevan at last said

:

" I trust, general, you will delay the march long

enough for me to find my sister."

"Where is she?" asked Santa Anna, with a

keen glance of his on the young Mexican.
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" In the hills near Potosi at a convent.

"

"I cannot halt the army to hunt for women,"

said Santa Anna.
" General, there is no need to retreat, the enemy

will not pursue us.

"

" Senor, you do not know them.

"

With a polite bow, Captain Felipe answered:

" I beg your pardon, general ; but I do know

them. I can assure you, General Taylor will not

advance a mile. In fact he will fall back to Sal-

tillo. Think, general, of the demoralizing effect

of a retreat at this time. It will be construed into

a defeat, and we are not defeated. The enemy

repulsed, but did not defeat us. It was folly to

attack him so well posted; but, general, let us

hold the ground."

" We must retreat and get reinforcements, " de-

clared Santa Anna.
" Hold your ground, General Santa Anna, and

reinforcements will come to you."

But all appeals to Santa Anna were in vain.

The once proud, boastful Mexican seemed now

thoroughly humbled and would listen to nothing

but retreat. We wrong Santa Anna by charging

him with cowardice. . He was a brave man ;
but

he lacked the bull-dog tenacity found in the Anglo-

Saxon race, so essential to a good general. He

had not the patriotism nor ability of a Washing-
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ton, who, flying before a vastly superior foe,

could wheel suddenly upon them and gain two

brilliant victories. Santa Anna was not a patriot,

he lacked judgment and principle, not courage, or

he would have died at Buena Yista, sooner than

yielded the field to an enemy.

Captain Estevan soon learned that it was folly

to waste further time with Santa Anna, who was

determined on retiring to San Luis Potosi, conse-

quently, he must alone set out to find his sister

and conduct her to their home, and then hasten to

join the rallying hosts of Mexicans, whom he

hoped would yet be able to eject the invaders.

The reader may be curious to know why Made-

lina Estevan did not take advantage of the long

armistices after the fall of Monterey to return to

her native town and home of her father. After

the fall of Monterey, the whole country became

overrun with prowling bands of guerillas, like

Morillo, who were more dangerous than the inva-

ders. Captain Estevan knew that the peons would

be little better than no guard at all, should his

sister be attacked, and as he was personally en-

gaged in recruiting for the army, he had not time

to accompany her to Puebla.

It was supposed she would be safe at the con-

vent. The " northern barbarians" would not

molest her, and the worst of the guerillas would
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scarce desecrate a convent. The padre in charge

was a warm friend of Estevan's father, and prom-

ised to take excellent care of the senorita. Cap-

tain Estevan tarried at headquarters until the army

began the retreat. Finding that anything he

might do would not avail to alter the plan of Santa

Anna, the captain mounted a dark horse, and rode

away to the hills. He had to pass dangerously

near to the American army in order to reach the

convent where the senorita was staying; but by

taking advantage of a dark night, while a cold,

mist-like rain was falling, he managed to get by

without difficulty ; and as soon as dawn appeared

pushed on toward the convent.

When within two miles of it, he saw a man

coming toward him. He seemed greatly agitated,

and no sooner did he see the armed horseman than

he uttered a strange howl and fled as fast as his

legs could carry him into the chaparral. The

young Mexican felt some uneasiness at this, and

pressed on, urging his horse to a gallop. In a few

moments he came in sight of the convent and

found the gate torn from its hinges, a part of the

wall knocked down, and the whole place in confu-

sion. The little chapel near had been plundered of

its gold candlesticks and ornaments, and the place

was deserted. Not a soul living or dead could be

found and his fears for his sister increased.
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The whole place bore strong evidence of violence

and robbery.

Captain Estevan threw himself on the ground,

and in his despair beat his breast, and tore his

hair.

" Oh ! Madelina, Madelina, my sister, where are

you?" he cried in the anguish of his soul.

A light footstep was near him, and looking up

he saw a female peon standing at his side.

" Do you belong here?" the young officer asked.

" I did, senor, " the peon answered.

"Where are they?"

She pointed along the long road which wound

among the vast ranges of hills and sharp peaked

mountains.

" Were they captured?"

"No."

"Did they fly?"

She nodded " Yes.

"

"Who despoiled the chapel and convent?" he

asked.

"It was the work of the mountain guerillas,"

she answered.

" Had they gone before the guerillas came?"
" Yes, senor. The northern barbarians affrighted

them," said the peon, "we hear their great guns,

and we see the Mexicans fly before them. Then

the padre, he fly and take the senorita and nuns
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with him. They be gone not long when the gue-

rillas come and ask for the seuorita.

"

Captain Estevan felt his anxiety increasing

again.

" Did you direct them aright?" he demanded.

"No, senor," the peon answered.

" It is well for you, you did not, or by the

saints I would slay you."

" By the Holy Virgin, senor, I did not."

" Now I will find the lamb before the mountain

wolves have set their eyes on her."

In that day and even later it was not an uncom-

mon thing for the guerillas to seize persons, of

both sexes, of rank or wealth and hold them for

ransom. Captain Estevan had been told by his

sister of the frequent avowals of love on the part

of Miguel Morillo, and knowing the scoundrel was

at large and principal chief among the guerillas,

he felt considerable uneasiness.

Should she fall into his hands he could but

tremble at the result. The old priests and the

servants could make little or no resistance against

the guerillas, who were desperate villains.

"Oh, Madelina—sister, where are you?" he re-

peatedly asked himself, as he spurred his horse

along the mountain defile. The day began to

wane. The sun hung low in the slate-colored sky,

and, through the dim blue mists, which clung
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about the distant mountains, looked like a ball of

sullen fire. The scenery was grand and pictu-

resque in the extreme. Wild cataracts, yawning

chasms and steep hillsides, with valleys, dark

ravines mingled in a heterogeneous mass, all went

to make up a scene of such splendor as would be

calculated to delight the eye of an artist. The

long, winding road which wended its way about

through the mountains, sometimes hovering on

the brink of some precipice and at others entering

a narrow pass, was followed by the brother at a

full gallop. In places where the road-bed had a

partial covering of earth, he found the imprint of

carriage wheels which encouraged him to hurry on.

But at one place from a by-path entering into the

main road, there being more than the usual amount

of soil, he noticed that half a score of horses had

suddenly entered the narrow defile obliterating the

prints made by carriage-wheels.

"Holy Virgin, save her!" gasped the young

Mexican. " It is the guerillas; Jesn, pity her!"

Then leaning over low in his saddle he spoke

words of encouragement to his jaded steed, stung

his flanks with his cruel spurs and thundered down
the canyon into which the gathering shadows were

fast blending into darker night. No word now
escaped the lips of the Mexican brother, which

were nevertheless parted in anxiety, as he thun-
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dered on into wilder scenes and darker shadows of

night, his horse's hoofs leaving a stream of flashing

sparks in his rear.

Meanwhile Madelina and her little group had

been pressing on in wild flight. She had been one

of the noble women whom Whittier calls the

Angels of Buena Vista. On the day of the battle

she was on the field giving aid to the wounded,

friend and foe. She had seen Mexico humbled,

and had returned to the convent. When it be-

came known that Santa Anna was to retreat, the

whole country became alive with marauders, and

the priest of the convent determined to abandon it

and go further south.

Madelina' s carriage was guarded by four mule-

teers, who were faithful enough as servants, but

the most arrant cowards that ever lived. Like

cowards they were given to boasting, and assured

the senorita she need have no fears of danger.

One fellow called Pietro, the chief boaster and

liar of the four, as they began the retreat, declared:

" By the mass, senorita, it will lie a sad day for

the guerillas or Americanos if they follow us.

I have loaded my horse-pistol and carbine, and

I could slay a score with my sabre. " Then Pietro

proceeded to narrate some of his marvellous ex-

ploits, all of which the senorita knew to be false.

Juan next came to encourage the senorita by assur-
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ing her that he had slain a score of enemies with

his good sword alone. Juan had a brace of Ameri-

can pistols and a carbine with which he was quite

sure he could conquer a host of Americans or

guerillas.

Knowing full well what little confidence could

be put in any of the boasts and protestations of

the peons, she rode in silence, occasionally count-

ing her beads or offering a prayer to the Virgin for

aid. Night fell in that awful wilderness, and still

the carriage rolled on. Father Agatone seemed de-

sirous of pressing on as far and as rapidly as pos-

sible; but it soon became evident that travelling

further in that darkness was impossible, and he

called a halt at the foot of some mountains in a

wild, rocky ravine, surrounded by bluffs, broken

masses of rock and deep umbrageous forests from

the depths of which there occasionally issued forth

the deep fierce growl of the deadly cougar.

"Pietro, have you your carbine?" asked Seno-

rita Madelina.

" Yes, senorita, and I am sure to hit the mark

with it."

" Then take it, go into the thicket and shoot

the cougar. It will carry off some of the mules

to-njght."

Pietro heard the distant growl of the fierce

animal, aDd began to tremble with dread. Shak-
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ing his head and crossing himself reverently, he

answered

:

" No, no, senorita, he would make but one

mouthful of me. Pietro will build up a great fire

from the pine branches and frighten them away

until morning; then, when he can see to shoot, he

will kill it."

" But Father Agatone thinks it best not to

have fire to-night ; it might reveal our hiding-place

to the guerillas.

"

With a look of defiance, and a voice filled with

proud boasting, the cowardly peon declared that he

would like nothing better than to have the gueril-

las come. He could annihilate them with his car-

bine and pistol, and if those failed he had his

trusty sabre with which he had slain scores of

enemies.

Pietro had, in fact, never slain any one. He
was afraid of his shadow, and had he thought

there were any guerillas in the valley, he certainly

would have fled and risked the jungle with the

cougar in preference to meeting them. He pre-

vailed on Father Agatone to have a small fire built,

especially as the night air was cold and disagree-

able, it being February. The priest having dis-

posed of the women who slept in the carriages,

appointed Pietro and one of his own servants

named Leon as guards for the first half of the
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night. The guard became sleepy ere the hour

of eleven approached, and returning to the camp
threw on some pine logs and sat down.

"Leon, why should we sit there in the dark?"

asked Pietro.

" No use,—the cougar eat us up."

"Diablo! I prefer the fire," and placing his

back against a large tree he stretched his feet

toward the fire. His companion followed his ex-

ample, and the two were soon snoring. The night

air was sharp, cold and frosty, the peons were

tired, and the generous heat from the camp fire

soothing to their tired frames. Midnight passed

and they were still in the land of slumber. There

was a movement down the canyon. One of the

mules threw up his head, pricked up his ears and

sniffed the air, then pawed the earth. There came

from the narrow pass by which the party had

entered this dark vale, a solitary human being.

His slow, cautious steps as he glided from stone

to stone could not be heard by a common ear, and

it must have been the keen scent of the mule

which warned him of the approach of a stranger.

Stooping low and gliding from shadow to shadow,

the unprepossessing individual came nearer and

nearer, until at last he was at the camp and stood

by the fire, gazing on the snoring guards. The

spy was Morillo himself. There was a wicked
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smile on his face, and his hand rested on the

handle of his ugly machete which he half drew

from the scabbard.

"Poor boasting fools," he hissed beneath his

white, sharp teeth, "you are hardly worth it."

Then his eye wandered to Senorita Estevan's car-

riage. He knew it at sight, and with blazing eyes

he hissed, " Proud beauty, I'll humble you! By
the mass, your rich father shall pay a thousancl

doubloons if he sees his daughter again."

The mule began to sniff the air and stamp un-

easily, for the presence of the half-breed was dis-

tasteful to him. The noise awoke the senorita,

who with her maid occupied her carriage, which

had been converted into a sleeping apartment.

She softly rose and glancing through the partially

open door hj the dull red glow of the firelight,

espied the hated form of Morillo. The carriage

of Father Agatone was just opposite from the fire,

and she struck the door of it a sharp rap with her

knuckle. Morillo heard the priest stirring and

turned to retreat to his men, who were to attack

the camp at once. Morillo forgot the angry mule,

which detested the new-comer, and inadvertently

got too near the irate animal, which by one well-

directed kick sent the bandit head first through the

camp fire, scattering the burning brands in every

direction. The sleeping guards awoke with yells
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of amazement, for burning sticks were scattered all

over them, and in a moment every peon was on his

feet. One seized a lance, another his carbine, one

a whip and another a stout staff. As Morillo rose

like the Phoenix from the flames and ashes, he was

struck a blow by the whip of a muleteer, and a

ranchero gave him a serious whack over his head

with his lance. The stunned guerilla staggered

away a few steps and recovering himself ran. By

this time the boastful Pietro, having partially re-

covered from his fright, and realizing that the un-

welcome visitor was retreating, without having any

very clear idea of what he was about, fired his car-

bine at him. The shot went wide of the mark,

and Morillo disappeared into the pass from which

he had emerged, where his men, ten in number,

were waiting to attack the camp as soon as their

chief should return and report.

" What was it?" asked Father Agatone, hurry-

ing from his carriage to the scene.

"Guerillas, guerillas!" cried the peons, now

that the danger was gone becoming quite boast-

ful.

Senorita Estevan alighted from her carriage, to

reprove the guard for sleeping, and allowing Mo-

rillo to enter the camp. Pietro, who had wholly

regained his counige, said:

" By St. Anthony ! senorita, you see how I
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drove him off. St. Miguel, lie bath a bullet horn

my carbine in bis back even at this moment."

"Cease your boasting, Pietro," cried the seno-

rita. Then turning to the priest she added:

" Father Agatone, I saw the man and recognized

him. He is the guerilla chief Morillo.

"

" My daughter, this is serious, if you are quite

sure.

"

" I am not mistaken, Father."

"
If it was Morillo, be has companions near.

"

" Doubtless he has. Look to the mule.

"

The long-eared animal, whose angry heels had

played such a noble part in defending the camp

against the guerilla, was still stamping the earth

uneasily and sniffing the air. Pietro was boasting

of his exploits with his carbine, when the priest

commanded him to reload his gun at once.

" You may soon have good use for it again, my

son.-"

" By St. Anthony ! I can fight all the guerillas

in the mountains," declared Pietro, putting a

charge in his gun.

"Look to yourselves,—they come!" cried the

priest.

The guerillas, eight or ten in number, headed

by Morillo in person, dashed into the little valley

from the dark and narrow pass. The peons uttered

a shout of dismay, and would have fled without
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tiring a shot, had not the priest and senorita seized

them and cried:

" Why fly?— you will be murdered unless you

defend yourselves. There come the enemy; de-

fend yourselves. We will stay with you."

Being thus urged and encouraged, the peons,

seven in number, fired their carbines at the gue-

rillas as they rode forward at a gallop. One sad-

dle was emptied, and one horse fell. This fire

checked the outlaws for a moment; but Morillo

who was at their head shot one of the peons, and

the others, taking fright, fled to the chaparral.

" We have them! we have them now!" roared

Morillo. " Camp, gold and all are our own."

With wild cries, the guerillas dashed forward

on their horses into the camp. The priest, as

brave as he was pious, seized a burning stick of

wood and hurled the heavy firebrand with such

precision at the foes, that it knocked one from the

saddle. The mule again attested his gallantry by

sending his heels with such force and precision

into the side of one of the horses, that both horse

and rider were sent sprawling upon the ground.

Morillo was enraged at this unexpected resist-

ance.

" By the mother of Jesus, shoot both mule and

priest!" he cried: "Aha, senorita, I now have

you!"
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He sprang to the ground by the side of Made-

lina, and made an effort to seize her.

"Have a care, Senor Miguel!" cried the seiio-

rita, her eyes flashing with fire, as she suddenly

drew from her bosom a small dagger. " I will drive

this into your breast if you do not go away."

" What, by the mass, here is a beauty in arms,"

and the brigand gave vent to a wild laugh. Two

of his men had seized the priest, and he was about

to order them to disarm the defiant senorita, when

there suddenly came on the night air from out the

dark pass, the wild echoes of horse's hoofs, accom-

panied by a hoarse cr}- , and next moment, like a

meteor there shot forth into the valley a single

horseman, leaving a trail of sparks behind him.

Another hoarse cry, and he was among the brigands.

Bang! Bang! went a pair of pistols. Two

flashes accompanied the reports, and an outlaw

fell. Then there flashed in the faint glow of the

firelight a bright sabre, cutting right and left,

until the terrified guerillas, unable longer to with-

stand the storm of this single man's assault, wheeled

about and fled. Morillo, clinging to one side of

his horse, fled for clear life down the valley, his

followers scattered in every direction. Four of

them were left lying on the ground. One dead

and three placed hors du combat.

The new arrival was the Mexican brother, who,
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leaping from his reeking steed, seized his fainting

sister in his arms and bore her to a spring where

he bathed her face until she recovered. By this

time some of the female attendants crept from the

carriages, and the frightened peons, returning, re-

leased Father Agatone.

Pietro, quite crestfallen, picked up his carbine,

which he had not even discharged, and began to

boast once more what he would do should the

enemy come in sight, when the good priest ordered

him to keep silent.

" You cowardly knave, you deserved to be

scourged!" said Father Agatone.



CHAPTER XII.

NEWS FROM THE RUNAWAY.

For the present it will be necessary to the har-

monious development of our story to take a short

adieu of our friends in Mexico and return once

more to the peaceful scenes in Boone County,

Kentucky. There were many anxious mothers

and fathers in Boone County who read the war

news in the Louisville papers with avidity. Cap-

tain Arthur Stevens' company had been raised

chiefly from Boone County, as the reader is aware,

and there was scarce a family in the entire county

who had not some relative or acquaintance, with

Taylor first, and then with Scott, for whom they

felt the keenest anxiety.

Dr. Trunnels was greatly interested in the war

with Mexico. When not busy making sick calls

he rode over to the home of Mr. Stevens almost

every evening and held long discourses with him

on the subject, usually branching off on the depre-

dations of the abolitionists whom he declared

would surely take every " nigger" out of Boone

County.

251
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" You have never heard from your man John,

have you, Major Stevens?" he asked one evening

while at the home of Arthur's father.

" No, " answered the major.

"And you never will," sighed Dr. Trunnels.

"I feel sorry for you, major, yet you must not

blame me.

"

" I do not, doctor.

"

" I warned you. I advised you to sell the ras-

cal. None of them can be trusted; they maybe
devoted to you now, while you are their master and

have power to flog them, even though you don't:

but let the black rascals have a chance, and they

will turn the tables and become your masters."

Major Stevens could say nothing. He had told

the doctor that he would risk his purse, his

wealth, his life with John, and yet John had run

away.

" Major, why don't you sell your niggers?"

asked the doctor.

" I cannot, doctor, I cannot part with the faithful

creatures.

"

"Faithful creatures!" hissed the doctor angril}7
.

" Faithful devils, you had better say. There is

no dependence to be put in them. The best of

them will run away."
" Doctor, tell me why you own no slaves your-

self?"' asked the major.
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" Because I know they would slip through my

lingers; they would escape."

" But not owning any, why do you hate them?

for I believe you are a negro hater.

"

An expression of pain swept over the doctor's

face, and for a moment he was silent. Dr. Trun-

nels had once been a handsome man ; but the evil

passions which he had of late years indulged so

freely had transformed his features, until he was

almost ugly. After a few moments' silence he

said

:

" Major, painful subjects should be avoided,

especially when they lacerate the heart, as this

one does. I had almost begged you to spare me

this; but my conduct has been so strange, I know

it needs some explanation. With your religious

views, I know you would teach forgiveness and

love instead of hate, but there are cases which

your religion does not reach. Yes, I see the ex-

pression on your face, but I am an unbeliever, an

infidel, so let us not argue questions of theology,

but hasten on to the story, which I assure you is

by no means a pleasant one. I am a native, as

you are aware, of Virginia. There were but two

of us, myself and a sister five years older. I lost

my mother in infancy and was never loved by any

one save my sister. I saw little of my father,

who was a trader in slaves and spent most of his
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time away from Lome. My sister married when I

was but eleven. Father did not approve the

match, for her husband was a poor fellow, with

only a small plantation which he partially worked

himself, aided by a few slaves; but I loved my
sister, and her husband was a good man. She

had two bright little children, a little girl and a

boy, one five and the other three years of age.

" There was talk of negro insurrections ; some

did kill their masters, and runaway negroes com-

mitted the most horrible depredations. There was

a vicious negro from one of the lower counties,

named Big Casey, who was induced by some of

the abolitionists to run away, even if he had to

murder his master. Big Casey killed the over-

seer and escaped to the woods. My sister's hum-

ble little home was situated at the edge of a dense

wood, which came almost to the door, and those

bright little children often made the dark wood

their playground.

" One day, while at the spring near the house,

Big Casey, who was hiding from his pursuers,

came upon the children and, filled with the devil,

as all niggers are, he dealt each of them a blow

with his stout club crushing out two sweet little

lives in as many seconds. The blows and a half-

uttered shriek alarmed the mother, who ran to her

little ones in the forest and was met by their mur-
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derer.* His eyes were now gleaming like a sav-

age devil's, and all his barbaric African blood was

on tire. He scented blood and it maddened him

as the scent of it maddens a hungry tiger.

" My poor sister found herself confronted by

this monster and cried

:

" 'Where are my babes?'

" With a burst of demoniac laughter, he seized

her and with a keen knife which he carried stabbed

her again and again, until she fell dead at his

feet. There we found her. A little lame boy,

who had been crouching in the bushes near enough

to see and hear all, told us the terrible story. Big

Casey was chased for many days and committed

other murders, but finally got across into the free

States, and there the abolitionists concealed and

harbored him, with all the 1)1ood and guilt on his

hands. They hurried the black devil across the

State into Canada, where he was a free man, and

for aught I know a respected and honored citizen.

This, major, is only one incident among a thou-

sand where the black savages have been instigated

to murder; but this came near home to me. Run-

away negroes killed my father, but for that there

might be some excuse. Father was a slave-dealer

*In the ante-bellum days runaway negroes were a great

dread. The above incident is the record of an actual event

of a runaway slave.
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and sold niggers. For the murder of my sister

they might claim some excuse, for she was the

daughter of a slave-dealer; but for the murder of

those two helpless children—those precious babes

—

I can never forgive the race. Men, for a like

desolation and murder, have sworn vengeance

against a whole tribe of Indians. Are not the

Indians as humane and honorable and far more

noble than the cursed niggers?"

Here the doctor drove his heel into the ground

with such force that Major Stevens never for a

moment dreamed that he could be acting a part.

A few days after this, Tom Flynn, one of the

most cruel slave-owners in Boone County, a man

who had sold most of his negroes into southern

markets, suddenly discovered that his two remain-

ing slaves had run away. He at once set out to

find them. The slaves had robbed a house near

Anderson's ferry and killed a child to keep her

from informing on them. Her body was found

several days after. The father of the child was a

poor squatter living in a miserable hut, but an

honest man. He searched long for his child alone,

while the whole country turned out to find the

negroes.

Major Stevens, when informed by Flynn of the

disappearance of the negroes, asked if Dr. Trun-

nels had been notified. He had not. The major
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went himself and told the doctor, and never did

he see a more astounded man. The doctor could

hardly speak for several minutes and then said:

"Well, this is strange!"

" Is it any more strange than any other cases,

doctor?"

" No, no, no."

" Let us bring them back."

" We will—we'll hang the infernal abolitionists,

too!"

Then the doctor once more became wild with

enthusiasm, and saddling his horse, headed the

party of searchers and unerringly traced the negroes

to the river.

" They never crossed at Anderson's ferry, that

is sure, " said the doctor.

It was soon ascertained that they had crossed on

a log. A little white boy had seen them on one

dark night. One of them could not swim and he

mounted the log while the other swam across push-

ing him over.

They were in Ohio, and not having the advan-

tage of the underground railroad, they were pur-

sued and overtaken about twenty miles from the

river. The guilty wretches tried to fly ; but Dr.

Trunnels brought his gun to his shoulder and

cried

:

"Halt! don't you run a step, or by I'll

Vol. 11—17
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bore a bole through each of you, that I can run

my fist through."

The trembling wretches fell on their knees and

began to beg for mercy.

" I didn't do it—swar I didn't kill de chile—et

war Jim," said one.

" No, massa, he am lyin'—he done et hisself,"

Jim declared.

" Come here!" cried the doctor, in a firm, stern

tone, keeping the runaways covered with his

deadly rifle. " If you try to run I will kill you

both."

The trembling darkies, bewailing their fate,

crept forward and fell on their knees before the

doctor, who handcuffed them together, and drove

them to Anderson's ferry.

" Don't say Dr. Trunnels never catches runaway

niggers, " said the doctor boastingly, as he brought

the two half-savage barbarians to their master.

The dark hints they had thrown out led to the

finding of the little girl. This aroused the wori-t

blood of the Kentuckians, and the runaways were

lynched under the supervision of Dr. Trunnels

himself.

The active part the doctor had taken in the cap-

ture of the runaways for a long time put a quietus

to a certain rumor that lie was not sincere in his

pretensions and efforts.
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The lynching of the negroes intimidated others

who had thoughts of escaping, and if the " Under-

ground Railroad" men were at work, they did not

accomplish anything for several months.

A meeting of citizens assembled at the school-

house, shortly after the lynching, in which many

incendiary speeches were made. The mob who

had hung the negroes was of course in the ascen-

dency.

Major Stevens, at last gaining the floor, appealed

to the reason of the people. They had laws he

said to punish offenders; murder was a terrible

crime, and the murder of a little child, such as the

negroes had committed, was so heinous as to make

one shudder; but they had strict laws. The cul-

prits deserved death; yet it should have been ad-

ministered by the law. If one took the law into

his own hands in this case he might in any other.

The very act of trampling the established rules of

society under foot was tending toward anarchy.

He was not defending the criminals, for a crime

more heinous than theirs he could not conceive;

but he was defending the law.

After he sat down, Dr. Trunnels rose and re-

plied :

In the abstract Major Stevens was correct.

He meant well by all he said ; but there were ex-

ceptions to all rules, and this was a case where an
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exception would apply. The law was slow in its

course. There were many technical delays and

loopholes made to protect the guilty, rather than

to bring them to justice. While they were wait-

ing for the trial of these victims, their crime would

have been forgotten, and other blacks instigated

to commit murder by the abolitionists. A speedy

retribution would have a wholesome effect upon

the others. If mob law were ever excusable, it

certainly was in this case. Hang the wretches at

once and prevent more crime. Then the doctor

arraigned the abolitionists who were instigating

the negroes to murder their masters, and who were

moially responsible for this offence.

" We know not any night that we close our

eyes, that we will not be murdered before morn-

ing. Oh, that we could lay our hands on some of

those meddlesome cowards of the North,—we

would not wait for the law ; no, we would hang

them higher than Hainan."

And he brought down his fist with a tremen-

dous whack on the teacher's desk, which made

the ink-horn and papers rattle.

Two weeks after this event, Major Stevens went

to the post-office. There was a letter from Arthur,

which told of the terrible battle at Buena Vista

in February, two months before. The letter was

written the second day after the battle when it
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was known that Santa Anna was in full retreat to

San Luis Potosi. It gave a detailed account of

the fight, also of his saving the life of the young

Mexican who had rescued him from the lance of

the Comanche.

As Arthur's letter would contain nothing new

to the reader, we need not give it in detail

;

but by the same mail Major Stevens received a

letter which was a great surprise to him. It was

written in a scrawling, cramped hand, unused to

handling the pen, on a piece of wrapping-paper.

The envelope was rudely constructed of the same

material and sealed with a blue wax. That strange

missive was written with a piece of lead, and was

as follows:
" haverna kuby

"february 10th, 1847

"Dere moster, i tak this chanse to rite yew a letter, i

have to rite slow because if i was seen, and it was known
i rote to you it would cost me my lyfe. I hav bin several

days titin this to yu. i am in kuby a slave, doctor trun-

nels hee come to me ann hee told me i could be free hee

sed he was a abylishonist settin niggers free, directed uv

goddlemity too free slaves, i give him all my muny to

free me an nelly, i would not a dunit but for nelly. She

had a bad moster & i wanted to go with hur. he 6aid we
would go to andersons ferry in covered wagons quakers

with big hats an knee briches wuld tak us in wagins an

keep us. tha did tak us and travil al nite in wagons hiden

us in cellers al da untel we kum to watur whur wus a ship

i wus put on bord ship & chained, beat with a whup. tha

brot us al to kuby an sol us al. doctur trunnels he got the
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muny fur us and he has run of lots ov niggers heer an sold

them.
" mi deer moster ef yu kan doo enything fur me fur god-

sake doo it. coz i wil di heer in a fu months i aint seen

nelly but wunst sins i kum heer. she was then almost ded.

wunt yu kum an tak me horn i wunt never run of nor be

free evun if the Abylishunists want me to : gud bi

"john."

Major Stevens read this badly scrawled letter

half a dozen times before he could make out all its

contents. He sat down on a bench on the veranda

or porch in front of the village post-office and read

it again and again. The major knew that John

could write. Arthur had taught him some of the

rudiments of education ; but the busy planter was

wholly unacquainted with John's chirography,

and he could not say if this was his writing or not.

" So John is in Cuba, it seems," the major said,

folding the letter and putting it in his pocket.

He went thoughtfully to the hitch -rack under the

old oak, where his horse stood and rode slowly

home. Major Stevens was in a quandaiy. If he

believed this letter to be genuine, he must believe

Dr. Trunnels to be an impostor and an outlaw.

He was not in a hurry to accuse any one who

stood so well in society as the doctor did. Reach-

ing home, he turned over the mare to a negro boy,

and went to his wife's room.

"Have you letters from Arthur?" asked Mrs.
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Stevens, her face expressing alarm, for the face of

the planter was grave and serious.

"Yes, mother, Arthur is well and hopeful.

They have fought another great battle, at a place

called Buena Vista and utterly defeated the Mexi-

can army, under Santa Anna."

" Let me see his letter, " cried the mother.

Her husband's face expressed such a look of

seriousness that she feared he was deceiving her,

and she could hardly believe him until she had

read the letter herself, from beginning to end.

When she had done so, she again fixed her eyes

on her husband's face and asked:

" What has gone amiss, Fernando?"

" Nothing, mother," the major answered.

" Why are you so serious?"

He answered her question by asking:

"Could John write?"

"John—what John?"
" Our mulatto boy, who ran away."

" I believe he could."

" Would you know his handwriting?"

" No; Arthur would; but why do you ask?"

"I have a letter purporting to be from him,"

and Major Stevens took from the improvised en-

velope the long strip of wrapping-paper on which

was John's letter. He read it through to his wife

and asked

:
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" What do you think of it?"

She was silent for a few moments as if trying to

form an unbiased decision, and then said:

" I believe it is true.

"

" Morgianna, if this letter be true, Dr. Trunnels

is a scoundrel and a law breaker.

"

Mrs. Stevens made no answer.

" Is there no one who knows John's handwrit-

ing?" the major asked.

" None but Arthur.

"

"And he is in Mexico; we know not when he

will return."

Major Stevens pored over the scribbled sheet

again and again, then said: " I wish I knew if this

be true.

"

"Think well, Fernando," said his wife, "before

you make your decision. Don't you know there

has been a strange mystery all along attached to

Dr. Trunnels?"
" What you say is true, Morgianna. I can't

understand him, that's a fact. Dr. Trunnels is an

enigma, yet he has recaptured negroes that ran

away."
" It may all be a blind."

"So may this letter be a blind," sighed the

major. " I wish Arthur was home."

In his perplexity, the major decided for the

present to let the matter rest. If Dr. Trunnels
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were guilty, he should be punished according to

the laws of the State and to the full extent.

Next day, while giving directions to his field

hands, he heard a voice calling to him from the

front fence, and turning his eyes in that direction

discovered that it was Mr. Warren sitting on his

gray horse.

" Won't you alight and come in, Mr. Warren?"

asked the planter.

"No, thank you, I haven't time," Warren

answered. " As soon as you have set your nig-

gers to work, I want to talk with you a little,

major.

"

"In just a moment I will be through," the

planter answered, and turned to the black band of

laborers, making a great to-do harnessing horses

and mules and looking after ploughs, he said:

" Jim, you and Moses can plough the south quar-

ter field to-day."

"Yes, sah."

"Ike."

"Yes, sah."

"Your collar is too tight, it's choking your

horse.

"

" What must I do, mossa?"
" Loosen it at the top ; unbuckle and let it out

as far as you can.

"

" Yes, mossa.

"
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" Jim, one of your trace chains is too long; you

will make your horse's shoulder sore.

"

The slave shortened the trace. Slaves took

little care how they worked. They exercised no

judgment. "I doan think 'boutnuffin," Jim la-

conically said. " Mossa, he tell me to do de workin'

an' he'll do de thinkin'."

This was a principle followed by most of them,

and when the boon of freedom came, their thinking

faculties were undeveloped.

When the planter had given the last order, and

seen that the harnesses would not gall the horses

and mules, he went to the stiles, where his neigh-

bor still sat on his gray horse tapping the fence

with his cowhide riding-whip.

" Won't you dismount and come in, Mr. War-

ren?"

" No; it is pleasant out here. Have you heard

from Arthur since the battle of Buena Vista?"

" Yes, we had a letter from him yesterday."

" We got one from Tom. I suspect that was

the biggest battle ever fought, from what Tom
says.

"

" Both he and Arthur came out all right, but

George Shaw was killed—poor George," sighed

the major. " Arthur says he was the only one

whom we know that was killed."

" I didn't come to talk with you about that,
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major," said Mr. Warren. "I want to know

what we are to do with the Martins.

"

" Are they making trouble again?"

"Yes; Bill went to Gunpowder last night, got

blind drunk and fired a pistol into the schoolhouse

door as he passed."

" Was any one in the schoolhouse?"

" No; the children had gone home. Then there

are Jane and Kate and Christine Martin, the

shame-faced creatures. I believe we will have to

drive all of them out of the country."

" Whose house do they live in?"

" Some fellow across the creek. I've a mind to

raise a mob and burn them out. Rush Martin

says he'll shoot any man who tries to drive them

out; but no one is afraid of him."

" Rush and Bill are both desperate fellows.

They once tried to drive them out and shot Bill in

the leg.

"

" The strangest thing of all is that Dr. Trunnels

is the friend of these Martins."

"Their friend!"

" Yes, don't it seem a little odd that a man—

a

gentleman of his standing should espouse the cause

of such people?"

" I would hardly have thought it of the doctor:

yet he cannot defend disreputable people. Unless

the Martins mend their ways, they must go.

"
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Mr. Warren answered

:

" I don't like to offend Dr. Trunnels, lie has

been very kind to me and when my niggers ran

away did all he could to help recapture them,

though we never found them."

This remark recalled to the mind of Major

Stevens his letter from John, and he said:

" Mr. Warren, I want to speak to you in confi-

dence about a certain matter.

"

" What is it, major?" asked Mr. Warren.

" I heard from John."

" What! not your colored man John?"

« Yes—John.

"

"Why, how?"
" I had a letter purporting to be from him, and

if it really be from him, there is a wonderful

revelation in it.

"

"What is it?"

" I will bring his letter and read it.

"

Major Stevens went and brought the piece of

wrapping-paper on which were scrawled the lines

with a piece of pointed lead. He read it through

from beginning to end and asked:

" Well, what do you think of it?"

" I think it is all a lie from beginning to end,"

was the unhesitating answer of Mr. Warren.

" Well, I am at a loss to know what object there

could be in the lie.

"
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" Could your John write?"

" Yes.

"

" Do you think that his handwriting?"

" I do uot know, Mr. Warren. I thought John

could write better than that.

"

" Whether John wrote it, or didn't write it,

Major Stevens, it's all an abolition dodge, to throw

us off the right track. Dr. Trunnels has caught

too many runaway niggers and has helped hang

too many abolitionists, for me to believe him a

nigger thief.

"

" If Arthur were at home, he would know John's

handwriting.

"

" What difference does it make, whether John

wrote it or not?

" I don't think John would deceive me."

" Wouldn't deceive you ! Didn't he run away ?
"

" Yes "

" Well, any nigger will deceive you; you can't

trust any of them."

" That is true; John did deceive me," returned

the major sadly. " I didn't believe he would run

off."

" The abolitionists had him write that letter to

fix suspicion on Doctor Trunnels, who is so earnest

and successful of late in bringing back runaways,

to throw us off the guard.

"

" Perhaps you are right.

"
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" Have you ever mentioned it to the doctor?"

"No."

"Why?"
" I thought it best not to do so."

" I'd go right to him with it."

"I will."

Next day Dr. Trunnels came to the plantation

of Major Stevens. He looked \ery sad and care-

worn.

" Pardon me, major, " said the doctor, " I know

it isn't right to take my cares and woes to others,

but I cannot help it. I have no wife to sympa-

thize with me, so I must trespass on my friends."

" "What have you to say, doctor?"

" It is this, major: there is poor old Martin,

an inoffensive, helpless old fellow, very indolent

to be sure, and what makes it worse for him, he

has two sons who are drinking, ruffianly sort of

fellows, and three daughters, who are a disgrace to

their sex. But, major, should the innocent be

made to surfer for the guilty? These helpless old

people are threatened with mob violence, if they

do not move out of the country. Because I es-

poused the cause of the helpless old people, I have

aroused the righteous indignation of many of my
neighbors. Major Stevens, I am not understood,

I feel quite sure of it. What would you advise

me to do in this matter? Obey the combined in-
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junctions of reason and conscience, or would you

have me follow the advice prompted by prejudice

of friends?"

" Dr. Trunnels, I cannot advise any one to act

contrary to his judgment and conscience."

" Especially when these instincts are prompted

by humanity.

"

"Yes."

Then the major said he had something to show

the doctor. He went to a secretary and took from

it John's letter, which he handed him to read.

The writing was not very legible and quite diffi-

cult to decipher. The major watched the doctor's

face closely, while he was deciphering the letter.

He changed countenance half a dozen times during

the reading. At one moment he was perplexity,

next dismay, at last doubt and uncertainty. He

read the document through slowly and carefully

three or four times before he spoke, whether it

was to get the sense out of the badly scrawled let-

ter, or to give himself time to collect his faculties

and frame a good defence, the major was not able

to tell. At last, folding the document coolly,

and with a half-sneering smile which did not part

his lips, asked

:

" When did you get that?"

" A few days ago.

"

" Have you the envelope?"
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" Yes.

"

" Does the postmark show that it was mailed

in Cuba?"

"Yes."

He was silent for a few moments when he asked

:

" Can John write ?
"

"Yes."

"Do you think it is his handwriting?" asked

the doctor. He was not the least moved, but was

apparently as unconcerned as if discussing an

ordinary business matter, and wished to get at the

truth.

" I cannot say, doctor, whether it is John's

handwriting or not. No one but Arthur would

know.

"

" Yes ; I have at my house a note written by

John, now that I remember, in which he asked

something about a bee-tree, he had discovered on

my land."

" What is your opinion about the letter, doc-

tor?" asked the major.

" I believe your man John wrote it, " was the

grave, serious answer.

"What?" cried the amazed planter; "do you

admit to it?"

" Not the charges in the letter, major," said the

doctor, with a calm, assuring smile, which almost

convinced Major Stevens that he was the most
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honest and the purest man living. After giving

the doctor a puzzled look, the major said:

" Explain yourself, doctor.

"

" This is the shrewdest, most ingenious scheme

I ever knew. I believe John wrote the letter, for

I think, as near as I can remember, it will corre-

spond with his handwriting. He either took it to

Cuba, or sent it to be mailed to you.

"

" But it is not like John to be guilty of sucli a

deception.

"

" Don't blame John ; it is the plan of some

shrewd abolitionists. Of late we have been suc-

cessful to a remarkable degree in bringing back

runaway negroes. It has become necessary for

them to destroy the influence of Dr. Trunnels."

He fixed his gray eyes on Major Stevens and

seemed the most innocent man living. " Major

Stevens, do you believe that letter?" he asked.

"No."
" I was quite sure you did not, " and with a

harsh muffled laugh at the cunning trick of the

abolitionists, Dr. Trunnels bade the major adieu

and took his departure.
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CHAPTER XIII.

A FKIEND AMONG THE FOES.

For three days after the battle of Buena Vista,

Captain Arthur Stevens was like one in a maze.

It all seemed a horrible dream, a nightmare. He
was disgusted and tired of war. The heroic Chris-

tian conduct of the Mexican women convinced

him that the people he was fighting were not the

brutal, heartless ruffians he had supposed.

In truth, the Americans have never understood

the Mexican people. They have judged the entire

race by the peons, half-breeds and Indians in New
Mexico and Texas. Even with these, they have

been harsh in their judgment. The Mexican or

Greaser of Texas has long been the scapegoat on

whose shoulders were laid the sins of vicious white

men. The Greaser is not without his own faults,

yet he is not so bad as he has been painted.

Captain Stevens could not but feel some anxiety

for the young officer whose life he had saved.

Men are so constituted, as philosophers say, that

they hate those whom they have wronged. If this

274
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be true, it is also true that they like those whom

they have befriended. At any rate, Arthur had

good reason to be solicitous about one who had

saved him from the lance of a savage.

The army Was still lying at Saltillo, when he

learned from one of the Mexican nurses, that a

young captain of lancers was lying at a hacienda

in the mountains, dangerously wounded.

From the description, Captain Stevens came to

the conclusion it must be his unknown and gener-

ous friend. He found One-eyed Mike dressing a

wound his mustang had received on the hip from

a Mexican lance, and asked him if he was ac-

quainted with the hills on the northwest.

"Somewhat, Captain!'' the guide answered,

while his single eye roamed over the person of the

young officer.

" I want to go over there.

"

The old scout, having washed out the wound

thoroughly, gathered the skin together and began

sewing it. Wodin, unaccustomed to the stings of

pain, stamped the ground and flinched to the right

and left ; but the old man went on with his work

as he asked

:

" Why do you want to go over there, captain?"

" To see a friend who saved my life. He is

dying.

"

" Do you mean the young lancer?"
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"Yes."

The old scout and guide shook his shaggy gray

head, as he answered:

"No; he will have the Lest of care. These

Mexican women are not the persons to neglect their

own. Better not risk your life among the hills."

" Nevertheless, Mike, it is my duty to look after

him."

"Very natural."

The old mail put the finishing touches to

Wodin's wound and released the little fellow,

very much to his satisfaction. " He will be well

in a week," said the scout.

" Mike, tell me something of the country over

there?" said Captain Stevens.

" Are you determined to go?"

" I am.

"

" It is a succession of hills and valleys; some of

the valleys arc cultivated, with fine haciendas,

others like the hills are a wilderness of chaparral,

cactus and palms. It's a dangerous place to

travel."

Captain Stevens, with a smile, answered

:

" What is to be feared? The Mexican army

has been driven to San Luis Potosi."

" We don't know how many guerillas are in the

wilderness," and he reminded him of the fate of

Colonel Cross.
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But tlie warning of the guide was of no avail to

Captain Stevens, and two days later, procuring a

short leave of absence and a horse, he hastened to

the distant hills.

Nothing is more deceptive than distance. The

hills which did not seem more than four or five

miles distant were eighteen, and the day was well

nigh spent when he reached the large hacienda

which nestled at the foot of them.

The inmates of the house could not speak a

word of English, and he was compelled to converse

with them mainly l>y signs, for he had picked up

few Spanish words. He, however, made out to

ask them about the wounded senor, and an old

man pointed across the hills. He mounted his

already jaded horse and started along the narrow

pass, riding as rapidly as he dared; for he realized

that night would soon be on him, and even his

stout heart quailed at the thought of passing a

night in that wilderness.

The sun had set, and the mountains, bleak and

gray, were drawing the sable cloak of night about

their heads, when he reached the hacienda to which

he had been directed. He saw a priest at the

door and heard people going softly about within.

The priest, who spoke English quite well, in-

formed him that the senor was dying.

" Could he see him?"
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"Yes."

Softly he entered the hall of death, in which lay

a noble-looking young man. Two monks propped

up his pillows, while a priest, with prayer-book in

one hand, held before his dimming vision the

sacred symbol, that his last expiring gaze might

rest on the emblem of salvation. Another priest

in sacerdotal robes, knelt at the foot of the bed.

his head bowed in his hands, while his lips moved

in prayer.

One glance at the dying man, and Arthur saw

it was not the lancer of the white horse
;
yet he

was enchained to the spot by the scene. The hero

was dying. His breath grew shorter every mo-

ment, and his eye already had the glassy stare of

death. Three or four servants were at the doors

gazing into the apartment where all was silence,

save that awful death rattle more terrible than the

roar of a cannon. In a few moments he passed

away, and Captain Stevens bowed his head and

thought

:

" He was a hero,—he died for his country!"

He turned to go. It was night now and the

mountain pass was bleak and wild. The priest at

the door asked

:

"My son, why did you come so far from your

own army alone? Do you not know your danger?"

" Good father, I have a friend among the enemy,
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one who saved my life. I was told of this dying

man and feared it was he. I came to see him."

" It was folly to risk your life thus."

" Had it been my friend I would have been re-

paid to have held his hand in mine once more,

even had I lost my life."

" Where are you going?"

" Back to Saltillo.

"

"Surely not to-night?"

" Why not? I cannot stay here.

"

The priest's kind face wore a look of deepest

anxiety. Though a Mexican he was a Christian

and looked on all mankind as brothers, and he

knew full well the dangers of a night journey in

the mountains, and, shaking his head, he said:

" It won't do, my son. The country is in an un-

settled state, and it would be death to venture

across the mountains to-night, for the guerillas and

rancheros are in the hills. A league and a half to

the west is a monastery, where you will find four

monks. You will be safe there until morning.

Then return to your friends and venture no more

so far away."

The moon had risen, and the broad, plain road

to the westward, Arthur was told, would lead to

the monastery. He was given some tortillas and

pulque for his supper, and his horse some carrots

and oats, and then he set out on his journey.
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The moonlight streamed on the broad white path,

bordered on each side by shrubbery. Over half

the distance had been traversed, when Arthur was

suddenly startled by the ring of hoofs in his rear.

His cheek grew a little paler ; but his nerves were

steady. Hastily examining the priming of his

pistols to assure himself they were in good condi-

tion, he resolved to sell his life as dearly as possi-

ble, should he be assailed by mountain robbers.

His pursuer came on at an easy canter and seemed

making no effort to overtake him. At this junc-

ture Arthur came to a place where the road forked,

and was puzzled which path to take. The priest

had forgotten to mention this divergence, and

while Arthur was hesitating whether to go to the

right or left, a voice behind him called:

" Quien es f A donde vive, senor f " (Who are

you? Where do you live, sir?)

" No intinde Mexicano, senor!" answered Ar-

thur, summoning up all the Mexican he knew, to

inform the horseman he could not speak the lan-

guage. A moment later he was astonished to find

himself addressed in tolerably fair English.

" So, senor, you are an Americano. Why are

you alone in the mountains?"

" I came to seek a friend among the lancers,

whom I heard was wounded here," Arthur

answered, keeping his hand on the butt of a pistol.
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" Where are you going?"

" To the little monastery. Which of these

roads leads to it?"

The horseman had come closer now, and Arthur,

though he seemed peaceable, kept his hand on his

pistol ready to shoot at the least sign of treachery.

"I think I can mend the ill, senor," said the

stranger. " I am going to my hacienda, come

with me!"

There was something so frank and open in the

man's manner, that Arthur felt that he could trust

him. The night air on the mountains was sharp,

and they galloped along the road for some distance

without a word. Arthur felt sure they had gone

twice the distance to the monastery, and yet they

had not come in sight of it. He was on the point

of declaring he would not go any further, when

the Mexican pointed to a house across some jutting

crags and said:

" We can rest there.

"

" That is not a monastery, " said Arthur.

"No, senor; it is my house. The monastery

be across the chasm, and it be dangerous to go to-

night. Tarry here until daylight, and I be glad

to go with the senor and show him the way."

Arthur did not like the looks of the man, yet

he seemed peaceful and honest. He rode with

him to the front of the house and dismounted.
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The building was of stone and the walls were

massive. Unlike most country houses in Mexico,

this building was two stories in height. He saw

an ox -cart and rude farming implements under a

shed, and tried to persuade himself that the place

was safe. Arthur Stevens was at the mercy of

the Mexican, for in this wilderness he could not

possibly find his way out during the night. He
went with the Mexican to tie the horses under the

shed, and then they entered the house or hacienda.

The apartment was large, though the ceiling was

low. A single tallow dip candle but dimly

lighted the room. Sitting about on the elevation

which ran around the room, was a middle-aged

woman, a handsome young senorita, and two or

three peons, dark and swarthy as Indians. The

Mexican who seemed the owner of the house

spoke some words in Spanish to the Mexican elder

woman, who was " mucho-mucho" avoirdupois,

and supported a mustache and " galways" that

would make many a young fellow envy her hirsute

charms. She rose and growled out some words in

Mexican to the peons and they retired to another

apartment.

All the while the fair senorita with the sad,

dark eyes sat gazing at the pale stranger from the

North. The candle-light showed that the Mexican

had a most villanous-looking face. His black.
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snake-like eyes and sallow complexion surmounted

by coarse hair, with his fierce expression gave to

him a diabolical appearance. About his waist was

a belt supporting a huge pistol and an ugly-looking

machete. Arthur sat in one corner of the apart-

ment caressing the butts of his pistols as his only

friends.

The Mexican spoke some low words to the

senorita, who retired, and a few moments later he

followed her. Then the American was alone in

the apartment, his mind harrowed by many con-

flicting doubts and fears. His fertile imagination

was abundantly stored with accounts of travellers

beguiled into peaceful -looking habitations in the

mountains and murdered. He had read Count

Fathom's adventures and the story of Jonathan

Wild and Jack Sheppard in his boyhood, and this

adventure seemed so like some of them, that his

blood ran cold. He even persuaded himself that

the Mexican had brought him to this house, which

was, perhaps, the rendezvous of a band of robbers,

who would murder him in his sleep. He now saw

with wonderful force the folly of leaving the

American camp, and he asked himself again and

again why he had been guilty of such an act.

"Was it simply gratitude or friendship for the

young lancer of the white horse, or was it rather

the glimpse of the sweet face and those star-like
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eyes of the senorita, which impelled him to make

the journey to the hills? Though Arthur would

not admit it, even to himself, it was the hope of

finding Madelina at the side of her wounded

brother, which inspired him to brave the dangers

of the mountains. Now that all had failed, his

disappointment, embittered by anxiety and dan-

ger, made him desperate.

Harrowed by these apprehensions, he had almost

resolved to quit the hacienda and entrust himself

to the mercies of the howling wilderness as the

least of two evils, when he suddenly became aware

that some one had entered the apartment, and look-

ing up, beheld the pretty senorita; She was com-

ing softly across the room with her finger to her

lips to enjoin silence.

" Senor," she said in a whisper.

He rose, but she motioned him to be seated, and

went on in excellent English:

" Senor, wh}r did you come here? Don't you

know this is a death house?"

" What do you mean?" he asked.

" Sh—not too loud, senor. This is the home
of Pedro Fuero, the mountain robber. He has

only induced you to come that he may murder

you in your sleej)."

Such an announcement could not fail to fill the

breast of Arthur with unspeakable horror. In the
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first transports of dread, he turned liis eyes toward

the door; but the fair seflorita gently laid her

hand on his arm and whispered

:

"It's too late, senor; that avenue of escape is

guarded." Then his heart began to palpitate, his

hair to bristle up, and his knees to tremble. His

thoughts teemed with death and destruction
;

Ins

conscience rose up in judgment against him, and

he underwent a severe paroxysm of dismay and

distraction. His spirits were agitated into a state

of fermentation which produce an inspiration in

desperate men to die as calmly as they go to din-

ner, and, by an impulse that seemed supernatural,

he turned coolly upon the senorita and asked

:

" What would you advise?"

"Do not eat or drink anything while in this

house, for everything is drugged." Arthur was

neither hungry nor thirsty.

" But how am I to escape?"

" Wait. Pedro Fuero is now on guard in front

with his carbine to shoot you if you emerge from

the door. He has sent a peon to his men who are

in the mountains not over two miles away. When

the senora comes and offers you a mug of pulque,

tell her you will take it to your room and drink it

there. She will then show you up the stairway to

a room where you are to sleep. Pour the pulque

upon the floor and hand back the mug to the
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seflora. I will provide a rope, by which you may

climb down from the south window, which is

broken, and I will bring your horse under some

trees not far; mount and ride for your life."

" And you, senorita?"

"Nevermind me, senor; they will never harm

me; I am too useful to them. I never saw one

before, whose life I cared to save; but, senor, I

will save you," she said, her beautiful eyes gleam-

ing with a strange fierceness.

At this moment, the footsteps of the corpulent

seiiora were heard coming, and the senorita again

placed her fingers to her lips to enjoin silence,

darted to a far corner of the room as swiftly and

gracefully as a ballet dancer skims across the stage,

and sank upon the seat. The senora asked the

x\merican in very broken English if he would take

a drink of pulque. He answered that he would

as soon as he was in his room ; he was very sleepy

and wanted to retire. She pointed to the stair-

way, and he ascended, the fat senora following

him, while the senorita disappeared from the

apartment. At the top of the landing, she handed

him the mug, and, entering the apartment, he pre-

tended to drink the liquor, which had a very

pungent odor; but he poured it upon the floor,

handed out the mug and closed the door. By the

aid of a wax taper he surveyed the apartment.
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There was a cot at one side on which were some

skins and a miserable dirty bed. The young

American once more looked to his pistols and then

calmly went to the windows. Both had been

strongly barred with iron; but he found at one of

the windows the bars loosened, so that he was able

to remove them without much difficulty.

Taking a lariat which he found lying on the

floor he tied one end to a solid beam, and threw

the other out of the window. It was long enough

to almost reach the ground. He waited a short

time, listening, then crept to the front part of the

building and looked out. There was Pedro Fuero

squatting behind a cactus, his carbine in his hand,

waiting to shoot him.

Arthur went to the window on the South, and

climbing through the broken bars began to de-

scend by means of the rope. His escape was per-

ilous. The least noise might attract the senora

within, who would notify her husband on the

opposite side of the house, or one of the peons

might come that way and discover him ; then it

would be a death struggle, with chances greatly

against him.

He gained the ground, however, without mishap

and set out for the tree, according to direction,

and found the senorita holding his horse ready

saddled and bridled.
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" Mount, senor and fly. Go to the South
;
you

may thus escape," she said.

"One moment, senorita," said Arthur gazing

into the beautifully sad eyes. "Who are you?

I must know who my deliverer is!"

" No, no, senor; don't ask me to explain; go!"

" But I must know whom to thank.

"

" Thank the Virgin Mary, not me, senor.

Tli ink no more about me, senor. This danger,

this one good act is the only ray of happiness that

has illuminated my dark soul for many years.

Pray do not tarry longer, for you know not these

fiends. Mount and ride to the South for seven

leagues. Go slowly until you are beyond ear-

shot; then put spurs to your horse and fly."

Captain Stevens was constrained to obey the

fair Mexican. He mounted his horse and rode

down the hill toward a mesquite grove. Just be-

fore he plunged into it, out of sight of the fail-

unknown forever, he turned in his saddle and

glanced toward her. She was weeping as if her

heart would break.

Arthur rode on, and the mystery of her life

awaits the final judgment when all thoughts must

be known. Half a mile further he increased the

speed of his horse to a gallop. The animal was

already greatly jaded. Any other than a Mexican

horse would have given out hours before, but
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Arthur managed to put several miles between him

and the enemy before daylight.

When day dawned, he found himself in one of

those lovely valleys common in tropical mountain

countries. Early as the season was, the valley

was covered with verdure on which he allowed his

horse to graze, while the exhausted rider reclined

beneath a tall palm. He had slept none the night

before and despite the dangers by which he knew

himself to be surrounded, he fell into a long and

refreshing sleep. The sun beamed warm upon

the valley, driving away the chill air.

When he awoke, he was astonished to find the

sun almost vertical. He felt a gnawing at his

stomach which reminded him he had failed to

supply its demands. Hungry as he was, lie was

compelled to go without food. There was a sort

of red berry growing on some wild vines, but he

dared not eat of them lest they should turn out to

be the poison toloachi, or some other terrible vege-

table of the tropics, so after slaking his thirst at

a clear, cool spring, he mounted his horse and

rode away.

Had he gone the required distance southward?

he asked himself.

He believed he had, and once more turned his

course toward Saltillo. An hour's riding brought

him to an impassable barrier of rocks and mountain

Vol. 11—19
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walls, and lie was compelled again to turn east-

ward. He held this course until the sun became

obscured by clouds, and lie lost his way, but

continued to wander until night came. Late in

the evening he shot a hare with his pistol, and

kindling a fire broiled part of the meat for supper.

Making a small fire to keep comfortable and at the

same time frighten away the wild beasts, he sat

by it and dozed and slept at intervals through the

long night, while his horse, which was picketed

near him, grazed unmolested.

At early dawn he rekindled the fire, cooked the

remainder of the hare for breakfast, and resumed

his journey. He was now hopelessly lost. The

day was so cloudy, he had no advantage of the

sun, but rode first in one direction and then the

other. The road grew dimmer and dimmer, until

it at last gave out altogether, and he found him-

self in a broken, untraversed wild, from the laby-

rinthian mazes of which it seemed wholly impossi-

ble to extricate himself.

He did not despair, but continued his wandering.

As yet, not a human being "had been seen since

leaving the mountain hacienda.

On the third day he came suddenly upon a

broad path leading from the north and winding

into a valley southwest. He entered the road,

hoping it would take him to some convent, mon-
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astery or hacienda where he might hire a guide

for Saltillo. Again the day was almost spent,

anu he had almost reconciled himself to pass an-

other night in the mountains, when he suddenly

heard the loud clatter of hoofs behind him. Glanc-

ing over his shoulder, he espied a pair of mounted

Mexicans, whom he took for harmless rancheros,

come galloping up toward him.

Notwithstanding they seemed so innocent and

harmless, and scarce took any notice of him what-

ever, he laid his hand on his pistols, determined

not to be taken * by surprise. The horsemen

seemed as if they would gallop by him without

even so much as the customary Mexican saluta-

tion. He drew his horse a little aside and they

went dashing by. Suddenly a lasso came whizzing

through the air with scarcely a perceptible motion

from the Mexican throwing it. Arthur saw it

coming and tried to dodge it; but it was hurled

with wonderful precision, and a motion too quick

for the eye. The noose encircled his head, and

fell over his shoulders in a second, before he could

even draw a pistol, and the guerillas, galloping on

at full speed, jerked the American from his saddle,

hurling him upon the ground with a force that

almost knocked the breath out of his body. He

was dragged almost a hundred yards over the

rough uneven ground, before his captor stopped
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his horse. Then his companion dismounted and

ran to tie the hands of the captive behind his

back.

Gasping for breath and almost insensible, he

was set down at the root of a tree while his captors

talked in the Mexican tongue, not a word of which

Arthur could understand. His head had suffered

a severe contusion from its contact with a stone,

and he was confused in his ideas. He had an in-

distinct idea of other outlaws joining the captors.

He heard the name of Miguel Morillo spoken and

knew that he was the captive of this terrible bri-

gand chief; but Arthur was too much stunned to

feel alarmed.

He was lifted to the back of his own horse and

securely tied to the animal, then with his captors

six or eight in number set out southward at a gal-

lop, every movement producing the most excruci-

ating pain, for, in addition to the contusion on his

head and face, his shoulder was dislocated. At

hist his groans became shrieks, and one of the

Mexicans raised a machete to dispatch him, when

the sharp report of a carbine rang out on the air,

and a bullet shattered the man's arm. With a

veil, he fled, followed by his companions, while

Captain Felipe and some peons dashed up to where

Arthur's horse stood with his insensible master on

his back. The American was removed from the
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saddle and carried a short distance to the Senonta

Madelina's carriage.

" How far is it, Father Agatone?" asked Felipe.

" Not half a league.

"

" Let us get there at once, for the senor may be

worse injured than we suppose."

The carriages rolled away; hut to Arthur all

was a blank.



CHAPTER XIV.

MADELINA.

When Arthur awoke to consciousness, it was

nearly noon. The awakening came slowly, accom-

panied by pain. In all his past life he had never

experienced sach mental and bodily exhaustion as

now oppressed him. Every muscle and tendon

was aching a bitter complaint against the abuse of

the day before. Dull, pulseless pain smoldered

in some; in others it was a keen throb like the

toothache. Continued lying in one position was

unendurable,—changing it a thrill of anguish. His

brain was an aching mass, so that any attempt to

recall who he was, or where he was produced only

pain and confusion. Thinking was torture, for

every organ of thought was bruised and sore
;
yet

by degrees the fearful events of the past few days

continued to crowd themselves upon his mind.

To put them out required a painful effort; to re-

call and comprehend them was worse. Reflecting

upon them now with unstrung nerves made them

seem a hundredfold worse; for all was a confused

294
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mass of horrible visions, a terrible nightmare, in

which Buena Vista, a dying hero, cowled priests,

the hacienda, mountain robbers, and a soft-eyed

senorita mingled in a heterogeneous mass. At last,

by a stupendous effort and with the most excruci-

ating pain, he threw off the feeling and slowly

regained consciousness.

He was lying on a bed or cot, soft, downy,

clean and white as the virgin snow on the distant

mountain peak. Sunny peace and contentment

reigned. The door stood wide open, and, as it

faced the South, the noonday sun pushed in

—

clear to the opposite wall—a broad band of mellow

light, vividly telling of the glory he was shedding

where roof nor shade checked his genial glow.

On the smooth, hard floor, in the centre of this

bright zone, sat a motherly cat, giving with tongue

and paw dainty, finishing touches to her morning

toilet; at the same time watching with pride a

pair of kittens playing at hide and seek in the

door.

The softest sounds were borne by the balmy air

to the room, which was fragrant with tropical

flowers. The old Mexican passion for flowers

seemed to have reached its climax in this house,

hacienda, chapel or convent, or whatever it might

be. The view from the doorway was a grand one.

It was a picture set in that frame of white stone
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such as no artist ever painted. Far off to the

South were distant mountain peaks, whose blue

tops seeming to pierce the rain clouds, were capped

with eternal snow. Lying between the mountain

ranges and the door, were miles on miles of green

valleys, sparkling cascades, deep forests, palms,

cactus, mesquite and the ever useful maguey plant,

which grows alike on the richest soil or most bar-

ren plain. The scenery was interspersed with

crags, peaks, and delightful shady glens. The

whole country save the mountain peaks, was

densely covered with verdure. As yet he had

seen no living object save the cats and some large

birds soaring in the distance. He had not seen a

single human being, though at last there came on

the air a masculine voice singing in a not unmusi-

cal tone:
" Sabe que es pulque

—

Licor divino?

Lo beben los angeles

En vez de vino." *

When the singer ceased his wild carol, Arthur

hoped to get sight of him, for there was something

strange and enchanting in his voice. He was not

disappointed, for in a few moments there appeared

* Know ye not pulque

—

That liquor divine?

Angels in heaven

Prefer it to wine.
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at the door one of the strangest, weirdest-looking

human beings lie had ever seen. It was an old

man, filthy beyond description, barefooted, bare-

headed, clad in scanty rags that left breast and

limbs uncovered; yet he had a refined grace of

politeness characteristic of a Castilian, while his

face, still handsome, betrayed the fact that it once

possessed more than ordinary intelligence. Under

his arm he had a bundle of rags and papers, which

he had gathered from the by-ways, and as he

paused at the door and gazed on the invalid he

murmured the characteristic " por Dios!" of the

Mexican beggar, while he extended his hand for

a favor.

Arthur made an effort to answer him, but was

unable to do so; and the harmless lunatic, seeing

his condition, said

:

" Pardonez me, senor!" and went away.

He had been gone but a few moments, when

the door was again darkened, and this time, to

Arthur's joy, he saw the captain of the white

horse.

" Good morning, senor, " he said with a glad

smile on his face. Arthur made an effort to

answer, to take his hand ; but the room was rock-

ing and his voice failed him. Everything was

again swimming before his eyes, and he was in a

moment unconscious. His swoon was a slight one.
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In a moment lie was again conscious and realized

that there was another in the room besides the

young lancer. An old Mexican doctor, with a

pair of goggle-eyed spectacles, was at his side, and

felt his pulse, temples and feet, grunted profes-

sionally and made his diagnosis in Mexican, which

Arthur could not understand, then said:

" Caraja! Tres dies y noches !
"

He made this out to mean that he would be

better in .three days and nights ; but his knowledge

of Mexican was limited. If that was the opinion

of the old Mexican, it was correct, for on the third

day Arthur was vastly improved. His illness

was not so much from injury as from long expo-

sure, fatigue and loss of sleep, which all combined

to prostrate his nervous system, so that when he

was assailed by the guerillas he broke down under

the shock.

The fourth day, he was able to sit up and talk

with the young captain, who told him how he had

found him by the merest accident in the moun-

tains, and rescued him from the bandits. That

he had just rescued his sister from the gang a few

hours before, as she was going south to Puebla,

and had brought her to the monastery.

" Are we at a monastery?" Arthur asked.

" Yes, senor, a monastery and the mission of

the Sacred Heart.

"
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" Is your sister here?"

" Yes, senor.

"

Arthur's cheek flushed with inexpressible joy.

He was uuable to explain even to himself why he

should be delighted to find himself under the same

roof with the sister of his young friend. He had

caught but a passing glimpse of her face and had

only an indistinct idea of a perfect contour and

great, soft, dark eyes; yet to him it was loveliness.

He was about to speak, when he again heard

the voice of the wretched old man singing his fa-

vorite air:

" Sabe que es pulque

—

Licordivino?" etc.

A moment later he glanced in at the door and,

extending one miserable hand, whined

:

"PorDios!"

Captain Felipe answered him in the Mexican

tongue, went to another apartment and brought

him a handful of rags and scraps of paper, with

some bits of bread and cold tortillas. The odd

old man was quite profuse in his thanks, more

especially for the rags and paper than for the food.

Adding the former to his already large bundle he

went away singing.

Captain Felipe watched the old fellow for a few

moments and, returning to Arthur's side, said:

" Poor old Antonio ; he is worthy of compassion. "
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" Does lie live here?"

" He lives everywhere. That bundle of rags

and paper and his dog are his only property. He
usually sleeps in the chaparral or under some

sheep shed.

"

"Is he a lunatic?"

" Yes, senor.

"

Before he could ask more, the Mexican doctor,

accompanied by Father Agatone and one of the

monks entered. The priest said in English:

" I am pleased to find you so much improved.

"

"Thank you, good father," Arthur feebly an-

swered. " Have you forgotten I am your enemy?"

The priest with a smile on his face answered:

" Nay, my son, I never knew it; you are one of

God's creatures and God is no respecter of persons,

we care alike for friends and foes!"

Arthur took his hand while tears started to his

eyes, as he muttered:

" Grand, noble Christian!"

The doctor, exercising his authority, hushed

every one and proceeded to examine his patient,

and dish out more of his nostrums, talking all the

while in the Mexican tongue.

The priest, acting as translator, told Arthur he

must be quiet ; he administered a dose of medicine,

which had the effect of an opiate, for he was soon

dozing. Then, sleeping and dreaming, or half
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awake and half asleep he could not tell which, he

was conscious of a great cloud of blue mist over-

spreading him like a canopy, and through this ap-

peared the sweetest face he had ever gazed upon.

The voice, when she spoke, was music itself. He
did not fully wake until late next day, yet all

through the night he was conscious of the face

hovering over him.

When he awoke, it was gone, yet he knew it

had been a realit}r
. He was very much better this

morning. Felipe came in sat at his bedside and

talked with him about his return to the American

army.

" Is Taylor still at Saltillo?" he asked.

"Yes."
" I had orders to join Scott at Vera Cruz.

"

At this, he noticed his friend start. For a

moment he was silent and then with a sigh said:

" So, sefior, you Americans intend to invade

from the South."

"Yes; but let us not talk of that, captain.

Personally, we are friends,—nationally, enemies-

Was I very ill last night?"

"Slightly delirious."

" Were you with me?"
" All the time.

"

" You were not alone?"

"No."
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" Where is she? "Was she your sister?"

" Yes, sefior.

"

'' The one I granted the escort to from Monterey ?
"

" The same, senor."

He expressed a wish to meet her, and the

brother said that Madelina would come and sit by

his side that evening, while he went down the

mountain to reconnoitre.

"Is there danger, captain? Are the Americans

coming into the mountains?"

" No, senor ; there is no danger from the Ameri-

cans. We have the guerillas and brigands to fear

more than the invaders just now."

Arthur had little dread of guerillas. His mind

was too full of the anticipated pleasure of meeting

with the beautiful Madelina to think or care about

guerillas.

Arthur was given some nourishing food, cooked

to suit his American taste by a skilled hand,

which he conjectured was the diamond-eyed seno-

rita. The rice and milk were not only palatable,

but wholesome and nourishing. He felt so much

stronger he wanted to rise, dress and walk about;

but Father Agatone would not permit it. Ac-

cording to the doctor's instructions, he was to re-

main another day at least in bed.

Though he chafed under the ordef, when he

heard the sound of a musical voice in an adjoining
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apartment and instinctively knew it was the seno-

rita, lie was partially repaid for his forced confine-

ment. Captain Felipe and Father Agatone had

gone away suddenly and mysteriously. He lis-

tened to a voice. Now he heard her talking in

the gentlest, softest rippling music of her beautiful

native tongue, giving some orders to the peons.

Then she was heard on the veranda, then in the

hallway,—a whisper of soft robes and she was

present. He knew,—he felt her presence, even

before he raised his eyes to meet the face of one of

whose beauty he had dreamed.

" Is the Senor Americano better?" she asked in

excellent English, coming and taking his hand.

" I am; Seilorita Madelina, is it not?"

" It is, senor.
"

" Your brother is Captain Felipe?"

" He is, senor," and he thought he observed a

glow of pride at the mention of her brother.

" He has gone away and left me?"
" I will sit with you, senor, until my brother

returns.

"

" Thank you, senorita—you are very kind."

" I would be guilty of the basest ingratitude

were I not, for you saved my brother's life at

Buena Vista."

" In that, senorita, I but repaid a debt I owed

him. He saved me from the lance of a Comanche.

"
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She looked at him steadfastly for a moment and

asked:

" Senor, had he not saved your life, had he been

an utter stranger, would you have permitted your

bar—pardon, sefior—soldiers to slay him?'
1

"No, senorita, I don't believe I would. All

soldiers are more or less barbarous, and in a battle

there is little time for reason or humanity; but

still I believe, even had he been an utter stranger,

I would have done all I could to save his life. I

hope I would.

"

" Thank you, senor.

"

" Do you know whither your brother is gone?"

" Down the canyon. There is a rumor that the

guerillas are concentrating under Miguel Morillo

to attack this monastery."

" Have they no respect for sacred places?"

" None, senor. They are as dangerous to Mexi-

cans as Americans. Morillo is a personal enemy

to us, which makes him more dangerous."

" Morillo? I have heard of him, I believe.

Was he not in Texas?"
" He was one of the chief agitators in the Texan

trouble, was Santa Anna's guide at the Alamo

and in the fight and massacre of Fannin's men."
" I would not think Santa Anna would trust

a man so unscrupulous.

"

The senorita's face flushed as she answered.
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" Senor, you do not understand the Mexicans.

There is too much ambition and too little patriot-

ism among them. When your people gained their

independence, they entrusted the reins of govern-

ment to safe patriots whose judgment was equal to

their patriotism. They loved their country more

than themselves. When Mexico threw off the

Spanish yoke, it became a quarrel among her pa-

triots who should be greatest. There is too much

devotion to self and too little to the nation. Oui

people are brave, but not united."

"I can attest to their bravery, senorita," said

Arthur.

" Let us not talk of Mexico, " she said at last.

" It is a painful subject ; let us talk of your home.

"

"My home?"
" Yes, senor.

"

" Would it be interesting to you?"
" It would; have you a father?"

" I have, senorita.

"

" And a mother?"

" I have.

"

" When did they hear from you?"
" I wrote them a letter just before setting out

from Saltillo.

"

" They have not received the letter yet."

" No, and will not for some weeks.

"

" Your mother's anxiety must be very great."

Vol. 11—20
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" No doubt it is; yet what care ambitious gen-

erals or politicians for the anxiety of mothers?"

" Nothing. I have travelled in the United

States. I was in New York, St. Louis and New

Orleans. It is a great nation, and," heaving a

sigh, " I greatly fear our people cannot resist the

Americans; there are too many of them, and they

never tire.

"

Arthur made no answer. He could not wish

disaster to befall the arms of his country, nor could

he express to the senorita a hope that her country-

men would be defeated. They did not discuss the

causes of the war, or the rights of either parties.

Eight is right, and war as often enthrones wrong

as it replaces right. Though to Arthur the over-

throw of the Mexicans was inevitable, still he felt

that the result would not settle the question of

riffht Since he had met and conversed with the

senorita, he could not refrain from asking himself

why he was fighting the Mexicans. What cause

had he to quarrel with them? They had never

invaded American soil. If Houston and Austin

saw fit to plant colonies in the territory claimed

by Mexico, should they not be left to fight their

own battles? To him it had the appearance of a

gigantic swindle to rob Mexico of a large part of

her territory.

He was still indulging these painful thoughts,
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when he heard the voice of the beggar Antonio

singing a snatch of Italian opera. The beggar he

knew was coming, and in a moment he appeared

with a large bundle of rags and scraps of paper

under his arm. There was a smile on his still

somewhat handsome face, as, extending one hand

toward Madelina, he whispered:

" Por Dios, senorita!"

The senorita was expecting him and had pre-

pared a small bundle of rags and papers which she

gave him. He never entered the door, but always

stood respectfully without, his dog at his side.

No beggar in Mexico is ever without his dog.

The senorita asked him if he would not have

some tortillas and alboiidigas, or stuffed red peppers.

He thanked her kindly, he would, and receiving the

food went away singing his favorite songs. When
he was gone, the senorita returned to her seat by

the side of the wounded captain. Arthur asked:

" Who is that unfortunate man?"
" He is called Antonio.

"

"Insane?"
" Yes, senor, he was made to drink of the poison

toloachi.
"

" Does it produce death?"

"No, worse than that; it acts immediately on

the brain, producing at first violent madness and

then hopeless idiocy."
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" Who did this, senorita? Who was so cruel as

to give him this poison?"

" It is a sad story, senor, but if you would like

to hear it, I will tell it to you."

" I should very much like to hear it, senorita."

The senorita was doing some light fancy work,

with which Mexican women amuse themselves,

while she gathered up the threads of the story she

wished to tell.

" It has been a long time since I first heard it,

senor," she began, "for, though I never saw An-

tonio until within the last week, I have known

his sad story many years. He is a native of Mon-

terey and was highly educated at the college of

Mexico and gave promise of being one of the great

men of the nation ;
but long ago he went to Texas.

The Americans were coining into the country and

settling there, and among them a family named

Blunt from some of the eastern States. They had

once been wealthy, so the story goes, but had met

rhanges of fortune and came to Texas in the early

days, with Austin. Antonio met the daughter of

Senor George Blunt. Her name was Caroline, and

he became desperately enamored of her. At the

same time, Miguel Morillo, the half-breed guerilla,

met the American senorita, and was in love with

her. She rejected the half-breed, but looked with

favor on the suit of Antonio, who was honest, in-
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telligent and brave. Some say they were be-

trothed; but I doubt the truth of that part of the

story, though there is every reason to believe she

was" favorably impressed with the Mexican.

" Your American women are slow to make then-

choice of a husband, and while she might have ex-

pressed a preference, still their vows probably were

not plighted. Antonio was not only handsome,

intelligent, highly educated and brave, but im-

mensely rich, for at that time he owned thousands

of acres of land on the Nueces River, on which

grazed thousands of cattle. It was while on a

visit to these possessions, he by accident met the

daughter of George Blunt.

" Antonio was called to Monterey by a myste-

rious and deceitful letter, penned no doubt by

Morillo himself. Morillo is an educated man,

which enables him to carry out his villany. His

mother was an Indian and his father a Spanish

captain in the regular army, who had his son

Miguel educated in Spain. From his Indian

mother he learned of the terrible toloachi. A few

drops of the tasteless juice of this harmless -look-

ing plant, which resembles the milkweed in

America, mixed with pulque, wine or food, does

its diabolical work with inexorable certainty, and

it cannot be detected save in its effects.

"It is said that Antonio, before leaving the
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beautiful Caroline Blunt to go to Monterey, told

her he would return in a fortnight as he had much
to say. Caroline was making herself a new frock,

and he begged her for some of the waste pieces

which he put in his pocket before setting out for

Monterey. At Monterey he met with a hired tool

of Miguel Morillo, an American named Giles, who
for two hundred doubloons agreed to do the dia-

bolical work. He was a shrewd man and told

Antonio he had come to purchase lands in Mexico

or Texas and wanted to procure some from him.

In the course of the evening he had drawn Antonio

into a public house, where he asked him to take a

drink of pulque with him.

" Then he produced the poisoned phial which

Morillo had prepared for him. From an arbor of

flowers, through an open casement, the hateful

Morillo watched him pour the fatal drug in An-
tonio's goblet, and as they quaffed their bumpers,

he was in glee. The effects were soon to be seen.

At first it was thought Antonio was only drunk;

but next day and next week showed that he grew

worse and worse, and every one began to suspect

that he had drunk the fatal toloachi. He was

hopelessly insane, and ever since has wandered

about the country gathering up bits of rags and

paper, prizing them as of more value than so many
diamonds. He often talks of going across the Rio
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Grande with his treasures to Caroline, for he

imagines that he is gathering them for her. You

perhaps ask why the man who caused his woe was

never punished? He had escaped before suspicion

had become a conviction, and as for Morillo, from

his complicity in the awful affair, he fled to the

mountains, then the frontier, where he has ever

since been at the head of a band of desperate men,

soldiers in war and robbers in peace. That is the

story, senor, so far as I know it."

" But, senorita, did you never learn what be-

came of the fair Caroline on the Nueces?"
" True, I had forgotten that part; her fate was

even more tragical than Antonio's. It is said that

one year after Antonio became insane, a former

lover came from the States and married Caroline.

He was poor but manly, brave and strong. He

built them a little home in the forest and was

happy. They had four fair, bright children. In

an evil hour, Morillo learned of their happiness

and, with a band of half-breed cut-throats, joined

a party of Comanches and, during the father's

absence one day, swooped down upon the little

home— this part of the story is too terrible,—don't

ask me to tell it.

"

The senorita covered her face with her hands

and for a long time was silent, and then said, " I

know something of the truth of that part of the
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story, we were in Texas when it happened ; but

do not recall it, senor."

An hour before sunset, Captain Felipe and

Father Agatone returned. There was an anxious,

careworn look about the face of each. Arthur

knew they had some bad news. He arose, dressed

himself and went out on the veranda, where the

young Mexican and a group of half-frightened

peons were.

"Senor, I fear you are doing too much," said

Felipe.

" I assure you I am better, I believe the open

air will do me good. You have news?"
" Yes, senor.

"

"It is not good."

" You are correct, senor. The guerillas have

assembled in the mountains and are not five leagues

away, a hundred strong."

" That is alarming.

"

" It is, senor, and we have no soldiers nearer

than San Luis Potosi."

" How far are we from Saltillo?"

" It is fully as far to Taylor as to Santa Anna."
" Of course you prefer going to your friends'/"

said Arthur with a smile.

"Certainly, senor; but you shall return to the

American army. Your coming was an act of

friendship and charity, you shall not suffer by it.
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If we escape the guerillas, you can return without

parole.

"

The doctor came along at this moment and de-

clared that Arthur must go to bed. He went to

his apartments leaving Felipe, the peons, doctor

and Father Agatone with the monks discussing

flight and defence. They put the monastery in a

state of defence for the night, and as soon as morn-

ing came began to get ready to leave. All the

gold candlesticks, images, and crucifixes of the

little chapel, were placed in Father Agatone's car-

riage, and the other things that could be moved

were loaded in carts by the servants. They had

fifteen male servants armed with carbines. Arthur

declared himself well enough to take part in the

defence, and Father Agatone, though a man of

peace, declared he would smite the guerillas him-

self.

It was noon before all were ready to begin the

retreat for San Luis Potosi. In the hurry of de-

parture, poor old Antonio the beggar had been for-

gotten. On that morning Antonio had failed to

put in an appearance, and every one supposed he

had strolled away to another part of the mountains.

Only two miles from the monastery, some of the

peons who were in the advance discovered him at

the roadside, his poor gray head thrown backward

among the flowers, the pitiful bundle still clasped
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in his stiffened arms. He was stone dead! He

bad come to bis death by violence, for he bad a

pistol bullet in the region of his heart. His faith-

ful dog lay near him, stabbed and hacked to death

by machetes. Felipe gazed on the scene a moment

and then muttered:

" Caraja! the devils are at their work. Miguel

Morillo has ended his vengeance at last."

Imminent as the danger was, the good fathers

insisted on halting an hour to give Antonio Chris-

tian burial, and vowed to say masses for his soul.

They hurriedly anointed his body while the

peons dug his grave, then knelt and prayed.

A rude wooden cross was left to mark the spot

where the unfortunate man slept.

Then the party went on. It was growing late,

when, as they neared 'the mountain pass, Pietro

and Juan, who had ridden ahead as they vowed to

clear the path of the enemy, should they be so for-

tunate as to find them, came galloping back as

rapidly as their horses could bring them.

" What is the matter?" asked Felipe.

They informed him that the guerillas were

strongly posted in a pass not more than a mile

away. Felipe and Arthur rode ahead to reconnoi-

tre and found the statement correct. The carriages

and carts came up and the party halted for consul-

tation in a small valley. Suddenly wild shouts in
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their rear announced an enemy there. Affairs had

assumed a desperate appearance. Arthur knew
that the peons could not be relied upon, and that

Felipe and the priests, who seldom make good war-

riors, with himself would stand but small show

against those warlike mountaineers. Suddenly

Morillo with a white handkerchief rode forward to

within a pistol-shot of where the travellers were,

and said

:

" You are surrounded by a hundred brave men
;

you can't escape, and if you resist, you shall every

one be killed. Will you surrender?"

Felipe wanted to know on what terms they were

to surrender. The guerilla said at his own terms.

The sun was setting, and while Felipe was parley-

ing with the brigand chief, Arthur had the carts

and carriages parked, or formed in a hollow square

in the valley and the horses and oxen tethered just

on the outside. A camp fire was built in the mid-

dle of the camp, and sentries set to watch the

camp.

Felipe continued to parley until dark, and then

asked a delay until morning and entered the camp
where the monks, priests, Arthur, Mexican women
and peons were. The young Mexican captain sur-

veyed the disposition of the camp with admiration,

and turning to Arthur said

:

" You are a military genius, senor.

"
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" Did you accomplish anything with that

fellow?"

" He has agreed to wait till morning.''

"Will he do it?"

" No; his word is worth no more than the whis-

tle of the wind through the pines. He will attack

us at any moment he thinks he can do so safely.

"



CHAPTER XV.

REUNITED AFTER TWO HUNDRED AND EIGHTY-

FIVE YEARS.

In all his army experience, even while lying on

the frozen ground at Buena Vista, Arthur never

passed such a night as the one in the valley. It

was very dark, a cold rain began to fall, and the

men were soon wet to the skin. The two carriages,

which had covered tops, were given up to the

women.

Arthur had not fully recovered from the fever,

and being still weak he was soon chilled by the

cold mountain air and drizzling rain. The con-

stant strain on his nervous system was trying.

There was no sleeping that night by any one. All

understood that an attack was expected at any

moment, and even the Senorita Madelina sat, wide

awake in her carriage, holding in her hand the

silver dagger her brother had given her. At her

feet sat her two maids alternately weeping and

wringing their hands, and counting their beads.

The fire was put out shortly after dark as it

317
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would be a beacon light to direct the enemy.

Arthur stood most of the night by the side of his

sleepy horse, dripping with water, shivering and

aching in every bone and nerve.

" Senor, this is trying on you!" said Captain

Estevan.

" I wish they would come and have it over

with!" he answered. .

" That is like you Americans; you are always

ready to take desperate chances.

"

" If I only had one dozen of my Kentucky rifle-

men here, I would laugh at twice as many guerillas

by day or night, " said Arthur.

"I wish you had them, senor," said the Mexi-

can. "I care not for my own fate, but my sister

—mother of Jesus ! I dare not think of her—

I

will go mad !"

" Captain Felipe, I am weak,—unable to do

much, but I will yield my life defending her before

a hand of the guerilla shall touch her.

"

" Thank you; may the saints bless you!"

Captain Stevens had never seen the young lancer

so greatly excited before. Partially realizing his

anxiety for Madelina he could understand his

agitation. Often during that long night which

seemed to have no end, he heard him mutter:

"Oh, that she was in Puebla! Oh, that she

was at home!"
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About midnight as near as they could determine,

there came a report from a peon on picket duty

that the guerillas were advancing.

" From which side?" asked Felipe.

" From every side, senor.

"

" Caromba ! Va maladitto, " hissed Pietro at this

moment running against a burro tied to one of the

carts.

The men were all drawn within the enclosures

made by the vehicles and animals, and waited for

full two hours with cocked carbines; but the

threatened attack proved a false alarm for no gue-

rillas made their appearance. The long night

wore slowly away, and day began at last to dawn.

Could it be, after all, that Morillo was going to

keep faith with them?

The band of shivering wretches watched the

pass, the bluffs, and every point from which an at-

tack would be possible; but day broadened, night

fled, and yet not a guerilla made his appearance.

Captain Estevan turned his eyes anxiously

toward the dread pass, from which he expected

every moment a discharge of carbines, but the

pass was silent. Not a living being could be seen

save a broad-winged vulture soaring aloft above

the tallest crag, on the mountain side.

"Where can they be?" asked the young

Mexican.
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As the sun rose and still they made no appear-

ance, he determined to ride down to the pass and

reconnoitre. Arthur's head was aching and he sat

shivering over a fire Pietro had kindled, caring

very little for surrounding difficulties. Felipe

rode down to the pass. Not a guerilla was in

sight. He passed on through it.

They were gone !

A thorough search proved that they were no-

where to be seen; they had stolen away during

the night, leaving the mountain pass and neigh-

borhood. "This is extraordinary," thought the

Mexican captain.

He returned to the camp to hurry up his people,

when suddenly the blast of a bugle smote his ears,

and then came a tramp of horses.

Arthur, though freezing with ague and burning

with fever, sprang to his feet, waved his hat and

uttered a shout of joy, as twenty-five mounted

blue-coats rode through the pass and galloped up

to their camp. It proved to be a party under

Lieutenant Warren sent out to search for the miss-

ing captain, and nearly all of them were of his

own company.
" Begorra, here's the boss himsilf wid the hay-

thin, bad luck tothim!" cried the impulsive Pat

McKune, riding up with his musket slung over

his back.
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" Surrender, or we will cut you to pieces," cried

Lieutenant Warren to Felipe, for the lieutenant

was under the impression that Arthur was a

prisoner.

"Hold, Lieutenant Warren," cried Arthur.

" These people are my friends. They saved my

life and must be free to come and go as they

please.

"

" Very well, captain. That is a horse of an-

other color, " returned the Kentuckian. "But

what's the matter? You look' sick."

"lam."
" Why are you here?"

" This gentleman," laying his hand on Felipe's

arm, "will tell you all. I am burning with a

fever.

"

Arthiir went to the fire and Madelina, seeing his

condition, insisted that he should get into her car-

riage which he did. Felipe explained to the lieu-

tenant the circumstances under which he had met

Arthur the last time, and told of the expected at-

tack from the guerillas, whom they found at the

pass, but who mysteriously disappeared during

the night. When the lieutenant explained that

his party had come up about ten o'clock in the

night to the opposite side of the pass, and gone

into camp, it threw some light on the sudden

stealing away of the guerillas. Being naturally

Vol. 11—21
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cowardly, they would not dare attack the camp

with twenty-five Americans within hearing of their

carbines.

It now became a serious question what should

be done with Arthur. The Mexican doctor said

there was a relapse of the fever, and declared he

could not go as far as Saltillo, for three days. He
must have rest. Beyond the mountains not more

than a league, Felipe said there was a large ha-

cienda where the sick man could remain until he

was able to travel, and the senorita offered to share

her carriage with him to the hacienda.

This was the best that could be done, so the

party set out, Arthur, Madelina and the doctor

occupying the senorita 's carriage. "When the

house was reached, the sick man was soon lying

on a bed sleeping under the effects of a soothing

potion administered by the old Mexican M. D.

The doctor being a graduate of the university of

medicine at Seville in Spain, was one of the ablest

physicians of his time. For one day Senorita

Madelina remained at the hacienda; then an op-

portunity presented itself for her to have a safe

escort direct to Puebla, and her brother sent her,

while he lingered behind. Lieutenant Warren

detailed ten men under a sergeant to escort the

senorita and her friends to the San Luis Potosi

road.
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Arthur was sleeping under the effects of the

powerful medicine of the doctor when Madelina

entered to bid him good -by. She looked about

the apartment and, finding herself alone, went

softly to his bedside and, kneeling, raised her

clasped hands in silent appeal to the Virgin for the

sufferer. After her prayer for the health and

peace of the enemy of her country, she rose and

stood by his side, a queen of matchless grace and

beauty. She was alone with the sick man, the

door was closed and she thought no eye save God's

saw her. He alone knew how pure her heart,

and how noble her soul. Mexican women are im-

pulsive. She bent over the sleeping man and

pressed her soft, warm lips to his dry, fevered

cheek and, leaving a crystal tear-drop on the hair

of the sleeping man, turned and left the apartment.

The 'second day after her departure, Arthur

Stevens was once more fairly on the road to re-

covery. He was able to sit up and look out of

the broad window at the beautiful scenery by

which he was surrounded. The doctor said that

in another day he could return to Saltillo, and

Felipe and Lieutenant Warren had procured a car-

riage from a wealthy old Mexican in the valley to

convey him to the American army.

It was in the afternoon of that day, as Arthur

was sitting in an easy-chair Felipe entered, his
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face beaming with joy and hope at the recovery of

his friend.

" You are looking so much better, senor, that

you make me both glad and sorry."

"Why?" asked Arthur."

" To-morrow we must part, perhaps never to

meet again
!"

An expression of sadness came over Arthur's

face, and with a sigh he said:

" It is true, Captain Felipe, we must part and

may never meet, but I shall always cherish your

memory. You have been a brother to me, and

though our countries may fight, we will be friends.

In the hottest of battle my hand shall never be

raised against you. I could no more strike you

than a brother.

"

Felipe was silent. Brave and generous Felipe

—his heart was stirred with emotion. After a

short silence Arthur asked

:

" Where is your sister?"

"Gone."
" Gone, where?"
" To Puebla.

"

Arthur's chin sank upon his chest and his eyes

rested on the floor. An expression of deep disap-

pointment and sadness swept over his face. Sev-

eral times he essayed to speak, but his voice was

husky and his articulation failed him. After
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several efforts lie murmured in a voice so low that

Felipe could scarce bear him :

" Gone—gone without even saying farewell."

" You wrong my sister, senor, if you think she

did not bid you farewell. She came to your

room, but you were sleeping."

" Sleeping!—why did they not wake me?"
" The doctor left orders that you must not be

disturbed."

"Disturbed—thunder!" ejaculated the angry

American. " What do I care for being disturbed

on such an occasion ?
"

" Senor, it might have been at the risk of your

life."

" I would risk my life a hundred times rather

than she should have gone away without—with-

out
"

He hesitated a moment and blushed like a school-

boy.

" If you have any message to send to my sister,

senor, I will bear it."

" Yes, tell her— tell her that—tell her that I

must see her again, for I have something to say to

her."

Felipe thought he understood what that some-

thing would be. He smiled and for a moment was

silent. At last he said :

" Senor captain, does it occur to you that we
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have known each other a long time not to know

our names in full?"

" Are you not Captain Felipe?"

" Yes, senor, but Felipe is not my surname.

What is your name in full?"

" Arthur Stevens, of Kentucky; and yours?"

" Felipe Estevan, of Puebla."

"Estevan, Estevan!" cried Arthur. "Let me

see, what is that name translated in English?"

" Stevens.

"

" I know it, father told me that. Did you

know my name was Stevens?"

" Not until your officer told me you were Cap-

tain Arthur Stevens.

"

"Captain Estevan," said Arthur, grasping the

young Mexican's hand. " Is there a tradition

about your family?"

"Yes."

"How far back can you trace your family?

When did they leave Spain?"

" Our first ancestor came with Columbus on his

first voyage."

Arthur's cheeks were glowing and his eyes

sparkling with excitement.

" Good heavens, it is true!" he gasped.

" Don't get excited, senor, you injure yourself."

" I am not excited ; I am as calm as a May

morning.

"
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" Have you a tradition of your family?"

" Yes.

"

" Are you of Spanish descent?"

"We are. Our great ancestor from Spain,

Hernando Estevan, came in the Santa Maria as

the cabin boy of Columbus, who was his friend."

" We are descended from the same branch."

" Did your ancestors come with Cortez?"

" Our traditions say not, but that he came later

in 1561."

" From Havana, Cuba?"
" Yes, senor.

"

" Tell me the story; were there two brothers?"

" There were, sefior. One was Francisco, conse-

crated by his parents to the church, and sent to

Spain to propagate the Catholic religion." *

" And the other?"

" His name was Kodrigo Estevan and a soldier.

"

" Do you know whose sons they were?"

" Two sons of Christopher Estevan, the first

namesake Columbus ever had, and they were

grandsons of Hernando Estevan, Columbus
1

cabin

boy. There is a tradition that on the morning

they parted, one to go to Spain and the other to

Mexico, they pledged themselves to brotherly

friendship, and that their descendants should never

wage war against each other.

"

*See "St. Augustine;" pages 1 to 16.
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Arthur shook his head and answered

:

" Captain Estevan, the tradition cannot be true.

One, being a priest, could not marry."

" He was not a priest, only consecrated to the

church, and designed for a priest; and the tradition

says he never became one, but that going to

France he became enamored of a beautiful French

Huguenot. That he followed her to Florida and

married her."

" That tradition is true.

"

" Then you are a Frenchman.

"

" No, an Englishman.

"

"How?"
" Of the marriage of Francisco Estevan to Hor-

tense De Barre in Florida there were born two

sons, Philip and Mathew. When Sir Francis

Drake ravaged the coast of Florida and destroyed

St. Augustine, according to our tradition, these

boys were carried to England, where their names

were changed to Stevens. Philip subsequently

settled in Jamestown, Virginia, while Mathew
went to New England, 1620, in the Mayflower.

We trace our ancestry from Philip and the Vir-

ginia branch, though our family have for genera-

tions fluctuated from North to South."

Captain Estevan fixed his line dark eyes on

Arthur's face in silent wonder for a moment, and

said

:
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" Then, senor, you are a descendant of that

brother Francisco Estevan who two hundred and

eight}' -five years ago left Cuba for Spain'/"

"I am."
" And I am a descendant of his brother Rodrigo

Estevan, the soldier, who came to Mexico."

The two gazed upon each other a moment in

silence. Then they clasped hands, and Arthur

said

:

" We are kinsmen."

With a smile, Felipe Estevan answered:

"Many times removed, senor; yet we are de-

scended from the same noble branch."

" There can be no doubt, Captain Estevan, that

the old tradition is true.

"

" I have often thought, Captain Stevens, that

there was more truth in the traditions we hear,

than people suppose. A tradition is seldom if ever

without some foundation."

" I have thought so, yet this is an age of scepti-

cism. People do not believe anything they can-

not see or hear for themselves, or of which they

have no record testimony.

"

" And yet there is no testimony more liable to

be maliciously false than records. If records are

destroyed as they usually are, or if the recorder is

prejudiced, as he often is, the record is misleading,

while the general current of a tradition down from
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generation to generation, without having to pass

the critical revision of some prejudiced official, is

more nearly correct than the record. For instance,

all Mexico depends on the official statement of

Santa Anna, for a correct account of the battle of

Buena Yista. I have not seen his report, yet I

will venture the assertion it will be false. Many

a soldier in the ranks can give a more truthful

history of the battle than he will, yet his official

report goes down as history, and is to be believed

by future generations. But tell me, did you know

there were Estevans living in Mexico?"
" We had heard there were descendants of Bod-

rigo Estevan in Mexico, but supposed it was like

other traditions, unreliable.

"

" I knew there lived many families in the States

called Stevens, for I travelled through the country.

"

" Did you believe the tradition?"

" Yes, senor.

"

After a moment he asked Arthur:

" Are you superstitious?"

" Somewhat, all people are."

" Then I will tell you what I have always been

told about our ancestors. It is said after the

brothers left, one to the east, the other to the west,

the mother, Inez Estevan, pra}^ed long for both.

She was of course a devout Catholic and little

dreamed that he whom she had designed for a
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priest, was to be the head of one of the largest

families of Protestants in the future, while the de-

scendants of 'her warrior son, were all to live in

the holy Catholic faith. She was old and had

long given up Francisco for dead, when she learned

that he still lived, and had married a Protestant.

The news almost broke her heart. With the eye

of a prophet it is said she seemed to pierce the veil

of the future, and saw that her beloved Francisco

would be the father of a long line of Protestants.

She read wars in the future whereby the Protestant

and Catholic would be arrayed against each other,

and she wept, fasted and prayed continually.

" At a little chapel long since fallen in ruins,

and replaced by business houses of the city, she

went and prayed standing, and kneeling, it is said

by the tradition, for many days, and burned can-

dles at the shrine of the mother of the Immaculate

Conception, until the Holy Virgin appeared to her

in a vision, and in a voice ineffably sweet said:

" 'Weep no more, daughter, thy prayer hast

been heard. Thy sons shall never meet in mortal

combat nor shall their descendants ever spill each

other's blood. When they meet, which shall not

be for hundreds of years, they shall be powerless

to harm each other, but the links of love which

bound thy sons shall be more strong in their de-

scendants, than even the love of brothers.'
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" You may smile at this tradition, but it was

firmly believed a few generations ago, and the

Estevans of the South looked for the Estevans of

the North as earnestly as they look for the second

coming of the Saviour."

Arthur Stevens was buried in deep thought for

a few moments, and said:

" Whether the tradition be false or true, the

prophecy is fulfilled."

" Fulfilled, 'senor, what do you mean?"
" The Estevans of the North have met the Este-

vans of the South."

" But in battle—enemies.

"

" True, in battle and as enemies, but yet it

seemed as if some divine hand guided us, some

unknown power through strange circumstances

made us friends.

"

" But the love of those brothers can never be

equalled by our own, senor "

" Not by ourselves, " said Arthur, " but had

your sister remained until I could have told her

all—the love might have been stronger—I believe

in the tradition, in the prophecy and the fulfil-

ment. "

Captain Estevan started up with an expression

of surprise and pain. Though unknown to Made-

lina, he had been a witness to her parting from the

American, and he saw in such a love onty grief
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and misery. He knew Madelina's pride, patriot-

ism and bigotry better than she knew it herself.

Though she loved the white baibarian from the

North more than her own life, she would die

rather than wed an enemy of her country. It was

the Norseman of old mediaeval times and the Sara-

cen. How could his sister, with all her instincts

and pride, wed one so opposite in politics, religion

and even in domestic thought?

Yet, when Felipe recalled the legend, which he

now almost believed, and remembered the promise

made to the mother of Eodrigo and Francisco, that

the descendants of her sons should be reunited in

firmer bonds of love than brothers, he was con-

strained to believe the union must be through

Arthur and Madelina. He fancied that through

all these strange events he could see the working

of the hand of destiny, bringing about the inevi-

table.

Captain Estevan was still pacing the apartment

when Arthur said

:

" Captain, when will you see her?''

" In a few weeks.

"

"Will you tell her all?"

"Yes."

But his answer was made after a few seconds of

hesitation, which Arthur could not fail to notice.

After a while, Captain Estevan threw himself on
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a seat in front of Arthur, having gained complete

control over himself.

"Captain," said Arthur, "you were educated

in English schools, do you believe in the philoso-

phy of fatalism?"

"Yes."
" I do now."
" Captain Stevens, what you have said, at this

time, is a serious matter. From no other Ameri-

can would I have heard an intimation of love for

my sister, who is the joy and pride of one of the

proudest families of Mexico. Perhaps this is

fatalism, but remember that fate brings misery,

the bitter as well as the sweet."

To this Arthur answered:

" I am willing to take the bitter with the sweet,

to endure the misery that I may enjoy the happi-

ness.
"

Captain Estevan seemed to recall some past

event and asked

:

" Are you from Kentucky?"
" Yes, captain, my father Major Stevens is well

known in the State."

" Major Stevens—that's the name."

"What do you mean? Were you ever in

Kentucky?"
" No, senor. Did you have a negro slave to

disappear some time ago?"
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" Yes, John—John ran away.

"

" That is the name, John. Now I know I am
right," said the Mexican, proceeding with care,

and recalling one event after the other by the law

of association of ideas. " I saw John.

"

"When?"
" Last Autumn."
" Where?"
" Not where you expect him to be. But first

let me describe him so yon will know I am not

mistaken. He is a tall, yellow, slender man,

about twenty-four years of age. He has lost one

front tooth, is about five feet eight or nine inches,

and is rather good looking and intelligent for a

darkey.

"

" Captain Estevan, that is our runaway, where

did you see him?"
" He is not a runaway, he is a slave. I saw

him in Havana, Cuba." He then proceeded to

tell how, being sent on a secret mission of his

country to thwart a scheme of President Polk and

Santa Anna, he had travelled as an American and

Anglicizing his name, called himself Mr. Stevens

of Baltimore. That while lingering about the

sugar houses pretending to be a sugar merchant,

and being known only as Mr. Stevens, the Ameri-

can, he was accosted by a negro calling himself

John, who told how he had been abducted by a
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man whom he called a doctor somebody, he could

not just then call the name.

Arthur Stevens was far more interested in this

story than the legend of their ancestors.

" Captain, can't you think of the doctor's name?''

"No, sefior, but it was a doctor, a prominent

man who lived in Boone county and was well

known there, who professed to the people that he

was a strong slavery man, and made speeches and

declared the negro liberators ought to be hanged.

At the same time he secretly represented himself

to the negroes as an abolitionist trying to liberate

them. He thus induced them to raise the money

to pay their own transportation, and pretending to

run them off to Canada, kidnapped them and sold

them in the West Indies.

"

" Captain Estevan, would you remember the

doctor's name if you heard it?"

" I might—though the negro talked hurriedly

with me; yet I think I should remember the name

of his kidnapper."

"Was it Dr. Trunnels?"

" By the mass, that is the name, sefior!"

" Captain, you have made a most wonderful

revelation. AVhat you have told throws a great

light on a mystery of years.

"

Next morning Arthur rose, expecting to bid

Captain Estevan farewell, but learned that he and
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his friends bad departed two hours before. He set

out with Lieutenant Warren and the escort for

Saltillo, which place they reached, remained one

day, when Arthur with his company and three

other companies set out for Matamoras, where

they embarked in a sloop and sailed for Vera Cruz,

to which point General Scott was hastening with

an army. Taylor's services in Mexico were at an

end. In fact the old general's military glory had

reached its zenith, though his popularity never

waned to the day of his death.
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CHAPTER XVI.

WITH SCOTT AT VERA CRUZ.

While Taylor was fighting the battles of Mon-

terey and Buena Yista, General Stephen W.
Kearney and Captain John C. Fremont were carry-

ing victory into New Mexico and California.

June 15, 1846, Fremont captured a Mexican post

at Sonoma Pass and routed the Mexicans under

General Castro, driving them from that region.

Fremont gathered about him the American set-

tlers, and on the 5th of July they declared them-

selves independent and placed Fremont at the head

of public affairs. Two clays later, Commodore

Sloat, in command of our American squadron on

the Pacific Coast, bombarded and captured Mon-

terey ;
and on the 9th Commodore Stockton arrived

at that station and succeeded Sloat in command.

On the 17th of August he and Fremont took pos-

session of the City of Los Angeles (city of the

angels), near the Pacific coast, now the capital of

Los Angeles County, California.

338
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General Kearney with sixteen hundred men

marched from Fort Leavenworth, Kansas, to Santa

Fe, New Mexico, nearly nine hundred miles.

The governor and about four thousand men fled,

leaving the six thousand inhabitants to surrender

the city. Kearney took formal possession of the

city, appointed Charles Bent, who was afterward

murdered, governor, and pushed on toward Cali-

fornia. These invasions were conquests, and the

law of right was not considered so much as that of

might. Soon Kearney and Fremont became in-

volved in a quarrel over who should govern Cali-

fornia, and Kearney being the superior officer

ordered Fremont home to be tried for disobedience.

Fremont's commission as lieutenant-colonel was

taken from him ; but the president offered to re-

store it. He refused to receive it, and again went

into the wilderness to engage in explorations for

which he deserves most credit. Kearney remained

on the Pacific coast until May, 1847, when he

returned home, leaving Colonel Matson as military

governor of California.

While Kearney was on his march to the Pacific

Coast, A. W. Doniphan, a citizen of Missouri,

raised a regiment of Missouri volunteers, all ex-

pert marksmen, and set out overland to New
Mexico. He made a treaty with the Navajo In-

dians in November, 1846, and at Braceti, in the
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valley of the Eio del Norte, he defeated a large

Mexican force under General Ponce de Leon.

Two hundred were slain. He marched on to Chi-

huahua, where he defeated an army of four thou-

sand and entered the city in triumph, and in a city,

amid a population of forty thousand unfurled the

American flag.

After a rest of six weeks, he joined General

Wool at Saltillo, from whence they took shipping

to New Orleans, haying made a march of about

five thousand miles. An insurrection in New
Mexico, in which Governor Bent was murdered,

was quelled by Colonel Price, and a permanent

peace was secured. By these conquests, New
Mexico, one of the places in the interior earliest

visited by the Spaniards, became a portion of the

United States. It was first traversed by the white

race in the persons of Cabeca de Yaca and the

remnant of those who followed Narvaez to Florida.

They reached New Mexico some time in 1536,

when de Yaca sent a report of what he had seen to

the viceroy of Mexico. Expeditions were sent

into that region from Mexico, and one of them

penetrated to the Rio Grande. Those were the

first Europeans who saw the bison or buffalo of

the North American continent. Castaneda, the

historian of the expedition, calls the animal " a

new kind of ox. wild and fierce, whereof the first
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day they killed fourscore, which sufficed the army

with flesh."*

After February, 1847, the war drifted to the

South. Before Captain Arthur Stevens with the

remainder of his regiment reached Vera Cruz,

General Scott had already invested that city. On

the 8th and 9th of March Scott landed twelve

thousand men and after some skirmishing had

thrown up entrenchments and by the 12th the

investment was complete. The steamer Spitfire

opened a cannonade on the castle, which was re-

turned with spirit. Storms delayed the siege, and

it was not until the 22d that it began in earnest

with seven mortars on shore in the American

trenches and the fleet. Scott had summoned the

city on this day to surrender, notifying them that

he intended bombarding it and offering to give all

European consuls, their families and the Mexican

women and children an opportunity to leave the

beleaguered city. Strange to say his offer was not

accepted.

On this morning, Arthur entered the harbor

and was at once sent on shore with the other land

troops. Here were many friends to greet him.

Among them was One-eyed Mike the scout and

guide. Pat was in his glory, for he predicted that

they would soon have " the divil's own sport."

*Lossing's "Our Country," Vol. V., p. 1367.
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Soon after Arthur reached the trenches, the bat-

teries opened, and the earth shook under the fear-

ful concussions, while the air was traversed by

bombs, which, crossing each other incessantly,

darkened the sun.

The siege was now pushed with the greatest

vigor. Colonel Totten of the engineers superin-

tended the advances, and never perhaps was such

skill so bravely seconded. Scott rode daringly along

the lines examining the progress and inspiring

the men. By the 25th, the batteries had been

increased to ten heavy guns, nine mortars and two

howitzers. The bombardment was now terrible.

The incessant thunder of the artilleiw, the whiz-

zing of bombs, the plunging of round shot in the

streets of the city, the crash of falling houses, and

the roar of conflagrations from buildings set on

fire by shells conspired to produce a scene of the

most awful yet sublime character. The American

ships kept up a tremendous fire on the town and

castle of San Juan de Ulloa; but that strong for-

tress, mindful of its former glory, maintained the

combat without flinching, and, had it not been

short of supplies, it was doubtful if it could have

been captured. Firing on the fleet from its sea-

front and on the army from its landside, it blazed

a centre of continual flame. Night added new

terrors to the scene. The darkened sky was bril-
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liant with burning houses in the city; while

bombs, whizzing and whirling on high, tracked

the heavens with a hundred trails of fire. The

shells from the castle were gigantic ones, thirteen

inches in diameter, and traversed the air with a

hum and screech that made the soldiers gaze with

awe on the terrible missiles. When exploded,

they were like an earth-tearing volcano.

On the 25th, the European consuls in the city

applied to Scott for permission to leave the town

and take with them the women and children.

Scott refused, saying he had given them warning

and offered them an opportunity to leave and they

would not accept, concluding with, "Now my

guns are hot, and by Gr—d I intend to keep

them so until the town surrenders." From a

military standpoint the answer may have beer

proper; but it was neither genteel nor humane.

However, gentility and humanity are seldom con-

sidered in time of war. Historians say the de-

cision "was just though distressing." The me-

morial of the consuls betrayed that the city was

half in ruins. This, indeed, could be seen par-

tially from the batteries. It was evident that the

siege was approaching its end. All that night,

accordingly, the bombardment went on with in-

creased vigor. There were few sleepers either in

the castle or in the lines. In the city, women
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rushed through the streets, frantically dragging

their children, in vain seeking a shelter, for the

houses were crashing all around them. Some who

remained at home were buried by falling ruins;

others who fled to the church were driven out by

the crumbling of the dome; and still others, who

thought to find safety in deep cellars, were killed

by shells that plunging through the roof and floor,

exploded in these underground recesses. Mothers

fell mangled upon their babes. Infants were

killed in their mothers' arms all because General

Scott's guns were hot, and he did not propose to

let them cool. This is civilized Christian war-

fare.

"We are glad to say that Arthur had little to do

with the siege. As his line of duty was more

pleasant, we will follow him and leave the details

of the Yera Cruz horrors to the ambitious, who

delight in the glory of American arms. On the

very day of his arrival, March 22, 1847, Arthur

Stevens with his company was detailed to make a

scout about Vera Cruz and secure some prisoners

from whom the general hoped to gain some infor-

mation. He took with him One-eyed Mike,

Taylor's guide, and a dapper little Frenchman

named Eaoul, who had joined the army at Vera

Cruz where they found him. He had been a sort

of market gardener for the plaza, and knew the
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back country perfectly. He had fallen into bad

odor with the rancheros of the Tierra Caliente, and

owed them no good will. The coming of the

American army was a perfect godsend to Eaoul,

who volunteered, and did good service for the

invaders.

Hours before clay, Captain Stevens and his party

were treading the mazes of the chaparral. The

moon glistened on their bayonets. Their path lay

in a southwesterly direction, near the old road

Orizava. Here it passed through a glade or open-

ing, where the moonbeams fell upon a profusion

of flowers; there it re-entered dark valleys among

clustering trees, where the " trail arms" was given

in a half whisper. The boughs met and locked over-

head, and the thick foliage hid the moon from sight.

Now a bright beam, entering through some chance

opening in the leaves, quivered along the path and

scared the wolf in his midnight wanderings. Out

again upon the open track through the soft grass,

and winding around the wild maguey, or under the

clam-shaped thorns of the mesquite". A deer sprung

up from his lair among the soft flowers, looked back

for a moment at the strange intruders and, fright-

ened at the gleaming steel, dashed off into the

thicket. The woods were not silent by night, as in

the colder regions of the North. The southern forest

has its voices, moonlight or dark. All through
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the livelong night sings the mocking-bird and

screams the loreto. A halt was made, and silent

and catlike, on his hands and knees, Mike stole

Silent and catlike, on his hands and knees, Mike stole

nearer and nearer, through the thorny brambles.

nearer and nearer through the thorny brambles,

until the true nature of the apparition betrayed

itself, in the shape of a huge column of prickly
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pear. He returned to his comrades, and the ob-

stacle was passed ; some one, as he passed, with a

muttered curse, slashed his sabre through the soft

trunk of the harmless vegetable.

When day broke, Arthur was ten miles from

camp—ten miles from the nearest American picket,

and with only thirty men ! They were concealed

in a thicket of aloes and mesquite. This thicket

crowned the only eminence for miles in any direc-

tion. It commanded a view of the whole country

southward to the Alvarado.

As the sun rose, the forest echoed with sounds

of song. The leaves moved with life, as a thou-

sand bright-plumed birds flashed from tree to tree.

The green parrot screamed after his mate, uttering

his wild notes of endearment. They were seen in

pairs flying high up in the heavens. The troupiale

flashed through the dark foliage like a ray of

yellow light. Birds seemed to vie with each other

in their songs of love. Amidst these sounds of

the forest, the ears of Arthur caught the frequent

crowing of cocks, the barking of dogs, and other

well known sounds of the settlement. These

were heard upon all sides. It was quite evident

that the country was thickly settled, though not a

house was visible above the tree tops. The thin

columns of blue smoke as they rose above the

green foliage proved the existence of dwellings.
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At some distance westward, an open plain lay

like an emerald lake. The woods that bordered it

were of a darker hue than the meadow grass upon

its bosom. In this plain they saw horses feeding.

They were picketed, and some of them had pulled

up the pickets and were straying from the group.

There were in all about a hundred, and it was

quite evident that their owners were not far away.

A thin blue smoke that hung over the trees on

one side of the meadow led Arthur to suspect that

a camp was near. Then came the baying of dogs,

mingled with many human voices. They had evi-

dently stumbled upon a camp of guerillas.

Suddenly a bugle sounded the saddle -up call,

wild and clear above the voices of the singing

birds. The horses flung up their heads and

neighed eagerly, looking toward the encampment.

In a moment a crowd of men were seen running

from the woods, each carrying a saddle. The few

strays that had drawn their pickets during the

night, came running in at the call of the well

known voices of their masters. The saddles were

thrown on and tightly girthed—the bits adjusted

and the lariats coiled and hung to the saddle-horns,

in less time than an ordinary horseman would

have put on his bridle. Another blast of the

bugle, and the troops were in the saddle, galloping

away over the green sward, and meadow in a
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southerly direction. To Arthur it did not seem

that the whole transaction occupied five minutes,

and it was more like a dream than reality. He

could not but admire their horsemanship. A long

shot might have reached the guerillas; but even

if Arthur had ventured this, it would have been

with doubtful propriety. Eumor had fixed the

existence of a large force of the enemy in this

neighborhood. It was supposed that at least a

thousand men were on the Alvarado road, with

the intention of penetrating the American lines,

with beeves for the besieged Vera Cruzanos. As

Arthur watched them through his glass, he let his

glance fall on their leader and started. He was

Miguel Morillo. Controlling himself as well as

he could, he said to Mike who was at his side:

"They got off well, Mike! Had they waited

but half an hour longer— oh, for a score of Har-

ney's horse!"

" Captain, may I offer an opinion?" asked Mike,

who had raised himself and stood peering through

the leafy branches of a cacuchou tree.

" Certainly, Mike, any suggestion
"

"Well, then—there's a town," Mike lifted one

of the leafy boughs and pointed toward the south-

east. A spire and cross, a white wall and the

roofs of some cottages were seen over the trees.

" Frenchy here"—meaning Raoul
—

" knows the
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place and says it's Medellin. He's been to it and

there's no good road for horses direct from here,

but the road from Vera Cruz crosses the meadow

far up. Now, captain, it's my opinion, those

thieving guerillas are bound for that place. Eaoul

says it's a good sweep round. If we could get

across this step, we'd head 'em off, sure."

The guide swept his hand toward the South, to

indicate the strip of woods that he wished to cross.

The plan seemed feasible enough. The town,

which, in the rarefied atmosphere, seemed quite

near, was five miles distant, while by the road

which the guerillas would have to follow, it was

much further. Could Arthur and his party meet

them on this road by an ambuscade, they might

gain an easy victory, although inferior in numbers,

and Arthur wanted to carry back a Mexican pris-

oner. The men were all wild with excitement

and eager for a fight.

"Eaoul," said Arthur, "is there any path

through these woods?"

"Close teccket, monsieur," answered the

Frenchman and when the opening of the foliage

was closed, continued: "There be von road, I

nake ver sure, by that tree. Vot you call him,

big tree." Eaoul pointed to some live-oaks that

formed a dark belt across the woods.

"Take the lead, Raoul."
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The little Frenchman sprang up and began the

descent into the dark woods beneath. The party

were soon winding through the shadowy aisles of

a live-oak forest. At first the woods were open

and easy. After a short march they came to a

small stream, bright and silvery; but what was

the surprise of Arthur to find that the path here

gave out, and on the opposite side of the rivulet

the trees grew closer together, and the woods were

almost woven into a solid mass, by the lianas and

other creeping plants, covered with blossoms. In

some places a wall of snow-white flowers rose up

before, them. Pyramidal forms of foliage, green

and yellow, over which hung myriads of vine

blossoms, like a scarlet mantle. Still there was

no path—at least to be trodden by human foot.

Birds flew around, scared in their solitary haunts.

The armadillo and the wolf stood at a distance

with glaring eyes, while the fearful looking guana

scampered off upon the decaying limbs of the live

oak, or the still more fearful cobra di capella

glided almost noiselessly over the dry leaves and

brambles.

Eaoul confessed that he had been deceived. He
had never travelled this belt of timber before.

The path was lost.

This was strange. A path had conducted them

thus far, but on reaching the stream had suddenly
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stopped. Soldiers went up and down the water

course, peeping through the trellis of vines, but to

no purpose. In all directions they were met by

an impenetrable chaparral.

Chafing with disappointment, the young officer

was aboui to retrace his way, when an exclamation

from One-eyed Mike recalled him. The back-

woodsman had found a clew to the labyrinth. An
opening leading into the thicket had been concealed

by a perfect curtain of closely woven vines, covered

with thick foliage and flowers. At first it appeared

to be a natural door to the avenue which led from

this spot, but a slight examination showed that

these vines had been trained by human hands, and

that the path itself had been kept open by the

same agency. Branches were here and there

lopped off and cast aside, and the ground had the

marks of footsteps. The track was clear and

beaten, and Arthur, ordering his men to follow

noiselessly in Indian file, took the lead. For at

least two miles they traced the windings of this

narrow, secret path, through a dark wood occa-

sionally opening out into green, flowery glades.

The bright sky began to gleam through the trees.

Farther on, and the breaks became larger and more

frequent. An extensive clearing was near at

hand. They reached it, but to their astonishment,

instead of a cultivated farm, which they expected,
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the clearing assumed the appearance of a vast

flower garden. The roofs and turrets of a house

were visible near its centre. The house itself, a

strange oriental structure, at last appeared half

buried amidst groves of brightest foliage and

flowers. Several huge old trees spread their

branches over the roof, and leaves hung and flut-

tered about the fantastic turrets.

What should have been fields were like a suc-

cession of huge flower beds and large shrubs,

covered with sheets of pink -white blossoms that

resembled wild roses. This shrubbery was high

enough to conceal the approach of Captain Stevens

and his party, as they followed the path—appar-

ently the only one leading to the house.

On nearing this, Arthur halted his men in a

little glade, and taking Mike and Pat with him,

proceeded to reconnoitre the strange-looking habi-

tation.

A wall of ivy, or some perennial vine, lay be-

tween him and the house. A curtain of green

leaves covered the entrance through this wall.

This appeared to have grown up by neglect. As

Arthur lifted this festoon, to pass through, the

sound of female voices greeted him. These voices

reached his ear in tones of the lightest mirth. At

intervals came a clear, ringing laugh from some

throat of silver, which seemed strangely familiar,
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and then a plunging, splashing sound of water.

Arthur conjectured that some females were in the

act of bathing and, not wishing to intrude upon

them, sent "back his two companions and sat down

outside the wall. The sounds of merriment con-

tinued, and among the soft tones the officer imag-

ined he could distinguish the coarser voice of a

man. Curiosity prompted him to enter. More-

over, he reflected that if there were men already

there, it would be no act of impropriety to investi-

gate the matter, and perhaps gain some of the

desired information.

Drawing aside the curtain of leaves, he looked

in. The interior was a garden, but evidently in

a neglected state. It appeared to be the ruin of a

once noble garden and shrubbery. Broken foun-

tains and statues crumbling among weeds, and un-

trained rose vines, met his eye. The voices were

more distinct, but those who uttered them were hid-

den by a hedge of jasmins. Arthur went silently

up to this hedge and peeped through an opening.

The picture presented was indeed an enchanting one.

A large fountain or basin of stone, filled with

crystal water, lay between him and the house. In

this fountain two young girls were plunging and

diving about in the wildest abandon of mirth.

The water was not more than waist deep, and the

shoulders and busts appeared above the surface.
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There was a marked contrast in their color. The

face, neck and arms of one seemed carved by a

master sculptor from snow-white marble, while the

other was of a bright dark red, as any Aztec.

There were the same cast of features, the same ex-

pression in both countenances, and their graceful

forms as they sported like dolphins in the crystal

water were just alike. Their long hair trailed

after them black and luxuriant, on the surface of

the water, as they plunged and swam from one

side of the basin to the other. A huge negress

sat on one edge of the basin, evidently keeping

guard over the bathers. It was the voice of the

negress that Arthur had mistaken for a man's.

He caught but a momentary glance of them;

but the fairest of the two he recognized at once as

Madelina Estevan. Angry with himself at the

intrusion, Arthur withdrew without their being

aware of his presence. He was determined how-

ever to speak with Madelina before leaving the

neighborhood. They stole across the flowery field

to the road which led to the town and had barely

time to form an ambuscade when about twenty

guerillas, the advance of the party, galloped up.

A boy named Gerry, becoming excited, could not

be restrained from firing his musket, and thus

warned the main body a. fourth of a mile back,

and they fled.
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Arthur, seeing that the mischief already done

could not be undone, ordered an attack and they

poured in a volley emptying four saddles, and

charged the bandits.

"Americanos! Americanos!" cried the guerillas

and fled in every direction.

Two whose horses had been shot from under

them were captured.

When the short fight was over, Arthur found

Mike leaning on his rifle, his usually stolid face

expressing some disappointment.

" What has gone amiss, Mike?" Arthur asked.

" It was a great blunder, captain. I think we

should have let the main body come up.

"

" We would, but for the boy Gerry. He got

too nervous."

"Yes."

Arthur then called to the Frenchman.

"Oui, Monsieur," responded the little fellow,

hastening to his side.

"Do you know that house, Kaoul? Can you

tell me who lives there?"

The dapper little fellow shook his head. Arthur

was convinced that he would meet with no men,

and after marching his force to within a hundred

paces of the door halted them and went alone.

When he reached the house, which he approached

this time from the front, he found it silent as if



358 HUMBLED PRIDE.

deserted. He stepped upon the .long veranda,

which, like most Mexican verandas, was a pro-

fusion of flowers, and struck the door three times

with the hilt of his sword. He heard some one

stirring within, and a moment later the negress ap-

peared.

" Where is the young lady from Puebla?" he

asked.

" No intinde, senor ! " the negress answered.

Arthur now mustered up all the Spanish he

knew, and asked for Senorita Madelina Estevan of

Puebla.

Before the negress could answer, he heard a soft

tread from within, and next moment Madelina

appeared, dressed in spotless white. She was as

much amazed to find Arthur as he was to find her.

" When did you come?" she asked.

He explained that he was from Vera Cruz,

whither he had been transferred as soon as he was

able to join his regiment.

" So you barbarians are destroying our city of

the True Cross, and murdering the women and

children there?" she said bitterly.

" Senorita, that is war, and all wars are cruel.

Let us not speak of it," he answered sadly.

" Have you seen your brother since you left him

at the hacienda?"

"No."
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She still remained within the door and did not

invite him to enter. Arthur thought:

" She has not seen him and knows nothing of

the strange story, or my love.

"

Her reception was so cold that it chilled him,

and he almost regretted he had come.

" Let us not be enemies, senorita. I owe

such a debt of gratitude to your brother and your-

self
"

"Senor, do not mention that," she interrupted.

" We did only what was our duty. We are Mexi-

cans and Christians, and the worst enemy we have

will receive kind treatment from us when he is

sick or wounded. I did no more for you than I

would for the humblest slave, senor.

"

This was certainly not encouraging. Arthur

felt his heart sink within him. She who had

been so gentle and kind while he was sick and in

her power was now cold, proud and defiant when

he came as a conqueror. Arthur's hopes sank

many degrees below zero. At last he said

:

" Senorita, I have not come to humble your

pride. I came to tell you that a mutual enemy is

in the neighborhood. I just met the advance as

they were coming to your house and drove them

away, but Miguel Morillo is in the neighborhood

and you are not safe near Medellin. I wish you

would go to Puebla. I would willingly risk my
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life for you; but I can't always be near to guard

you."

There was something in his voice more than his

words, that touched the tender heart of Madelina.

She came on the veranda where he stood and said :

" I thank you, senor, for your interest in me.

and hope you will forgive my coldness. I will

return to Puebla this very night. My father will

be here this evening with a company of soldiers

and Morillo will not dare molest me."
" I don't want to meet your father while the

war lasts, so I will go, Madelina, " he said.

She bade him adieu and as he turned away his

eyes fell on the array of geraniums and other

luxuriant flowers.

" Won't 3-011 give me one?" he asked. " I

shall keej) it as a remembrance."

She plucked a white rose.

" Won't you give me a red one?"

"No; a red rose means love, or war; a white

rose means peace and purity. Let us hope that

peace will some day dawn on Mexico."

Even as they spoke they could hear the distant

thunder of cannon at Vera Cruz.

As Arthur turned to go, he cast one more glance

at Madelina and was quite sure that he had never

seen such an entrancingly beautiful creature iii In?*

life.
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"Madelina, when you see your brother he will

tell you something that will be strange to you.

Believe it; it is true. Adieu!"

He extended his hand, and she clasped it lightly

in her own, which trembled.

He joined his company, and they marched back

to Vera Cruz, without meeting with any other ad

venture.



CHAPTER XVII.

FROM VICTORY TO VICTORY.

Arthur was a witness to the capitulation of

Vera Cruz on March 29th, 1847, and saw the

Mexican general and his soldiers when they marched

out and laid down their arms. It was a grand

sight, a great triumph for American arms; but in

Arthur's eyes it was a disgrace on one side and a

humiliation on the other. The loss on the part of

the Americans in this siege was very slight, ten

officers and several privates. The exact loss of

the enemy has never been known; but it- fell

chiefly among the non-combatants, mainly women

and children. It was this slaughter of the inno-

cent which caused the early capitulation of Vera

Cruz. Historians say the " whole siege was a

monument of the skill and valor of an American

army." This is true, and we are proud as an

American to say the conquered people met kind-

ness and sympathy from their conquerors.

General Worth was appointed governor of the

captured city. The desire of the commander-in
362
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chief was to advance immediately into the interior

at the head of a column eight thousand strong;

but he was compelled to delay for a fortnight,

awaiting the arrival of wagons from the United

States. On the 8th of April the van of the army,

which consisted of Twiggs' division, began its

march.. The other divisions followed rapidly.

The route of the American army was almost the

same as the march of Hernando Cortez the founder

of Vera Cruz and conqueror of the Aztecs. , The

road was a great highway, constructed by Mexican

merchants before the revolution, but since broken

up in many places and out of repair. At the dis-

tance of a day's ride from Vera Cruz, this road

crossed an immense stone bridge, known as the

Puerile National ; and here it was expected that the

army of the enemy, which was advancing from the

capital, would make a stand. This pass might

have been made the Thermopylae of Mexico ; but

it was left undefended and was immediately taken

possession of by the invaders, which opened to

them a direct highway to the interior. Captain

Stevens was assigned to Twiggs in the beginning,

and was in the van during nearly all that long

bloody march. After the third daj^, when they

left the plains, their march was through some of

the most picturesque scenery in the world. The

road rose graduall}^ winding along the side of the
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mountains. High cliffs ascended on either hand;

deep abysses yawned below; and far in the dis-

tance inland Orizaba towered eighteen thousand

feet above the sea. The stifling atmosphere of the

low sandy plains around Vera Cruz disappeared,

and with it all fear of the vomito. Tropical

plants began to be scarce, and the well known

vegetation of the temperate latitudes supplied their

place. Mountain torrents leaped from the rocks

and roared into the ravines below. These delight-

ful visions increased in frequency as the army ad-

vanced, until at Xalapa, seventy miles from Vera

Cruz, and at an elevation of four thousand feet

above the sea, the invaders reached the most beau-

tiful point of their march and rested in what is

literally the garden of the world.

Strange emotions swayed the breast of Arthur

Stevens on that memorable march. He recalled

that march of over three hundred years ago, when

his great progenitor, the friend of Christopher

Columbus, an officer under Hernando Cortez,

marched along that same route to the same city to

humble the pride of the Montezumas. He was

now marching to conquer the descendants of the

former conquerors'. It is ever thus, nations spring

up in waste places and overrun the haughty em-

pires of the world.

But before advancing into this higher country,
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and immediately on leaving the plains, the Ameri-

cans met and defeated the enemy at Cerro Gordo,

a strong position, fort}r -five miles from Vera Cruz.

Hither hastened Santa Anna, after his defeat at

Buena Vista, traversing the intermediate country

with great rapidity, and arrived in the early part

of April with an army of fifteen thousand men.

The highway winding along the face of the moun-

tain is commanded by numerous elevations, rising

one above another; Cerro Gordo, with its tower

at the further extremity, overlooking all. At

every favorable point Santa Anna had constructed

batteries. Twiggs arrived in front of this appar-

ently impregnable position, and made a recounois-

sance, on the 12th of April. He determined to

attack on the following morning; but Patterson

coming up in the interval, the latter concluded to

await the approach of Scott. The commander-in-

chief made a new reconnoissance, and discovering

that an assault in front would only lead to useless

sacrifice of life, determined, if practicable, to turn

the enemy's position, by cutting a road to his

right, which should wind around the base of Cerro

Gordo and debouch into the national road in the

rear of the enemy. On the 14th, this laborious

undertaking was begun. It was nearly completed,

when, on the 17th, the Mexicans discovered it,

and immediately opened a tremendous fire of grape
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and musketry on the working parties. Twiggs

seized a hill just below Cerro Gordo, which not

only commanded the new road, but all the Mexican

batteries except the great one erected on the key

of their position. That night, as soon as dark-

ness had closed in, a thousand men from his divi-

sion were detailed to drag a twenty-four pound

gun and two twenty-four pound howitzers up this

almost precipitous hill, a task which they performed

after eight hours' incessant labor. When morning

dawned, the adventurous Americans, who had

sunk exhausted to slumber, were roused by the

reveille in the neighboring fort at Cerro Gordo,

and, cutting away the brushwood which concealed

their battery, suddenly presented themselves to

the astonished Mexicans. At the same time they

opened a heavy fire on all the enemy's batteries;

and, as the stunning reverberations echoed through

the mountains, their companions in arms below,

who had only awaited this signal, advanced to

execute the several parts assigned them in the

approaching battle.

Twiggs, with his division of regulars, was

ordered to proceed along the road cut to the right,

storm Cerro Gordo, and get the enemy's rear.

He was supported by General James Shields with

two volunteer regiments; while Worth, with his

division, acting as a reserve, was to follow the
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same route. No sooner was Twiggs seen advanc-

ing, than the Mexicans opened a fire on him from

Cerro Gordo. Colonel Harney was ordered to

storm that position, which was done after great

loss. General Vasquez of the Mexican army fell

bravely fighting at head of his men. His fall pro-

duced a panic among the Mexicans. Sergeant

Henry, plunging through the smoke, reached the

great flagstaff and, hauling down the standard

of Mexico, ran up the American flag. At the

same time a neighboring ascent was gallantly car-

ried by the first and second infantry and fourth

artillery.

Pillow's assault on the front was repulsed; but

General La Vega, finding himself cut off and de-

serted by Santa Anna, surrendered with his troops,

after having made a brave but useless defence.

Captain Stevens, who served immediately under

Shields, was with that officer of the volunteers

when they pushed forward toward Jalapa, in order

to prevent the escape of Santa Anna. Santa Anna

and General Almonte had fled with about eight

thousand men after the fall of Cerro Gordo.

A fort soon loomed up before the Americans.

One-eyed Mike, who had gone in -advance of the

Americans, mounted on Wodin, returned as Gen-

eral Shields rode forward and cried:

" There is a fort over the hill, general. Don't
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ride to the brow, or you will get the fire of a

whole battery."

General Shields, who was brave as a lion, dashed

forward to reconnoitre, and had scarce reached the

crest of the hill, when there came a shower of can-

non-balls and grape-shot about him. A grape-

shot passed through his lungs, and he fell, supposed

to be dead.

A wild, angry shout went up from the American

volunteers. They had lost their leader, but, being

volunteers, needed no leader to act. Eegulars

would have stood still to await orders or retreated

;

but volunteers are men who think and act for

themselves. As one man they rushed forward and

captured the fort, leaving General Shields, as was

supposed, dead on the field.

-

Arthur pressed forward with Pat on one side,

and One-eyed Mike on the other, in hot pursuit, to

cut off Santa Anna.

"What the divil is that beyant?" asked the

* General Shields was reported in the official reports as

killed, and so stands the record, though thirty years after

the battle the author heard him in a lecture, describe the

battle. In the course of his lecture, he humorously re-

marked :
" I may not be able to make as good a speech as

some of you, but I do say I can make as good a speech as

any man who has been shot through the body with a cannon

ball. If you don't believe it, try it. " General Shields died

about fifteen years ago at Carrolton, Mo.
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short-legged Irishman, who panted as he ran. He

pointed with his left forefinger to a dark object at

the side of the road.

One-eyed Mike, who rode his mustang, being

higher said

:

"What's that ? A wooden leg, begorraI "

" It's a carriage overturned."

"Hold, Mike, let me reach it first," cried

Arthur.

He discovered that the carriage was an elegant

vehicle, and no doubt owned by some wealthy

person or general. He reached it with Pat and

Mike at his side.

" What's that? A wooden leg, begorra!" cried

Vol. 11—24
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Pat, seizing Santa Anna's cork leg, which, becom-

ing loosened from its hold, he had been forced to

leave behind. As the reader knows, Santa Anna

and General Almonte escaped on the mules which

they unharnessed from the carriage and fled to the

mountains.

Arthur ordered the carriage righted and inside

it found some papers, a coat belonging to the

General, and a lady's satin slipper. He took the

slipper and gazed at it for a moment. It had a

delicately embroidered flower on the toe, and he

fancied he had seen the toe of that slipper peeping

out beneath Madelina's skirt, as she stood on the

broad veranda of the hacienda near Medellin.

" Can it be?" he thought. He secured the pa-

pers of Santa Anna and turned them over to his

commanding officer; but the slipper he placed in

his pocket. It was the only trophy of war he

asked for.

The victory of the Americans was complete and

decisive. The trophies were three thousand pris-

oners who were paroled, forty-three bronze pieces

of artillery cast in Seville, five thousand of arms

(which were destroyed), and a large amount of

munitions of war. On the other hand, the Ameri-

can loss, according to best authority, was about

four hundred and thirty-one. The fugitives were

pursued with vigor toward Jalapa.
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By this time, General Worth had joined the

army, and with his division led the onward march.

On the 19th they entered Jalapa, and a few days

afterward (April 22d, 1847) Worth unfurled the

American flag over the strong castle of Perote, on

the summit of the Cordilleras, fifty miles beyond

Jalapa. This fortress was regarded next to San

Juan de Ulloa the strongest fortress in Mexico.

These places had been captured without resistance,

for the Mexicans were appalled by the suddenness

of the invasion, and the swiftness of the conquests

of the invaders. At Perote, the spoils were fifty-

four pieces of artillery and an immense amount of

munitions of war.

Onward the victors swept along the great na-

tional road over the Cordilleras, and on May 15,

1817, entered the city of Puebla (Puebla los

Angelos, or city of Angels). The inhabitants,

one hundred thousand in number, were struck

with astonishment at the boldness of the act.

They had been expecting an army of at least ten

thousand men. Instead of this, ninety dragoons

rode into the plaza alone, where they halted to

await the advance of the army, in all not number-

ing four thousand men. Hundreds of Mexicans

counted the soldiers as they crossed the bridge of

" Noche Buena, " and the feeling that existed in

the breast of the Pablanos after the entry of the
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Americans into their city was one of shame that

they had permitted such a handful of men to take

the old, warlike town of Puebla without a blow

being struck in its defence.

It seemed as if they might have stoned the

" northern barbarians" to death. History repeats

itself, and how like the march of Cortez with his

handful of steel clad warriors, three centuries ago,

this seemed.

Santa Anna, repulsed at Amozoc, had retreated

upon San Martin, and now held that fair district

with his rabble soldiery.

On finding that it was not in the power of the

American commander to advance beyond Puebla

for a time, Santa Anna determined to rouse the

national pride once more in defence of their capital.

He consequently crossed the mountains at Eio

Frio, and commenced fortifying the ancient city of

the Aztecs, leaving, however, a large guerilla

force, roaming at will over the western plain of

Puebla and occupying San Martin, Tlaxcalla and

Atlixco. These at first commenced hostilities by

stopping the supplies of the Puebla market, which

depended altogether on the fertile regions of the

West. Finding, however, that the American gold

received in exchange for the fruits and vegetables

of San Martin served their purposes better than

revenge, the guerillas after awhile permitted the
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produce to pass, levying a heavy tariff on each

article.

The hated " alcabala" was abolished at the city

gates, and the Indians and rancheros of Cholula,

San Pueblo and San Martin flocked to the grand

plaza of Pnebla. It was a rare sight in the bright

mornings of June, this plaza of Puebla. Hun-

dreds of Indian girls seated in groups under their

awnings of "petates," gayly chatting with one

another, or laughing merrily at the bad Spanish

of the American -soldier. The Indian marketers

were by no means a melancholy race. The great

plaza was adorned with happy faces. The slightest

witticism or a mispronunciation of any of their

wares by a foreign tongue would elicit peals of

laughter from the merry market girls, while the

almost constant display of their small, pearly teeth

and sparkling eyes evinced the lightness of their

hearts.

The remnants of several nations exist in the

plains of Puebla. These may be easily distin-

guished on the streets of the city by a singular

custom. A few strands of worsted thread, blue,

crimson, or purple, twisted into the plaits of their

luxuriant black hair, mark the tribe of a village

to which the wearer belongs; so that at a glance

one might tell an Indian girl from Tlaxcaila or

San Pueblo from one of the Cholultecas.
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Captain Arthur Stevens, who was among the

first Americans to enter the city, took great in-

terest in the scenes on the market or plaza. The

strict discipline of the American general in com-

mand would not permit him to leave the city

limits. Arthur had picked up some Spanish and

frequently purchased fruits of the pretty Aztec

market girls. One day as he was going through

the plaza the face of one of the Cholultecas maidens

struck him so familiarly that he paused to gaze at

her.

" Will senor buy some fruits?" she asked.

He would. He bought almost unconsciously,

while trying to fix in his mind where he had seen

that face before. She was the age, height and

shape of Maclelina, but her skin was the dark red

of the Aztec.

" Does the senorita live in the plain?" he asked.

" Yes, senor.

"

"Were you ever at Medellin?" he asked, for

now he remembered the two girls he had seen

bathing in the great stone basin, while scouting

about Vera Cruz.

" I have been there, senor.

"

"Do you know Senorita Madelina Estevan?"

The girl opened her great dark eyes, and with a

gaze of wonder answered

:

" I do, senor.

"
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" You were with her at Medellin?"

" Yes, seQor ; I saw you when you came to the

hacienda; but how did you see me? I was far in

the house.

"

He did not explain, but asked at once:

" Where is the Senorita Madelina Estevan?"

Pointing toward the great Cordilleras of the Eio

Frio, she said :
" Gone.

"

" And her hacienda?"

" You can see the top from the city gates. It

is deserted now, save old Pietro, who takes care of

the senora's birds and flowers."

" When will she come back?"

" When the Americans leave the valley."

Arthur then asked if she was near Cerro Gordo

during the battle. The Aztec maiden said her

father's regiment was in the conflict, and she was

near him.
" Then, " he thought, " the slipper I found in the

carriage must be hers."

With a party of soldiers, guided by One-eyed

Mike and a Mexican, he paid the deserted hacienda

a visit. It bore every evidence of hasty abandon-

ment, and lying on the floor of one of the rooms

was another slipper, a mate to the slipper he had

found at Cerro Gordo. Arthur would permit noth-

ing to be disturbed and left even the satin slipper

lying on the floor.
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While the American army lay at Pnebla, an

opportunity was given to the Mexicans to treat for

peace. At Jalapa, General Scott issued a procla-

mation to the Mexican people very conciliatory in

character, but closing with this significant para-

graph: "I am marching on Puebla and Mexico,

and from those capitals I shall again address you."

The government also sent Nicholas P. Trist as a

diplomatic agent, with letters to certain persons in

Mexico, and clothed with power to treat for peace.

He reached the army just as Scott left Jalapa,

and went forward with it. All his overtures for

peace were rejected by the proud sons of old

Castile, who boasted that they could not be con-

quered.

General Scott was reinforced at Puebla by fresh

troops, sent by way of Vera Cruz. His principal

officers were Generals "Worth, Quitman, Pillow,

Twiggs, Smith, Cadwallader and Shields, who had

recovered from his wound sufficiently to join the

army. On the 7th of August the march on the

capital was resumed. The American army was

now seven thousand strong. The road lay nearly

along the line of inarch of Cortez, more than three

hundred }
7ears before, over the Anahuac range of

mountains, and up the slopes of the great Cordil-

leras. The region was beautiful and picturesque,

well watered, clothed with the richest green inter-
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spsrsed with all the gaudy hues of wild {lowers

such as Mexico alone can produce, with the softest

and most salubrious of climes. From the lofty

summits of these mountains and almost upon the

spot where Cortez stood, General Scott's army

beheld, as the Spanish conquerors before them had

done, the great valley of Mexico, with its inter-

vales and lakes, cities and villages, and the waters

of Tezcuco embracing the Mexican capital—the

ancient metropolis of the Aztec Empire—now pre-

senting lofty steeples and spacious domes. Down
into that valley the invaders continuously pressed,

for resistance was expected at the mountain passes.

General Twiggs' division led, and on the 11th of

August he was encamped at St. Augustine, with

the strong fortress of San Antonio before him.

Close upon his right were the heights of Churu-

busco, crowned with embattled walls covered with

cannon, and to be reached in front only by a

causeway exposed at every point to a raking fire

from the batteries. Not far off was the strongly

fortified camp of Contreras, containing about six

thousand Mexicans under General Valencia; and

between it and the capital was Santa Anna with

twelve thousand men who were held in reserve.

By the loth, the whole invading army was concen-

trated in the valley with headquarters .on the

Acapulco road.
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The general disposition of forces was made, and

the Americans only awaited the arrival of Gen-

eral Scott to commence hostilities. He came on

the morning of the 18th and, after surveying the

whole scene, made arrangements for attacking the

enemy and fighting his way to the gates of

the city. That was a difficult task, for the capital

was strongly defended at points nearer than those

already mentioned, and approach to it could only

be made over narrow causeways, through oozy

ground, as in the time of Montezuma. Near the

city was the hill of Chepultepec, which was

strongly fortified and covered by a Military Insti-

tute, and at the foot of it, at the King's Mills

(Molino del Key), was a fortified stone wall and a

citadel capable of great resistance. Every avenue

to the city was guarded, and no point had been

neglected. Chepultepec would have to be carried

by storm, and so would the position at Molino del

Bey, and the strongholds of Contreras; but first

San Antonio and Churubusco must be carried, ere

the others could be reached.

General Scott at once addressed himself to the

important business in hand. Confronted by the

victorious Americans, those invincible northern

barbarians, whom they had pretended to despise,

the Mexicans prepared for a desperate struggle.

With the courage and skill of patriots they made
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every effort possible to defend their country and

national capital. But the Mexicans were divided

among themselves. The opponents of Santa Anna

never acted in full accord with him. Many would

not serve under him, and many who did only

gave him a half-hearted support. The Americans

actively prepared for the coming conflict with

great skill under the imme-

diate direction of General

Scott, ably assisted b}^ Cap-

tain Robert E. Lee (after-

ward the commander of the

Confederate forces in the

great civil war), the chief

engineer of the army, whose

services at Cerro Gordo and before Mexico won

for him the commissions of major, lieutenant-

colonel, and colonel, in rapid succession.

The Americans were ready for the attack by the

evening of August 19th, 1847. The day had

been spent in indecisive skirmishing. The night

was very dark, rainy, and cold, and as Arthur

stood at the head of his company drenched and

waiting for daylight he thought that the coming

dawn might be the last he would ever witness.

At dawn of day the great struggle would com-

mence. All others had been small compared to

what this would be.

Chepultepec.
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As lie passed slowly up and down his line, he

heard a voice in the darkness whisper:

" Captain, is it yersilf as is walkin' ferninst us?"

"Yes, Pat."

" Begorra, this is worse than an election day in

ould Kentucky. One can git a taste of whiskey

there to kape out the wet.

"

"Silence, Pat."

Day dawned slowly. The rain ceased, clouds

partially cleared, and, after the soldiers had been

permitted to eat a breakfast from their rations, the

order to advance came. The grand struggle began

at sunrise. It was brief and sanguinary. In the

darkness the Americans had gained a position close

upon the Mexicans, in roar and flank, before they

were discovered, and, springing up suddenly from

behind the crest of a hill, they delivered volle}r

s

in quick succession, and with wild yells rushed

into the intrenchments, captured the batteries,

drove out the army of Valencia, and pursued its

flying remnants on the road toward Mexico. The

conflict lasted only seventeen minutes. Eighty

officers and three thousand Mexican soldiers

were made prisoners, and among the trophies were

thirty-three pieces of artillery.

Meanwhile, Generals Shields and Pierce (the

latter afterward president of the United States)

had kept Santa Anna's powerful reserve at bay.
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A similar movement was made against San Antonio

and Churubusco. Santa Anna advanced with his

numerous followers to defend them, and very soon

the whole country became a battlefield. The en-

tire American and Mexican armies were engaged.

It seemed as if all the powers of darkness had

suddenly been let loose in that valley. On one

side battled the fierce invader of the North, on the

other the fierce cavalier of the South. One fought

for patriotism and territory, the other in defence

of his native land. The invaders dealt heavy

and successful blows. San Antonio yielded;

Churubusco was taken, and the forces of Santa

Anna were sent flying toward the capital like chaff

before the gale. Prisoners and spoils glutted the

American army, and the day was memorable in

the annals of Scott's military career. In the course

of a single day, a Mexican army full thirty thou-

sand strong had been broken up by another less

than one-third its strength and number; fully four

thousand Mexicans had been killed and wounded

;

three thousand were made prisoners, and thirty-

seven pieces of fine artillery had been captured,

with a vast amount of munitions of war. The

American loss in killed and wounded was nearly

eleven hundred men.

Though they might have easily passed on while

the Mexicans were panic-stricken and taken pos-
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session of the capital, Scott preferred to once more

try negotiations for peace. He advanced to Tacu-

baya on the 21st, within three miles of the capital,

and on the way he -was met by a proposition from

Santa Anna for an armistice preparatory to nego-

tiations for peace. It was acceded to, and Mr.

Trist went to the capital on the 24th for the pur-

pose. At the palace of the Archbishop at Tacu-

baya, which Scott made his headquarters, the

general impatiently awaited the return of Mr.

Trist. On the 5th of September, he came with

the information that the proposition for peace had

not only been rejected with scorn, but that Santa

Anna had violated the armistice by strengthening

the defences of the city. General Scott, disgusted

with the vacillating conduct, to say nothing of

the treachery, of Santa Anna, declared the armistice

at an end on the 7th of September and prepared

to storm the capital.

That formidable castle at Chepul tepee, the walls

and stone citadel of Molino del Rey and the forti-

fied gates of Mexico manned by thousands of

Mexicans yet stood between the American army

and the capital. The invading army was on one

of the main causeways, in full view of the city.

General Worth was sent with between three and

four thousand troops to attack Molino del Rey,

and they were at first repulsed with great slaughter.
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Gallantly rallying and returning to the assault and

fighting desperately for an hour, they drove the

enemy before them. Nearly one thousand Mexi-

cans were left dead on the field, while the Ameri-

cans lost about eight hundred.

Attention was now turned to Chepultepec, the

site of the "Halls of the Montezumas," and then

the only defence,of the city left outside its suburbs.

On the night of September 11th, Scott erected four

heavy batteries, the guns of which might be

brought to bear upon the hill. Early on the

morning of the 12th, these opened with a furious

cannonade, which was kept up throughout the

day, and on the morning of the 13th the Ameri-

cans made a furious charge upon the works and

carried them. The occupants were not only driven

out but routed with great slaughter and fled to

the city along the aqueduct, pursued by General

Quitman to the very gates. The pursuers were

continually engaged in sharp skirmishes with the

fugitives, and the whole valley resembled a battle

field or skirmish line.

The Mexican army was hopelessly shattered,

and Santa Anna, thoroughly alarmed, lied from

the city with the remnant of his troops before day-

light on the morning of the 14th. At dawn a

deputation came from the municipal authorities,

begged General Scott to spare the town, and pro-
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posed terms of capitulation. General Scott refused

to make any terms, but ordered Generals Quitman

and Worth to move forward and unfurl the flag

over the national palace. At ten o'clock, General

Scott, escorted by dragoons, rode into the city in

full uniform on his powerful white charger and

made his way to the grand plaza.

Arthur Stevens and his company had entered

an hour before and stood within a few paces of the

general, wdien he dismounted, took off his hat and,

drawing his sword and raising it on high above his

head, proclaimed in a loud voice the conquest of

Mexico. The young captain could not refrain

from smiling when he heard the well known voice

of Pat say

:

" He's gone a divil ov a long way and been to

a sight o' throuble to say thim words.

"



CHAPTER XVIII.

REJECTED.

The glittering pageant of Scott's entrance was

over, and the soldiers, subsiding from their excite-

ment, were beginning to break ranks for their

quarters, when the population of the streets, com-

prising the leperos and discharged convicts, secret-

ly instigated by emissaries left behind by Santa

Anna, began to fire on the troops. At this con-

duct, so base, considering his forbearance, Scott

issued orders for severe retaliation. The artillery

cleared the streets. Parties were sent to break

open the houses from which shots had been fired

and slay all armed within. The soldiers were not

required to give quarter. A terrible but desultory

street fight ensued. In some sections of the city

the insurrection was speedily put down ; in others,

it continued during the whole day, and even ex-

tended into the night. At last the Americans

drove the insurgents from every refuge and, be-

coming tired of slaughter, refrained from the

bloody work. It was ascertained after the riot
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that it had been instigated for the purpose of plun-

der and that Mexican citizens had suffered as much

from the leperos if not more than the Americans.

The fall of the capital struck dismay into the

hearts of the Mexicans, and though there was some

skirmishing on the part of Santa Anna, there were

no more great engagements. While Generals

Worth, Scott and Pillow were mixed up in their

disgraceful quarrel, which followed the capture of

Mexico, Arthur Stevens with his company, under

the guidance of old One-eyed Mike, was scouting

through the country in quest of guerillas. They

were at the battle of Huamantla, on October 9th,

where the Mexicans were again defeated ; and on

the 18th of the same month Arthur was with the

force that defeated the Mexicans at Atlixco.

Arthur was hastening to Puebla, which the

Mexicans were besieging, with his own company

and two companies of Missouri volunteers. The

valley or plain of Puebla was reached, and the

Americans were preparing to go into camp, when

Mike scented danger ahead. He went to Captain

Stevens and said

:

" Captain, if I may venture a word with you, 1

would state that it would be as well to look into

that valley.

"

" Mike, you may go!"

Mike needed no second permission, but, whis-
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tlfng softly to his wonderful mustang, quickly

mounted and melted away into the increasing-

darkness which surrounded the Americans, while

Arthur quietly lit a cigar.

"Hold, Pat, build no fires!" said Arthur

sternly.

" Make no fires, yer honor?" said Pat in amaze-

ment. "I'd like to know how the divil a man's

to cook supper.

"

" We will have to go without fire.

"

" Thin we must go without supper.

"

"Yes."
" Begorra, it's without dinner we've gone, and

now I'd like to know how we're goin' to live on

air."

At this moment, Sergeant Tuttle, who with

four men had been scouting on their right flank,

came into the camp at a gallop.

" Hello, sergeant, " cried a soldier with the free-

dom of a volunteer, " we're uncommon glad to see

you ; but 'pears to me it's hardly wuth while to kill

yer hoss an' come tearin' down on us as though a

thousand devils were arter ye.

"

" A thousand devils, " gasped the sergeant, dis-

mounting and tightening his saddle girth, " ye

may say that. An' if ye put it at two, ye won't

be far out o' the way. We followed their trail

for a mile or two, till it struck off toward the
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river, where they're camped most likely by this

time, not half a dozen miles from here."

"And the tracks were fresh?" put in Captain

Stevens.

" Not three hours old.

"

" Some body of guerillas on a marauding expe-

dition," said the captain carelessly.

" I'll be cussed if it was," the sergeant declared.

" We followed 'em sharp for a mile or two, and

they keep step like regulars.

"

"How many did you say?" Captain Stevens

threw away his cigar and came nearer the sergeant.

" Five hundred,—a thousand,—ten thousand,

—

as many as you'll want to see, I reckon; we forgot

to count 'em."

And without waiting to be questioned further,

the Missourian drew his arm through the rein and

led his mustang away among the men. They

were a feeble force of fighting men ; all told they

did not number one hundred and fifty. The Mis-

souri officers and Arthur's lieutenants assembled

about him, as he was in command, and Lieutenant

Warren said:

" Captain, what do you think we had best do?"

" Wait until Mike returns.

"

" Have you sent him?"

"Yes."
" Then you knew of this before?"
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"Certainly,—have your men ready and wait."

Then a silence of death fell on the scene. The

most acute ears might then have caught the sound

of hoofs, and a tall man on a small horse came

galloping up to the group. It was Mike.

He held a whispered consultation with Arthur,

who then conferred with the officers, and, leaving

the soldiers in charge of Captain Gordon, one of

the Missouri cavalrymen, he and Mike set out to

reconnoitre. As they approached the crest of the

hill two miles from camp, they dismounted and

leaving their horses, made the ascent on foot.

Arthur imitated every motion of the old scout,

falling on the ground and crawling to the top.

The grayness of night was deepening about them.

The swelling land behind was but an indistinct

outline, and their own camp was invisible, as the

two men lay side by side on the coarse, scorched

grass, while One-eyed Mike pointed away toward

the Southwest where there was a dull red glow,

which at first might have been mistaken for the

reflecting rays of a sun long since set but still

lighting the sky. Like mighty steps the hills rose

to meet it, the last seeming hardly a mile away.

A faint gray cloud lay against the flame-colored

sky,—a fixed base, hardly perceptible, moored it

to the earth.

" Smoke, by Jupiter!" and Arthur had started
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to his knees, when the cautious Mike laid his hand

on his arm and said

:

" Lie low, captain. Do you see the valley to

the South?"

"Yes."
" It is not guarded. It would be a surprise,

and they would be caught like rats in a trap.

"

" I'll do it," said Arthur with all the ardor of a

young soldier.

In live minutes they were again flying back to

the American camp, where the men silently sad-

dled and bridled their horses, and following Mike

set out for the valley. The distance was consid-

erable; but the point was reached about two

o'clock in the morning, when they halted and

waited for daylight. Day dawned, revealing a scene

of wonderful brilliance and beauty. Stretched

out below them was the loveliest of vales with a

stream of crystal winding through it and palms

and maguey and many wild flowers growing in a

meadow of brightest green.

The scene was all animation and stir. Tethered

horses were all over the plains, camp fires and

hundreds of Mexican lancers and guerillas could

be seen. The usually dull eye of Mike flashed

with fire as he gazed on a guerilla not three hun-

dred paces away. Clutching the captain's arm,

he hissed through his teeth:
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"At last!"

Mike had always been a mystery to Arthur, and

now his strange, half-incoherent, half -muttered

"at last!" only intensified the mystery. Arthur

glanced at the guerilla chief and recognized him

as Miguel Morillo. For a moment Mike's ex-

citement bewildered him; but it was only for a

moment, then recovering, in a voice as calm as

the morning, he said

:

" Captain, we can get to within a hundred yards

unseen .

"

Arthur glanced at the old scout and in an under-

tone answered:

" We will have to move very cautiously.

"

The old man's single eye rolled like a ball of

fire in its socket as he responded

:

" You are correct, for those greasers have keen

ears, and the scent of greyhounds. Satan, their

guardian angel, seems to always hover about them,

and warn them when danger is nigh.

"

" Can we surprise them?"

The old man's eye again rolled in the direction

of the camp and he answered

:

" Yes, it may be done."

" If it can be done we will do it.

"

" You have great confidence in your men.

"

" I can rely on every one of them.

"

The old man nodded his head.



392 HUMBLED PRIDE.

" When had we better start?" Arthur asked.
" The sooner it is done the better," was the an-

swer.

Arthur's military judgment told him that a sur-

prise was essential to defeat a force so vastly

superior to his own. Consequently he whis-

pered :

"Lead the way!"

The Americans stole in double file down a ra-

vine, winding about the base of a hill and came
up behind a thicket of chaparral within easy rifle

range of the camp. As the wind was toward

them, the Mexican horses did not scent them, and

the guerillas, supposing that all the Americans in

the vicinity were shut up at Puebla, had not even

taken the precaution to put out pickets.

Under cover of the bushes, Arthur formed his

men and from the backs of their steeds they poured

in a volley and charged. Wild yells broke on

the air, and through and through the camp the

Americans charged, leaping their horses over the

ghastly struggling forms on the ground. Wheel-
ing about, they again dashed through the enemy,

shooting and cutting right and left. The guerillas,

being taken completely by surprise, made no re-

sistance, but fled in every direction.

They numbered over six hundred, but were

pursued and shot down by the soldiers, until fully
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half lay on the field. Most of them were half-

breeds, and the others were desperadoes, of whom

Mexico was thankful to be rid. When the con-

flict was over, Arthur looked about for Mike, and

found him standing by the body of a dead guerilla,

whose costly velvet doublet and silver mounted

"Well, 'tis over. The end has come at last!"

sabre and pistols proclaimed him to be a chief

among the brigands. There was a hole in the cen-

tre of his forehead made by a rifle ball from which

his life blood had poured forth upon the earth.

Arthur recognized the villanous face of the dead

man as Miguel Morillo. Leaning on his rifle, the

scout gazed strangely and solemnly, yet with satis-

faction on the fallen man, as he muttered:

" Well, 'tis over. The end has come at last!"
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" Mike, did you know him?" Arthur asked.

He started as if he had been detected in some
guilty act and answered

:

"Yes."

Arthur felt a delicacy in approaching the sub-

ject, yet his curiosity had long been at its height.

After gazing on the fallen man for a moment, he

remarked

:

" Mike, there is some strange mystery about

your life and this man. Can you tell me—will

you tell me why you, an educated, refined man,

have adopted the life of a hunter and rough fron-

tiersman ?"

" Captain, I will tell you all at the first oppor-

tunity
;
but not now ; we have all we can attend

to at present. %

His idea of duty recalled Arthur to the fact that

he was in command of a very small army in the

midst of a very powerful enemy.

It was the fourth night after the victory in the

valley that Arthur Stevens found himself with his

little army encamped in a narrow valley. Sentries

had been posted and the main body of tired sol-

diers lay about their smouldering camp fires, buried

in slumber, their trusty rifles at their sides. The
captain and the faithful guide sat by a small

bivouac fire apart from the others. Arthur re-

minded him that this was as good an opportunity
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as he would Lave to narrate his history. After a

short solemn silence, Mike began in his mysterious

tone of voice:

" I am not a Texan born, as my speech might

seem to indicate, but a native of Vermont. In

my early life I did not dream that I should ever

be a frontiersman, for the romantic glamour of the

life of a hunter or scout had no charms for me, as

it has for most boys. I loved books, and my

greatest ambition was to be a scholar. I graduated

at Yale at twenty -three, and became a school

teacher. I was thirty years of age, when I accepted

the chair of languages in a female college in In-

diana. There I met with a young lady—a pupil,

with whom I became enamored. Her father was

a small merchant in Chillicothe, Ohio, and sud-

denly failing resolved to go to Texas where Austin,

Houston and others had planted colonies. The

bright-eyed pupil disappeared, and for some time

I did not inquire for her, fearing that my passion

which I had striven to conceal had become known,

and she was removed on my account.

" It was two years after they had been in Texas,

that I learned the truth, and at once throwing up

my position, I went there, found her, wooed her

so earnestly that six months after my arrival we

were wed. My life in Texas was a varied one.

The romance of a living heart is wilder than aught
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of fiction. The early struggles with savage neigh-

bors, the little clearings so carefully guarded and

so tenaciously adhered to, with all the trials of a

border life, are known full well. Such a life I

led, happily contented with wife and little ones in

this western wild, thankful to God for those price-

less treasures of affection, and asking no more.

Nor did I once pine for the civilization and com-

panionship of men of letters, whose society had

once been my charm.

" I learned that my wife had had admirers in her

new home before I came to wed her. Amonc
them was Miguel Morillo, the tawny-skinned

Mexican, who had been at one time a source of

annoyance to her, but it was thought that now she

was wed, he would never pester her again. But,

alas! we little knew the devil's hatred which is

never exhausted in the breast of a half-breed.

" One autumn morning I left my family for a

day's hunting, by which to replenish our larder;

but, as never before, I went with an unaccountably

heavy heart. My wife remarked it, and with a

light jest essayed to cheer me, and my little ones

fondled me lovingly, yet I left most unaccountably

sad and heavy-hearted.

" All that day my eyes were dim, and game
escaped me, and long before sunset I retraced my
homeward path with only a few birds, but no
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larger game. A power unseen, forced me home-

ward. For hours I resisted it as the folly of a

weak brain, but it conquered. Alas! it was too

late!"

From this time on to the end of his narrative,

his voice was husky, and oftentimes his strong

emotions choked his utterances.

" My blood alternately froze and boiled. My
very veins swelled with the desolation reigning in

my late happy home. What did I see? She who

had left father, and mother, and home, to follow

me over that rugged path of life,—she who had

come to me in blooming youth, and faithfully

loved, honored and obeyed me as my wedded wife

—she who had borne to me fair children, and

nursed and bred them into loveliness lay a gory

corpse at my feet. Three little forms were there,

—all lifeless too, their merry prattle hushed by

savage violence,—the silver cord not loosed, but

wrenched in twain ; and one was missing,—the

pet, the darling, the three-year-old, the only boy.

Could I hope?—oh, no!—I knew too well the

fearful certainty, for clutched in the mother's

grasp was a fragment of a little frock. You can

imagine the feelings of a father searching among

the smouldering ruins for the missing one. With

brains dashed out against the wall, lay all of

hope " Here the brave old scout was com-
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pelled to pause. After two or three minutes, he

resumed

:

" At last, with what feeble strength I had re-

maining, I reverently gathered together and laid

side by side all that was left to me, and in a grave

dug broad and deep placed wife and children side

by side. Then over them I raised a mound higher

and higher. All night I labored, and all day I

toiled ere the task was complete. Kneeling on

the blood-soaked sod, with face toward the setting

sun, I prayed for vengeance deep and broad as the

grave I had dug, high as the mound I had raised

;

then, rising and lifting my hand red with the life

blood of all this heart held dear. I swore an oath,

dark and strong, that for every hair on the beloved

head of each slaughtered dead, should fall a Mexi-

can or Comanche.

"

Arthur Stevens was strangely moved by his

graphic recital of the terrible story. The scout's

striking figure with its hoary front, his flashing

eye and swelling breast, his powerful arm upraised.

and his deep, woe-fraught tones were to him like

an avenging angel. At this point of his story,

his voice lost its huskiness and assumed a deep

sepulchral tone, which rang in Arthur's ear to the

day of his death.

" At the approving nod of the great Jehovah,

all the hosts of heaven shouted a responsive amm
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to my vow. I listened. The thunder rolled its

mighty echoes over me. I heard it and knew the

answer to my prayer had come. I had prayed on

bended knees for an answer from the artillery on

high, and it was now vouchsafed me. My work

of woe is now complete; the bloody account is

settled in the death of the cause of all my woes,

thanks to the God of vengeance.

"

The old man resumed his seat by the fire, and

his features once more relaxed into their dull, ex-

pressionless appearance. Arthur was first to break

the silence. After a long while he asked:

" What was your wife's maiden name?"
" Caroline Blunt.

"

He started. Like a blast there came to his

recollection the story Madelina Estevan had told

of Caroline Blunt and poor old Antonio, the vic-

tim of Morillo's jealousy and the deadly toloachi.

But he never told the story to One-eyed Mike,

and that personage perhaps died in ignorance of

the tragic story of his wife's former lover.

Santa Anna having retired from before Puebla,

the siege languished until the 12th of October,

when it was raised. By the time Arthur reached

the town, he found the Americans in undisputed

possession of it. Indian market girls again

thronged the plaza, and he found among them the

pretty Cholultecas whose name was Eemedios, and
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asked her if the old senor had returned to the

hacienda. A look of sadness came over her face

as she answered

:

" Ay, Senor Americano, it is a sad family group

you will find there."

"Why, senorita?"

" The young senor, Colonel Felipe, lies there

sadly wounded and at the point of death."

" And she—Madelina ?" he asked eagerly.

" The senorita is there with her brother.

"

Arthur's soul was tormented by a thousand

conflicting passions and regrets. An Estevan, a

descendant of his beloved progenitors wounded and

dying

!

"Who knows but that he might have been

wounded by my own hand? Oh this accursed

war,—would to Heaven it would cease!" he

thought.

Despite the unsettled conditions of the country,

and the fact that predatory bands of rancheros and

guerillas still roamed over the country, dangerous

alike to Mexican and American, Arthur deter-

mined to go to the hacienda. Felipe was more

like a brother than an enemy, and he resolved to

see him or die.

He went alone one morning. He knew the

road, as he had visited the grand old mansion

when Scott's army was resting at Puebla.
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In Arthur's inside pocket wrapped in tissue

paper was the dainty little velvet slipper found at

Cerro Gordo. He had carried it through all these

long months in the heat of the most terrible bat-

tles, Churubusco, Molino del Key and Chepul tepee.

While exposed to the death-dealing slaughter of

the enemy, he had kept the slipper next to his

heart.

The day was fine and the road pleasant. He
met many of the market girls whom he had seen

on the plaza, and all greeted him with smiles and

pleasant bows. Some gave the bold Americano

a stare of wonder, while they shook their heads

at his recklessness in riding out alone at such a

time.

Arthur's heart was heavy, for he feared the

senor might be dead ere he could reach him. His

large black horse carried him rapidly along the

beautiful San Martin road, with its tall palms, its

blooming cactus and maguey plants, and thousands

of flowering shrubs. At last the great old hacienda

was in sight. The mansion house, with its many
peon cottages, out-houses and stables, looked like

a small village.

The young American dashed up to the hacienda

and, calling to a peon who sat half asleep under a

shed near an ox cart, gave him his rein and said

in the best Spanish he could muster:
Vol. 11—26
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" Care for my horse until I snail want him, and

I will give }
rou two silver dollars. Ill-treat him

and I will serve you likewise."

The peon was all smiles, bows, and salutations,

assuring him that he would care for the horse as

if he were his own brother. Whether he meant if

the horse or Arthur were his brother, the Ameri-

can's knowledge of Spanish was not sufficient to

determine.

On the great veranda, Arthur was overjoyed to

meet with Father Agatone.

" Senor Americano, my son!" cried the amazed

priest. " Where have you come from?"

"Puebla!"
" And why have you come hither?"

Arthur was too eager to learn the condition of

his friend to answer his question.

"Is he alive yet?"

" Yes, " answered the priest.

" Thank God!" he fervently ejaculated, clasping

his hands.

" Have you come to see him, my son?"

" I have. Do not tell me I cannot, for I must.

You think me foolish to venture so far alone ; but

I would go any distance and brave any danger to

be at Felipe's side in such an hour."

The priest's face was grave, and, with his lips

firmly clasped, he said:
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" My son, I fear your visit will greatly displease

General Estevan, Felipe's father."

"Can I see him?"

"The general?"

"No, Felipe."

"Not now, senor—not now," said the priest

slowly and solemnly. " It would not do now."

" Can I see the senorita ?
"

The priest shook his head for a moment and

answered

:

" Not yet; come with me and I will show you

to a room. You have a friend in me, and per-

chance I can do something toward reconciling the

old don.

"

He conducted Arthur to the hacienda and thence

to a room, which was in the northwest wing. It

was a lovely room ornamented with Spanish fres-

coing and paintings. Fresh flowers were in the

vases, and there was a delightful view from the

windows. Arthur was instructed to take up his

abode in this apartment, and wait until the priest

should call for him. At six, Father Agatone

came for him to come and dine with him. They

were alone in the great dining hall. He saw no

one save the peon servants who attended on them.

Then the priest and Arthur took a short stroll in

a little flower garden near, and he asked about

Felipe. He was better, but he could not see him
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yet. He asked for Madelina and learned she was

at the hacienda ; but as yet she was unaware of his

presence.

That night, as Arthur lay tossing restlessly on

the bed, he could not but think this the most

singular of all adventures that had ever befallen

him. Here he was the guest of an enemy, under

the same roof with the being he loved so madly.

and she wholly unconscious of his presence.

Next morning he and Father Agatone dined to-

gether, and he almost fancied himself a living

character in one of the Arabian Nights' tales.

He went with the priest on another walk into the

garden, and when he returned to his room found

it made sweet with fresh flowers, yet he saw no

one save the priest and servants.

At noon, the priest ushered into the apartment

a Mexican past middle age,—a tall, fine looking

old gentleman, with an expressive face and keen,

piercing eyes, whom he introduced as General

Estevan.

The proud old Mexican gave him a scornful

stare and said in English

:

" So you have had the temerity to come to my
hacienda. I had hoped the saints would leave

one spot free from the profanation of the accursed

northerners; but it seems that even the sanctity of

home is to be invaded."
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" General Estevan, I come as a friend, not an

enemy."
" A friend ! Saints preserve me from friends

who come with fire and sword to destroy our

people and nation
!

"

" General Estevan, Felipe your son is my friend

—my brother. He is wounded—dying—I came

at risk of life and everything to see him and know

that he lived."

"Your friend? your brother? It is false—he

is your enemy!" cried the proud Mexican, stamp-

ing his foot on the floor. " Enemies in war cannot

be friends.

"

" General, have you not read how General Put-

nam of the American army and Major Small of the

British army, although national enemies were per-

sonal friends—how Putnam saved Small's life at

the battle of Bunker Hill?"

"No!" roared the angry Mexican. "I never

read American history. I know nothing of your

Generals Small or Putnam."

The priest explained that Arthur had saved

Felipe's life on the battlefield, and that the young

American was a descendant of the Estevan family,

which caused an instantaneous change in the gen-

eral.

Arthur laid his weapons on a richly carved

antique table, and asked

:
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"Can I see Felipe?"

" I will talk with the doctor," said the general.

It was thought best that he should not see him

for twenty-four hours; but Arthur received the

gratifying assurance that Felipe was improving.

In due time, he was admitted to the sick man's

room, and as he held the hand of the brave young

Mexican, and gazed on his wan features, the tears

stole down his cheeks. General Estevan left the

room, perhaps to conceal his own emotion. Arthur

begged so earnestly to come and sit by the bedside

of his friend, that he was permitted to spend half

his time with him. He was a very careful nurse,

and never excited the patient. A week had almost

gone by, and yet he had not seen Madelina. She

seemed to be avoiding him ; but every day during

his absence some one brought fresh flowers to his

room, which were tastefully arranged in vases.

" Who can the fair donor be?" he thought, as

he gazed upon the flowers. He instinctively knew

it was Madelina's hand which placed them there.

He had not spoken to Felipe about his sister yet,

but as he was growing stronger all the time, he

resolved to do so the next day.

He did so, and Felipe said she was in his room

every day and asked if Arthur would like to see

her. Certainly he would. He would hardly have

made the dangerous journey, much as he liked
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Felipe, had he not expected to meet Madelina.

She had not been out of his mind since the hour

of his arrival. Felipe said he would probably

see her the next day.

He did. She was at her brother's bedside when

he came, and when the old surgeon and profes-

sional nurse entered, Arthur and Madelina retired.

" Can I talk with you, senorita?" he asked.

" Certainly, Captain Stevens. Let us go into

the conservatory." The conservatory of the Se-

nora Estevan was a wonder of beauty and mag-

nificence. Arthur had seen many elegant flowers,

gardens, bowers, greenhouses and beauties of the

floral world, but nothing like this. The flowers

of the tropics mingled with the vegetation of the

temperate zone.

Fortunately, this beautiful home had escaped

the ravages of the war. The old hacienda still

stands not two leagues from Puebla, and is the

wonder and admiration of all who 'see it. Arthur

and Madelina were soon sitting on a rustic bench

surrounded by tropical luxuriance. At last he

asked

:

" Were yon at Cerro Gordo ?
"

"Yes," she answered, "I was returning from

Medellin when the American army attacked Santa

Anna.

"

" Permit me then to return this, " and he drew
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the satin slipper taken from Santa Anna's car-

riage.

She took it and, blushing, asked:

" Was this your only trophy of war?"
" To me it was of more value than banners and

cannon. " He then told her how he found it. She

explained that as she was flying, her father, who
commanded a division of the Mexicans, secured

her a place in the carriage of Santa Anna, but that

the carriage was upset in the rocky pass, and she

mounted a horse and came just ahead of the Mexi-

cans to Puebla.

In that first interview, Arthur dared not men-

tion the subject nearest his heart, but gained per-

mission for a meeting next day. As they sat on

the same seat, he asked:

" Did your brother tell you of our strange tradi-

tions?"

"

"Yes."

"He told you all?"

" He did.

"

" And of the prophecy of the vision of the

Virgin?"

" He told me everything, " and her face was

pale as death and cold as marble. Arthur would

have given worlds to know what effect that narra-

tive had had upon her. From all appearances, it

seemed to have had none. He realized that his
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happiness, his life, his all, depended on the result

of the avowal, but if she had heard it, she was

utterly unconcerned.

"Seriorita!" he at last began in a low, deep,

earnest voice, " let me hope that you see the same

interpretation of the vision and legend I do. I

am the Estevan of Francisco, you of Rodrigo; let

us hope that the line of those progenitors may be

united in us. Scnorita,—Madelina, I am an

American ; but I never loved until I met the fair

flower of Mexico, yourself. Consent,—oh Made-

lina—be mine!"
" Captain Estevan, you forget."

"What?"
" We are enemies.

"

" No, no, and we never were.

"

" How can we be aught but enemies? You are

an American, a conqueror of Mexico. I hate all

Americans!" and the pretty face seemed a thou-

sand times more beautiful in its anger.

" Senorita, I hope you will not treasure such

feelings in your heart; it is unlike the good Chris-

tian maiden you are. The good father tells you

to forgive your enemies."

She quickly interrupted him with:

" It is very well for you to talk of forgiveness,

you who are the victor, who know not defeat.

—

you who are the conqueror and have nothing to
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forgive; but place yourself in our position—the

humbled, conquered Mexican. See your soil in-

vaded, your rights trampled upon, homes and

altars desecrated and innocent women and children

slaughtered, and then ask me if I can forgive."

She had worked herself up to a passion, which

ended with tears of mingled pity, humiliation and

rage. In vain Arthur told her those things were

the result of war. In vain he repudiated any part

personally with these wrongs, yet he was an

American, an invader and an enemy. He asked

her forgiveness, he plead his strong love, but all

in vain; she would listen to nothing. A sense of

hospitality alone made her tolerate his presence.

He hoped this feeling would wear away, and he

lingered as long at the hacienda as he dared, and

even when he returned to his command had not

wholly abandoned all hope. Felipe was convales-

cent and sat on the veranda to bid him return

again. He was pale, and his smile was sad and

humbled.

The war with Mexico was over. Santa Anna,

deserted by the people, who had never had full

confidence in him, was flying for personal safety

to the shores of the Gulf. The president of the

Mexican congress assumed provisional authority;

and on the 2d of February, 1848, that body con-

cluded a treaty of peace with commissioners of the
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United States at Guadaloupe Hidalgo. It was

ratified by both governments, and President Polk

proclaimed it on the 4th of the following July.

That treaty stipulated the evacuation of Mexico

by the American army within three months, the

payment of three million dollars in hand and

twelve millions in four annual instalments by the

United States to Mexico for the territory acquired

by conquest, and, in addition, the assumption by

the United States of debts due certain citizens of

the American republic, amounting to three million

five hundred thousand dollars. Boundary and

other disputes were settled, and New Mexico and

California, those vast territories from which other

States and territories have been made, became the

acknowledged territories of the United States.

Arthur Stevens had not yet abandoned all hope

of winning the fair Castilian. The American

army was to leave Puebla next day, and he was

at General Estevan's hacienda for the last time.

He and Madelina stood within the embowered

conservatory of senorita's mother, alone. He had

plead his suit, as never had lover plead before,

but all in vain.

" You have humbled the pride of Mexico, sefior,

and I cannot wed you."

After a long silence, he asked

:

" Madelina, if we had met under other circum-
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stances—if there had been no war with Mexico

—

could you have returned my love?"

" It is useless to answer that. We know not

what strange events other circumstances might
have wrought. The events which have happened
estrange us forever."

" Madelina, do you forget I am an Estevan and

descended from the same noble people as yourself?"
" I can only remember that you are an Ameri-

can, and that as such you humbled our flag and
slew women and children."

Arthur shuddered, and then in a voice of de-

spair asked

:

" Oh, Madelina, can you not forgive me?"
" Certainly, I forgive, but never forget, sefior.

"

" I believe you return my love, but in your
pride will not admit it. Heaven have mercy on

me! will nothing change your resolve?"

"Nothing!"

This cold answer was final. He felt that in six

months she whom he loved more than life would
be enclosed in the walls of a convent. Slowly
and sadly he turned away and went to Puebla.

Next day the army took up its march to Vera
Cruz, where it embarked for New Orleans, and
Arthur went home, a conqueror, yet sad, broken-

hearted and humbled.



CHAPTER XIX.

JOHN.

In the very month that the treaty was signed at

Guadaloupe Hidalgo, gold was discovered at Cap-

tain Sutter's mill on the American Fork of the

Sacramento River in California. This caused a

tide of emigration to the Pacific coast, which has

never ceased to this day. Since the discovery of

gold there, the yield of the precious metal has been

enormous. In May, 1848, Wisconsin was ad-

mitted as a State into the union, making the

number of States thirty. President Polk was suc-

ceeded in March, 1849, by General Taylor, who

had made himself very popular by his democratic

ideas, and his bravery in the war with Mexico.

His cabinet advisers were John M. Clayton, secre-

tary of state; William M. Merideth, secretary of

the treasury; George N. Crawford, secretary of

war; William B. Preston, secretary of the navy;

Thomas Ewing, secretary of the interior, a de-

partment which had just been created ; Jacob

Collamer, postmaster-general, and Reverdy John-

son, attorney -general.

„_ 413
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The rush of emigration into California early

entitled it to become a State. That admission

brought up the eternal wrangle on slavery. As
often as our forefathers thought by compromise or

any other way, that the slavery question had been

settled, it came up again. Mr. Clay came for-

ward with a measure in congress known as the

" omnibus bill," a compromise act, which only de-

ferred for awhile the inevitable blow at the nation.

Even while the discussion of the question was

shaking the country with its thunders, threats of

disunion were loud, violent and numerous; and

opposition to the compromise took the shape of a

political party, first in Mississippi, with Jefferson

Davis, President Taylor's son-in-law, as leader.

It spread to other slave -holding States, and at one

time seemed formidable; but the time had not

arrived. The great blunder was deferred.

During President Taylor's short administration,

some events occurred, which, as they subsequently

had a bearing on our story, we will narrate.

General Narcisso Lopez, a native of Cuba, led an

expedition to that island from the United States,

backed, it is claimed, by many men in the southern

part of the United States who in less than fifteen

years after were actively engaged in the attempt

to destroy the union. The avowed object of the

invasion was to stir up the Creoles, or native Cu-
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bans, to a revolt for the purpose of overthrowing

the local government, casting off the Spanish yoke

and forming an independent State. It is claimed

by some that the chief object of the Americans

engaged in the enterprise was to seize Cuba, and

make it a part of the great slave empire of the

South, as had been done with Texas; but there

were as many anti -slave as there were slave fanat-

ics in those days, and we are inclined to accord

to Lopez the intent of securing the independence of

his native island. The expedition of Lopez proved

a failure, and he returned to the United States.

The introduction of the compromise act, the first

invasion of Cuba, the admission of California as a

State and New Mexico, Utah and Minnesota as

territories were the prominent features of President

Taylor's administration. He died July 9, 1850,

at the age of sixty-five. He held the position of

chief magistrate a little over a year and then was

succeeded by Millard Fillmore.

With the beginning of this generation the Mor-

mons, or, as they call themselves, the Church of

Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints, came into exist-

ence. Their founder, Joseph Smith, was born at

Sharon, Vermont, December 23, 1805. He was the

son of a farmer and at the age of ten removed with

his parents to Palmyra, New York, and four years

later to the neighboring town of Manchester. There,
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according to his claim, he received at the age of fif-

teen his first revelation—his divine call as a prophet

of the Most High, with no less authority than was

wielded by the ancient prophets of Biblical fame.

In a later revelation the youth was directed to

repair to a hill near Palmyra, where he would find a

record of the ancient inhabitants of America and a

new gospel for mankind, written centuries before on

plates of gold, in unknown characters and language,

which the Mormons have called the "Reformed

Egyptian." From these plates it was alleged Joseph

Smith dictated the Book of Mormon, the first edition

(5,000 copies) of which was published in 1830. In

the same year the first church, with only six mem-
bers, was legally organized and the new religion

began to spread rapidly.

The prophet was fiercely attacked by the preach-

ers of other religious denominations, but held his

ground firmly and proved a formidable opponent in

the polemical field, in spite of his lack of education.

In January, 1831, the church removed westward

and established its headquarters at Kirtland, Ohio.

Here it thrived amazingly and in the following sum-

mer a colony migrated to Missouri. This colony con-

centrated at a place called Independence, but two

years later the settlement was broken up and they

were compelled to scatter and seek refuge in adjoin-

ing counties.



JOHN. 417

But the frequent migrations of these people did

not bring them peace. No sooner were they settled

in a new community than they were visited with

the indignation of their neighbors. Before leaving

Kirtland, Joseph Smith was tarred and feathered,

and in Missouri he was tried by court-martial and

condemned to be shot, but escaped execution. Their

final stand in the central west was at Nauvoo, Il-

linois, where, in 1844, Joseph Smith and his brother

Hyrum were shot by a mob, which broke open the

jail in which they had been placed under arrest.

Mormonism was now thought to be doomed, but

under Brigham Young, who succeeded to the lead-

ership, it survived the shock of its prophet's martyr-

dom; " the blood of the martyrs proved," as ever,

to be " the seed of the Church." In a final effort to

seek a haven of peace and safety, Brigham Young

led a band of picked pioneers across the Eocky

Mountains and in the summer of 1847 settled in

the valley of the Great Salt Lake, the site of the

present beautiful city of that name.

When Arthur Stevens returned home after the

Mexican war, he had many remarkable stories to

tell to his father. Among them, of course, lie

did not forget the meeting with the Estevans. He

and Felipe began a correspondence, which was

kept up during their lives. In all his correspond-

ence, Felipe never mentioned his sister, directly or

Vol. 11—27
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indirectly. His letters indicated sadness and hu-

rniliation. He frequently spoke of going to Cuba,

and gradually let out to Arthur a plan which some

Mexicans and native Cubans had of liberating the

island.

Arthur had been home several weeks before he

met with Doctor Trunnels. The doctor had been

off to capture some runaway negroes. Meeting

him recalled to his mind what Felipe had told him
of John, and John's story, which he related to his

father.

"Do you believe it, Arthur?" Major Stevens

asked.

" Yes. Felipe would not tell a falsehood.

Whatever you may say of Mexicans generally, this

family is the soul of honor and truth.

"

" Then Dr. Trunnels is an outlaw and a villain,

yet hearsay evidence cannot be taken to convict

him, and we can't prove it. We must let him go

unpunished, for Doctor Trunnels is decidedly

popular with the masses."

He then told Arthur of the letter he had re-

ceived from John, which corroborated the Mexi-

can's story.

Arthur realized how helpless they were to aid

the unfortunate slave, and how hopeless a task it

would be to bring Doctor Trunnels to justice.

The story of a far-away Mexican would be re-
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garded more as a tradition than truth, and John's

letter could not be admitted as evidence.

The young captain, having retired from army

life, was restless and inclined to rove. A letter

from Felipe informed him that friends of Cuba

were going to organize a force in the United States

to free the island from the Spanish yoke. Felipe

had relatives in Cuba, who kept him posted. Gen-

eral Lopez was even then in New York organizing

an army for a second effort to liberate the island.

This was of course done secretly, as the United

States government was watching their movements

with jealous eyes. Felipe wrote he had decided to

join the expedition.

When Arthur read that letter, a strong desire

seized him to join it also. It promised wild ad-

venture, and he reflected that Lafayette, a for-

eigner, had come to assist the Americans gain their

freedom, and why should not an American aid the

Cubans? He said nothing to any one of his re-

solve; but under the pretence of going to Cali-

fornia, where the gold excitement was at its height,

he set out for New York. Letters from Felipe

admitted him to a, conference with General Lopez,

and he was amazed to find over five hundred

Americans enlisted under him, among them Colonel

W. L. Crittenden, son of the attorney -general of

the United States. This was in July, 1851.
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General Lopez's Bahia-Honda or second expedi-

tion, as it is known in history, was ready to start

for Cuba. Arthur found the general a tall, hand-

some man with dark, piercing eyes, and soul burn-

ing with republicanism. Colonel Crittenden, who

acted as his lieutenant, was filled with enthusiasm.

The mustering took place on a part of Long Island

shore which was thinly populated. Arthur was

quite sure he never saw a more motley crew.

Almost every nationality on earth was represented.

At midnight they embarked in boats and were

rowed to the vessel in which they sailed. The

general met them off Sandy Hook and came aboard.

The greatest secresy was requisite, for United

States cruisers were on the watch for them. Off

Florida Kevs thej7 were met by a schooner, on

board of which were Mexicans, Frenchmen and

negroes.

To Arthur's joy, he found Felipe Estevan

among the Mexicans. They had been rendezvous-

ing there for some time to await General Lopez.

Arthur, at his request, was transferred to the

schooner, where he might be with his friend, and

they talked over the old war times, when they

fought, yet were friends. Arthur longed to ask

him about Madelina, yet dared not do so. He was

sure she had long since been immured in a convent

and lost to the world forever.
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There was little time for discussing the past or

the future. General Narcisso Lopez, whose force

was now swelled to several hundred persons of all

nationalities, landed at Morrillo, near Havana.

Never, perhaps, did an expedition evince more

madness, for there were forty thousand Spanish

soldiers at Havana. Lopez depended on the native

Cubans rising in revolt, which they did not do.

Fear of Spanish tyrants kept them in subjection,

and the madness of the expedition soon became

apparent to both Arthur and Felipe.

Leaving Colonel Crittenden at Morrillo, Lopez

with the remainder went to Las Pozas. They had

scarce left Crittenden, when he was surrounded by

an overwhelming force, captured and shot. Arthur

and Felipe had accompanied Lopez and so escaped

capture and death ; but the young men soon real-

ized that the expedition wTas a failure.

"Felipe, this is madness," said Arthur, on the

very day they reached Las Pozas. " The Creoles

will not rebel."

Grinding his teeth, the handsome young Mexican

answered

:

" The cowards dare not assert their freedom."

When the fierce struggle came at Las Pozas,

Arthur and Felipe fought side by side, and right

good work their muskets did that day. The over-

whelming force of Spaniards was repulsed with
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loss. It -was late that night when Arthur and

Felipe were summoned to the headquarters of the

insurgent chief. They found him pacing back

and forth in his small tent, his face expressing the

deepest anxiety and apprehension.

"We must retire to the mountains," he said.

" The few. Cubans who did join us are about to

desert, or have done so. True, we repulsed the

Spaniards to-day; but they will come in force to-

night."

When the retreat began, Arthur at once saw

that the insurrection was doomed. They were

pursued by Spanish dragoons, hunted and fired at,

and their ranks decimated, until immolation seemed

inevitable. The retreat became a flight. They
were fugitives. Arthu~" said to Felipe

:

" Let us separate from the others ; and as we
both speak Spanish fairty well, we may escape."

" It is the best we can do, senor.

"

At night they deserted the little party of Lopez,,

which a few hours later was captured. General

Narcisso Lopez was taken to Havana with six

others, where the general was garroted, September

1, 1851, and so ended the second Cuban revolt

under Lopez.

When morning dawned, Arthur and Felipe

found themselves alone in the deep woods, which

are the most fascinating part of all Cuba. Ameri-
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cans and Europeans can form little conception of

Cuban forests. One has to see them to realize

their wonder. Perhaps the noblest of them are in

the region along the northern coast. There the

stateliness and grandeur, as well as value of these

forest trees are almost incredible. The fugitives

wandered amid the guabrahaca, the colossal ma-

hogany, the gueso, the guayco and a hundred

different varieties of mammoth vegetation, forming

deep and solemn shades in which they found

friendly shelter.

On the third day's ramble, they came to one of

those quaint, rural Cuban homes, occupied by an

interior sugar planter. So far as Arthur could

see, the structure itself and the daily life within

and around this home, had not been affected by

the uprising and revolution. He fancied it could

have been seen just as it then was, centuries ago.

Like most rural houses in Cuba, this was built of

the porous Cuban stone, which hardens from ex-

posure. It was immensely large in ground area,

with but one lofty story in height; though under

the centre of the roof, there was a guardilla, or

garret, which the great New England hipped roof

could not anywhere equal. Set up a few feet

from the ground on large, square stone pillars,

permitting free passage of air underneath, as with

many southern plantation houses, huge beams of
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guabraliaca rested on these, and upon this founda-

tion the walls were laid.

There was something pleasant about the planta-

tion which seemed to whisper of peace and security

to the adventurers. They found the planter, a

corpulent Cuban past sixty, a good-natured, jolly

old fellow, talking with his confessor. He assured

the young men that they could stay at his house

as long as the}*
- wished, and no questions asked:

and he gave them a significant wink. When they

had feasted, he said he had a healthy apartment in

the guardilla (garret) where tliey could rest undis-

turbed as long as they desired. The priest who
was with them accompanied them to this apartment

and for three weeks they lived here while Spanish

horse, foot and dragoon were scouring the country

in quest of the filibusters.

The old Cuban's pretty daughter Inez soon

learned of the hiding-place of the young men and

became their voluntary waiting-maid, also their

scout and spy to report danger. That Felipe was

impressed with her beauty and gentleness was

quite apparent, and his love was returned.

Cuban revolts, like the tornadoes of the tropics,

fierce as they may be, are soon over, and at the

end of three weeks the fugitives could go and come

without danger. One day Felipe saw a letter

addressed to Antonio Estevan. Could the old



JOHN. 425

Cuban's name be the same as his own? He asked

him and learned that he was Estevan, a descendant

of the Hernando Estevan who came with Columbus.

Would wonders never cease? Here were men of

three nations, descendants from the same branch.

It seems that there was a large family of Estevans

in Cuba, descendants from Christopher Estevan,

by a son born after Francisco and Rodrigo had de-

parted from Spain and Mexico. This old sugar

grower was one of them.

Since Felipe had become acquainted with the

fair Inez, Arthur saw little of him and frequently

wandered about the woods alone with a light fowl-

ing-piece shooting small birds. One day while in

the forest, he was started by the bajdng of dogs

and heard an exclamation of horror, with tearing

and crushing of bushes near, and next moment a

miserable creature came through the bushes and

fell at his feet. The thing was scarcely clothed at

all. The upper body was entirely naked; the

head was covered with an almost brimless hat ; short

trowsers of coarse cotton came almost to the knees

;

while the lower limbs were naked, and the feet were

bare and bleeding from running through the bushes

and woods.

He could hardly tell whether it was human

being or an animal, as it came out of the thicket

on its hands and knees. As soon as the miser-
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able creature discovered Arthur, he fell at his feet

crying in English

:

" Oh, moster—moster, God has sent you to save

me!"
" Who are you?" asked Arthur.

" Moster, doan yo remember me, moster Arthur?

It's John—John!"
" John !" cried Arthur in amazement. " What

!

can it be possible?" He gazed for a moment at

the once handsome young mulatto, his father's

favorite slave, and could hardly believe that this

frightful-looking creature, whom misery and ill-

treatment had made revolting to look upon, was

the same person. But the voice of John convinced

him.

" Moster, it's I—it's John, 'fore God, I is yo'

nigger John. Save me, moster; I escaped, but

they set the dogs after me. They are coming.

"

Arthur could hear the deep, terrible baying, not

half a mile away, and he knew that the owner of

the dogs was not far behind them. He was quick

to think and act, for whatever was done, must be

done quickly.

" John, get upon my shoulders—I must carry

you."

" Carry me, moster?"

" In no other way can we throw the dogs off the

scent.

"
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" But they'll scent yo footsteps."

" It will be a new trail and mislead them.

Come, quick."

In a moment he had his father's slave on his

shoulders, and hurried away along a narrow path.

It was an odd sight at that age—a man carrying

his own slave on his shoulders, assisting him to

escape from a slave hunter. Arthur had no clear

idea how he would get John away. In fact, he

had very little hope of succeeding at all. He in-

stinctively sought a place beyond immediate dan-

ger, and trusted to fate for the balance. He went

as rapidly as possible, with the fugitive on his

shoulders, wading streams, walking on stones and

doing everything in his power to throw the dogs

off his trail.

After half an hour, he paused by the side of a

large mahogany tree and listened to the far-off

baying.

" They are at fault now, John, " he said in a

tone of some encouragement.

" Let me walk, moster.

"

" Not yet; we must go a mile further."

They went two miles further, and sat on a fallen

tree by the side of a small cataract to rest and

listen. The dogs were so far away, they could

scarce be heard. The plan seemed to be working;

but the danger was not wholly over.
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" Let me walk, moster—they would not scent

me now.

"

"They would; wait, X have it!" and Arthur

began to pull off his boots.

" What do yo mean, moster?"

" Put these on ; then the dogs will be wholly at

fault."

" And yo walk barefoot?"

"Yes, it is the only way. Come, make haste."

John asked no questions. He quickly donned

the boots and, with Arthur limping along at his

side over sticks and stones which bruised his ten-

der feet, unaccustomed to such travel, they hurried

on. The day was spent in trying to escape the

dogs and hunters, and when evening came, they

were at one of the cowsheds of the old planter, a

short distance from the house.

" You must crawl in under the loft, John, and

stay there for awhile, " said Arthur.

" Moster, yo will save me? Promise me yo will

save me, good moster."

" Alas, John, your poor master will hardly lie

able to save himself," said Arthur with a sigh.

"Like you, I am a fugitive in this island, and I

am hunted as yourself; but trust in heaveu, and I

will do all I can," answered Arthur, putting on the

boots which John returned.

John crept into the shed among some mild-eyed



JOHN. 42'J

cows, that gave him a curious stare, sniffed the

air, shook their heads in disapprobation of the

intrusion and then resumed chewing their cuds in

perfect contentment.

Meanwhile, Arthur had gone to the house of

the Cuban. He took Felipe into his confidence

and told him of the runaway, and expressed a de-

termination to take him from the island.

"By the mass, my friend, I fear we will have

enough to do to get away from the island our-

selves."

" Dare we speak to Senor Estevan about him?"

" I will talk with Inez first about it. Senor

Estevan has Spanish blood in his veins, and a

Spaniard will risk almost anything."

He spoke to Inez and through her the father

was reached. His sympathy was enlisted for the

unfortunate John, and his young master, and he

consented to dare and do all he could. John was

transferred from the cowshed to one of the negro

quarters, where it was made believe among the

slaves that he was a newly purchased negro. The

affair was managed with consummate care and skill,

and the Cuban master and hunters were thrown

completely off the trail.

One day, Arthur had John sent to him, and

asked him about running away. He told him all.

The duplicity of Dr. Trunnels was laid bare by
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the negro, and the horror of Cuban slavery of

which he had had a taste, would shock the reader.

" What has become of Nelly, John?"

At mention of her name, the poor fellow broke

down and wept.

" Poor Nelly, moster—she is in Heaven now,"

sighed John. " It was hard for me to know she

was dyin' ; she was all I cared for on earth. For

her I left the best moster in the world to go we

thought to freedom; but it was to an awful death.

I only saw her once or twice after we came to

Cuba; we never got to talk much, for the mosters

were 'round with whips to beat us. It's been a

year ago now, as I was passin' a miser'ble hut,

some one called my name. I went in, though I'

knowed I'd get a beatin'. There she lay, moster

—black skinned—ignorant—dyin'—what did the

world care if she lay there on that pile o' damp

straw dyin'? They passed her door, and laughed

and talked just the same, and the children on the

corner never stopped playin'. 'John!' she called

me. I was there. Old before her time, bruised

and swollen, her heart ached, her poor dim eyes

were full o' tears, moster. As I knelt at her side,

I took her poor hand in mine.

" 'John, how long was it?' she asked.

" 'It's nigh onto four years, Nelly,' I answered,

for I knowed her mind went back to the old Ken-
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tucky home where we used to be so happy, and

sung the same old songs to my banjo.

" 'An' de others, John?'

" I knowed she was talkin' about them as come

with us, and I said:

" 'Dead—all dead. It's been twelve months

since de last was brung back from de woods dead.

'

" 'An' yo is alone, John?'

" 'No, not while you live.'

" 'But I am goin', John; I'll soon be gone, an'

den you may call Nelly,—Nelly,—Nelly, but she

will be dead, and can't come back. An' de time

has been long for you, John?'

" 'Yes, honey. I has been pinin' an' longin'

for to go de same way; but it can't be far to de

end of de road.'

" 'An we has been poo' and lowly?'

" 'De same. Hunger, cold an' heat has been

our companions, Nelly, since we left our old

Kentucky home.

'

" 'John, John!' an' she spoke kinder peart like,

for one who was dyin', 'de good Lawd who takes

me will punish Doctor Trunnels for de way he

deceive us—but no—no, lam dyin', John, an' I

—

forgive—Dr. Trunnels.

'

" She didn't say no more for a long time, mos-

ter, but lay there holdin' my hand ; den in a voice

like some one floatin' off in the air, she said:
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'•Good by, John,—good by,—good by,' an'

she was gone.

"

John could tell no more. He sobbed, and even
Arthur's eyes were not free from moisture. As
he reflected on all this misery, he was constrained

to say

:

" This is one of the evils of the accursed systems
of slavery.

"

Next day, Felipe proposed that they venture to

Havana. As lie and Arthur were strangers, they
might go in safety. Senor Estevan had a brother

in the city to whom he sent a letter. John was
left behind with the assurance that Arthur would
endeavor to get him out of the country. They
went to the city, and the recent insurrection seemed
wholly forgotten. General Lopez and the ring-

leaders were dead, and the search for the others

was ended. Arthur wrote a letter to his parents

apprising them of his whereabouts and how he
came there, and of finding John, which fact he
asked them to keep a profound secret for the

present. He assured them that the wanderer
would soon return.

One day as he was strolling in the suburbs of

the city, he espied a volante coming at a furious

pace toward him. The driver had fallen from his

saddle, and the frightened mule was running at

full speed. He leaped before the ungainly animal,
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struck at him with a stick, and checked him so

that he seized his bit, and held him until the

owner, an awkward negro, came up with many
apologies in Spanish, half of which Arthur did not

understand.

The young American glanced at the fair occu-

pant of the volante and cried

:

" Madelina, you here!"

"Captain Stevens!" she answered, as much
amazed as himself.

"Will you permit me to ride with you?" he

asked.

" Certainly, senor.

"

Seating himself at her side he asked:

" Why are you here, senorita?"

" I am searching for my brother," she whispered.

" He joined the insurgents, and our parents are ill

from anxiety and grief. I came to learn his fate.
"

What joy to Arthur to set her heart at ease!

He did so in just four words:

" Your brother is safe!" Then he told her all,

how, at Felipe's request, he had joined the insur-

gents. Their drive was a long one, and they talked

over all the past and far into the future. She

had not, as he supposed, entered a convent, or

taken the black veil. He told her of Felipe's

love affair, and as the volante finally halted to let

the senorita out at the home of her friend, he said:

Vol. 11—28
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'* Now, senorita, the branches of the Estevans

of the South are reunited; let me once more im-

plore you to reconsider your rejection of my suit.

Let us fulfil the prophecy to the mother of our

progenitors
!

"

She blushed, was silent for a moment and said:

" Wait ! meet me in Puebla.

"



CHAPTER XX.

CONCLUSION.

Arthur felt a hope, long since dead, revived

in his breast. Madelina's request to meet her at

Puebla, he construed into a favorable answer to

his long urged suit. Felipe met his sister, and

plans were laid for an early departure. As it was

not known that either Felipe or Arthur had had

any part in the insurrection they were in little

danger.

The sister and brother determined to set sail in

three days for Vera Cruz, while Arthur decided

to first go to New Orleans, to which place his father

had sent him some remittances, and from thence

sail for Vera Cruz and travel as rapidly as possible

by private or public conveyance to Puebla.

He bade Felipe an adieu. He did not see Made-

lina, who purposely avoided him. Felipe, learn-

ing of Arthur's determination to go to Puebla to

again woo his sister, encouraged him.

A bold smuggler on the coast, for a liberal re-

ward, promised to take John to New Orleans,

4135
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where Arthur would find him. This the smuggler

did, and when Arthur landed at the wharf, he

found the delighted mulatto awaiting him. Ar-

rangements were soon made for John to sta}< as an

employee in a large sugar house until his master

should call for him, and Arthur set out for Puebla.

We will skip over the long journey and come

to the beautiful " city of the angels." The city

still showed some of the ravages of war. Arthur

tarried long enough only to get some needed rest

and change his clothes, and set out for the haci-

enda in the best conveyance he could procure.

The old hacienda, with its profusion of flowers

and delightful sceneiw, soon loomed up before

him, and when he reached it, he found Felipe

awaiting him, an eager smile on his face. Even

the old general met him on the veranda, and

greeted him kindly. The senora, a most excellent

Mexican lady, hastened to welcome him.

" I can scarce believe 3'on are an American, " said

the general. " We seem of the same family.

"

"After all, general, is not all the world akin?

Our antipode brothers, though unlike us in any

particular, are still our brothers, as we are de-

scended from the first parents."

" True—true—but let us not discuss those ques-

tions; come in and have some refreshments."

The old general had some excellent wine brought,
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and the traveller could not but contrast his present

visit with his former one. He did not see Made-

lina until late in the evening, and then she appeared

on the veranda arrayed in her most becoming cos-

tume. They strolled once more to the beautiful

flower garden, and their voices were low and

earnest, quivering with emotion.

When he took her hand, it trembled within his

own; when his arm encircled her slender waist, the

beauty of the sunny land forgot that he was a cold

barbarian from the North, and did not ask him to

remove it. When he poured the sweet story of

love into her ears, she listened to it trembling with

silent delight. They were alone, when finally he

drew her to his heart, and their lips met in raptu-

rous love kisses.

The prophecy of the old Spanish senora was

fulfilled, the descendants of Francisco and Rodrigo

were united in firmer bonds of love than the

brothers of old.

Arthur pleaded an early wedding so earnestly,

that his wishes were respected, and the marriage

was celebrated at the great cathedral. Father

Agatone solemnized it according to the Catholic

church. With his bride, accompanied by her

brother Felipe, he returned to New Orleans and,

taking John with them, boarded a steamboat for

Louisville.
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Here John was left with some friends, for

Arthur was determined to bring Dr. Trunnels to

justice, and John's presence in Boone County

might be detrimental to his plans.

Of Arthur's return home, the welcome he and

his young and beautiful bride received at the old

homestead, and how people came far and near to

see the wonderful beauty from the South we may
omit the details. Among those who came to see

Madelina was Dr. Trunnels, whose ready wit and

powers as a conversationalist would have turned a

head less evenly balanced than hers.

" Arthur, your wife is a jewel," the doctor de-

clared, when he and Arthur were alone. " I never

met a woman possessing so many rare qualifica-

tions. Her mind is well stored with useful knowl-

edge, she is charming and vivacious. Her brother,

too, is a remarkable man ; but he seems to avoid

me. All my advances toward friendship are

treated with absolute coolness.

"

Arthur could easily have explained why Felipe

disliked the doctor. Although he tried himself

to keep the doctor from suspecting his feeling, he

found it impossible to do so. The doctor noticed

his conduct and asked: " Arthur, why are you so

cold and strange? I never did you wrong in word

or thought. People don't understand me, and I

cannot explain myself. I am the creature of un-
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fortunate circumstances ; I have been maligned by

designing men, Arthur, and for some reason, I

know not what, I have lost your friendship. I

would I could regain it, but I know not how I can.

"

Such consummate skill did the villain exercise,

that Arthur could but sympathize with him,

though he knew full well he was guilty. He con-

sulted with his father in regard to prosecuting the

doctor. The next thing to do was to get positive

evidence against him. Neither a slave nor a

slave's statement could be taken as evidence, they

must have a white witness.

One of Major Stevens' negroes called Jeff told

his master that Dr. Trunnels had persuaded him

to run away. Major Stevens told Jeff he would

give him one hundred dollars if he would bring

about an interview between himself and Dr. Trun-

nels, so that white witnesses could hear it. That

might be done, as the place of meeting was the

stiles near the old house.

Arthur learned that the doctor had lost some of

his popularity on account of having espoused the

cause of the Martins. The doctor had thwarted

every effort to indict the Martins, and Bill and

Usher had terrorized the county, while the girls

lived such shameless lives, that the people drove

them from the house in which they lived and

burned it down. The doctor put them in a vacant
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house on one of his farms, which so incensed the

populace that the}' warned him they must go out

of Boone County, or that house should burn over

their heads, and his " elegant brick should follow

suit. " Acting on the advice of the now thoroughlv

alarmed Dr. Trunnels, the Martins moved over

into Ohio.

Jeff was a shrewd darkey, and he made an ap-

pointment with Dr. Trunnels at the stiles of the

vacant house to meet after the rising of the moon.

He informed his master of the arrangements, telling

him that five or six other negroes would be there

also, to listen to the proposition to leave Kentuckv
and slavery for Canada and freedom.

" Our course is very easy now," said Arthur.
" We can conceal ourselves under the stiles and

hear all that is said."

Arthur took his brother-in-law Felipe and

Lieutenant Warren with him. They went shortly

after dark, before the rising of the moon, and

reached the stiles before the doctor came. Prying

off a board at the side, all three crept under and

sat down to wait and listen. Arthur replaced the

board, so that the suspicions of the doctor would

not be excited.

Half an hour passed, and they heard footsteps

approaching. The aroma of a fragrant Havana
reached the men in ambush, and the doctor walked
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leisurely along to the stiles, and unsuspicious of

danger took his seat. The moon rose in the cloud-

less sky, round and full, and while the doctor sat

watching it, quietly smoking, he saw dark forms

stealing from the woods. The watchers under the

stiles a few moments later heard him say

:

" You have come, Jeff?"

"Yes, massa," Jeff returned. " De cithers am
comin

1

.

"

In a moment more, the spies beneath the stiles

were conscious of the presence of half a dozen per-

sons above. They scarce breathed now for their

eagerness to hear wdiat he said.

"Well, boys, you are all here now,
1

' began

Doctor Trunnels. " To what decision have you

come ?
"

"Don' know, massa," Jeff answered.

" It is time you were making up your mind

which you prefer, slavery or freedom."

"We mought be cotched and hunged, massa!"

ventured one.

The doctor laughed a reassuring chuckle, as he

responded

:

" Have no fears, if you go with me. I have

been running negroes out of Boone County for ten

years and never yet has one who tried to escape by

my underground railroad been caught or brought

back. The colored people don't understand me,
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—no one understands me. I Lave lived here at

the risk of my life, pretending to hunt runaways
and bring them back, but at the same time at the

head of the largest association of abolitionists in

the world. I have run off scores of niggers whom
you know," and he named several who had mys-
teriously disappeared in the past few years.

" Where are these? All safe in Canada, happy
and free. Major Stevens' John, whom you all

remember, is free, happy and on the road to

wealth. There it is one eternal jubilee. There

is no master to order you to work, you need not

labor, you live to sing, to enjoy life, to dance.

Who would not give up slavery for such freedom?"
" But how 'bout de money, massa?" one asked.

" How much must we git?"

" Twenty-five dollars is required of each nigger.
"

" Twenty-five dollars each,—Golly, massa, dun
know how I'll git dat much."

" Hasn't your master got it?"

" Yes, but he won't gib it to me to run off on,

yah, yah, yah!" laughed the negro.

"Can't you take it?"

"How?"
" When he don't know it."

"Steal it?"

" You earned the money for him, and now that

you are making a noble stroke for liberty, you are
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entitled to it. You would be justified in taking

it while he slept ; but be careful not to have sus-

picion follow you."

The watchers under the stiles heard the plan

from beginning to end. They waited until the

conspirators had departed, and then emerged from

their place of concealment. Arthur's face was

very pale and firm, and next day he swore out a

warrant against Dr. Trunnels, charging him with

inciting slaves to run away, kidnapping, and

conspiring to rob persons.

The arrest of Dr. Trunnels and the return of the

negro John, which followed almost immediately

after, produced a profound sensation throughout

Boone and adjacent counties. The papers at

Louisville contained columns concerning the affair,

and, as usual, people were divided in regard to

the guilt of Dr. Trunnels. The doctor failed to

give bond, and he was taken at once to Burlington

and incarcerated in jail. The grand jury, being

then in session, indicted him.

To every one he declared

:

" I am wronged and persecuted by my friends.

This is all an unrighteous conspiracy to punish

me, because I befriended the Martins. It is no

use for me to be tried here, for I could not get

justice in Boone County.
1 '

And acting on the theory that the whole county
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was so prejudiced against Mm, that he could not

get a fair trial, he made an affidavit for a change

of venue, and his case was sent to another county,

and lie transferred to a jail on Licking River.

Dr. Trunnels, from the time of his incarceration,

Itegan the exercise of those peculiar talents which

denoted, more than any other act of his life, the

genius of the man. He was in a close place, and

it required all his skill and diplomacy to extricate

himself from the dilemma. The jailer named

Dawes was a poor man, but thought to be honest.

As is often done, he had been given the office as a

matter of charity. Dr. Trunnels at once began to

study the people with whom he had to deal, the

jailer and his wife.

On first being incarcerated, he seemed in excel-

lent spirits, but the weeks which rolled by told on

him, and he grew melancholy. He won the con-

fidence and the sympathy of the jailer and his

wife, who soon granted him liberties which other

prisoners did not enjoy. Knowing that the best

way to reach a parent's heart is through their chil-

dren, he made the acquaintance and gained the

special friendship of the jailer's four little sons

and one daughter. Professing some knowledge of

phrenology, he examined the heads of the children

during one of the evenings that the jailer permitted

him to leave his cell and come to the rooms which
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his family occupied. The reader will understand

that a part of the jail building was used as a prison

and a part as the home of the jailer. Mr. Dawes

"He has the forensic acumen requisite to a great

LAWYER. "

frequently let Dr. Trunnels come to his room. It

was during one of his visits that the doctor called

the children to him one at a time, and, passing his
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fingers through their flaxen hair, proclaimed each

a prodigy in his line.

" This boy will make a great lawyer, " said the

doctor, passing his hand through the urchin's tan-

gled locks. " A great lawyer. He has the forensic

acumen requisite to a great lawyer."

The urchin winced and grinned. The next he

examined he declared would make a great physi-

cian. A third would be a great financier, and the

fourth a statesman. Wealth and honors awaited

the Dawes family. He made the children numerous

presents and on the birthday of little Henry Clay

Dawes, he purchased for the child a toy fish, so

charged with magnetism that it would follow the

magnet across a bowl of water and seem to have

life, while he edified the little folks with an im-

promptu lecture on magnetism and electricity.

But the doctor who had evinced so much interest

in the Dawes family continued to repine and grew

very low in spirits. Mrs. Dawes, whose tender

heart was touched at the melancholy of the doctor,

sought to encourage him. " Your trial will come
soon, doctor," she said, "and then you will be

acquitted.

"

He shook his head and with another sigh

answered

:

" No, no, good woman, I am innocent, but there

is a conspiracy to ruin me. Because my heart
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was touched with sympathy for poor old Martin

and his wife, so that I overlooked the sins of their

children, I have brought all this persecution on

myself."

It was evening, and Dr. Trunnels and Mr. and

Mrs. Dawes were alone.

" Doctor, do you fear a trial?" she asked.

" Mrs. Dawes, as sure as my case comes to trial,

I will be convicted," said the doctor. " I feel it,

I know it; but I am not the only innocent man

who has suffered from prejudice. Even the Saviour

of man was persecuted and convicted, innocent as

he was.

"

" I wish you were out of it, " said the jailer.

"Do you?"

"Yes, I do."

" Are you willing to help me out of it?"

" Yes, any way I can, so I don't get into trouble

myself.

"

" I am always careful not to get my friends into

trouble," said the doctor, drawing from an inside

pocket of his coat a letter, sealed and stamped.

" Here is a letter
;
post it.

"

The jailer did as he was requested. A few days

later, a new doctor came to the town and opened

an office. He called himself George Perryman,

M.D. The prisoner soon became ill, and sent for

the new doctor. The news was given out, that
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Dr. Trunnels was dangerously ill, yet no physician

save Dr. Perryman visited him.

One morning the news was spread all over the

town that Dr. Trunnels was dead. A coffin was

procured, and the body placed in it. Many who

got a peep at the corpse said it did not much re-

semble the doctor, yet its being considerably

emaciated accounted for lack of resemblance. The

body was interred, and a few days later the new

doctor disappeared.

Now comes the strangest part of the stoiy. Mr.

Dawes, the honest jailer, a few weeks after the

death and burial of Dr. Trunnels, expressed a de-

sire to emigrate, and, being poor and respected,

the good people raised funds and bought a flat

boat with a cabin and furniture for him to leave

in, and moored the boat on the banks of the river,

until his family could go aboard. Uncle Billy

Neff, an old Kentuckian who was addicted to

periodical spells of intoxication, and who had been

in one of his spells for several daj's, swore that at

midnight he saw Dr. Trunnels leave the jail and

go aboard the flat boat.

This story caused many to smile. The more

superstitious, having faith in Uncle Billy's verac-

ity, thought that he must have seen a spirit, while

the incredulous declared it was the spirits Uncle

Bill v had imbibed. As the boat left during the
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night, gained the Ohio and proceeded on its voy-

age, no one knew where, the matter could never

be fully inquired into. The most sceptical could

not but admit that there was something strange in

the death and burial of Dr. Trunnels.

Major Stevens, who had long studied the pecu-

liar genius and talents of the doctor, believed that

he was still alive. John, the returned slave, was

a sad negro. He advised his fellow slaves to stay

with their masters and be content with their lot,

declaring

:

" You might make it a mighty sight worse, ef

yo' try to do better."

Captain Arthur Stevens became one of the most

prosperous farmers in Kentucky. His lovely wife

was thoroughly Americanized in a short time.

Her gentle disposition won many friends, and those

who at first thought Arthur had gone a long dis-

tance to get a wife afterward declared he had been

paid for going.

Felipe remained a few weeks with his sister,

after she had become domiciled in her new Ken-

tucky home in one of the fairest regions of the

State, then he bade her adieu, and boarding a

steamer at Louisville, went to New Orleans, where

he sailed for Havana. There he met the fair Inez

and was married.

The great gold excitement in California was at-
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trading the attention of the people of all nations,

and a letter from Felipe apprised Arthur of the

fact that he was going to try his fortune in the

land of gold.

Weeks rolled on into months, and then Arthur

received a letter from his brother-in-law, which

settled beyond a doubt the question of Dr. Trun-

nels' death. In his letter Felipe said:

" Dr. Trunnels is alive. I have seen him, also

the Dawes family, and talked with young Dr. Per-

ryman. They are all here. The body buried in

Kentucky was a subject purchased for dissection

from some medical college or hospital at Louisville.

Dr. Trunnels planned the whole affair.

"

The subsequent fate of Dr. Trunnels is not

known. There was a rumor, that a man answering

to the description of the doctor was seen in San

Diego tending bar. It is said that an old acquaint-

ance from Kentucky, who had wandered to the

land of gold, sauntering into the bar-room at San

Diego, cried:

" Hello, Dock, how air ye?"

Upon which, the bar-tender fixed his eyes on

his face and said

:

" Depart from me, ye worker of iniquity, I know

ye not.

"

A few words more in regard to the development

of the country whose history is indissolubly con-
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nected with the Stevens family, and we will close.

Shortly after Arthur Stevens' return, this country

added millions of acres to her territory by the

Sioux purchase in the territory of Minnesota.

Territories and States were increasing in number

and swelling the volume of representatives in the

national legislature. To accommodate these, the

halls of legislation had to be enlarged, and in the

summer of 1851, the corner-stone of the extension

to the capitol was laid by President Fillmore, with

appropriate Masonic ceremonies, on which occasion

Daniel Webster delivered one of his famous ora-

tions.

In the year 1852, there was some slight trou-

ble with Great Britain, in consequence of the al-

leged violation by American fishers on the coast of

British America, of the Ashburton treaty. The

president sent a naval force to protect the fisher-

men of the country, and for awhile trouble seemed

imminent; but the matter was patched over.

Every one knows, however, that the fishery ques-

tion is still an open dispute.

In 1853, Commodore M. C. Perry succeeded in

establishing friendly relations with Japan, and

ever since intercourse between that country and

our nation has been free and cordial.

The sympathy manifested by a large portion of

the people of the United States in the efforts of
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Lopez in Cuba gave rise to suspicion in Europe

that it was the policy of the United States to ulti-

mately possess that island and assume control over

the Gulf of Mexico (the open door to California)

and the West India Islands, which were owned

chiefly by France and England. To prevent such

a result, the governments of these two countries

asked the United States to enter into a treat}T with

them, which should secure Cuba to Spain, by

agreeing to disclaim. " now and forever hereafter

all intentions to obtain possession of the Island of

Cuba, " and " to discountenance all such attempts

to that effect, on the part of any individual or

power whatever. " To this invitation Mr. Edward

Everett, secretary of state, replied, in the spirit of

the " Monroe Doctrine," that the question was an

American and not an European one, and not prop-

erly within the scope of the interference of Euro-

pean cabinets; that the United States did not in-

tend to violate any existing neutrality laws; that

the government claimed the right to act in relation

to Cuba independently of any other power, and

that it could not see with indifference " the island

of Cuba fall into the hands of any other power

than Spain."

Mr. Franklin Pierce of New Hampshire was

elected successor to Mr. Fillmore, with William

R. King of Alabama vice-president. The whigs



CONCLUSION. 453

nominated General Winfield Scott and William A.

Graham, but were defeated.

The administration of Mr. Pierce was peaceful

and the country prosperous. The acquisition of

California opened the way for an immense com-

mercial interest on the Pacific coast, and in the

spring of 1853, congress sent four armed vessels

to the eastern shores of Asia, by way of Cape

Horn, to explore the region of the Pacific Ocean,

which it was evident would soon be traversed by

American steamships plying between the ports of

our western frontier and Japan and China. About

this time, the government of the Sandwich Islands

was making overtures for the annexation of that

ocean-empire to the great North American republic,

as similar overtures are being made to-day. This

aroused the jealousy of France and England, who

felt disposed to interfere in the matter; but a

change of rulers on the islands put an end to the

discussion.

In 1854, Stephen A. Douglas presented a bill

in the senate for the creation of two vast territories

in midcontinent to be called, respectively, Kansas

and Nebraska. The bill provided for giving per-

mission to the inhabitants of those territories to

decide for themselves whether slavery should or

should not exist within their domain. This re-

vived the old slavery question again with tenfold
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more force than before, and in Kansas especially,

civil war prevailed. The worst element of both

parties swarmed in this unfortunate territory.

Murder and rapine were so common that the terri-

tory was called the bleeding Kansas.

William Walker, a Californian, organized an in-

vasion into Nicaragua in 1855, which at first was

unsuccessful, but at last he succeeded in getting a

foothold and had himself elected president, but

was finally driven from the isthmus. The Walker

expedition, some Indian troubles in Washington

and Oregon Territories, with the continual trou-

bles on the border of Kansas and Missouri be-

tween the jay-hawkers on one side, and red-legs,

or border ruffians, or guerillas on the other, each

guilty of the worst atrocities, were all that dis-

turbed the otherwise peaceful administration of

Franklin Pierce.

But there were premonitions. The very air

seemed full of warning, and the friends whose

career we have followed so long, living in their

peaceful Kentucky homes, felt that the bolt would

strike soon ;—but where or when? They who had

humbled the pride of one nation, might soon wit-

ness their own humiliation. Who could tell?

THE END.
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Gaines, General, attacked at Withlacoochee 39
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Indian Territory, Cherokees removed to 34
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Japan, Commodore Perry establishes peace with 451

Jefferson, Thomas, death of 31

Jumper John captured and sent to the Indian Terri-
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Pierce, Franklin, president of the United States
;
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A.K9
cabinet *"*
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President of Mexico declares war 176
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Rigdon, Sidney, aiding Joseph Smith in founding the

Mormon Church 417

Ringgold, Major, mortally wounded at Palo Alto 184
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Salt Lake City, Mormons at 417

Sandwich Islands in 1853 make overtures for annexa-
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Santa Anna elected president of Mexico 215

Santa Anna demands Taylor's surrender 218
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Seminole war in Florida 39
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Shields wounded at Cerro Gordo 368

Slavery agitation on the admission of Missouri 14

Sloat, Commodore, captures Monterey 338

Smith, Joseph, founder of Mormon Church 410

Spitfire, the, opens bombardment at Vera Cruz 341

Sutter's Mill, California, gold discovered at 413

Talmadge's amendment to the bill admitting Missouri

as a State

Tampico regiment, destruction of , at Resaca de la Palma, 1
*s

Taylor, Col. Zachary, succeeds Jesup in command in

Florida
4 *

Taylor, General, ordered to frontier of Texas 108

Taylor's democratic ideas j^
Taylor leaves Corpus Christi l4

Taylor leaves Garrison at Fort Brown and falls back to

Point Isabel
JjJJ

Taylor at Monterey ^
'

Taylor at Walnut Springs ~*

Taylor recommends an invasion at Vera Cruz aid

Taylor leaves Monterey ^
'J

Texas a misnomer—the disputed territory 103

Texas annexed to the United States 10
J

Thornton, Captain, and men captured 1 7;)

Treaty with Mexico

Trist, Nicholas P., sent to make a treaty of peace with

Mexicans

Twiggs, General, leading van of the American army.
.

363

Twiggs! General, leading attack on Cerro Gordo 364

Tyler, John, succeeds Harrison as president
;
his stub-

bornness
77

Tyler's pocket veto

Tyler, death of

United States Bank, Jackson's war on 34

United States refuses to make a treaty not to seize Cuba, 452

Utah admitted as a territory 415
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Van Buren,.Martin, president of the United .States. ... 44

Vasquez, General, slain at Cerro Gordo 367

Vera Cruz, Scott at 341

Vera Cruz, bombardment of 342

Vera Cruz, capitulation of 362

Views on slavery fifty years ago 9

Walker, Captain, sent to reconnoitre Fort Brown 178

Walker's Nicaragua expedition 454

West Point Military Academy, how controlled by mem-
bers of Congress 122

Wilkes, Charles, return from South Sea explorations. . 79

Wisconsin admitted as a State 413

Wool, Gen. John E. , recruiting at San Antonio 212

Wool, General, at Saltillo 340

Worth, General, crossing the Rio Colorado 170

Worth, General, appointed governor of Vera Cruz. . . . 362

Worth, General, joins the American army 371

Xalapa, American army at 364

Young, Brigham, Mormon ruler 416

Zachary Taylor on Texas frontier 108



CHRONOLOGY.

PERIOD XI.-AGE OF SUPREMACY ABROAD.

A.D. 1824 TO A.D. 1854.

1825. John Quincy Adams inaugurated president; "era

of prosperity,"—March 4.

1826. Death of two ex-Presidents, Adams and Jeffer-

son,—July 4.

1828. American System or Protective Tariff becomes a

national policy.

1829. Andrew Jackson inaugurated president, —March

4.

Partisan appointments in the civil service began.

1830. Accession of William IV. to the throne of Great

Britain,—June 26.

Peter Cooper's engine on Baltimore and Ohio

Railroad, the first to transport passengers,—

Aug. 28.

1831. Death of ex-President Monroe,—July 4.

1832. Black Hawk War in Wisconsin and Illinois.

"Nullification" in South Carolina ;
convention

met at Columbia,—Oct. 25.

1833. Jackson began second presidential term, —March 4.

1834. Indian country formed,—June 30.

1835. Seminole War began in Florida.

General Thompson and others killed at Fort King,

Fla.,—Dec. 28.
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Major Dade and 100 men massacred in Florida,

—Dec. 28.

1830. Texas became independent of Mexico,—April 22.

Arkansas admitted into the Union,—June 15.

Wisconsin Territory formed,—July 3.

Creek War began in Georgia.

1837. Michigan admitted into the Union, doubled the
original thirteen,—Jan. 26.

Martin Van Buren inaugurated president,—
March 4.

Accession of Victoria to the throne of Great
Britain,—June 20.

Battle of Okeechobee, Fla. ; Taylor defeated

the Indians,—Dec. 25.

1838. Canadian Rebellion; attempt to gain indepen-

dence.

Iowa Territory formed,—July 3.

1841. William Henry Harrison inaugurated presi-

dent,—March 4.

Death of President Harrison,—April 4.

John Tyler inaugurated president,—April 6.

1842. Close of the Seminole War; peace proclaimed,

—

Aug. 14.

Dorr's Rebellion in Rhode Island; attempt to

obtain a constitution.

1844. Morse's telegraph established between Balti-

more and Washington.

1845. Florida admitted into the Union,—March 3.

Iowa admitted into the Union,—March 3.

James K. Polk inaugurated president,—March 4.

Naval Academy opened at Annapolis, Md.,—
Oct. 10.

Gun- Cotton invented.

Texas admitted into the Union,—Dec. 29.

1840. Mexican War; Thornton's party captured east of

the Rio Grande,—April 26.
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Fort Brown bombarded from Matamoras,—May

3-9.

Taylor marched from Point Isabel to relieve Fort

Brown,—May 7.

Battle of Palo Alto; Taylor defeated 6,000

Mexicans under Arista,—May 8.

Battle of Resaca de la Palma ; Taylor captured

La Vega,—May 9.

Congress declared war to exist by act of Mexico,

—May 13.

Matamoras captured by Taylor,—May 18.

Oregon boundary established by treaty with Great

Britain,—June 15.

Fremont defeated Californians, at Sonoma, Cal.,

—June 25.

Kearney's march from Fort Leavenworth, Kan.,

began,—June 30.

California declared independent by American

settlers at Sonoma,—July 4.

Monterey, Cal. , captured by Commodore Sloat,—

July 7.

California declared a part of the United States at

Monterey , —July 7.

Yerba Buena, Cal. (now San Francisco), cap-

tured by Commodore Montgomery,—July 9.

Commodore Stockton arrived at Monterey, Cal.,

July 23.

Wilmot Proviso offered, prohibiting slavery in

acquired territory,—Aug. 8.

Santa Fe, N. M., occupied by Kearney,—Aug.

18.

Monterey, Mexico, under Ampudia, captured by

Taylor,—Sept. 24.

Doniphan's March from Santa Fe to Saltillo.

Tampico, Mexico, possessed by Commodore Con-

nor,—Nov. 14.
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Battle of Bracito, N. M. ; Doniphan victori-

ous,—Dec. 25.

El Paso, Mexico, occupied by Doniphan,—Dec.

27.

Iowa re-admitted into the Union with present

boundaries,—Dec. 28.

1847. Battle of San Gabriel River, Cal. ; Kearney de-

feated Californians,—Jan. 8.

Yerba Buena named San Francisco,—January.

Battle of Buena Vista (Taylor's last battle) ;

Santa Anna defeated,—Feb. 23.

Battle of Sacramento, Mexico; Doniphan vic-

torious,—Feb. 28.

Vera Cruz and Fort San Juan d'Ulloa surrendered

to Scott, —March 27.

Battle of Cerro Gordo Pass; Scott defeated

Santa Anna,—April 18.

Puebla taken without a battle ; Scott remained

three months,—May 15.

Mormons, under Brigham Young, arrived at Salt

Lake Valley,—July 24.

Battle of Contreras ; Mexicans defeated in

twenty minutes,—Aug. 20.

Battle of Churubusco; Mexicans retreated,

—

Aug. 20.

Worth captured Molino del Rey, outer defense of

Chapultepec,—Sept. 8.

Fortress of Chapultepec captured,—Sept. 13.

City of Mexico entered by Americans under

Scott,—Sept. 14.

Lane defeated Santa Anna at Huamantla,—Oct. 9.

1848. Gold discovered on a branch of the Sacramento,

Cal.,—Jan. 19.

Treaty of peace signed at Guadaloupe Hidalgo,

—Feb. 2. (First Mexican cession ceded to the

United States.)
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John Quincy Adams died,—Feb. 20.

Wisconsin admitted into the Union,—May 29.

Oregon Territory formed,—Aug. 14.

Ex-President Van Buren, first candidate of the

Free Soil party.

1849. Minnesota Territory formed,—March 3.

Zachary Taylor inaugurated president,—March
5.

1850. Death of President Taylor,—July 9.

Millard Fillmore inaugurated president,—July

10.

Compromise of 1850, or "Omnibus Bill, "passed,

—Sept. 9. (Repealed Missouri Compromise of

1820.)

California admitted into the Union,—Sept. 9.

Utah Territory formed,—Sept. 9.

Fugitive Slave Law passed,—Sept. 12.

Slave Trade prohibited in the District of Colum-

bia,—Sept. 17.

Texas cession of territory to the General Govern-

ment,—Nov. 25.

Present unorganized territory a part of the

Texas cession,—Nov. 25.

New Mexico Territory formed,—Dec. 13.

1853. Washington Territory formed,—March 2.

Franklin Pierce inaugurated president,—March
4.

Death of Vice-President William R. King, at

Cahawba, Ala.,—April 18.

Gadsden Purchase from Mexico, —Dec. 30.
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